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Chapter 1

EARLY THAT MORNING, despite the misty cold and the drizzle falling gently from a slate-gray sky above, Gondreville’s main street leading out to the western gates was neither quiet nor empty. No matter which way you turned, you could hear the impatient whinnying of horses, the shouts of their drivers, the raucous laughter of soldiers and women, and lively, upbeat music.

The people of Gondreville were up to bid farewell to a big merchant caravan, which was setting off for Vestonia that morning. Many of the wagons, laden with trophies our men had taken in the battles with the Atalians, were headed to the markets of Herouxville, where they would no doubt turn a very solid profit for the speculators who had been following our army for months, buying the loot straight from the hands of our legionaries.

Actually, this was the second such caravan we had sent. The first had set off along the Royal track even before my departure from Romont (the capital of Bergonia). A large unit of Vestonian and Bergonian noblemen had been put in charge of that caravan to accompany Prince Philippe, who was personally under the protection of the King’s Shadows as well as Lord Gray and his squires.

Maybe it goes without saying that the Marquis de Gondy and his hangers-on took off alongside the King’s eldest son as well. The Duke de Bauffremont’s allies were quick to follow suit, although of course (for obvious reasons) they were in a much less advantageous position at the time.

As I was bidding farewell to Prince Philippe the day before their departure from Romont, I saw something interesting happen, which served as a nice illustration of an old saying that Vadoma was fond of repeating: “What’s true today will be long forgotten by tomorrow.”

It hadn’t been all that long since the day the Golden Lion and I exchanged Princes, but the disgraceful defeat of the Ducal army already seemed to have been forgotten, as had Prince Philippe’s cowardly flight from the field and subsequent capture by the enemy.

Among the noblemen who surrounded the King’s son, mentioning any of those subjects was considered very bad taste indeed. At the rate the story was changing, it seemed like it wouldn’t be long before the Prince became the hero of the Bergonian War — maybe even the conqueror of the Golden Lion.

My farewell with Philippe was cold and awkward. Despite the fact that I had been the one who set him free, the Prince was obviously afraid of me. And you didn’t have to be a genius to figure out why — one look at the sour expressions on the noble faces around him, as they watched us bidding each other goodbye, made it pretty clear who was filling his head with worries.

To be honest, though, I couldn’t have cared less about anybody in that whole mismanaged circus. Never for a moment had I expected Philippe to be grateful, especially since he didn’t actually decide anything in Vestonia’s political processes, and it certainly didn’t seem like that was about to change any time soon.

That said, if I ever DID need anything from the elder Prince, I had a few strings I could pull that would undoubtedly bend the incompetent young man’s ear. The lunari and I had taken advantage of a golden opportunity and slipped a few subtle ideas into Philippe’s head.

Where most of the Vestonian and Bergonian nobles were concerned, our time together didn’t end on the most pleasant note. Before their departure, anybody who had made use of my healers’ and medics’ services received a detailed bill, listing all services rendered and medicines provided, along with the total sum they now owed me for the same.

As a result, I had to spend a few days dealing with unpleasant visits from nobles who were outraged at this unexpected news. In fact, I had to teach a few of the hotheads some manners before it was all over. In the end, though, I left the capital of Bergonia with several hundred letters of surety and promissory notes tucked safely away in my wagons. Very few people were willing (or able) to pay their debts immediately.

My inner werefox was especially gleeful to see Étienne de Broglie’s hysterics when he came to complain about his bill. Which, by the way, was one of the heftiest of them all.

“This is highway robbery!” He shouted as he brandished the scrolls my messenger had brought him. “How am I to understand this?!”

Between his lips, which were blue with rage, his red eyes (whether from lack of sleep or excessive intake of wine, I couldn’t really tell), and his slightly-puffy, strawberry-colored face, I thought the Count might actually have a heart attack right there in my tent. Over the preceding months, I had come to the conclusion that this man’s most prominent defect was greed. So I had decided to hit him where it hurt most.

With his master the Duke de Bauffremont in captivity, and already in search of money to pay his ransom (a sum which, according to local custom, his vassals had an obligation to raise) the Count was going through... Well, let’s be charitable and call it “a difficult time.” And then I came along and threw fuel onto the fire with my bill.

“How else, my dear Count?” I asked with a look of confusion on my face. “Or did you assume that you had the right to empty my wagons and my stock of magical potions without any obligation to record what you were using or repay me for the supplies? To use the services of my healers on the same terms? To use my wagons to haul your personal effects?”

“But...” The Count’s jaw began to tremble. Little white spots of foam appeared at the corners of his lips. “The prices you’re charging are astronomical!”

I just shrugged.

“I disagree. At the moment, my magical potions are the best in Bergonia. I daresay they’re better than anything in Vestonia, too. The services and provisions you made such liberal use of on the march were also of the very highest quality. Where else would you have found any of this while we were on campaign? And while we’re on the subject, I feel the need to remind you that I never gave you permission to use any of these resources.”

“What are you implying?” The Count’s voice cracked. “Are you accusing me of thievery?”

“Please indulge me, my dear Count,” I said with an expression of feigned confusion. “How else would you like me to interpret your actions? First, you made extensive use of my property without getting my permission — or even bothering to inform me — and now you’re refusing even to pay for what you’ve used.”

Étienne de Broglie seemed to be literally choking on his own outrage, so I quickly finished the conversation for him.

“If you intend to continue speaking to me in this manner, I’m afraid this conversation will have to be continued in the presence of witnesses. At present, you seem highly agitated and unable to control yourself. At such moments, a person is liable to say something insulting — something that another might take more closely to heart than was intended. Things can quickly spiral out of control and lead to a duel. All too often, such affairs end with the loose-tongued party losing their head. You must admit, my dear Count, that in such cases neither party really has any interest in seeing things spiral out of control like that. Better to resolve things peacefully. That way, the former party need not come to a bad end, and the latter need not part with the considerable sum of money to which they’re entitled.”

Through it all, I maintained a calm, even lackadaisical, tone of voice as I stared firmly into the Count’s eyes. Judging by the numb expression on his face, mentioning a duel seemed to have cooled his ardor pretty effectively.

“I don’t have that much money at the moment,” the Count finally replied through gritted teeth. He sounded somewhat dazed. “Will you accept a promissory note?”

“Certainly. I’m willing to wait. But a 30% surcharge will apply in that case.”

The Count winced, but didn’t object. Any of the loan sharks among the camp followers would have charged him at least 50%. And he seemed to know it.

Right then and there, in the Count’s presence, one of my secretaries (a former assistant to my lawyer back in the capital) sat down and drew up the promissory note. I used magical ink, to the Count’s obvious displeasure. I would have loved to have used algae paper as well, of course. Part of the haul we had taken from the treasury of the Sapphire Citadel. For the time being, however, I decided it was best not to let anyone see that. Brown magical ink would do just fine.

As the Count de Broglie walked out of my tent, he shot a burning, hate-filled glare back at me, thinking I wouldn’t notice. Poor bastard, I thought. You don’t even know what else I have in store for you yet. This promissory note’s just the beginning... You should never have brought me a severed fox tail...

Unfortunately, I also have to point out here that when I had warned the Vestonian noblemen about serious consequences for anyone who decided to plunder any defenseless Bergonian villages amid the post-war chaos, not all of them took it very seriously.

Assuming that nobody was actually keeping an eye on what they were doing, some of these loose-cannon robber barons split up into small units and set off in search of “adventure.” And generally speaking, adventure found them much earlier than they expected. All these bands of marauders (which, of course, is exactly what they were) soon disappeared without a trace.

I have to give credit to the Marquis de Gondy and his lackeys here, though: none of them came to me with any questions about where their hotheaded comrades had disappeared to. True, after a certain point, whenever news came in that yet another Vestonian “unit” had disappeared during a raid, I started catching knowing glances from some of the people in the city. And while the aristocrats’ glances were usually full of loathing, the common people — especially the locals — tended to look at me with expressions of full approval on their faces.

Along with Prince Philippe went delegations from several of the larger Bergonian cities, who intended to present themselves before Carl III in the capital and officially swear fealty to him. Some other cities, however, had decided on a different path.

A few of the larger cities in Eastern Bergonia, which had barely been affected by the war at all, preferred freedom (with all its attendant risks) to dependence on the King of Vestonia. According to my sources, they had even gone so far as to send embassies to their neighbors in the lands of the Free Principalities and Baronies to the east, hoping to secure support from some of the rulers there.

I had no idea how that would work out for them, and it didn’t really concern me anyway. For my part, I was just glad that I hadn’t allowed anyone to talk me into taking charge of Bergonia myself. Had I done so, I would probably have been up to my elbows in blood out in Eastern Bergonia by that point, pacifying the petty rulers out there and spreading Carl III’s power by the sword. Which, of course, would merely have been the beginning...

No, thank you. I had no intention of getting involved in any such games. People like Charles de Rollen could take care of that — after all, he was the one whom the King had actually assigned to command the remaining legions. The Count was obviously itching to prove himself anyway. True, I wasn’t sure how successful he would be in that.

He was basically a commander-in-chief without an army. There was nobody to send out to Eastern Bergonia. His attempts to recruit mountain men and Bergonians from among my forces had failed. As soon as they learned what he was trying to recruit them for, most of them categorically refused to participate in what would, after all, essentially amount to the mass slaughter of their countrymen. At that point, the Count de Rolenne was about to try to resolve the issue by using me again, but I made my position extremely clear from the outset. I suspect that yet a messenger bird set off for Herouxville that day, carrying a complaint about me to the King.

So be it, I thought — let them complain. One bird more, one bird less... I was already used to seeing whole flocks of birds fly north after every conflict with the Vestonian aristocrats. I figured that the Royal Chancery had probably already set aside a small room to hold all the complaints and testimonies against me...

Soon, this train of thought was interrupted by the sudden appearance of one of my wagons, which I had previously provided to the Duke de Clairmont for his personal use. Four of my best mistrals were towing the wagon; Lorin had chosen each of them specially, at my request.

Behind the wagon came a unit of cavalrymen, consisting mostly of André de Châtillon’s men plus a few of the Duke’s direct vassals and those of the Count de Leval (who, after all, was also one of the Duke’s vassals).

Pierre de Leval was among them, as was André de Châtillon himself. The latter was bringing the King a personal request from me. In it, I provided a long, detailed list of all de Châtillon’s exploits on campaign, and asked that his name be cleared of all charges and suspicions.

And I didn’t forget the “Last Chances” either: I put together a long, detailed request for pardons for all of the men under Gaston Laforte’s command. I also sent another, even more detailed account of the legionaries’ services in general (with special emphasis on the “Last Chances”), and asked de Châtillon to see that it found its way directly into Kiko’s hands. Despite his clownish facade, the Royal Jester seemed like an intelligent, clear-thinking man to me. For the time being, therefore, I allowed myself to hope that he would help get my requests granted.

Besides that, I counted out a sizable sum from my own share of the spoils and divided it up into one-time payments for all the families of the Vestonians and Bergonians who had died fighting in my service. I let it be known that this payment came from the Margrave de Valier personally. Again, I didn’t neglect the relatives of the “Last Chances” who had died in my battles either.

Naturally, this action came as a huge surprise to the noblemen in the army, and did a lot to cheer up the rank-and-file soldiers. I noticed a sharp uptick in the number of red foxtails on their armor after that. And it wasn’t just the men in the ranks, either — some aristocrats were sporting the mark as well. It didn’t even stop there, though. Foxtail marks started to appear on the clothing, wagons, and doors of local residents too. Like some strange epidemic, it quickly started to spread through all the towns and villages we liberated.

I didn’t really know what to do about it. I had already tried to ban these marks, of course. That didn’t work. It seemed to me that the next best thing would simply be to ignore them. Only once in a great while, when I noticed a brand-new red-orange streak on the doorjamb of some tavern or house, would I turn and shoot a reproachful glance at Leo von Grimm, who would always pretend he didn’t know what I was upset about. As soon as he thought I had turned my attention somewhere else, though, a big, happy smile would always spread across his face. The whole thing had started with him, after all, and he seemed pretty proud of what he had done...

The Marquis de Hangest and his entourage were also departing for the capital. According to Lord Gray, the King had already received my report about the grim reality behind all the stories of the young man’s “heroism.” I was mildly surprised, therefore, that nobody had actually started doing anything at all about his criminal mismanagement of the Citadel. When I asked for more information, Lord Gray simply shrugged, and the commander of the King’s Shadows replied that he hadn’t received any word at all about the matter.

At first, I was thinking that the Duke de Hangest would probably roll up to the Sapphire Citadel in person in order to free his son from its dungeons, but that didn’t end up happening. In the end, I decided to get rid of the light-fingered Marquis by sending him back to Herouxville.

When I saw the Marquis for the last time before his departure, he looked suspiciously happy — in fact, he almost seemed to be radiating satisfaction and joy. There were only two possible explanations for this: either the Duke de Hangest’s eldest son was foolishly overconfident that he wouldn’t be punished for his father’s crimes, or there was something important that I didn’t know...

When the wagon finally came to a stop, the Duke de Clairmont stepped out of it. As had become a habit by that point, I switched to true vision as soon as I saw him, and what I saw left me very satisfied with the outcome of my work. The Marshal was still weak, and regaining weight very slowly, but there was no sign of the black parasite anywhere in his energy system anymore. More than that, I had also managed to heal all his old wounds, for which the Duke was genuinely grateful. The magical potions his healer had been prescribing were helpful, but only as a source of temporary relief.

Soon, the Count de Leval popped out from the wagon after the Duke. Pierre’s father didn’t want to leave his master and friend; furthermore, he was planning to share the burden of blame for their army’s disastrous defeat. Plus, he had already transferred all the cohorts under his command to the Count de Rolenne anyway.

The Count de Poitiers, on the other hand, whom I had rescued from Atalian captivity, had already refused to leave my side. He justified this decision by saying that he had always wanted to see Shadow Pass with his own eyes.

“I suppose there’s nothing I can say to dissuade you from making this trip?” I asked the Duke for what felt like the hundredth time, as one of his men helped him down from the wagon onto a small portable staircase.

“No,” he shook his head. “I need to report to His Majesty as soon as I can, which means setting off before the snow.”

The Counts de Leval and de Poitiers struck up a conversation about some mutual acquaintance of theirs and tactfully moved off to the side, leaving the Duke and me to talk in private.

“Monsieur.” The Marshal lowered his voice as he turned to face me. “Perhaps you yourself will reconsider your own decision, and come with us to the Palace to see the King?”

“No,” I shook my head. “I’ve been told in no uncertain terms that nothing good will be waiting for me there if I come back right now.”

The Duke frowned. This wasn’t the first time he had tried to convince me to travel to the capital. But I had turned him down every time.

I smiled.

“You haven’t forgotten why I came to Bergonia, have you? My lands are waiting for me. If I start zipping around to all the different capitals, I’ll never make it to the Margraviate His Majesty has conferred upon me at all. My travels have been delayed quite a bit as it is, and my people and I are already going to have to winter in Gondreville. That means another delay of at least two or three months.”

“Maybe you’re right...” The Duke de Clairmont mused. “In any case, my wife and I will be expecting a visit from you at our home when you return.”

“I thank you for the invitation, Your Grace,” I said with a low bow. “As soon as the opportunity arises, I’ll be quick to take you up on your hospitality.”

“It’s the least I can do, Monsieur, to thank you for saving my life,” the Duke replied, before adding: “I’ll tell you something else, too: perhaps more than any other person except yourself, I understand exactly what might have happened if you hadn’t intervened in this war when you did.”

“I was merely doing my duty as a nobleman.”

“A shame that not everybody understands that...” The Duke sighed. “You’ve made yourself a whole pack of enemies among the clients of the Dukes de Bauffremont and de Gondy.”

“So much the worse for them,” I shrugged. “Besides, I’ve made some allies, too, not just enemies.”

“You certainly have — and you can count me firmly among them,” the Duke announced. Then, with a little irony in his voice, he added: “Although I’m afraid that at least for the time being, an alliance with me will be a source of more problems than profit.”

“Time will put everything in its place,” I said.

“Time...” The Duke sighed as he stared out at the darkening range of snow-capped mountains on the horizon.

For a little while, we just stood there in silence. The Marshal was obviously lost in thought, and I didn’t want to disturb him. Before long, however, a horse neighed loudly somewhere nearby; a young woman’s loud laughter rang out into the air off to the right; and children, playing somewhere off to the left, began to yell and shriek with joy.

The Duke snapped out of his pensive trance and turned to look at me again. His eyes lingered on my fox medallion. I had noticed him looking at it before — he always looked at it as though he had seen it somewhere before. It made me wonder: did the Duke know that his spouse, Louisa de Clairmont, had tried to buy the medallion through the offices of the late Watchmaker?

As if reading my mind, the Duke de Clairmont nodded at the medallion and said:

“Here and Now... An excellent motto.”

“Your Grace speaks the ancient tongue?” I asked with a feeling of mild surprise.

“Alas, I don’t,” the Marshal shook his head. “But I’m quite familiar with the translation of that particular motto. Once upon a time, my ancestors used to fight and die with that motto on their lips. I see that surprises you?”

It certainly did — especially in light of what the Watchmaker had told me about the sigil and the motto on the back of some of those gold coins from my castle’s secret stash.

Meanwhile, the Duke kept speaking in a sort of absent-minded tone as he stared down at the medallion:

“Very few people know about that anymore... The truth is that the de Clairmonts are a junior branch of the Royal House de Lannois. But that house no longer exists. And neither does the country it once ruled. It was covered by the Shadow. Theirs are among the lands that the common people refer to as the Forgotten Kingdoms. The only traces of them that remain are little trinkets like this — coins and spoons. The kind of thing antiquarians are always so eager to hunt down. I gather that you’re one of those who appreciate such artifacts of the Forgotten Lands?”

The question had been phrased to make it sound innocuous, but I could see a sharp, appraising look in the Duke’s eyes as he waited for my answer.

“Very much so, Your Grace. I have a deep appreciation for the ancient and the beautiful,” I answered (I wasn’t exaggerating, either). “Mind you, as for this specific medallion, I prize it not so much for its historical significance as for its sentimental value. My father gave it to me prior to his execution.”

Lying wasn’t an option. The Duke was obviously examining me.

A shadow passed across his face at the mention of Max’s father, but he quickly overpowered his emotions and replied with perfect calm:

“Well, you may not have any familial connection to the House de Lannois, but their motto is almost strikingly well-suited to you. I’m sure you’ll restore order to your lands and return to the capital in no time. My wife and I will be expecting a visit from you, Monsieur.”

With that, we bade each other farewell with a bow, and a few minutes later I was watching the train of wagons and riders file out of the city as it made its way slowly but surely over the mountains to Vestonia.

As I watched, I couldn’t shake an unpleasant feeling of foreboding — somehow, I knew that without ever intending to do so, I had managed to get myself enmeshed in some ancient story that connected Houses de Clairmont and de Gramont. I felt certain that my mysterious benefactor was enjoying it all immensely...


Chapter 2

THE SMALL-BUT-COZY OFFICE in my new home was pleasantly warm and dry. The late Jacques Sarreaux — or whatever the real name of the Order’s Atalian spy had been — certainly hadn’t neglected life’s creature comforts.

His two-story mansion, located just a block away from Gondreville’s City Hall, boasted a small, well-kept garden, a wine cellar, a terrace, and a tall stone fence surrounding the property. And now, all of that belonged to me. As a respected citizen, I had the right to own land and a house inside the city. And I took full advantage of that right. Jacques Sarreaux’s pharmacy, by the way, was located on the neighboring street, and I decided to buy that from the city as well.

Given the situation, I could have simply appropriated all the false pharmacist’s property for myself without paying for any of it, but I didn’t want to start my “career” as a respected citizen off by screwing the city out of a little bit of property.

I made the purchase in strict accordance with all of Gondreville’s rules and laws, although I also accepted whatever discounts and considerations the city council was willing to offer me. Basically, I ended up paying little more than a token sum. The citizens appreciated what I had done for them, and they obviously lived by the rule that one good turn deserves another.

I gave Gunnar total carte-blanche when it came to staffing the place, so he assigned a recently-hired servant to oversee the house — but only after first making sure that the man met all of Bertrand’s extremely-high standards. Besides me, Gunnar, Aelira, Sigurd, Leo von Grimm, and the first-born, there were also four other people living in the mansion. These included a cook, a young footman, and a middle-aged maid and her husband. The latter performed various roles — manservant, groom, stoker, and gardener, to name just a few.

The “Savages” and the legionaries who had come with me to Gondreville were housed according to their social status. Nobles and officers were permitted to rent homes or apartments, while the rank-and-file soldiers lived in the city barracks.

There was a huge fire burning steadily in the maw of the office’s oversized fireplace, which provided a nice contrast to the sheets of rain pouring down on the cobblestones outside. The downpour had started a week before, and continued more or less constantly ever since.

Opposite the fireplace, on a bearskin rug that covered most of the floor, sat Ignia, with her legs crossed atop her lap. The fayret was staring pensively into the flickering tongues of flame, swaying ever so slightly from side to side.

The efirel, meanwhile, had taken a seat on the windowsill. She sat there motionless, eyes closed, fully absorbed in the howling, whistling fury of the elements outside. The lunari was curled up in a ball atop a daybed next to the wall, sleeping sweetly.

Lorin was sitting next to another window, fussing over Leo von Grimm’s saddle. The hejdelf was muttering something quietly to himself as he worked. It actually sounded pretty melodious. Maybe it was some kind of song; maybe it was a spell.

As I stood there, in the company of all my first-born friends, I realized that the decision to winter in the valley had been the right one. No matter how much I might want to get to my Margraviate, I knew the trip there wouldn’t be an easy one. It would require careful preparation. And that’s exactly what we were working on.

Seated at a huge, rectangular table, deep in a pile of papers, was Hans Krause. Every so often, he would scratch something across one of the papers with his quill. He was doing a lot more of this sort of work now, ever since I had appointed him seneschal about two weeks before — an appointment for which he had made the trip to Gondreville from the Sapphire Citadel.

With his sharp mind, excellent organizational abilities, and well-honed analytical skills (not to mention his personable nature and simple common sense), Hans was probably better suited for the role than anyone else I knew. Sometimes, it actually seemed like this energetic man could literally be in multiple places at once. Actually, though, there was nothing mystical or supernatural about it. Hans simply had a good eye for good people, and most importantly, he knew how to use them when he found them.

“How are things at the Citadel?” I asked.

At that point, my forces comprised almost 3,500 soldiers, a figure that didn’t include the mass of noncombatants who always come flocking to follow an army. Most of that force was being quartered in the Sapphire Citadel. Not counting the “Savages,” all I had with me in Gondreville was one cohort of Mertonians and mountain men. Baron Hilaire Reese was in command of the Citadel.

Hans tore his eyes away from his records, ran his prosthetic hand across his eyebrows, and replied:

“It was pretty simple with the mountain men and the people from the valleys. We just sent them back home for the winter. No point having them eat through our supplies. Let their families feed them for the time being. Especially since they all went home with a nice share of the spoils. They’ll start coming back at the beginning of spring.” Hans chuckled, then added: “But I wouldn’t be surprised if we see a lot more people come trying to join Your Lordship’s colors by that point. I can only imagine the look on the headmen’s faces when their men come back home with those trophies. I’m sure there’ll be a lot of weddings this winter...”

“What about the rest of the men? Any problems getting them settled?”

“No, Your Lordship,” my seneschal replied. “The Mertonians are disciplined men, and Baron Reese certainly doesn’t tolerate any games either.”

“Provisions and supplies?” I moved on to my next question.

“Hunger won’t be threatening us this winter,” Hans assured me. “We’ve bought up a good stock of supplies for the spring campaign. People have been eager to sell us provisions and fodder in the towns. And we negotiated some excellent deals. The main task now is just keeping it all safe. There are a lot of rodents in the Citadel at the moment.”

I glanced at Lorin. Sensing my glance, the hejdelf grumbled a reply without looking up from his work:

“Don’t worry... I said I’d take care of it.”

Vaira and Ignia perked up immediately. For them, this meant that the period of autumnal boredom would soon be at an end, and sooner or later they’d be off to the Citadel to plunge into battle against the rats.

Hans smiled with satisfaction and made a little note in his papers. He and Lorin were already well acquainted, but Hans had only recently started working with the first-born; slowly but surely, he was introducing them to a whole plethora of different tasks.

“I should point out that your decision to allow your prisoners to return home has really helped slow down our consumption of provisions,” said Hans. “Heh... We actually managed to halve our wine consumption, then halve it again. It’s just a shame that most of those nobles will never keep their word and bring you the ransoms they promised.”

“And they could well end up dying of disease or duels before they have a chance anyway,” I nodded. “Nothing we can do about that.”

“Agh...” Hans sighed. “Your pocketbook will mourn them more bitterly than anyone else.”

“Well, it depends how you look at it,” I shrugged. “Ever heard the story of King Robert the Good?”

“No,” Hans shook his head.

“After the Shadow fell over Mainland, a war broke out over the so-called “clean” territories that were left. Many royal families, together with their kingdoms, ended up on the wrong side of the Barrier, so it was only natural that a redistribution of lands and power would take place at some point.”

Hans nodded; a smile of understanding spread across his face. Meanwhile, I continued relating my little historical anecdote, which I had read in one of the books in the Fox Den’s secret basement.

“Basically, the constant slaughter between the Lords of the Foggy Isles is just a continuation of the story of Robert the Good,” I said.

Judging by the expression on his face, my story had piqued my new seneschal’s interest. Generally speaking, there was very little information available about those times. If there were any serious historical works that survived, they were probably squirreled away in the private libraries of the aristocracy. Naturally, common people wouldn’t have had a prayer of accessing them. As a result, pretty much everything that the masses knew about those times came in the form of legends and fairy tales.

“The Foggy Isles used to form a single, unified Kingdom. Robert the Good was its last King,” I continued. “When the struggle for land erupted on the continent, he decided to get involved as well. He landed with an army in the southwest of what’s now Vestonia and gradually started conquering the cities of the coast. The son of the local Duke who owned those lands gathered an army from among his vassals and set off to face the invaders. King Robert the Good not only lost the ensuing battle, but also ended up getting captured by the Duke’s son. After a little while, the King set off for his home on the Isles once again, having given his word that he would return with his ransom as soon as he could collect it. Alas — he never managed to get the money together. So, in order to keep his word, he had to return to the continent and spend the rest of his life in the Vestonian Duke’s captivity. Meanwhile, his Kingdom was devastated by the effects of the failed campaign and the inept rule of the King’s heir, and as a result it slowly descended into the chaos that’s plagued the Isles ever since.”

I stood up and walked over to the window where Vaira was sitting. Raindrops were drumming against the glass. The veil of water was so thick that I could barely make out the silhouettes of the wet houses, tiled roofs, and leafless trees across the street.

“The author of the book where I read about this little historical episode concluded that King Robert the Good’s fate was a sad one — tragic, actually,” I continued, still staring out at the gloomy scene outside my window. “And most likely, it was... All the same, though, I certainly wouldn’t have wanted to be the Duke whose son had taken the King prisoner. Just imagine what it must have cost him to maintain a prisoner like that.”

“That’s true enough, Your Lordship,” snickered Hans. “There’s no way a King would have any fewer than fifty people at his side — much more likely, it would’ve been at least a hundred members of his court and their retinues. The Duke would have had to keep the whole pack fed and housed right up until the King’s death. And we’re not talking about peasants, either. They’d have needed hunts, balls, expensive wines...”

“That’s exactly what I mean,” I said as I walked back to my desk and sat down in my armchair. “All the money it would have cost me to keep those Atalian aristocrats prisoner is now free for me to use on much more important projects. I have no intention of feeding and entertaining a bunch of idle mouths. Even if only a third of them end up coming back with their ransoms, I’ll still come out ahead. And it won’t do any harm to my honor as a nobleman either way. They’ll have to live with the knowledge that their captured banners are hanging in my hall of glory. By the way — I understand the situation with the aristocrats, but what about the common prisoners? Did you and Selina finish your selection?”

“Yes,” nodded Hans. “We found about 300 people in the Atalian legions who are both willing to serve with us AND whose loyalty we felt could be trusted. To be honest, though, almost none of them are actually Atalian. They’re mostly recruits from the Free Principalities and Baronies. The rest of the prisoners have already been distributed throughout the cities as you ordered, to help repair the destruction the Golden Lion and his legions caused...”

With that, Hans fell silent and frowned. He obviously had something else to say, but he couldn’t bring himself to say it.

“You can speak freely,” I encouraged him.

“I know you forbade it... But...”

“Come on,” I said. “Out with it.”

“Basically, the representatives of the city councils offered to buy these prisoners from us,” said Hans. He was staring firmly into my eyes. “They’re offering a good price. But I bet I could get them to almost double it. It would be a huge source of money, and it would take care of the problem of what to do about the prisoners — “

“No,” I said categorically. “You know perfectly well that one of the conditions on which they surrendered was the promise I gave to their commanders. I gave them my word that I would preserve their people’s lives, and that I wouldn’t sell any of them into slavery. They’ll have to repair what they destroyed, and after three years they can all go home. Tell these councillors that I have no intention of breaking my word.”

I didn’t bother explaining to Hans that my real objection was to the very idea of becoming a slave trader. He simply wouldn’t have understood. Trade in enslaved prisoners of war was a very common thing in this world, but I had no intention of adapting to that particular norm — still less any intention of changing such a fundamental feature of my own personality.

That said, Hans Krause didn’t lack a certain reasonable amount of empathy either. I was confident that my seneschal would let the matter drop, and that there would be no further talk of selling prisoners of war into slavery.

“Understood, Your Lordship,” he said.

“Any news about Kroner or Laforte?”

“According to the latest reports, Kroner’s in Romont at the moment,” replied Hans. “He’s got a lot of work to do. The Count de Rolenne’s taken a fancy to the idea of creating a legion of locals, and he’s dumped the whole burden of actually DOING that onto old Samuel’s shoulders. Laforte and his “Last Chances” recently set off to patrol the southern border with Atalia. Put another way, I guess, he decided to put some distance between himself and Rolenne’s arbitrary whims as quickly as possible.”

“I thought the Count would send him east. To pacify those rebellious Bergonians.”

“You know how Laforte is,” Hans chuckled. “He’s as slippery as an eel. I myself am very interested to hear how exactly he managed to squirm out of Rolenne’s clutches.”

I just chuckled and shook my head.

“Anything else?”

“Yes, Your Lordship,” said Hans as he wiped his brow with his prosthetic again. “A certain someone is asking for an audience with you.”

“I presume this is a pretty important someone, if he’s communicating directly through my seneschal rather than my secretary?”

“I suspect you may know his name already,” replied Hans. “It’s Aldrich van Klausen.”

“The master clockmaker who’s head of the “Klausen & Sons” trading firm?” I asked. This came as a surprise to me.

“Exactly,” nodded Hans. “You’re very well informed, Your Lordship.”

I had actually started making inquiries about the family before I even left Herouxville. It didn’t take much digging to discover that they were considered one of the richest families not only in Bergonia, but in all Mainland.

“And he’s communicating through me because I know him personally,” added Hans. “Once upon a time, van Klausen hired the “Savages” to protect one of his caravans.”

“So where is he now?”

“Here in Gondreville,” replied Hans; then, with a mischievous laugh, he added: “He’s staying in the “Owl and Jug” inn, two blocks from Your Lordship’s home.”

“By the look on your face, I’m guessing you made him wait?” I ventured a guess at what was making Hans so happy, and I turned out to be right.

“Seven days now,” Hans nodded eagerly. In a slightly more vindictive tone, he continued: “No matter, though... It’ll be good for him... He’s used to thinking he can kick open any door he likes and make everybody come running. He can wait for a little while. The Margrave de Valier has his hands full as it is.”

Seeing that I was expecting a little bit more detail, Hans quickly continued.

“To put it mildly, Aldrich van Klausen is a complicated man... I wouldn’t be at all surprised to learn that he’s descended from Dwarves on one side or the other. He’s quite unpleasant. And stingy as sin to boot. He squeezed us for every penny last time...”

“Were there problems with payment?”

“No,” Hans shook his head. “Van Klausen’s never had any problems where that’s concerned. He has a strong reputation as a man of his word. And he values that reputation very highly.”

“Then I guess I don’t understand what the problem is.”

“Let me put it like this,” Hans frowned as he tried to find the right words. “Let his teeth anywhere near your finger, and you’ll walk away missing an arm. You need to read through any contract with him very, very carefully before you sign it. And generally, you just need to be on your guard whenever Aldrich van Klausen is around. Otherwise, without even realizing it, you’ll find yourself doing twice as much as you agreed for the same money. And if you object, he’ll wave his little contract in front of your face and show you your signature. “You signed on the dotted line...”“

“Did he say what he wants from me?” I asked.

“He said he has a business proposition for you,” Hans shrugged. “He refused to tell me any more than that. Like I said: van Klausen is a complicated man.”

“What do you think? Any idea what he might have in mind?”

“No,” Hans shook his head.

“Well,” I sighed. “No point leaving him hanging any longer... Let him know I’ll see him tomorrow.”

* * *

“Good day, Your Lordship! I thank you for the gift of your time. I promise I’ll try to take up as little of it as possible.”

The man frozen in mid-bow before me was short, but I could see immediately that his boot size was even bigger than Sigurd’s.

Stocky, tough-looking, with broad hands — to be honest, a master clockmaker was the last thing he looked like. That said, everything fell into place when I switched to true vision. His dark-brown energy system, which was being fed by ten bruts that had been artfully incorporated into amulets, made it quite clear that I was standing in the presence of a Mage-Artificer. In terms of rank, he was clearly a medius, but one who was on the very threshold of attaining a new level.

“The time in my hands is perfection in every instant,” I replied with the motto of the “Klausen & Sons” trading firm. “I’m sure you’d agree with that?”

“You’ve managed to surprise me, Your Lordship!” Van Klausen’s gray eyes (which were slightly farther apart than normal) widened ever so slightly. “And I’m honored that you’re so well-informed about my business.”

Despite his friendly tone and smile, the look in Aldrich van Klausen’s eyes was icy cold, and noticeably full of disdain. Which, I might add, he wasn’t trying very hard to conceal (if he was trying at all). Yet another local magnate who considered me an upstart bastard.

A thought crossed my mind at that point: Hans was absolutely right about this guy. In fact, seven days was far too brief a delay. We should have forced him to wait another week.

“I don’t think it’s so surprising,” I said as I gestured to invite van Klausen to have a seat. “I daresay almost every self-respecting Vestonian aristocrat has a Klausen in his pocket. Brandy?”

“I wouldn’t say no,” replied Aldrich as he sat down in his armchair and asked: “So do you use our watches yourself?”

The look in his eyes suggested that I had managed to throw him off, albeit just for a moment. And he had recovered almost immediately.

“Of course,” I nodded as I rang the bell to summon Gunnar. “My favorite model is the “Harmony.” Although my first Klausen was a “Springtime.”“

“Excellent choices, Your Lordship,” replied Aldrich with a note of self-satisfaction in his voice. “Both those models were developed by my eldest son Hendrik.”

“Your son is a true creative thinker and a gifted artist,” I smiled.

Gunnar quickly appeared, carrying a tray with a bottle of dark Atalian brandy and two crystal glasses on it.

After pouring us each a glass, he quickly and silently stepped out of the room again. The entire time, Aldrich was watching his neat, practised movements with obvious approval. Bertrand would have been proud of his pupil.

“To an unexpected and pleasant meeting!” I said with a smile as I raised my glass.

“To our meeting!” Van Klausen saluted me in return.

After taking a sip, my guest closed his eyes for a moment as he savored the taste. Then he smacked his lips with satisfaction, opened his eyes, and turned to look at me with renewed interest.

“To tell you the truth, Your Lordship, I find myself slightly confused.”

“Why’s that?” I asked.

“Well, you see,” he said, narrowing his eyes a little bit as he spoke. “There’s a certain theory among watchmakers, which holds that one can tell a lot about a person based on the model of the watch they carry. And considering everything I’ve heard about you over the last few months, neither the “Harmony,” nor, still less, the “Springtime...” Ahem... Well, they would almost suggest two totally opposite personalities...”

“An interesting theory,” I said as I tilted my head to the side a little. “In fact, I propose that we conduct a little experiment. Right here and now, we’ll each show one another the watches in our pockets. I’ll try to deduce as much as I can about you, and you compare what you see with everything you’ve already heard about me. What do you say?”

“This’ll be an interesting experiment, Your Lordship,” Aldrich van Klausen smiled. “I’m in. Who’s first?”

“Well, I asked for it, so I’ll show you my watch first,” I said with a wink.

With a gentle pull on the chain, I took a small, circular, slightly-bulging piece of black Shadow metal out of the small inside pocket of my coat. Then I pressed a tiny button on its surface. The watch’s lid popped open to reveal a flash of glass.

When Aldrich van Klausen saw the watch, his eyes widened — indeed, they practically slid up onto his forehead.

And I wasn’t surprised at his reaction, either... The watch, which I had found in the secret basement of the Fox Den, was made entirely of Shadow materials.

“A magnificent specimen,” said Aldrich quietly, without tearing his spellbound eyes off the watch for a second. “And it’s in excellent condition.”

“Please,” I said as I held the watch out for him to examine. “What does it say about me?”

After he carefully took the artifact into his hands (where it looked like a tiny piece of coal against the backdrop of his huge, rough palms), Aldrich took a small folding magnifying glass out of his inner pocket and began to examine the watch.

A few minutes later, he handed the watch back to me (although the look in his eyes suggested that he wished he could have kept it) and gave a quick, laconic verdict:

“The seal is that of Liander Fellmore. End of the first century after the Shadowfall. I’d hate to be mistaken, but it reminds me quite a bit of the famous “Eclipse,” which was a one-of-a-kind watch created for Edgar II the Crusher, King of Astland. You’ve got a real treasure there, Your Lordship.”

Then, as he took his own watch out of his vest pocket and handed it to me, he added in a dry voice:

“At the very least, it helps put the puzzle together quite a bit...”

With a quick glance at his watch, I replied:

“A classic. Very similar to the “Master of Time” model, except quite a bit older. According to your theory, I might suppose that the owner of this watch is a man of refined taste, but one who is careful not to forget his traditions. He pays an enormous amount of attention to detail. He’s pragmatic, and demanding not only in his relationship to others, but also in his attitude toward himself. How’d I do?”

“Not bad at all, Your Lordship,” nodded Aldrich. “Although there’s a small clarification I’d like to make. It’s not the “Master,” but the “Summoner of Time.” This watch was created by my grandfather, and it’s one-of-a-kind. I must say, you’ve caught on to the basics of our theory very quickly.”

“Outstanding craftsmanship,” I nodded. “Actually... Your watch tells me something else in addition to all that.”

“What’s that?” Aldrich looked up at me with keen attention.

“I now know who you are and why you’ve come to see me,” I replied without any trace of a smile.

I had spotted a small, very curious energy mark on the inside surface of his watch’s lid.

My tone made Aldrich tense up.

“I’ll be honest, I was starting to think you’d never come,” I said as I leaned back on my chair. “So — what does the Sapphire Guild intend to offer me in exchange for its Citadel?”


Chapter 3

Wolfsburg, capital of Astland

The Granite Palace, residence of King Otto II

ON A WIDE SQUARE, thickly strewn with small pebbles, two strykers had just crossed swords in a training fight. The first was a tall, massive warrior, clad from head to toe in armor that specialist artificers had crafted from the bones of some massive cave beast. The giant wielded his long, two-handed sword as if it were as light as a bamboo walking stick.

The second stryker was a full head shorter than his opponent, but just as thick (if not more so) in the shoulders. His armor had been forged from rare blue steel, which had come from across the Barrier, and as he fought it glimmered and flashed in the pale light of the winter sun.

Both Mages were avants. Their lightning-quick movements around the training ring were accompanied by loud gasps and cheers — normally followed by thunderous applause — from the audience of young aristocrats.

The noble public was especially loud in its praise of the stryker in the sky-blue armor. Which wasn’t surprising... After all, that stryker was none other than the King of Astland, Otto II the Brave himself. True, he also had another moniker that was still in use among the common people: Otto the Usurper.

To be fair, though, the “Usurper” tag was being heard less and less in Astland with every successive year of Otto II’s rule. According to the bootlicks and sycophants at court, this was because of the King’s unsurpassed talents as a ruler. Supposedly, the people had finally seen that their new ruler was simply better and wiser than their previous one.

In private, however, everyone in the country understood that Otto II was neither better nor worse than Conrad V, who had been beheaded and quartered in Wolfsburg after the Battle of Lüneburg, almost fifteen years before. And nobody needed to be told who exactly was responsible when the King’s most vociferous critics started losing body parts — first their busy tongues, then their hot, intemperate heads...

Wilhelm von Lander, Chief Minister to the King of Astland, was standing in the audience, watching the duel with careful attention. Tall and well-built, with a penetrating gaze and an icy expression that seemed permanently affixed to his face, Wilhelm was the kind of person whose very name inspired anxiety and respect, both within the court and across length and breadth of the land.

Wilhelm von Lander was the kind of hidden powerhouse who could manage all the various complex processes that make a country run, and direct them into their proper courses. His methods were harsh, but undeniably efficient. He stood at the root of many of Otto II’s decisions, but somehow he always managed to remain in the shadows and avoid any unnecessary attention.

The man who would one day become Chief Minister had been born into a noble family, but one which had fallen on hard times some time before; by the time of Wilhelm’s birth, they were completely impoverished. As the youngest son, Wilhelm understood from an early age that whatever he wanted in life would have to be earned through his own efforts — he could expect no financial help from his father. He therefore started preparing to devote his life to military service. Initially, he planned to make a career for himself in His Majesty’s army.

Alas, his plans were fated never to come to fruition, because something miraculous happened. When Wilhelm turned ten, it was discovered that he possessed the Shadow Gift. Representatives of the Gray Guild of Mages soon paid a visit to the family home, and his father’s joy knew no bounds. He knew that his youngest son’s healing gift might end up saving the family’s position in society.

Within the Guild, young Wilhelm soon showed an aptitude for the sciences, in addition to a natural flair for using his gift. He soon reached the rank of medius, and from there his ascent was meteoric: before long he was made Prior, and then Grand Master.

It was during his time in the Gray Guild that Wilhelm became acquainted with the eldest son of the Duke of Meerane — a man who would one day be known as Otto II the Brave, and whose line was every bit as ancient and exalted as that of King Conrad V himself.

Thanks to his skills and abilities, Wilhelm quickly attracted the attention of Otto and the men in his inner circle. They never really became friends, but they were certainly allies. Normally, Wilhelm would handle the plans and logistics, and Otto would put those plans into action.

Wilhelm played a crucial role in overthrowing the previous King, and thereby helping Otto ascend the throne, and the latter rewarded him with the post of Chief Minister. Basically, this equated to a grant of practically-unlimited power within the country’s government.

And Wilhelm von Lander took to the role with a vicious zeal. In the years following the coup, he had curtailed the power of the aristocracy, thereby strengthening the position of the King. He had suborned all the magical guilds in Astland to the will of the state, and done the same with the country’s most powerful mercenary guilds.

Slowly but surely, he enlarged and rearmed the army, created a Royal Guard Corps, and also reformed the secret chancery, whose network of spies and informers was responsible for gathering intelligence in both the foreign and domestic spheres.

In addition to all that, Otto II’s Chief Minister had taken it upon himself to develop the country’s international trading network, which soon brought a significant increase in revenues flowing into the treasury.

Naturally, such sweeping changes weren’t to everyone’s liking. Wilhelm von Lander had already been the target of several dozen assassination attempts during his years of service. Eventually, worried about losing his main ally (some might say co-conspirator), the King decided that, for the first time in the history of Astland, his Chief Minister would be allowed to form and maintain his own personal guard unit...

The loud ovations that signaled the end of the sparring session (which, of course, His Majesty won handily) soon tore Wilhelm von Lander out of his train of thought.

He glanced down at the King’s flushed, satisfied face as soon as he removed his helmet. A fiery red mane, bright blue eyes, lively mannerisms… Otto II wore his forty years very lightly indeed. And his Shadow Gift was unlikely to let him age any time soon. In addition to that, Wilhelm himself — a healer at the rank of avant — always paid careful attention to his ruler’s health.

With a big smile on his face, Otto slapped the bone armor of his black-haired opponent as he leaned over and said something to him. The giant smiled his animal smile in response and bowed to his King.

Many people might have assumed that Baron Charles de Flavy, Captain of the Royal Guards, had thrown the fight against his King on purpose. And considering that de Flavy was so ruthless toward the King’s enemies that he was popularly known as the Destroyer, they could certainly be forgiven for thinking so; but Wilhelm von Lander knew better. He knew that Otto excelled his bodyguard both as a Mage and as a swordsman.

As the procession of nobles and guardsmen filed toward the Palace doors, the Chief Minister turned and headed back toward his office. Otto would be busy bathing and having breakfast, which meant Wilhelm would have an opportunity to get some paperwork done...

“So,” said Otto II, once he and the Chief Minister were alone in the Royal Office. The King plopped down into an armchair and stretched his legs happily out toward the fireplace. “What news do you have for me today?”

“Important report from Bergonia, Your Majesty,” said the Chief Minister. The King snapped to attention as soon as he uttered these words.

“Go on,” said Otto impatiently.

“For the time being, at least, the war in Bergonia is over,” Wilhelm announced. “The Golden Lion has retreated to Atalia with what remains of his legions.”

“Oh!” The King exclaimed with a wide smile. He slapped his hands down loudly onto the armrests of his chair and jumped excitedly up to his full height. “That’s excellent news! Everything’s going to plan, then!”

“Not exactly...” The Chief Minister’s tone didn’t change at all as he continued. Gradually, the expression of joy on Otto II’s face started to morph into one of bewildered confusion.

Meanwhile, without paying any overt attention to the changing expression on his King’s face, Wilhelm von Lander continued:

“Before leaving Bergonia, the Golden Lion turned and gave battle to the army of the Dukes. And he crushed them — he took Prince Philippe and the Duke de Bauffremont prisoner.”

“How, in the name of all the ancient gods, is that possible?!” The King exploded. “You told me yourself that the Atalians were practically wedged in between two Vestonian armies!”

“As indeed they were,” the Chief Minister nodded. “But the Dukes de Gondy and de Bauffremont decided to attack the Golden Lion without waiting for the Margrave de Valier to join them.”

“May the Abyss swallow that overconfident fool!” The King growled. “He managed to get himself captured AND failed in his task to keep the Prince safe! We’re going to have to start all over! Maybe it would be easier and cheaper just to start with Heinrich this time?”

“If only the situation were that simple,” Wilhelm objected, “we’d have done that a long time ago. Prince Heinrich is too independent-minded and unpredictable. Sure, he’s not as impteuous as his late younger brother Bastien, but he’s nowhere near as pliant as Prince Philippe — who, by the way, has already been freed from captivity.”

“What do you mean?” The King’s eyes widened.

“The young bastard truly managed to surprise everybody this time,” said the Chief Minister, permitting himself a little smirk. “Somehow, he reached an understanding with the Duke di Lorenzo, and they simply exchanged Princes.”

The King’s eyes narrowed slightly; turning his head, he strode in silence over to the window. For a while, he just stared at the winter landscape outside his window, lost in thought. Then, turning around, he said:

“You said that the Atalians only had the Duke de Bauffremont. What about de Gondy?”

“He was badly wounded in the battle, but he still managed to avoid getting captured. He’s almost certainly in the capital by now, preparing for Prince Philippe’s arrival.”

“In other words, then, while Claude’s cooling his heels in Atalia, waiting for his vassals to get his ransom together, there’s nothing to stop de Gondy from taking total control of Prince Philippe? I’m starting to get sick of all this. Carl’s teetering on the edge of the Abyss. His legions have been smashed. It’ll be months before the Vestonian nobles can throw another army together. We’re never going to have a better chance than we do right now. My men are tired of waiting around. They’re eager for battle. If we let them loose now, we’ll be in Herouxville by the end of spring!”

“Will you permit me an objection, Your Majesty?” Wilhelm von Lander replied calmly.

The King replied with a low growl. His entire demeanor was like that of a cave tiger, with a big piece of meat in front of its nose that someone was suddenly trying to take away.

“Go ahead and try,” Otto II growled menacingly. “But I’ll warn you now — make it convincing. Because otherwise, I’m issuing mobilization orders today. And if I do, you’re going to do everything necessary to make the campaign a success. Understood?”

“Of course, Your Majesty,” said the Chief Minister. “But there’s something I need to know first. What exactly do you hope to achieve with this campaign? What will be its goal?”

“It seems that what they tell me about you is true after all,” the King chuckled as he stared firmly into his Minister’s eyes. “I’ve given you too much power. And now it’s finally come to mockery. I mean, how else should I interpret what you just said to me?”

Wilhelm von Lander meekly lowered his head; then, in a calm, even tone, he replied:

“Your new councillors are mistaken, Your Majesty. I really don’t have any power whatsoever. Such a thing is simply impossible. After all, every scrap of power in this country belongs to you and you alone, as its lawful ruler. I am merely your humble servant. Every action I take is taken exclusively on your authority and with your blessing. As for my question... There’s not even the merest shadow of mockery in it. No matter the case, I would need to know Your Majesty’s plans regarding Vestonia in order to carry out your will. Therefore, I can only repeat my question. What is to be the goal of this campaign? Simple plundering? Seizure of border territories? Or perhaps you’re planning something on a larger scale?”

“You know EXACTLY what I’m planning!” Otto II roared. “An Empire! That’s the point! Or have you already given the idea up as an impossibility?!”

“Your Majesty.” Wilhelm raised his head. For the first time in the conversation, a spark flashed across his eyes. After all, how could he fail to believe something he himself had implanted in Otto’s head during the young man’s training in the Guild? “Resurrecting the Empire is my dream. The day I see the Imperial Crown descend upon your head will be the happiest day of my life.”

“Then why are you opposed to this campaign?” The King shot back. “And don’t you dare try any excuses with me! I know you too well.”

“Because we aren’t yet ready to conquer the whole of Vestonia,” Wilhelm replied bluntly. “Even if we strip our northern borders bare — which, considering the situation in Northland at the moment, we categorically cannot do — we still won’t have enough men for the job. Yes, looting the northern baronies and counties, or even annexing a sizable chunk of their territory, would be easy enough. Carl doesn’t have any army that could possibly stop us. And yes, he’s at death’s door. But for some reason, he isn’t dying. I’ll tell you something else, too: even in a situation as complicated as this, he’s still in firm control of his government. His recent extermination of the Order of the Gray Rock is proof enough of that. There wasn’t so much as a whimper in defense of the Stone Knights. The Vestonian nobility is as loyal to the Royal Family as ever, and they won’t simply surrender the hundreds of castles and cities along our path as soon as we arrive. Of course, there will always be those who would take our side in the event of an invasion, but there won’t be many of them. And you know why that is: currently, Astland and Vestonia are firm allies. So as soon as our armies cross their border, they’ll instantly perceive us as backstabbers, invaders, and mortal enemies. We can always find a suitable pretext to justify our invasion, but in the eyes of the Vestonian nobility you would be the violator of an alliance that bears your very own signature. Nobody would ever accept your oath again. Even when you become Emperor, the stain will remain on your reputation forever.”

The King stood by the window in silence, listening as his Chief Minister explained his interpretation of events in a dry monotone. And, as usual, he found himself agreeing with everything he heard. The initial burst of enthusiasm had faded, to be replaced by a clear understanding that they would need to stick to the existing plan. Vestonia was simply too large. It couldn’t be swallowed in a single gulp. Any attempt would just result in a pointless waste of men.

A lightning-quick advance on Herouxville was one option, but taking the capital would never be as easy as it might seem on paper. Problems with supply would crop up as sure as night follows day. Supply lines from Astlandia would come under attack by noblemen and their retinues, who would always be able to hide out in their castles when reprisals came.

And they wouldn’t have to stay bottled up for long anyway. It wouldn’t take long for one of the Dukes to put out a call and gather the Vestonian aristocracy together into a new army. Last but not least, there was the man who had actually beaten the Atalians: the mysterious Margrave de Valier. As he stood there in his office, the King reflected that it hadn’t even been a full year since he first heard this man’s name.

The Margrave would be unlikely to sit tight in Bergonia while an enemy army was besieging Herouxville. He would definitely return to Vestonia and bring his army with him.

Otto sighed. Wilhelm had been right when he proposed his original plan. There would be no point in carrying on a bunch of pointless wars, wasting the lives of his soldiers for no reason, when he could induce the rulers of these other countries to bend their knees and acclaim him Emperor of their own accord.

Wilhelm had fallen silent some time before. He was waiting patiently while the King digested what he had said. Recently, Otto had been showing signs of impatience, which expressed itself in outbursts of anger like the ones Wilhelm had witnessed that day. He would need to be kept busy. Apparently, the King’s old favorite had begun to bore him. Some new object of conquest would have to be found. Fortunately, at any given time, the Chief Minister always had several suitable candidates for such a role. A half-measure, to be sure, but it was working for the time being.

More seriously, the time had clearly come to purge some of the hot-blooded young war hawks from His Majesty’s court. They were constantly egging the King on, and it had become a serious nuisance. Wilhelm made a mental note to arrange some duels and unfortunate accidents. At the same time, he would introduce some more calculating, calmer nobles into the King’s inner circle.

Finally, the King turned and walked back over to his chair. He picked up his goblet, took a huge gulp of wine, and then — already sounding calmer — he asked:

“So what do you intend to do?”

“We need the Duke de Bauffremont in Herouxville,” replied the Chief Minister. “But his ransom is something of a problem. His people have already contacted our banker.”

“Very well,” the King nodded. “Let Bauffremont sink even deeper in debt to me. Any other news?”

“Messengers have arrived from Fjordgrad,” said Wilhelm von Lander. “They’ve brought an invitation to the coronation.”

“And onto whose head, exactly, are the priests going to place the Crown of Vintervald?” The King’s left eye narrowed slightly as he turned to glance at his Minister.

“Forgive me my impertinence, Your Majesty,” Wilhelm von Lander replied calmly as he cocked his head to the side. “But you owe me a hundred gold marks.”

“Heh!” The King grunted with irritation and shook his head. “So Sharptooth’s girl didn’t strike while the iron was hot. I was sure she’d elbow her brothers out of the way and ascend to the throne herself. But you were right once again... Which one of the two idiots is going to be the new Konung?”

“According to our ambassadors, Princess Astrid has voiced support for her eldest brother, Olaf the Gray, so as not to exacerbate the country’s precarious situation any further. Her next eldest brother, Ulf Wolfheart, is already busy gathering a new army to face the Frost Knights. And I’ve also learned that Vintervald’s ambassadors have already begun scheduling meetings with the leaders of Wolfsburg’s mercenary guilds.”

“Well,” the King snickered. “I wish them luck. I trust you’ve already communicated my will to the heads of those guilds?”

“Yes, Your Majesty,” the Chief Minister replied with a bow of his head. “Not a single Astlandic mercenary will be signing a contract with the northerners. Any who fail to follow your orders on this matter will find punishment swift and severe. That said, I think they already understand that with the defeat of the Konung and his army, nothing good awaits them in Northland anyway.”

Otto II ran a hand through his long, wavy hair and cracked his neck:

“Sharptooth should never have turned to the Frozen Spears. The savages have buttered their bread, and now they’re going to have to eat it. Although I must admit, I was a little unnerved by just how easily those Frost Knights destroyed Sharptooth’s army.”

“I’m already gathering intelligence, Your Majesty.” As always, Wilhelm von Lander was quick with an answer. “I’ll have a full report for you very soon.”

“Well, the sooner the better,” the King replied morosely. “We need to know what we’re dealing with...”


Chapter 4

“YOU MEAN TO SAY that you’ve somehow managed to determine that I belong to the Sapphire Guild by looking at my watch?” Aldrich van Klausen’s eyebrows rose. “I must admit, Your Lordship — the more I speak with you, the more you surprise me. I don’t suppose you’d be willing to indulge my curiosity and explain what made you decide this?”

I noticed, by the way, that he didn’t deny being associated with the Guild.

“Of course,” I said as I settled down a little deeper into my armchair and poured myself some more brandy. “Your Guild has a very curious motto. “The Star in the Crown — the Sapphire among Stones!” I believe that’s it, is it not?”

Aldrich didn’t answer. His gaze was riveted on every movement I was making.

So I just continued:

“The first thing that comes to mind when I read this motto, naturally enough, is that we’re talking about something valuable and unique. Something that stands out from the usual, from the banal. Like a sapphire among other stones. The star in the crown symbolizes exclusivity and rarity, and the association with a sapphire puts further emphasis on its value and beauty. Whoever thought of that motto must have been a true poet, no?”

Aldrich still didn’t respond; he was still staring at me with unblinking eyes.

“In fact, I was so intrigued by this motto that I decided to dig a little deeper,” I said as I stared at the dancing petals of flame in my fireplace. “What attracted my attention more than anything else was the use of the words “crown” and “star” in the magical guild’s motto. Later, I learned that among jewelers, the word “crown” refers to the uppermost part of a jewel — the part directly abutting the girdle from above. The gemstone’s largest facet is located in the center of the crown — the “eye of heaven,” which is surrounded by smaller facets known as “starpoints.” Beautiful, wouldn’t you agree? And in your case, it’s also symbolic. After all, the Sapphire Guild’s hierarchy has the same faceted structure — the Guild Council is the “eye of heaven,” and its masters are the “starpoints.”“

“One can only envy how well Your Lordship is informed,” Aldrich said icily after I finished speaking. “And yet you still haven’t told me — what does any of this have to do with my watch?”

“The wedge-shaped facet,” I smiled. “It’s been woven very artfully into the mosaic ornamentation on your watch’s housing. Considering what I’ve just said, and the fact that you’re a third- or fourth-generation Mage-Artificer, then you must be a master of the Sapphire Guild, just as your grandfather was before you. Besides, I’ve seen similar patterns before. Étienne de Mornay’s cuirass, for example, bore a similar mark.

And there’s a personal magical mark on the inside of the watch housing as well. The same one we’ve found on a number of chests and cases inside the Citadel’s secret treasury. And now I know whom the contents of those cases belong to.

By the way — judging by the numerous other personal marks we found on all those crates, barrels, and cases, it’s not just the Guild’s property we found, but also that of its masters.” That’s right: Aldrich van Klausen had a double interest in getting the Citadel back.

Not a muscle twitched on Aldrich’s face when I mentioned the Count de Mornay. In his eyes, however, there was a look of obvious dislike, directed toward me. Apparently, the Count’s death had hit him rather hard.

The young man had been one of the pretenders to the Bergonian Throne. Prior to my unexpected military campaign, the opinion had begun to spread among the local nobility that Count de Mornay could have been the center around which the whole country could have rallied. Supposedly, he could have taken control of the developing chaos... Now, of course, nobody even seemed to remember the would-be “savior of the fatherland.” Except his former colleagues from the magical guild.

Having come face-to-face with local realities myself, I personally had no idea how a man like Étienne de Mornay could possibly have united the Bergonians under his banner. The elders of the mountain clans, the city councils, the village headmen... Étienne de Mornay would never have bothered to give most of them the time of day. And even if he had, he would have stumbled over their fierce predisposition to independence; the fact that they had all been living according to their own laws ever since the start of the war was evidence enough of that. Really, the idea of anyone “taking control” of the chaotic situation in the country seemed pretty farfetched to me.

I have to give my guest credit, though: Aldrich van Klausen’s carefully-concealed irritation hadn’t surfaced once the entire time. His dislike of me personally, however, fanned as it was by the humiliating wait Hans had forced upon him, was obviously starting to slip through. Seven days of idleness in a second-rate hotel in some country backwater might do that to just about anyone... For Aldrich, though, it might have been even more humiliating, considering how many Dukes and Counts had so recently been beating a path to the doors of “Klausen & Sons.”

Despite that, though, I noticed a spark of interest in Van Klausen’s eyes when I mentioned the Count de Mornay. And I couldn’t help but wonder what version of events had reached his ears. Whatever the case, it couldn’t hurt to shed a little light on what had actually happened in Northland.

“I noticed judgement in your eyes when I mentioned the Count de Morney,” I said.

Aldrich flinched and squirmed slightly in his chair.

“I never — “

I raised a hand to stop him.

“I’ve heard that the Count underwent training with the Sapphire Guild, so I understand such an attitude on your part. Nevertheless, it was a fair duel, fought in strict accordance with the rules of the Great Trial. Besides, Étienne de Mornay made it very clear to me that he had no intention of sparing me if the chance arose. And I’m not one to leave a dangerous enemy lurking behind my back. Still less am I one to submit my neck meekly to the sword’s edge. I feel that we can finally move on to discussing the business proposition you’ve come to put before me.”

When I stopped speaking, Aldrich van Klausen leaned forward in his chair and lowered his head ever so slightly.

“First and foremost, Your Lordship, I want to say that I deeply regret it if I’ve caused you irritation in any way. I would never even have thought to cast doubt on your right to defend your own life. And yes — you’re absolutely right. I really am a master of the Sapphire Guild, and I’ve come to you on behalf of its Council to initiate negotiations for the return of our Citadel.”

Aldrich finally fell silent; he was frozen in position, his face still turned slightly toward the floor. I rubbed my chain. It was interesting to see one of the richest people in the entire country, overcoming his pride after being forced to show deference and respect to some upstart bastard nobody. I knew he would never forget the humiliation.

But that could come later. For the time being, the tension in his voice told me that he was worried about derailing the negotiations before they even started. Such a failure wouldn’t earn him any slaps on the back from his Council. Which wasn’t surprising, of course, because the wealth of the entire Guild (which they no doubt imagined was still stored safely in their treasury) was riding on the outcome of those negotiations.

Inside, I couldn’t resist a little smirk. What a surprise they had in store for them...

“Return?” I asked, feigning bemusement. “The Citadel and Chateau Gardien are my trophies by right of conquest. Who said I had any intention of returning them to anyone? A spectacularly-strong fortress, located in a fertile valley and defended by an unapproachable castle, is a perfect place from which to maintain control of the Imperial track. I know you must have seen for yourself that that road, which my forces are patrolling, is — I daresay — currently the very safest thoroughfare in all of Bergonia?”

Aldrich raised his head with a frown.

“As far as we understand, though, you intend to relocate to your own lands. You’ll have a lot of expenses waiting for you there. You simply won’t have either the time or the means to maintain the fortress in the valley.”

I shrugged and took a small sip of brandy. Then I answered:

“They need not be mutually exclusive. And anyway, what makes you think I won’t be able to maintain the fortress and my own lands at the same time? I have big plans for this region. Or do you assume I’ll be satisfied with a small Margraviate on the border with the Shadow? If so, why would I have undertaken this military campaign to kick the Atalians out of Bergonia in the first place? I could simply have made straight for Shadow Pass and left His Majesty’s marshals and generals to take care of things here.”

Aldrich’s eyes widened. I could almost physically sense the gears start moving in his brain. My words had obviously put him in something of a quandary, especially given that Hans and his people had spent the last month carefully spreading the rumor that I wanted to get rid of the Citadel.

“But you said you were starting to think we would never come. Why was this even on your mind, if you had no intention of parting with the Citadel?”

I smiled.

“It’s quite simple. I’ve received offers to purchase the Citadel from several parties over the last few months. Including a number of magical guilds. And I’ll be honest: some of them have been enticing in the extreme. Nevertheless, I was surprised that the fortress’ former owners were taking so long to make their appearance. And I was really interested to hear what they might have to offer me. Although, as long as I’m being honest — what do you need this fortress for anyway?”

At this, Aldrich stiffened. The news that other guilds had submitted offers was obviously concerning to him. He understood exactly what these potential buyers wanted with the Citadel. Beads of sweat were suddenly glistening on my guest’s forehead.

“This Citadel isn’t just a fortress to us!” Aldrich exclaimed with a healthy dose of melodrama; that said, I could tell by his gestures and his tone that he truly believed what he was saying. “It embodies the Sapphire Guild’s centuries of history and heritage. The Citadel is a symbol of our power, our tenacity, and our continuity over the generations. Losing this place would be like losing part of our identity. We’re proud of our past, and we strive to preserve it for future generations. Therefore, we’re willing to do whatever it takes to regain our Citadel now that it’s been taken from us.”

The haggling had begun. I had been nodding along appreciatively as he spoke, but when he uttered his last phrase I replied with a pointed frown.

“As I recall, nobody actually took the fortress from you. Your people abandoned it on their own initiative and ran off through the secret exit. For all intents and purposes, it was under the control of the Red Cloaks — the people I took it from. I repeat: spoils of war, fairly taken. Actually, I’d like to ask — why did your people abandon it in the first place? And why didn’t they bring the other occupants out with them when they went?”

Aldrich van Klausen frowned. He ran a hand across his beard and shot me a skeptical glance.

In my mind, I just chuckled. I knew he was trying to decide whether to divulge that secret to me or not. He was obviously unaware that I had discovered the answer to that particular secret some time before. I already knew that the group of mages and servants had never left the mountain at all. What had actually happened to them, however, was still a mystery.

“I don’t have an answer to that question,” Aldrich finally responded.

He had decided not to share any more than he had to. Which I could understand.

“In any case, the Citadel remains the property of the Sapphire Guild, even if it’s temporarily in your hands,” he continued. “A delegation from our Guild’s Council has already set off to see His Majesty in Herouxville, to swear fealty to him and demand the return of what belongs to us. In the interests of neighborly relations, however, we’re giving you a chance to resolve this issue without the King’s involvement.”

A wide smile spread across my face. Seeing this, Aldrich gritted his teeth.

“Beyond all doubt, I’m grateful to you for giving me this opportunity. It’s very kind of you. Nevertheless, something tells me that your delegation to Herouxville is in for a disappointment. In fact, I’m certain of it. I could even tell you exactly how everything’s going to unfold once they reach the capital. Would you like to know?”

Aldrich picked his glass up from the table, took a sip, leaned back in his chair, and raised his eyes to stare into mine.

“You’re possessed of the gift of prophecy? Well, then, by all means — do me the honor.”

I chuckled as I crossed my legs and turned slightly to the side.

“Come, now! There’s nothing supernatural at play here! Merely a knowledge of courtly realities and His Majesty’s character. To be honest, everything will transpire in quite a mundane fashion. First, the secretariat — and then every other official who’ll be involved in getting your request passed up the chain to the King — will require bribes from your people, to the tune of about a quarter of their ready cash by the time that process is complete. Then the guilds you’re on friendly terms with will take approximately an equal amount in exchange for the help you’ve asked them to provide. Then His Majesty’s jester will take his turn, and he’ll leave your people without so much as two coins to rub together. Finally, because of the King’s wound, your delegates will swear fealty in the presence of the Chancellor. And then, finally, after a few months (in the best-case scenario), you’ll receive an answer to your request from the King. It will be a refusal. Because His Majesty would never even consider taking a lawful trophy from his most faithful vassal, the man who’s brought him Bergonia on a plate. But I think the leadership of your Council — and you yourself — already know all that without all my prophesying. That’s why you’ve come HERE. You want to start negotiating without wasting time or money.”

As I spoke, Aldrich van Klausen kept staring straight into my eyes. And when I finished, he replied in a perfectly calm tone of voice:

“You see only the tip of the iceberg, Your Lordship. Over the long period of its existence, our Guild has developed a network of durable connections both within Bergonia and outside it. We have many ways of regaining what’s ours, even without the King’s involvement. But we’d prefer to handle this amicably.”

I shook my head.

“I don’t doubt it. But the time has come for new alliances and new arrangements. I’m afraid YOU may be the ones who are failing to see what lies beneath the surface of the water. It’s cold and dark, down in those depths. And the water is full of dangerous predators, for whom your Guild would be little more than a snack. So indeed — it’s most certainly in your best interests to handle this amicably.”

Aldrich set his glass down on the table. For the first time since he had arrived, his lips spread into something resembling a smile. He obviously hadn’t taken my words seriously. Oh well, I thought... We’ll see what you say when the Hrimthurs turn their attention to you.

“Does this mean you’re amenable to negotiating the return of our Citadel?”

I closed my eyes and rubbed the bridge of my nose; then, as I pulled my shoulders back into a satisfying stretch, I opened my eyes again and turned to look at him.

“That will all depend on what you’re able to offer me.”

“Money, for example.” By my expression, Aldrich could see that this test shot had failed to arouse much interest in me, so he added: “And a treaty of alliance. Similar to the one we had with the late King. You’ll always be able to use the Citadel as a shelter and a bivouac base for your men. I have to hand it to you: you really have restored order in the northern part of the country. The Imperial track truly is one of the safest in Bergonia. More and more often, I’m hearing that the capital’s merchants prefer to add a short roundabout to their caravan routes in order to send them into Vestonia by way of Gondreville and the Citadel. At this rate, the economy around here will spring back to life in no time.”

I thought for a second as I stroked my chin, and then replied:

“Perhaps. Still, though, it doesn’t seem like enough. I could achieve everything you’ve mentioned without your Guild. Besides, you haven’t even told me how much money we’re talking about here.”

“Would 50,000 gold Imperials fit the bill?” Aldrich cocked his head to the side as he made his first offer.

By local standards, this was actually quite a respectable sum, but it was a mere drop in the bucket compared to what we had hauled out of the Citadel’s treasury. Besides, the question was obviously double-edged. It was just a test, and a rather artless one at that. An initial foray — nothing more. Agreeing too quickly would seem highly suspicious.

I burst into loud laughter; then, wiping away some nonexistent tears, I gave him my answer:

“I can only hope that’s a joke. If not, I’m afraid I don’t know what to think. I might almost start to suspect that you’ve been ignoring everything I’ve been saying.”

“I understand, Your Lordship,” Aldrich nodded. “In that case, please tell me what sort of sum you think we ought to be talking about here.”

“First of all,” I said as I scratched the bridge of my nose, “we’ll need to add another zero to the sum you just quoted me. In other words, I won’t even consider selling the place for less than half a million gold Imperials. Second, besides the money, you’ll guarantee a supply of bruts for my mages. Third, Chateau Gardien will remain under my people’s control. Fourth, I want discounts on all services, artifacts, and potions your Guild renders and produces. But that’s not all... Although... You know what? You’ll receive a full list of my conditions and demands later on.”

Aldrich van Klausen’s eyes kept getting wider and wider as I spoke.

“Your Lordship, this is — “ He tried to object.

“My dear Master,” I interrupted him as I rose from my chair to make it clear that our audience was at an end. “To my mind, this first round of negotiations has gone quite well. I’ll spell out my conditions and demands in writing, and my seneschal will have them sent to you. For now, however, I dare not keep you any longer than I already have. I’m sure you have many pressing matters to take care of.”

Aldrich van Klausen hurriedly rose from his chair. As he bowed farewell, he quickly rattled off the standard words of farewell, then turned and left my office in a state of gloomy pensiveness.

A few moments later, all my first-born appeared in my office with smiles shining on their faces. A secret door opened, and Hans’ satisfied face poked out from inside.

Upon seeing them appear, I said quietly:

“We’ll need to send a message to Baron Reese at the Citadel and have him increase his vigilance. I’m sure some of the Sapphire Guild’s scouts will be stopping in for a visit in the near future. They’ll want to try getting into their treasury before they negotiate any further...”


Chapter 5

THAT EVENING, AS USUAL, I fed a dozen big bruts to the parasite who had so brazenly taken over my energy system, then laid down to sleep. Having tasted rich black energy for the first time, the beast suddenly seemed a little bored with what I had to offer. I found myself picking out the biggest crystals with the highest concentration of mana I could find.

I had already dismissed the lunari and told her to go relax. I wasn’t planning any meditative practices that night — just sleep, and nothing more.

As I lay there on my back, I stared up at the ceiling. I couldn’t help thinking about the bewildered look on van Klausen’s face when I stipulated my conditions and demands for him. It seemed that after hearing the figure of 500,000 gold Imperials, very little else of what I said actually registered with him. So much the worse for him... To be honest, though, even if they were to agree to my demands, they would only get the Citadel itself back. Chateau Gardien would be staying with me.

I knew, of course, that nobody was actually going to pay me half a million in gold. That much was already crystal clear. I had only demanded such an outrageous sum to keep the Guild Council from getting suspicious. Quickly agreeing to 50,000 gold and the vague promise of an alliance would have put their guard up immediately. Money like that could certainly buy a nice mansion in Herouxville, of course, but it would have to be one in the Old Capital.

Basically, it was a situation where the potential buyers were knowingly offering a ridiculously low price, while the seller was asking for far more than would ever be feasible (even if the price had been the only condition, which of course it wasn’t).

Van Klausen had probably already received my full list of demands by that point. I figured that by the next morning, a rider would already be racing toward Romont with a letter for the Guild.

Hans had said that negotiations like this often lasted for months, sometimes years. Somehow, though, I felt pretty certain that we would have a deal before I left for my Margraviate. Maybe by the end of spring, at the latest.

The current Council of the Sapphire Guild had lost many of its masters — who, as I mentioned, had never made it out of the mountains. Only the gods knew what might have happened to them. Maybe the collapse that had closed off the entrance into the secret tunnel was bigger than we suspected. Maybe the bodies of everyone who had tried to flee the Citadel were now entombed beneath a thousand tons of stone?

Whatever the case, the Sapphire Guild was undoubtedly going through a crisis of leadership. Whoever was currently at the helm would realize that their position could be significantly strengthened by successful negotiations to buy back their Citadel — where, they no doubt imagined, their Guild’s collected wealth was still sitting undiscovered and intact in the treasury.

I’ll admit, by the way, that the news about the delegation that had been sent to Herouxville came as a pretty unwelcome surprise (assuming, of course, that it wasn’t all smoke and mirrors, and that such a delegation had actually been sent). It meant I would have to find a solution to the problem quickly. Carl would almost certainly try to profit off the affair if he could. I knew he would immediately make one very important conclusion: the fact that the Guild was requesting the return of the Citadel, when they had proven beyond all doubt that they couldn’t control it effectively, could only mean that the main treasury was still intact (or believed to be so).

Even if Carl didn’t make the conclusion himself because of his illness, Kiko would certainly clear it up for him in short order.

Later on, once everybody realized that the treasury had already been cleaned out, that might mean legal trouble for me with the King, as well as with the Guild. After all, I was pretty clearly the only person who could have done it.

And even though the trophy was rightfully mine, the powers-that-be might decide that I had snapped up too much loot during the course of the war, and that I should really share some of it.

True, there was another option available to me. I could simply deny everything. Make them prove it was me, and not the fleeing mages, for example.

In any case, they could certainly try to pressure me all they wanted. If they did, well... We’d just have to see how that turned out for them, I guess. Given the current circumstances, I felt very confident that the King wasn’t about to get on my case about some far-off guild’s treasury. He just wasn’t in a position to do it, and it wouldn’t have been worth the effort anyway. He had bigger problems at the moment. Someday in the future, though? Without a doubt. This incident would certainly be brought up against me at some point, even without any hard evidence whatsoever. But the King would have to live long enough to see that day come.

And on that note, the second-generation potions that Lord Gray had delivered to the King from me were on a whole new level. They had all undergone transformation by golden mana. I was confident that they would be much more effective than all the Royal Healers combined. Added to the fact that I had already successfully healed the Duke de Clairmont from a similar malady... Well, let’s just say it seemed likely that a rider from the King would be arriving in the near future with orders to return to the capital immediately. I’d have bet my right hand on it.

I chuckled to myself. I won’t lie: I was already thinking about what to request from Carl in exchange for healing him. Provided, of course, that I actually ended up doing that.

Heh... And to think, he still hadn’t rewarded me in any way for capturing Bergonia and saving Prince Philippe. I’d have to remind him about that when the time came. Not at a personal audience, of course, but through Kiko... And I made a mental note not to forget something else, too: namely, that the last order I had received from the King certainly seemed to suggest a lack of trust in a man who had been fighting honestly and bravely under the Royal banners. A man who, more importantly, had brought His Majesty victory over the Atalians...

The thoughts kept rolling around in my mind. Slowly but surely, sleep began to overtake me, promising a period of long-overdue relaxation and calm.

Alas, I never actually managed to fall asleep. In the blink of an eye, my entire body suddenly twitched violently, and I opened my mouth in a silent scream as a blinding pain suddenly burst into being inside me. It felt like molten steel was flowing down every one of my blood vessels.

Before losing consciousness, I switched to true vision and realized that the pain was coming from my energy channels, rather than my blood vessels. And it wasn’t molten steel causing the pain, but a powerful current of bright, golden magic...

The breakthrough was instantaneous. When I opened my eyes, I realized that my bedroom — along with Gondreville and the world in which I had awoken less than two years before — was suddenly very, very far away.

It took me a few moments to realize that I wasn’t in Max Renard’s body anymore; instead, I was hovering in midair, a few yards above the ground, like some kind of cheap theatrical ghost. My energy body was still with me, complete with its new web of golden energy channels. That said, I had completely lost control over it. I found myself relegated to the role of passive observer.

I didn’t feel any fear or worry about this. Irritation and anger — yes. More than anything, I was angry at having been unceremoniously wrenched from the body I had spent so much time and effort improving.

And if my previous rebirth was any indication of what to expect, my current energy body probably wouldn’t be changing for the better as a result of whatever was happening. Everything I had achieved in that life was wiped out when I was reborn.

More urgently, though — was that actually what was happening? Was I actually about to be reborn? After all, that being who spoke to me from the darkness had made it quite clear that this life would be my last.

Did that mean that what I was seeing was the beginning of the next stage of existence? And by the way, I thought... Where is this mysterious benefactor hiding? Or is somebody else about to take over my case?

As I thought about these strange twists of fate, I had a chance to look around. Below me was a vast desert valley, stretching endlessly out into the distance. All I could see were rocks and sand. And silence...

The sky had taken on a pale yellow color like that of pollen, and this color permeated the entire vault of the sky out to its unfathomably-distant horizons. The sun was also shining with an intensity to which my eyes were unaccustomed. It had a thick, dense quality to it that seemed to be causing the yellow sky around me to sparkle softly in the silence. The air itself seemed to be glowing, and its light somehow seemed alien, yet at the same time dimly familiar and long-forgotten.

What really grabbed my attention, though, were the fiery-red clouds drifting lazily across the yellow sky. The blurry blotches were so thick and massive that it seemed like they might plummet toward the ground at any time.

Like molten metal, they kept changing shape and moving, assuming all sorts of fantastic forms — at first, they looked like big tongues of flame, and then before I knew it they morphed into strange, otherworldly beings whirling in an endless dance.

My energy body sensed a light vibration in the air, and the movement of these clouds seemed to be its source. Suddenly and unexpectedly, I realized that this world was trying to merge with me — to become part of me. It also dawned on me that the sky wasn’t simply a big, empty expanse: it was a living, breathing creature, full of golden fire and primordial power.

My body tensed up and instinctively tried to resist invasion by this foreign body.

As it did so, the vast silence was suddenly disturbed by the whispering of many voices, which sounded like they were coming from everywhere at once. Soon, a number of pale, faceless shadows began to appear around me. There were dozens of them, maybe even hundreds. Long and short, fat and thin... They were all facing me, but none of them seemed to be in any hurry to approach.

At first, I couldn’t make out a single word, but then I realized that these shadows were speaking in the ancient tongue. Basically, they were all asking me to share my energy with them.

Some were asking with urgency in their voices, but nevertheless sounded polite. Others were openly begging. Still others were making their requests with obvious threats in their voices.

The behavior of the latter prompted an intuitive response in my mind: I knew that I must not, under any circumstances, enter into conversation with these shadows. Even though my first instinct was to say something back to them. To ask them to explain what this place was...

Suddenly, the whispering choir of shadows around me disappeared as five faceless, golden human silhouettes appeared in front of me. They slowly drifted over to me, forming a semicircle with the biggest of the five shadows in the middle. This one was emanating a deeper, more saturated light than any of the others.

“You did well in keeping your silence.” The voice was that of a stern-sounding old man. He was speaking the ancient tongue. I’ll admit, there were a few words whose meaning I had to figure out intuitively, because I didn’t understand them right away. “You must keep your silence now as well. Say a single word, and you’ll accelerate your fusion with this world. And then the scavengers will gut you like a fish. You’ll become as they are: shadows, drifting around in search of life energy.”

One of the other silhouettes, farthest to the right, suddenly moved, and I heard a dissatisfied female voice speak up.

“Judging by his reservoir, he only recently underwent initiation.”

“And he’s already found the path to this world?” I heard a surprised voice burble off to my left.

“Obviously, there was some sort of energy ripple, which must have brought him here by chance!” Another female voice interjected. This one sounded clear, and noticeably interested in what was happening. “What else could explain his presence in this world without a mentor?”

“Look closer at his energy system,” the silhouette in the middle admonished them.

“Oh, Great Gods of Light!” The first female voice explained. “So what — he allowed his gift to develop independently? Like some savage from the Age of Darkness?”

As I listened to the conversation between these beings, I was torn between an instinct for self-preservation and a burning feeling of curiosity. These creatures obviously knew what was happening to me, and I had so many questions for them that I felt like I might actually burst open. At the same time, I was trying to heed the warning given to me by the biggest of the five spirits. Or whatever they were...

Soon, the head spirit (I got the impression that the one in the middle was somehow in charge) began to move, and drifted in a little closer to me. For some time, everyone else fell silent, and I realized that they were all scanning me — without any ceremony or dignity, as if I had been some kind of lab-bound moth. A familiar feeling. It felt like I was standing in the crosshairs of a high-powered rifle.

Finally, however, the head spirit stirred again.

“It seems we’re all close to the truth. I don’t see the mark of a mentor on him at all. Although there was one at some point, it seems to have vanished. The trace is still fresh. He underwent initiation recently, and the gift is indeed developing independently. But he’s trying to rein it in. And surprisingly, he’s already made some progress in doing so.”

As if on command, the other spirits all drifted in closer.

“Pff...” I heard a disdainful scoff from one of the spirits to my right. “Like a chicken trying to write. Look at this gnarled mess of a pattern... The channel bores are uneven... The joins have been reinforced to some extent, somehow... But these energy nodes? I mean, just look at them! I don’t even understand how he’s still alive!”

In my mind, I just chuckled. So, I thought... I’m still alive. Already a little bit of good news...

“I couldn’t agree more!” I heard the first female voice exclaim.

“I like this boy, though,” replied the second, louder female voice. “Most importantly, he hasn’t given up. He’s still struggling with it. In fact, all his energy system needs is a few minor modifications. And then the pattern will stabilize.”

I was spellbound by what they were saying.

“Minor?” The first female voice scoffed. “A few? Several dozen of these joins would have to be re-edged and redirected. You think this savage is capable of that?”

At that, a vaguely arm-like tendril extended from the body of one of the short silhouettes and stretched out toward me.

“Here, look...” The louder female voice said. “His reservoir volume is already sufficient to allow strengthening of the connection to the root node. From there, by establishing proper grounding and stability, he’ll be able to get to work on his balance node.”

“Agreed,” the head silhouette replied. “This secondary node will balance and stabilize the energy flow coming in from outside. Judging by the particles of unprocessed mana in his reservoir, this savage has access to manacrystals. If I were him, I’d move on to the remaining secondary nodes after that. Particularly the Reasoning Node, Defense Node, and Healing Node.”

I felt like a museum exhibit that someone had wheeled into a big lecture hall. I could only hope they didn’t plan on dissecting me...

“Excellent strategy!” The second female voice exclaimed. “By ensuring himself such a firm foundation, he’ll be able to move on safely to his main nodes. By the way — you pointed out how well-developed his Intuition and Perception Nodes are. Especially the latter. I once saw nodes like this on a shapeshifter.”

“I wonder who he is in his world?” The first female voice mused aloud. “How much mana must he have devoured to facilitate such rapid transformation of his reservoir? He apparently has access to an unlimited supply of mana crystals.”

Heh, I thought... If only...

By the way, speaking of the Perception Node. I had been so absorbed in listening that I didn’t immediately sense a gentle, but constant, pressure on the top of my head. It felt like something was trying to pull me upward. Before long, the urge to turn and see what was pulling at me became overpowering.

In the end, though, I didn’t have time to do it. The head spirit began to speak again, and his words virtually froze me in place.

“Oh! This savage really is full of surprises! Look at this — he has no mentor, but somehow he’s acquired an assistant from among the first-born.”

“Judging by the pattern, it’s one of the lunar spirits,” said the louder female voice. She had identified my lunari pretty quickly. “Very weak, but also very determined.”

There was no doubt about it: Selina had sensed something was wrong, and she was trying to bring my energy body back from within this strange dream. Yet again, I said a mental thank-you to the nisse for bringing the fairies in to see me on that fateful day.

The head spirit just grunted, then turned to address me.

“Focus on your assistant’s current, you fool. Otherwise your first-born will die of exhaustion.”

I stopped resisting immediately, and slowly began to drift upward. As I watched the golden silhouettes get smaller and smaller below me, it took every ounce of willpower to keep from speaking. Yes, I had a lot of questions. I was almost catastrophically short on information. But I simply couldn’t take the risk. Because after all, it wouldn’t be taking a risk just for myself: the lunari was still stubbornly pulling me upward, and she might also end up getting hurt if something happened to me.

As if reading my mind, the head spirit turned to address me one final time. This time, his voice sounded very close to me, almost as if he had been whispering in my ear.

“Get stronger, savage. Return to us if you survive. And if you do, I’ll answer your questions. But be prepared: nothing comes for free...”

No sooner did he finish speaking than I suddenly found myself back in my bed. It was already light outside. Gondreville was waking up. I could hear the shouts of the citizens outside, mixed in with the sounds of neighing horses and barking dogs.

I shuddered. An icy chill swept across my entire body. My mind was still in a fog as it tried to wrap itself around what had just happened. Thankfully, though, the searing pain was gone. All that remained were occasional pangs, which were much less intense. I didn’t care about that... The main thing was that I was alive... Again...

Selina, my faithful lunari, had been by my side the entire time, staring down at me with eyes wide. Her chest was rising and falling feverishly; by the time I finally came to, her breathing had grown ragged and heavy.

An unpleasant sensation of cold crawled down my back as I thought about how close I had come to losing her.

“Thank you,” I croaked. “You saved me again...”

“What happened?” She asked as she stared worriedly down into my eyes. “You started having really scary dreams... It was incredibly difficult to get through to you.”

With a heavy sigh, I turned and sat up on the edge of the bed, where I tried to calm my trembling hands. It seemed that she was right: the whole thing already seemed like some sort of very strange dream.

“I don’t really know what it was yet... But I’m definitely going to figure it out...”


Chapter 6

SURE ENOUGH, I STARTED working on figuring things out almost immediately — as soon as I was able to think clearly again.

The first thing I did was run a thorough, unhurried scan of my energy system. I found several surprises waiting for me right away.

The first (and most important) was that my reservoir had grown by about 25%. Besides the increase in size, its color spectrum had become deeper and richer, and its exterior layer was thicker. I would no longer need to fear what a sudden increase in energy load might do to my system’s core. Like the one that had happened the previous night, for example.

As I examined my new reservoir, I couldn’t quite keep my emotions bottled up, and from time to time I let out a soft stream of curses under my breath. Those creatures, or spirits, from my dream had a point when they referred to me as a savage who had allowed his gift to transform his energy system without any guidance or control.

As I analyzed the situation, I eventually realized that an instantaneous increase in my reservoir’s volume, like the one I had survived that night, could easily have destroyed the physical shell holding the energy system in place. Basically, I got lucky: because I had only been living in my new world for a relatively short time, my energy system hadn’t fully “settled” into Max’s body, which meant that my connection to his body was simply severed. Had I been born in that body, and failed to prepare my system for a sudden burst of energy as badly as I had in Max’s body, it would definitely have killed me.

Having realized that, I just had to find out where the whole experience had transported me to. I didn’t really believe that it had actually been a dream. The place felt far too realistic. And the lunari confirmed this suspicion for me soon enough — she said it had felt like I wasn’t really there with her in the room. Only thanks to my connection with her had she been able to reach me at all. And that was with Selina working at the absolute limits of her strength.

Most likely, it was something like my meeting with Vadoma, who had managed to reach out to me from another world (and warn me of approaching danger) thanks to the mark that she bore. True, this situation was a little bit different.

Questioning the lunari didn’t yield any clues. Selina had never encountered anything like this before. That wasn’t too surprising, of course, given that by first-born standards she was barely past adolescence. An older “lunar spirit” (to use the term I had heard my vision) could probably have told me more. At that point, I made a mental note to arrange a meeting with some of Selina’s relatives.

As for the sudden increase in my reservoir’s volume and the equally-sudden energy burst, though... Well, I felt like the answer was pretty obvious. The dozen bruts I had fed to my parasite right before going to bed might have contained enough mana to push my system up to the next level. The energy from the bruts might have been the catalyst that launched the whole transformative process...

The next surprise was that my golden parasite, who was apparently satisfied with the new size of my reservoir, had already gotten to work transforming the energy node next to my heart.

This node was undoubtedly one of the most important in my whole energy system, but I knew that it wasn’t the one to transform first. Put simply, the parasite was acting like a mindless computer program, and as a result it had blindly started strengthening the node nearest the reservoir. Furthermore, it had used up all my remaining mana in doing so, without any corresponding strengthening or widening of the energy channels that connected this node to my reservoir. Sure, the velocity of the mana flow was manageable for the time being, but any significant increase might mean dire consequences. Up to and including ruptures.

Also, my parasite was suddenly demanding a lot more mana than before — that was yet another surprise. And definitely not a pleasant one...

I knew I would have to do something soon, or else I would simply run out of bruts and end up with a one-sided energy system. I already knew, of course, that trying to befriend the parasite was a fool’s errand. But switching to more aggressive actions, which (even if successful) would be accompanied by grave risks and horrible pain, wasn’t really an option either.

All things considered, then, the moment seemed to have arrived — a moment I had simultaneously been longing for and dreading for some time. First, though, I would have to prepare myself. And above all else, that meant giving my physical body some decent rest...

At first, things felt pretty bearable, despite the restless night and its bizarre “dream.” I mean, sure, my entire body ached... But I still managed to stand up, and even eat a big breakfast. After just a few hours, however, a wave of intense weakness swept over me, and soon it was taking every ounce of strength I possessed just to stay awake.

As soon as I had a coherent plan of action in mind, I made my way laboriously back to my bed and passed out as soon as my head hit the pillow.

The next two days passed in what, for me, was a very unusual fashion indeed. I just slept, without waking up once, and without a single dream. Previously, four hours of sleep would have been more than enough for me to recover, but this time I felt like an absolute wreck. I felt like I couldn’t even open my eyes.

After two days, though, the situation had changed a little bit. My sleep became a little more intermittent. I would wake up from time to time, albeit only to answer the call of nature, drink a little water, eat whatever I could manage, and devour a new batch of bruts from the supply that the lunari kept restocking on the nightstand next to my bed.

During my brief periods of wakefulness, I would switch to true vision and watch the metamorphoses taking place in my body. Whenever I did this, though, it still felt like I was watching from a distance, as a sort of detached observer.

Just as I suspected, the golden parasite was focusing all its attention directly and bluntly in a single direction, requiring more and more mana all the time.

In the end, seven days passed in this way until, by the start of the next week, I finally managed to get up from my bed and start doing physical exercise again.

At first, my whole body felt pretty stiff and rigid, but after another week I had adapted somewhat to the new circumstances, and I felt ready to take the next step...

* * *

Before me on the table lay a black brut, whose heavy, oppressive emanations of death magic were distinctly palpable even from several feet away. The longer I stared at it, the more keenly I sensed the presence of bottomless emptiness and the chill of the grave. It seemed like the crystal was devouring all the light around it. And this was actually the smallest of the black bruts in my stock.

I closed my eyes and let out a deep sigh as I tried to calm my mind. Soon, any superfluous doubts and fears were gone. I had made my decision. It was time to see it through to the end.

Selina was with me, but I had ordered her to sit a little further away from the table. I didn’t want any stray streams of mana to hurt her in case of a sudden energy splash. The lunari’s presence filled me with confidence and helped me focus on what I was about to do. The first-born had always been with me at my most difficult moments, and I knew that her help would be especially important in what I was about to do.

“Are you sure?” She asked quietly.

“Yes,” I replied confidently. “I don’t see any other option. I have to regain the initiative, and that’s just not possible with normal bruts.”

“Be careful,” she said in a hushed, anxious whisper.

“You don’t take any risks yourself either,” I replied sternly. “Remember — that’s an order.”

As I tried to shut out the first-born’s emotions, I switched to true vision and bent down over the black crystal.

The golden parasite, which I hadn’t fed once since early morning, had already tried to force me into action a few times using its favorite, tried-and-true method. Namely, periodic waves of burning pain. But I stayed firm.

And once I showed the beast its new target, it settled right down, like a predator who had sensed the presence of prey nearby. Seeing it behave this way gave me further reason to hope. I recalled my previous encounter with black mana — how the golden parasite had behaved cautiously, instead of plunging headlong into battle like it normally did. And as I stood there, leaning over the black brut on the table, I felt the same instinctive feeling of superiority that I had felt while treating the Duke de Clairmont’s wound.

“Let’s get started,” I mouthed silently to myself. With that, I stretched a hand out toward the crystal.

But I didn’t even get the chance to touch it. The parasite beat me to it. The golden tentacle that suddenly burst out from my palm dug itself greedily into the crystal. I also noticed that the tentacle looked a lot denser and larger than the ones the parasite had used before. And the concentration of energy inside it was noticeably higher.

The strange mana’s attack caused the black stone to shake. The power sleeping inside the crystal suddenly woke up. After that, I felt the dark energy start to penetrate slowly — almost reluctantly — into my energy system.

When the black mana came into contact with my energy system, I felt a brutal mixture of cold and heaviness enter my body, almost as if my energy channels were filling with partially-frozen liquid instead of mana. At a certain point, a wave of fear suddenly wrapped itself around my heart. Through sheer force of will, however, I managed to regain my composure, drive away the onset of panic, and wrench the initiative back into my own hands.

To my surprise, and despite its hunger, the golden parasite was behaving calmly, even confidently. Like some sort of bizarre squid, it was crushing the black brut in its tentacles, as if trying to physically squeeze out all the energy inside it.

The contrast between the golden and black mana was incredibly striking. The golden energy was bright and lively as it slammed into the heavy, gloomy darkness of the black energy. It was like a battle between two ancient forces, each of which was striving to sate itself and survive.

For the first few seconds, I watched the confrontation with a frozen heart, ready at any moment to throw the black crystal away from me. With every passing instant, however, I felt more and more certain of final victory.

My parasite was obviously winning the fight. As it devoured the black energy, it was continuously transforming it into golden energy. If it had been a living creature, I’m sure I would have heard some kind of satisfied grunting sound as it devoured its prey.

Golden mana was flowing through my energy channels, strengthening and stabilizing them in the process. It reminded me of a building project, wherein every separate element eventually takes its place to create a new construction, sturdier than the sum of its parts.

Eventually, the discomfort I had initially felt at the touch of the foreign energy began to subside. Slowly but surely, I could see my reservoir filling with power. I hadn’t seen so much golden mana in one place for a very long time. Even healing the Duke de Clairmont hadn’t provided me with such a huge influx. And this was only the beginning.

The black energy tried to overpower the golden energy a few more times, but it failed. Finally, when the last little morsel of black mana was devoured, I let out a huge sigh of relief. My reservoir was filled to the brim, and, like a bear after a big honey binge, my eternally-hungry parasite was finally at rest.

For the first time in a long time, I could sense that the big glutton was genuinely sated. The bountiful supply of golden energy gave me a feeling of confidence and stability. It was something like the feeling of being freed from someone else’s shackles and finally regaining control of one’s own body. The golden parasite, which had so recently felt almost like an invader inside my own body, now felt like something of an ally (albeit a very temporary one).

When I looked down at the black brut, what I saw made my eyebrows rise a little bit. Not only had it failed to crumble to dust, like spent bruts usually did — its external appearance hadn’t actually changed at all. A careful scan revealed that I had only devoured about 20% of its total volume.

That, of course, opened some new possibilities for me. As long as my reservoir was full, and the parasite was stuffed, I could spend a little time transforming my energy nodes and energy channels in peace. I knew that the supply wouldn’t keep the parasite satisfied for very long, and that it would definitely try to retake control of the whole process, so I would have to prepare for a new confrontation in the near future.

I opened my eyes and saw Selina’s face in front of me, already shining with a big, happy smile. We understood one another without words: this was a victory. Our first victory, to be sure, but a very important victory. I had taken the risk, and come out on top...

* * *

Vestonia

Herouxville

The north wing of the Royal Palace

The small foyer of the Royal Palace greeted André de Châtillon with silence and half-lit gloom. The Viscount knew perfectly well that His Majesty had a multitude of small meeting halls like this in the north wing of his palace. And that they were meant for receiving guests of relatively low social status.

Not so long before, being received this way would have filled the former companion of Prince Heinrich with rage. Much had happened since then, however. Whenever André thought about those times, they felt distant and unfamiliar, almost like an episode remembered from a previous life.

The old André de Châtillon, that impulsive duellist and bully, was dead. He had been reborn as a stern, cool-headed fighter. An intelligent and calculating commander. And, thanks to the military campaign in Bergonia, he was now a nobleman with a sizable amount of wealth at his disposal. André had no doubts about who he had to thank for this miraculous rebirth.

Almost a month had passed since the day he had returned to the capital and asked for an audience at His Majesty’s secretariat. The high-placed officials who had accompanied the Viscount de Châtillon on his journey to Herouxville had warned him that he would have to wait quite a long time for an audience. And naturally, despite all the Viscount’s achievements in Bergonia, he wouldn’t have a prayer of being allowed to actually see the King in person. Especially since the latter probably wasn’t even in the capital at the time. The Viscount’s petition would probably be handled by some nondescript court secretary — that, at least, is what his traveling companions had thought, and what André himself had initially assumed.

Maximillian, however, had a different opinion on that matter... The Margrave de Valier was confident that the Viscount de Châtillon would be of interest not only to the lesser secretaries, but to some considerably larger fish as well. And in the end, he was right... The previous evening, André had received an invitation bearing the signature of His Majesty’s head secretary. So there he was — standing in the palace.

As he waited to be called in, thoughts about the state of affairs in Vestonia’s capital began to drift through André de Châtillon’s mind. In particular, he began to think about how monstrously unjust the world could be.

Several days before, in Moneychangers’ Square, the Viscount de Châtillon had caught sight of someone he really hadn’t been expecting to see ever again. André was returning from the merchants’ district of the old capital, which (thanks to the Margrave de Valier’s efforts) was slowly transforming from a half-dead, run-down part of the city into a lively area with brand-new buildings and streets.

With Maximillian’s recommendation in hand, André had no trouble finding quarters for his men and securing one of the nicest rooms at the local hotel for himself. One of the Margrave’s own people, by the name of Lucas, was in charge of the place.

The quality of the room was frankly amazing to André. He had never before spent a night at such a hotel. It had a beautiful view of the river outside, expensive furniture, soft carpets, fresh white linens, a toilet, separate bath and changing room — long story short, it was the kind of room that most Counts, and even many Dukes, couldn’t find anything in their homes to compare with.

The ground floor was home to a restaurant, each of whose tables was covered with a clean white tablecloth. The servers, in their neat, identical aprons, hustled and bustled to and fro with perfect decorum as they served delicious-smelling food to their patrons, while a small group of musicians serenaded them all from a small stage in the corner.

After strolling around the neighborhood for a bit, André de Châtillon found himself pleasantly surprised by the peaceful atmosphere of the place; in fact, he had begun to think seriously about buying an apartment with a view of the square and its central fountain. After all, things like this were possible for a man of means.

It was in this blissful frame of mind that the Viscount de Châtillon eventually made his way to Moneychangers’ Square. Once there, he noticed a carriage parked outside the entrance to the Craonne banking house, with the sigil of the Dukes de Hangest on its doors.

At the sight of his enemies, the blood in André’s veins instinctively began to boil, but he calmed himself down almost immediately. He remembered the Margrave de Valier’s admonition on the subject: the time was not yet ripe for an open confrontation with the Duke de Hangest, who seemed to have decided to pay a personal visit to his creditors. André’s initial surprise, however, paled in comparison to his shock when he saw Marquis Louis de Hangest and his brother Olivier step out of the carriage along with Gaspard Craonne.

André actually blinked a few times, just to make sure his eyes weren’t somehow deceiving him. As far as he knew, Louis de Hangest was supposed to be in the Gray Tower, where André himself had so recently been locked up to await his fate. Instead, the Marquis de Hangest was a free man, who looked perfectly happy with himself and his life as he strutted out of his carriage in brand-new clothes. Apparently, his daddy the Duke had somehow managed to procure his little boy’s freedom.

As he gritted his teeth and muttered a stream of curses under his breath, André turned away from the self-satisfied trio and continued on his way... Let them live in peace for now, he thought... Their bill will come due soon enough...

Before long, the sound of a door opening distracted the Viscount from his morose recollections. He looked up and saw a tall, well-dressed footman.

“Your Worship,” the latter greeted him with a slight bow as he stepped aside and opened the door.

André exhaled, driving the last remnants of his negative thoughts out of his mind. Focusing his attention on the door as though it were his next opponent in battle, he stepped decisively forward.

By the time he crossed the threshold, André was fully concentrated and prepared for the coming battle of words. When he finally found himself inside the small office and saw who was waiting for him, however, his decisive visage cracked for just a second.

“Ah, our hero’s come home for a visit!” The office’s sole occupant hailed him in a cheerful voice as a big smile, full of crooked teeth, spread across his makeup-smeared face.


Chapter 7

Velehrad, Capital of the Kingdom of Claron

The Eastern Palace, residence of King Olgerd III

IT WAS QUIET AND PEACEFUL in the office of King Olgerd III, known among the people as the Proud. The office’s owner was sitting at a massive oak table, with a “Towers and Spies” gameboard in front of him, carefully studying the layout of the pieces on their respective squares.

Each figure, as well as the board itself, had been crafted from a different type of rare wood and inlaid with silver, gold, and precious stones; the set was truly a work of art.

At the moment, Olgerd was studying a magical-ink manuscript from the palace archive, using it to replay a famous game his grandfather had once played — a game in which he had literally defeated the ambassador of one of the Khans of the Great Steppe. People said that the ambassador’s defeat on the gameboard had been such as to convince the Khan not to lead his tumens into a raid against Claron. Supposedly, the Khan was so awestruck by the King’s strategic thinking that he decided to send his horsemen south instead.

Olgerd didn’t know whether or not that was true. He had never met his grandfather. The old man had died several years before he was born. But Olgerd — who, like his famous ancestor, had grown into an avid player of “Towers and Spies” — very much wanted to believe that the rumors and legends were true. Especially after he had studied these ancient manuscripts as a child. They contained a detailed description of every game his grandfather had played.

At 55, Olgerd was a pretty accomplished player in his own right, but at the same time he was wise enough to realize that his own mastery was still a far cry from that of his grandfather.

Especially because unlike his grandfather, Olgerd possessed strength of a different sort. Olgerd was a Sangwald. He was a bearer of the True Gift, which he had inherited from his late mother, whose family was descended from an ancient clan of Blood Mages.

Olgerd’s gift had awoken after his father and mother died, so it had fallen to the late Queen’s personal servant Magda to train him. At first, Magda had mysteriously disappeared after her mistress’ death, but she suddenly reappeared after the young King’s magical gift awoke.

Later, Olgerd learned that Magda was a Vetala A being from ancient legend that fed on the blood of its victims. As it turned out, the Vetala, who were normally solitary creatures, would make exceptions on very rare occasions when the opportunity to live in symbiosis with a Sangwald arose. They would serve as the Sangwald’s servants, and in return they would be paid with a portion of the Mage’s blood...

As he studied the positions of the pieces on the gameboard, the King was thinking absent-mindedly about what was going on in Mainland. Delegations from the Bergonian border cities had been in his capital awaiting audiences for months by that point. Olgerd knew exactly why they had come to Claron, and why they wanted to see him personally.

In his thirty years on the throne, Olgerd III had managed not only to strengthen his own position within the Kingdom, but also to expand his territory by annexing several once-independent Principalities and Baronies. More than that, he had only mobilized his legions once in the process. The other rulers, or their heirs, had all sworn fealty to him voluntarily. These Bergonian city councils were hoping to do the same.

But Olgerd wasn’t about to rush into a decision. Mind you, this was the same approach he always took. He always needed to think through every possible move and combination that might be coming his way. Especially since annexation of these new territories would come packaged with an undesirable conflict with the King of Vestonia, who would be unlikely to look favorably on such action by Claron.

Yes — it was said that Carl III was on his deathbed due to a strange wound, which none of his healers seemed to be able to treat. Nevertheless, the Golden Lion had already left Bergonia, rather than come into conflict with a Vestonian army under the command of the previously-unknown Margrave de Valier.

Furthermore, Olgerd (who had been paying close attention to events in Bergonia) knew very well that the Margrave had assembled this army on his own initiative, and that only a minority of its ranks were actually filled with Vestonians. Once assembled, moreover, this army had executed a victorious march through the entire country, without losing a single battle in the process.

The main question that remained was how this mysterious Margrave would react to Claron intervening in Bergonian affairs. Olgerd had been informed that the young man had disbanded his army, retaining only a small force with which he was planning to set off for his own Margraviate. But what if Carl were to order his vassal to reassemble his army and move east?

Olgerd had no doubt about the quality of his own army, but he also understood that any military maneuvers that started in Eastern Bergonia would inevitably bleed over into Claron. Which, of course, would be unacceptable. Especially now, with the King’s eldest son Edmund (heir apparent to the Claronian Throne) having taken two legions east to defend the border from nomadic incursions.

Prince Roderic, Olgerd’s second son, was stationed at the Bergonian border with one legion; finally, to protect against the ever-present threat of piracy on the south coast, there was another legion in the south under the command of his youngest son Prince Algis.

The timing for these embassies couldn’t have been worse, but Olgerd knew he couldn’t simply refuse to see them. Having new lands jump into one’s hands of their own accord was a very rare opportunity indeed.

Suddenly, the King’s complicated train of thought was interrupted when he suddenly sensed the presence of some very familiar magical emanations. Olgerd’s nostrils twitched as he picked up the scent of blood.

“You sure took your time,” he said drily, without tearing his eyes off the board. “I haven’t heard anything from you for months.”

“I moved as quickly as I could, my liege,” replied Magda’s voice from the shadows in the corner of the office.

“Yes — so much so that you had to drain one of my subjects,” the King snickered.

Finally, he turned his eyes away from the gameboard and looked up.

After he spoke, a lithe female figure emerged from the shadows, wrapped in a dark, heavy campaign cloak.

A squeamish grimace contorted the King’s face.

“You smell like some sort of cowherd.”

“Forgive me, my liege.” The Vetala threw back her deep hood, and a cascade of thick black hair tumbled across her narrow shoulders. A soft smile danced on her pale, pretty face. “I couldn’t resist. The innkeeper’s youngest son simply looked far too appetizing.”

The King frowned.

“Spare me that kind of detail, please. What did you find out?”

“It’s all been confirmed, my liege,” said Magda as she bowed her head. “The head of that clan of strigoi has been slain. And not just Veslav, either, but his entire inner circle as well.”

Not a muscle moved on the King’s face. He waited in silence for her to continue. For her part, Magda knew that Olgerd never interrupted a report until he had heard it through to the end; only then would he proceed to pepper the reporter with questions. So she continued.

“Veslav was one of the elders. Almost certainly more than a hundred years old. This was no mindless, newly-turned bloodsucker. Killing such a powerful strigoi is no easy task.”

For just a moment, a mischievous spark flashed across Magda’s eyes.

“On that note, there’s one other important detail. Whoever killed Veslav, they cut off his head and took it with them before they left.”

The same emotionless mask was still frozen, unmoving, on Olgerd’s face. Meanwhile, Magda continued:

“I sensed something strange while I was examining the strigoi lair... Barely-perceptible emanations of a strange type of witching magic. The relationship between bloodsuckers and witches has never been a warm one, but neither has there ever been an open war. The local Coven Mother and Veslav concluded a treaty of non-aggression a very long time ago. And for years and years, neither side violated that agreement. Until this... By the time I arrived in Darkvale, the strigoi clan and the coven were already slaughtering each other like there was no tomorrow.”

Magda smirked.

“It was almost insane, the way they were throwing themselves at each other... Apparently, both sides must have racked up quite a list of grievances over the years, given that they didn’t even make any attempt to figure out what had happened or even talk to one another. Had they made any effort to keep the peace, they would have noticed a very small, very important detail... Judging by the aura traces and the faint vibrations of mana that were still emanating in the strigoi lair, whoever killed Veslav must have come from elsewhere, and it’s also clear that they acted on their own.”

The King was focused firmly on what Magda was saying, and at this, his brow furrowed slightly.

“And yes — it was definitely a witch,” said the Vetala. “My sense has never let me down. A very powerful witch... She would have had to be, in order to take out an elder strigoi and his best warriors single-handedly on their own territory. And yet still, it turns out she didn’t have quite enough experience. She didn’t manage to cover her tracks very well, although she obviously tried to do so. At first, I thought maybe someone had come with the deliberate intention of sowing discord between the bloodsuckers and the coven, but then I realized that couldn’t have been the case.”

Olgerd raised a hand; Magda understood his command perfectly, and fell silent. The King needed a pause in order to think through everything he had just heard. For a little while, he just stared down at his game board in silence. A number of miniature arrows were in place there, prepared to fire at his command.

A moment later, apparently having made up his mind, he looked up once again. In a dull, colorless voice, he simply said:

“Continue.”

“Yes, my liege,” replied Magda. “After leaving Darkvale, I followed her trail until it led me to Snowburg. Right up to the wall of the Prince’s tower. But I was too late. By the time I got there, all I found was a funeral pyre. Prince Yar, his wife, and their son had already crumbled to ash.”

The news that Prince Yar and his family were dead didn’t come as a surprise to the King. A messenger bird from Snowburg had arrived in Velehrad long before.

The message hadn’t contained any real detail. All it said was that Prince Yar was dead, and that a delegation headed by the deceased Prince’s uncle was already headed to Velehrad to swear fealty to Olgerd III and request his blessing in taking up the Princely crown.

The late Prince Yar had been one of the very first potentates to swear loyalty to Olgerd III. He had been a faithful vassal and companion of the King, whose force of 500 spearmen could always be counted on. Mind you, Olgerd took the news of the Prince’s death the way he always took such news: to him, it was merely the loss of yet another figure on his gameboard, and sooner or later that loss could be made good.

“The Prince and his family were killed by some sort of very old, very powerful curse,” Magda continued. “I was told that all three bodies — the Prince, his wife, and their son — were covered with disgusting sores. And Yar’s body was also headless... As with Veslav, the witch took his head with her when she left.”

Magda adjusted a fold in her cloak, then continued:

“The Prince was a powerful werewolf, of course, but they told me he didn’t have time to transform... It all happened late at night. The Prince’s bodyguards were found sleeping at the door of his bedchamber. Same with the guards who were in charge of the Princess Consort and their son. Nobody heard a thing.”

At this, a wry smile spread across Magda’s face. The tips of two long, sharp fangs appeared from behind her lower lip.

“Naturally, I didn’t believe that. Somebody, somewhere, must have heard something. Besides, the Prince’s tower was full of protective runes. No intruder could simply pass them by undetected. But this intruder managed to do exactly that — because she got help. As far as I could tell, the witch came to an agreement with the local first-born. I had a chance to talk to some of the true gifted from the Prince’s court, who told me there have been dreamlings living in the area since time immemorial. Prince Yar and his court even used to brag about living alongside them in peace.”

“Are you sure this was all done by the same witch?” Olgerd asked coldly. It seemed that the King had already heard enough. The time had come for some clarifying questions.

“Yes, my liege,” said Magda. “The mana emanations I sensed in the tower were clear beyond doubt: the witch who killed Prince Yar and his family was the exact same one who killed the strigoi.”

“Did this foreign witch come to an agreement with the first-born guardians near the strigoi as well?” The King asked, in a somewhat flat tone of voice. “Is such a thing even possible? Why did you talk to the true gifted, rather than directly to the first-born?”

Magda just shrugged.

“I couldn’t talk to the guardians of the lands near the strigoi. They were already gone. The dreamlings had left by the time I arrived.”

For the first time since Magda started her report, an expression of mild surprise passed across Olgerd’s face.

“They left? You mean to say that the dreamlings abandoned their land?”

“Yes, my liege,” said Magda.

“So a strange witch shows up, whom even the dreamlings are willing to help, and then they abandon their lands...” The King mused aloud as he stared down at the game pieces on his board.

Then he looked up again and asked:

“Your conclusions?”

“No more than guesses, my liege,” Magda replied with skepticism in her voice. “Although the more I learn about this witch, the more unbelievable all of this begins to seem.”

“Go on,” said the King as he leaned back in his chair and picked up a game piece shaped like a spy.

The unknown carver had depicted the man in a cloak with a hood over his head. The spy was crouched down close to the ground, with his head stretched out as if he were trying to peer into some far-off space.

The hood moved back ever so slightly to reveal a half-mask that covered part of the spy’s face. This half-mask had been carved to look like a fox’s snout. Its ears were slightly pointy, which added to the spy’s overall image as a cunning deceiver. The mask was decorated with thin silver inlays in imitation of a magical stealth pattern.

In its right hand, the figurine held a small dagger, whose blade was made of silver and decorated with tiny little rubies that looked like drops of blood.

The figure’s belt had a little bag hanging from it, of the type that Mage-Alchemists often carried. Back when he was a child, Olgerd concluded that the spy was probably carrying special potions in that bag: poisons and healing elixirs...

“The witch killed Veslav first,” said Magda. “Then came Prince Yar’s turn... The witch beheaded both of them. She obviously wanted anybody investigating the deaths to know they were connected. That’s exactly what I’ve been spending my time on lately... And here’s what I’ve learned so far. First of all, I asked myself: what connection could there possibly be between the head of a clan of strigoi from Darkvale and a werewolf-Prince from Snowburg? What could two natural enemies who lived so far apart from one another possibly have in common, especially given that they came from totally different social classes? And whatever that connection was, what could a strange foreign witch have to do with any of it? As it turns out, there was one issue in which both victims had an interest. It has to do with the small Principality of Skaligrad — more specifically, its ruler, Prince Ratibor. Veslav and his strigoi helped Prince Yar kill Ratibor, after which the Skaligradians had no choice but to bend the knee to the victors. They say that Prince Ratibor’s son and daughter both died that day as well. As for his wife, Princess Ladislava, though, nobody’s heard anything about her since. She seems to have disappeared off the face of the earth. Although I managed to learn something else about Ladislava...”

Magda bared her sharp fangs once more.

“She was a witch. She used to belong to a small coven, but then she fell in love with the young Prince and got married.”

“You mean to say that this Ladislava came back to avenge her husband and children?”

“It’s all I have to go on at the moment,” Magda shrugged. “Both Veslav and Prince Yar participated in the attack on Prince Ratibor... Everything seems to point to revenge. But there’s still something that doesn’t quite fit. Ladislava probably couldn’t have taken out an elder strigoi, then infiltrated Prince Yar’s tower and killed him and his family, all on her own. The witch who’s doing these things is almost certainly much more powerful than Ladislava... But if it somehow IS Ladislava who’s doing this, I’m anxious to know how she managed to acquire so much power.”

“I suppose not,” the King replied calmly. “Given that you’re here with me now, I assume her trail has led you back to Velehrad?”

“Yes, my liege,” nodded Magda. “Her trail has led me back here. Everything points to her being in the capital as we speak. And I can’t sense her, which means the first-born must be hiding her. Still, she won’t be able to run from me for long. I know why she’s come to Velehrad.”

“She has one more head to take, doesn’t she?” The King concluded. “Who is he? Or she?”

“Perceptive as always, my liege,” Magda smiled. “It’s the mother of her old coven, the Elder Radwiga.”

Olgerd leaned his head back against his armchair and glanced down at the game board, where a ring of towers stood in defense of the king. Next to the king stood the figure of a mage in a dark-blue robe, holding a long staff in his hand.

A moment later, an expression of satisfaction settled on Olgerd III’s face.

“Excellent. We won’t have to chase her around the entire continent. She’s certainly caught my interest. Are you fully prepared?”

“Yes, my liege,” said Magda with a bow as she pressed her hand to her chest. “She won’t get away from us this time.”


Chapter 8

WINTER FINALLY CAME to an end, although it bade farewell to Gondreville with a heavy snowfall that lasted almost a week and a half. After that, however, the temperature began to climb steadily upward, as everything around us began to wake up from its wintertime slumber. And this meant that, before too long, our small army would be setting off on its journey.

I understood that early spring was a pretty difficult time to begin a campaign, especially in the conditions of this new world. The weather was still highly unpredictable — we could expect more or less anything, from freezing winds to prolonged, heavy rains. And there might still be snow on the ground in many places, which would turn the roads into rivers of mud and make them immensely difficult to travel. Especially in hilly country.

Furthermore, the nights were still cold. Spending the night outside in such conditions would risk frostbite, not to mention the common cold. The noncombatants who accompanied the army would have an especially difficult time; after all, they weren’t as tough or experienced as the mountain men or the Mertonians.

With all this in mind, I decided to conduct the migration into my new lands in two phases. I would set off for my Margraviate first, accompanied by about 1,500 people. A thousand of these would be soldiers, and the rest would be civilians, who would be responsible for building homes, warehouses, and shelters for the animals, as well as repairing roads, caring for livestock, and dozens of other occupations that were vital for the army’s survival. Then, once everything was ready for the arrival of a much larger contingent of people and animals, the rest of my army would come join us, along with any settlers who had remained behind in Gondreville.

It turned out that Hans was right, by the way. His prediction that a lot of the locals would decide to move into my lands with me was completely correct. In fact, I might almost say that reality exceeded even his boldest predictions.

Over the winter, the locals saw the way things in their lands changed for the better after the chaos and horror of war, and they naturally associated these changes with the Margrave de Valier — which only made sense, since such administration as existed was more or less completely in the hands of my people.

So I wasn’t really all that surprised when people from the lands all around Gondreville started to flood into the city during the first few days of spring. Big peasant families with their goods piled high on their carts and sleds, teams of artisans, and solitary migrants who came on foot, carrying their few meager possessions in sacks on their backs... They were all coming to me in the hope of finding a better life. And the prospect of living next to the Shadow didn’t seem to scare them. Apparently, they had already placed their hopes firmly and finally on me.

I realized, of course, that this “migration of peoples” would probably come back to haunt me in future conflicts with the Bergonian aristocrats whose lands were being abandoned by their resident peasant families, but I still didn’t make any attempt to stop it.

First of all — instead of taking up arms to defend their lands and people, most of those aristocrats had sat out the war in comfort somewhere across the border while their peasants were being robbed, raped, and murdered. Second — considering the demographic disaster that had occurred over the last few years, my Margraviate would probably need a sizable influx of human resources from outside if it was going to survive.

Basically, if any of those aristocrats decided they wanted conflict with me... Well, I could only wish them the best of luck. They would need it, although it probably still wouldn’t save them.

Back when the King had first “surprised” me with this Margraviate, I was prepared to focus entirely on campaigns into the Shadow and the acquisition of bruts.

First and foremost, I had planned to build up a base at Fort de Gris, a small fortress-city that served as my Margraviate’s capital. Once that was done, I figured I would be ready to send expeditions across the Barrier. As for the rest of my Margraviate, I decided that I would work on its infrastructure gradually — if at all. Especially since I knew that the lands I had received were depopulated, and not very big to begin with. Actually, that’s putting it mildly.

Naturally, a lot of things changed after my successful military campaign, and I soon had to modify my initial plans in a big way.

The huge number of settlers who had lost their homes and families — who had, in other words, become exiles in their own land — saw a chance at salvation in my new Margraviate. For me, too, these lands offered a number of new prospects besides the acquisition of bruts. After all, I had never been a feudal landowner before.

And while this naturally meant that I had no direct experience, I felt like I had a working understanding of what I would need to do. Besides, I had a lot of competent people with me — people like my seneschal and the Count de Poitiers, who would always be able to help me with their advice and expertise.

Admittedly, at one of my meetings, when I outlined my plan for imposing order on the administrative system in my Margraviate, my advisors all went silent, and the expressions on their faces turned extremely serious. Especially the Count de Poitiers... Soon, however, I understood the reason for this sudden, gloomy bout of pensiveness.

For local feudatories who had always run their lands according to the same centuries-old patterns as their ancestors, any suggestion of change was like a red rag to a bull. They were used to having the peasantry depend on them for everything, paying them a portion of their own harvests, working their domain lands on regular occasions, and generally living according to whatever rules their landowners might lay down. For feudal barons, these rules and customs weren’t just a matter of routine — they were the very foundation of power and wealth for their entire class.

The Count de Poitiers, for example, was truly a man of his times in that regard, and his attitude was the same as those of other landholders like him. This, I soon realized, was the ultimate source of his negative (albeit restrained) reaction to my proposals.

If some jumped-up Margrave suddenly decided to start lowering taxes — or worse, giving his peasants freedom from taxes altogether for a few years to let them “fatten up” — and word about the changes spread into the lands of other lords, it would be a direct attack on the status and the pocketbooks of the entire class of conservative feudal landholders.

They didn’t give a tinker’s curse about whether these reforms might promise serious improvements to the lives of their peasants. For these guys, any and all such ideas seemed like a direct threat to the control they exerted over their lands. Most of them wouldn’t even have considered the possibility that, if things were structured artfully and sensibly, an improvement in the lot of their peasants might start filling up their own treasuries a little faster as well. In their eyes, an upstart Margrave like me wasn’t just an innovator — he was a revolutionary, whose actions undercut the very foundation of the feudal world.

Naturally, they wouldn’t simply sit by and let him do it. Most likely, their first step would be to look for allies among other influential noblemen, including the priests, and eventually the King himself. And let’s not forget about the role of rumor and intrigue in such affairs — these, of course, were their specialties. If worst came to worst, they might take up arms to defend their privileges and teach the overeager bastard a lesson.

Put simply, my theses would have been an outright challenge to feudal society as a whole — if my Margraviate had been located in the middle of the country. The peasants would no doubt have applauded my initiatives, although even there, these ideas would make me seem like an oddball at first. For the other feudal lords around me, however, I would quickly become public enemy number one. One look at the Count de Poitiers’ face as he listened to the points of my plan was enough to demonstrate just how unpopular these ideas would be if put into practice. And after all, he only ended up hearing a small part of what I was intending to attempt in my Margraviate.

Thankfully, the Margraviate de Valier was a long way away from the so-called civilized world, and for the time being, nobody there had any time to worry about my plans for the place anyway. Plus, Carl III had made it very clear that I could do as I pleased within my Margraviate.

Moreover, for the time being, it didn’t really matter if others disapproved of what I was doing in my lands. They couldn’t possibly object; to be frank, none of them were bold enough.

In the future, however, if I managed to achieve everything I was intending to pull off, my Margraviate would become a refuge for people not only for people from Bergonia, but from other countries as well. At that point, I would certainly start running into problems.

As for my ideas, I wasn’t actually planning to do anything very revolutionary at all.

I simply wanted to give the peasants a little break. Even as it was, they had already shouldered an enormously heavy burden. War, followed by migration to a new place... So I decided that I wouldn’t charge any rent for two or three years. Let them focus on getting their new farms and livelihoods set up first. Once that was done, we could talk about feudal dues.

If I found that things were tending toward improvement, but that the peasants still weren’t ready for major payments, I could propose that the sum be split into smaller amounts. They could pay me once per quarter, for instance, or twice a year.

I was also planning to go a step further and release the peasants from their obligation to turn over a portion of their harvest, at least for a few years. They could keep the whole harvest for a while — use it to feed their families and develop their farms. Then, when things were going better, I could reinstate the taxes.

By doing all this, I was hoping to show people that the Margrave de Valier actually cared about them. He wasn’t just another nobleman out to fleece them of their taxes. And this, of course, would be to the benefit of the Margraviate as a whole: the peasantry would grow more loyal, more powerful, and better able to contribute to the Margraviate’s future development.

I had a similar plan in mind for people whose work didn’t tie them directly to the land. I knew I would have to support the master artisans by giving them land and/or buildings for their workshops. Such a huge influx of people would require tools, clothing, furniture, and all the other necessities of daily life.

To stimulate the flow of goods, I was also planning to revive existing markets and festivals, as well as organizing some new ones. For what you might loosely refer to as the “domestic market,” for example, I could schedule daily or weekly markets in various towns where the peasants and artisans could sell their goods. And a few yearly festivals would help attract merchants from other countries.

In addition to that, I knew that without safe, well-maintained roads, there wouldn’t be any long-distance trade at all, which meant that shelling out for repairs and regular patrols would be a necessity almost from day one.

Even that, however, wasn’t the end of the complications I would be facing. I knew that if I wanted to make my Margraviate an attractive destination for traders, I would have to reduce import and export duties for at least the first few years.

Basically, I had a whole mountain of work cut out for me already. I was also planning to build hospitals in the Margraviate’s capital, as well as schools for children from poor families. To repair the Temples of the Most Luminous Mother and the Forefather, which the priests from the Scarlet Temple had no doubt desecrated.

But there were also other plans, which I hadn’t told anybody about. For example, Lorin and I were planning to develop improved systems of animal husbandry within my Margraviate. First and foremost, our efforts would be focused on horses. The hejdelf and I had already worked out a strategy for the breeding (and eventually improving the stock) of at least three different types of horses. Thankfully, after our military campaign, we had more than enough horses to get started.

We hadn’t forgotten other domestic animals and birds, either — prior to setting out, Lorin had selected the best specimens from my own barns, stables, and coops.

I also cherished the hope that eventually, my lands would become a magnet for other first-born like Lorin. There would certainly be plenty of room for them. We would just have to create amenable conditions. They were a conservative bunch, not normally well-disposed toward change and innovation. That said, I knew that sooner or later our incentives would have their effect. Lorin and my fairies mentioned this to me on a pretty regular basis.

Once we had a sizable population of first-born, for example, we could focus on breeding new crop cultivars with better market potential, as well as special-purpose medicinal herbs.

If we could assure that our markets were full of unique, hard-to-find goods, it would guarantee interest from abroad — normal, run-of-the-mill merchants at first, then the big trading houses later on.

Basically, I had a lot of plans for developing my Margraviate. First, though, I had to actually get there...

* * *

Our force left Gondreville at the end of the first month of spring. As planned, the first expedition comprised about 1,500 people. By the way — nobody from the Sapphire Guild had reached out to me again at all during the rest of my time in Gondreville.

According to my scouts, Aldrich van Klausen left the city shortly after our meeting and returned to Romont.

Despite that, though, I had a pretty good idea of what the Guild’s current bosses were thinking. They were playing for time. Waiting for me to set off for my Margraviate and bring my armies with me. That was why nobody had tried to break into the Citadel yet.

When they did, though, they were in for a big disappointment... Baron de Bacri and his men had moved in and taken over garrison duty from the Mertonians and the mountain men who had sworn fealty to me. Before leaving Gondreville, I had announced that I would be holding an auction at the end of the coming autumn, and that the Citadel would be up for sale. I knew that the news would reach all the magical guilds before too long, and I could only imagine how the Sapphire Guild would react when they learned that they were about to have some serious competition.

After twelve days, our small force reached Stony Creek. This was the river that separated Bergonia from the lands of the Margraviate de Valier.

Despite the river’s calm, almost placid appearance, crossing it was bound to be a complicated operation — especially when we had just finished a twelve-day march through hilly country.

The weather was nice and sunny, but the warmth of spring still hadn’t quite driven off the last vestiges of winter. Shady stretches of trail were still covered with snow, as was the ground under the trees and bushes — a reminder that the cold wasn’t quite gone yet.

Despite our exhaustion, though, we decided to make the crossing that very same day. Who knows what kind of surprises might be in store for us in that seemingly-calm ribbon of water? Plus, the local guides we had hired warned us that the streams could be fickle and devious in springtime: melting snow often collected in the mountains and surged into the river in large quantities, which could raise the water level significantly at more or less any time.

Despite the fact that we were at a ford, the riverbank was pretty steep and rocky, especially on the Bergonian side, which made our crossing even more difficult than it might have been otherwise. Not surprisingly, the water was still freezing cold, and the mere thought of setting foot in it would have sent a shiver down anyone’s spine.

From the opposite bank, a huge, half-ruined tower loomed over the inhospitable ford. This was all that remained of a small border fortress that had once stood on the site. It looked lonely and forlorn, like an ancient guardian who had seen better times, but knew that its masters had forgotten about it forever.

It was obvious that the people from the valley were exhausted. For my battle-hardened mountain men and Mertonians, however, twelve days on the march wasn’t anything too taxing. So our army started the crossing decisively, and without any procrastination.

Seated atop Storm, surrounded by my companions, I kept a close eye on the movement from a small hill where I had a good view of everything that was happening at the crossing site.

I knew that for my people, crossing this border wasn’t just another stage in their journey: it was a symbolic step into the unknown. A step into lands that were considered some of the most dangerous in all Mainland. People would need to be able to see their new master as they took that step. He needed to be a source of calm, as well as reassurance — they needed to know that he was ready for any threat that might arise.

Strange as it may sound amidst all the hubbub around the crossing, therefore, every little detail was of the utmost importance. Therefore, my strykers and I were all wearing full magical armor. We made a point of exchanging superfluous banter, smiling, and generally making it clear that this crossing was no more concerning to us than anything else we had done over the last twelve days. I actually caught a number of people glancing at me as they set off for the river, and I liked what I saw in their faces. The people seemed to be confident in their new Margrave.

This confidence was further solidified by the dozens of campfires Aelira and her scouts had started on the opposite bank. They had already been waiting for us for two days by that point.

From time to time, Aelira would send Vaira to me with reports about the condition of the roads and any potential threats. So far, though, we hadn’t encountered any of the latter at all. Unless you count the footprints of the locals, who had run off in all directions when they heard that our forces were coming. I knew I would have to talk to them at some point. For the time being, though, there was no sense in chasing them up and down through the hills and forests. In time, they would come to swear allegiance to me of their own accord — once groups of Glenns and werewolves started settling in the forests. Normal humans simply wouldn’t stand a chance against the true gifted.

By the time the crossing was finally complete, the sun had nearly set beyond the horizon. A ring of wagons, surrounded by a row of sharpened stakes that had been dug into the earth, was already encircling our camp at the base of the old tower. We had decided to give humans and animals two days of rest before moving on.

I was sitting in my tent, stretching my legs out toward my campaign stove and sipping a tasty herbal tea, when suddenly I heard the noise outside grow noticeably louder. A moment later, Gunnar appeared through the flap of my tent.

“Your Lordship,” he greeted me. He sounded a little anxious. “Some scouts have arrived.”

“What do they want?” I asked as I stood reluctantly up from my chair.

“A small unit of locals is headed this way,” said Gunnar.

“Hm,” I said as I strode toward the door and snapped my cloak out of Gunnar’s hands. “They’re finally reaching out, then... Well, let’s see what they have to say...”


Chapter 9

THE UNIT OF LOCALS consisted of a dozen soldiers. All on horseback, and leading five spare horses along behind them. Judging by their nice equipment and the fact that they frankly looked like a bunch of bandits, it seemed like the people who had just stopped in to visit us were no strangers to violence against their fellow man.

Their leader was a short, stocky, big-bearded man with dark gray eyes and a flattened nose like that of a seasoned fistfighter. My true vision also showed that he was a stryker at the rank of medius. Even without that, though, the leather armor he was wearing, which had clearly been made from the hide of some sort of Shadow beast, would have been proof enough that the leader was a combat mage.

Besides the leader, my abilities as a Seer revealed two more true gifted among the newcomers. One woman and one man. They stood out from the others by their thin, flexible bodies, their attentive, unblinking gaze, and the deep hoods that covered their entire heads except for a few locks of long black hair.

At first, I thought they might be brother and sister, but when I noticed a tiny energy system and a little heart beating inside the woman’s abdomen, I concluded that the pair were probably husband and wife instead. Certain characteristic facial features, as well as some telltale marks on the skin that both strykers had tried carefully to conceal, made it clear that I was standing in the presence of two shapeshifters who were both of the same stock as the late Émile de Marbot.

True, their energy systems had obviously never been deformed by witching magic like the late Viscount’s had been. This meant that they actually looked pretty calm, almost phlegmatic — which was actually much more typical for lizardmen. The same, however, definitely couldn’t be said for the rest of the cutthroats in the small unit. They were all extremely nervous, although they were trying hard not to show it.

When I stepped forward to greet our unexpected guests (with a circle of my people forming a protective ring around me), a light breeze brought a quiet message from Vaira into my ears:

“Their camp is a day’s ride from here. Five more of them there. Two combat mages. Glenns are monitoring them.”

I nodded silently in reply, then kept moving.

Our guests had already backed up a few steps, and they were trying not to make any sudden movements as they waited for me to approach.

The leader was looking around attentively at my soldiers and our camp. I could see surprise and respect in his eyes. When, in the company of Sigurd and several other strykers, I stopped a few paces in front of him, his eyes widened a little bit, and his thick eyebrows rose ever so slightly.

His people were even more tense than before, but they were still trying hard not to make any sudden moves. By the way — I could tell by the bright flashes in their energy systems that my appearance had caused a stir even among the phlegmatic lizardmen. Especially the female one. Presumably, pregnancy had made her even more sensitive to magical emanations.

“I’ve been told that one of you was looking for a meeting with the Margrave de Valier,” I said. “Well, here he is. Please — introduce yourselves.”

I spoke at a reasonable volume, and with a healthy degree of politeness, but everybody who knew me understood perfectly well that I could easily give the order to slaughter these uninvited guests in the exact same tone.

Apparently, the leader of the newcomers had keen senses as well. Recognizing that the man in front of him was not someone to mess with in any way, he greeted me with a low bow, and when he began to speak, it was with a tone that positively radiated peaceability:

“Greetings, Your Lordship! Chevalier Jean Duval, at your service. And this is my band.”

The rest of the newcomers followed their commander’s lead and bowed to me.

“My castle and my modest landholdings, which I inherited from my ancestors, have always served the Margraves de Valier with honor. We’re located in the northwest reaches of the Margraviate,” Jean Duval continued.

“You’ve come a long way from home,” I replied.

“You’re absolutely right, Your Lordship,” the black-bearded chevalier replied. “But I had good reason to make the trip. I set off for Gondreville as soon as the roads became passable, in order to kneel before my new suzerain. And I’m happy beyond words to have met you earlier than I expected.”

Having said that, he slowly drew his sword and held it out to me with both hands. Then, as promised, he descended onto one knee, and in a serious, steady voice, he said:

“I, Chevalier Duval, swear to you, the Margrave de Valier, that I will be true and loyal in good times and in bad, in poverty and in wealth, in life and in death. I swear never to do you harm, never to betray you, and never to bring harm to your property. I pledge to defend your interests with this sword, to aid you in war and council, and to meet all the obligations incumbent upon me as a vassal. Should anyone threaten your life, I will stand in your defense. Should I ever violate this oath, may I suffer the loss of my fief and all other privileges you have granted me. I utter this oath in the presence of the gods and of men. May it remain unbroken until the end of my days!”

While Chevalier Duval was reciting his oath of vassalage, his people were standing there more or less motionless. Mind you, this was only appropriate. After all, the rule in this world was pretty simple: “The vassal of my vassal is not my vassal.” Relationships involving loyalty were intensely personal, and they only involved two people directly: the vassal and the master.

After he finished, Chevalier Duval remained where he was — down on one knee in front of me, facing the ground, not moving a muscle as he held his sword up in offering to me. I didn’t reply right away; I was lost in thought as I looked down at him. A long pause ensued, which obviously made the Chevalier’s people even more nervous than before. And judging by the lilac flashes in his energy system, Jean Duval himself was ready at any moment to start wielding the sword in his hands — and he definitely wasn’t preparing to use it in defense of the suzerain he was trying to swear fealty to.

This Jean Duval was a curious character. I was glad, of course, that he had come to find me himself, rather than making me look for him all over the Margraviate. I had already heard his name before. It was listed in one of the logs I had found in the Sapphire Guild’s treasury.

Chevalier Duval was one of those who had worked with the Guild, selling them everything he managed to collect in the Shadow and on the frontier. Put simply, the man genuflecting in front of me was the leader of one of the three bands of smugglers who plied their trade in Shadow Pass. According to the journal entry that recorded his hauls, Chevalier Duval was actually something of a small-fry in comparison to his competitors in their extremely-dangerous business. He had sold the Guild less than either of the other bands.

Naturally, I already had a lot of questions for him. And I could have gotten answers to those questions right then and there. I could feel the attentive eyes of my people as they watched me. A single gesture from me, and the newcomers would be disarmed and bound in the blink of an eye. Duval might take a bit more effort than the others, but he wouldn’t get away either. Then, with the help of truth serum and the lunari’s manipulations, I could have wheedled out any information that I cared to know.

But I wasn’t planning to start off on such a radical foot. Why create enemies when there was no need? Everything that had happened prior to my arrival in these lands was already in the past. A new era was dawning. Sure, Chevalier Duval might have been a scoundrel, but I preferred to keep him close — maybe not as a friend, but at least as an ally. Especially since he had taken the initiative and come to meet me himself. Besides, my reaction to this event would probably determine how many of the other locals would perceive their new master. To be sure, a show of strength was definitely important. There would be no more of the chaos that had once reigned in these lands. At the same time, it would also be necessary to show the whole independent-minded population that their new Margrave was a decent man — someone they could work with.

The tense pause continued. I cast a quick glance around at the faces of the other smugglers. Their faces displayed a mix of emotions. Some were clearly annoyed at their master’s spontaneous decision; some of them merely seemed resolved to fight to the last if need be.

Finally, in a silence that was interrupted only by the usual sounds of the camp around us, I took a step forward and stopped right in front of Chevalier Duval before picking the sword up from his hands.

Then I examined it carefully. Hm, I thought... This Chevalier Duval is certainly full of surprises.

The stryker’s sword looked simple and unremarkable at first, but upon closer inspection, a trained eye could pick up many curious details.

The thin, slightly-curved blade had been made from a single piece of dull gray metal. It didn’t gleam in the torchlight, and it had obviously been made especially to avoid attracting unwanted attention.

The surface of the steel was covered in small scratches, which bore witness to the many fights it had seen its owner through. In true vision, the stryker’s weapon looked like an elongated, spindle-shaped web of thin, lilac-colored energy channels. My parasite was full, so it didn’t react to the foreign mana at all. But the flowery magical pattern somehow seemed very familiar to me...

The sword’s hilt was made from the leather of some sort of Shadow monster. It had darkened with age, and been soaked through with sweat and blood. The pommel was simple, but massive. It was shaped like the fanged head of a predator — some kind of feline, most likely.

Basically, the sword didn’t look very impressive at all. It had obviously not been created to dazzle anybody with its external appearance at royal balls and receptions. Only someone who could sense Shadow magic would realize that it wasn’t a mere weapon at all — it was a truly unique artifact, which had seen a lot of action already, and might be the key to victory in the next lethal confrontation.

At that point, I also remembered where I had seen similar handiwork before. The Ghost dagger that the Wild Duke had taken from me. This sword and that dagger had both been created by masters from the Shadow...

I tore my eyes off the sword and turned to look down at Chevalier Duval. Our eyes met. His unexpected appearance, followed swiftly by this oath — it was all happening so fast. On the other hand, according to the laws of this world, all landowners in my Margraviate (or at least any who were still alive) would have to swear an oath of loyalty to me sooner or later and recognize me as their suzerain. So really, Chevalier Duval had merely decided to get the jump on the competition. Most likely, he was simply hoping to secure the support of his new Margrave in the future.

Well, I thought — let’s see how that turns out. I just hope I don’t end up regretting this.

As I began to speak, everybody around us tensed up at first, but after they heard the first few words of the suzerain’s standard reply coming out of my mouth, I saw smiles of relief pop up at numerous places in the crowd.

“I, the Margrave de Valier,” I began in a firm, solemn, ceremonious tone. “Accept your oath, Chevalier Duval, with profound gratitude and favor. From this day forth, you are under my protection and my patronage. I promised to safeguard your rights, to defend your home, and to care for you as my loyal servant and ally. I give you my word that I will be a just and wise ruler, ready to listen to you and support you at all times. In exchange for your loyalty and service, you may be assured of my intercession and my favor. You may rely on me as your master, and in exchange I will expect you to meet all the obligations and promises you have sworn to me. May our union be firm, and may it bring peace and prosperity to our lands. We are henceforth bound by ties of honor. May they remain strong until the end of our days!”

As I finished speaking, I handed my new vassal his sword. Once he rose to his feet, we exchanged a firm handshake. A moment later, a shout of joy rang out from hundreds of throats all across the camp.

Everybody present understood that this was just a formality, but at the same time, the fact that a new vassal had come to swear allegiance on the very evening of our crossing — one from among the locals, no less — struck my people as a very good omen indeed. Many people around the campfires that night would be talking about how the ancient gods had blessed their leader and his enterprise. By extension, of course, they’d also be able to congratulate themselves on having made the right decision when they chose to emigrate with me to my new Margraviate.

“I hope, Monsieur,” I said with a smile. “That you have no objection to joining me for dinner and livening up the evening with some conversation? You need not worry about your people or their horses. They’ll be taken care of.”

“Thank you, Your Lordship,” Chevalier Duval replied with another bow. “I’d be delighted to accept your invitation.”

* * *

As we walked around the camp, Chevalier Duval kept turning his head from side to side with rapt interest. Once in a while, he would shake his head and click his tongue with obvious approval. Apparently, he found our marching camp to his liking.

That said, it would have been surprising if he hadn’t. I daresay that at that time, there was no other army in this world that could boast the kind of preparation and discipline that my army displayed every single day. And that’s not even to mention its equipment, transportation, and ancillary services.

When we finally reached my tent, the first thing that I saw as I crossed the threshold was the rack of a dozen trophy swords that somebody had placed prominently along one of the fabric walls.

The main exhibits in this particular collection were the Gray Reaper’s curved blades hanging in the center.

I shot an inquisitive glance at Gunnar. My valet’s face didn’t change in the slightest, but I could see a flash of mischief dancing in his eyes. He obviously wanted to see how my guest would react. And the latter certainly didn’t disappoint.

As he stepped in behind me, Chevalier Duval didn’t even get a chance to look around properly before his eyes were drawn to the sword rack like a magnet. Once there, they didn’t move for quite a while.

He clearly recognized the curved blades. I mean, he must have, given the way his eyebrows shot upward and his whole bearded face spread into a mask of amazement. My valet’s freckled face, meanwhile, began to shine like a well-polished copper bowl. His entire being seemed to radiate self-satisfaction — put into words, it would have been something like “look what MY master can do.”

I have to give my guest credit, though: he quickly overcame his initial surprise and continued looking around at the rest of my campaign tent. Again, I could see approval in his eyes. He didn’t mention the Gray Reaper’s swords. As we were taking our seats at the table, however, I noticed that he would occasionally cast a quick glance across the room — first over at the sword rack, and then at me.

As we carried on a polite, meaningless conversation about the weather, we spent a little time simply enjoying the culinary talents of my new chef, whom Gunnar had introduced to me over the winter. The man was one of his compatriots, who, as a young man, had moved first to Vestonia, then to Bergonia. After serving as a chef in the kitchens of a local baron for a few years, the war forced him to flee to Conterne, where he eventually became acquainted with Gunnar.

And so it was that the old man had ended up there in the tent with us that night, where he was pampering us with black grouse and mushrooms in a sour-cream sauce, baked trout with freshly-picked herbs, stewed venison, and three different kinds of pate.

As Gunnar started laying the plates out on the table, Chevalier Duval took a deep breath of the intoxicating smells in the air, and for a little while he seemed to forget about the swords and concentrate entirely on the food in front of him. Only occasionally did he manage to tear himself away from his plate, in order to carry on our conversation.

When he was finally full, he leaned back on his chair. He turned to look at me (now with a slightly drowsy look in his eyes), and I asked:

“Judging by your accent, I gather that you’re not a Vestonian?”

“You’re right, Your Lordship,” he replied. “My ancestors came to these parts from southeastern Bergonia.”

“I see,” I said. “And how’s the situation in your lands at the moment?”

My question seemed to liven up my dining companion considerably. After all, it presented him with the perfect opportunity to complain about how difficult life was and how badly things were going for him.

Chevalier Duval justified every one of my expectations. Things in his lands were going very, very badly indeed, just as I had assumed. While he had somehow been managing to make ends meet before the Scarlets made their appearance, the invasion had forced him to flee north and seek shelter among the mountain clans. Which, by the way, was where he had first heard about me.

Returning to his home in the fall, Chevalier Duval discovered that his castle had been ransacked. The Scarlets had razed the only village in his lands and (apparently) taken the peasants with them when they left.

As for my question about Fort de Gris and the garrison the Scarlets had left there, he replied that he didn’t really have any information about it at all. Something about the Scarlets abandoning Fort de Gris pretty much as soon as they heard that the Gray Reaper had been defeated. As far as he knew, they had fled northeast along the mountain paths. And when they did, they left the Margraviate’s main fortress entirely to its own devices. Basically, just as I had assumed, the Margraviate was in a state of chaos and lawlessness.

At the end, the Chevalier told me about how, after somehow managing to survive the winter, he had decided to head for Gondreville to present himself to the new Margrave de Valier and ask him for assistance.

I listened carefully to what he was saying, replying with the occasional nod and shaking my head sympathetically from time to time. When he finally finished, I picked up my wineglass from the table and took a slow, thoughtful sip. Then, after a short pause, I calmly began to speak:

“It seems to me, Monsieur, that you’ve left one very important part out of your story. Or rather, there are probably many missing parts, if I had to guess, but for now there’s only one I’m interested in. I’d really like to discuss it with you, as long as we can do so without any of the lies you’ve just been trying to feed me. And before you ask — yes, please dispense with anything resembling the spectacle you just put on for us outside. I have no doubt that you’re gifted in the art of self-transformation, but for now I’d simply like to save as much of our time as possible. All I need to know first is whether you’re prepared for a frank conversation. Before you answer, I’d like to warn you that the degree of your frankness will determine the nature of our future relationship. So — what do you say?”

My words made Jean Duval stiffen, and (as I had hinted) he seemed to transform right before my eyes. The man who had so recently looked and sounded like yet another battered provincial vassal complaining about his hard life was gone. In his place sat a dangerous predator, who was ready at any moment to launch himself into an attack.

For a minute, we just stared at each other; then, apparently having decided something in his mind, Chevalier Duval spoke in a low, icy tone:

“What will this frank conversation be about, then?”

“First, I’d like to know what exactly you’ve managed to recover from the Shadow,” I replied in the same tone, watching as his face changed. “After all, you’re practically radiating Barrier magic...”


Chapter 10

NO DOUBT ABOUT IT: Chevalier Duval was certainly a predator. And a dangerous, experienced predator at that. He had to be, or he would never have survived so many trips into the Shadow. It so happened, however, that he had voluntarily made his way to the den of another predator, who was one step higher on the food chain than he was. And I could tell that Duval understood that.

He silently picked up his glass of wine, brought it to his lips, and took a small, unhurried sip. Then, moving with deliberate slowness, he took a small pouch out from behind his belt, pulled a small, curved pipe out from it, and glanced at me for approval.

I nodded silently, and Duval began packing his pipe. I knew that, in this inconspicuous way, my new vassal was buying himself a little time to think. Apparently, he hadn’t expected his little game to be recognized and turned back on him quite so quickly.

For my part, I just sipped my wine, watching with halfhearted curiosity and generously allowing the Chevalier time to get his thoughts together. It didn’t escape my notice, by the way, that his pipe, its pouch, and even the tobacco inside it were all products of the Shadow.

Meanwhile, Duval puffed his pipe until an ember was smoldering comfortably inside it, then turned to look at me as he gently exhaled a puff of bluish smoke from his nostrils. My tent filled immediately with a sweetish, herbal smell that was tinged with notes of mature wood.

After taking a single pull, he stood up and leaned toward me across the table to place the little pouch directly in front of me.

“Crimson leaf,” he said as he nodded at the open bag, in whose depths I could see a fibrous, reddish-brown mass. “One of the best local flow-altered strains.”

I carefully took a small pinch of the tobacco in my hands, sniffed it, and nodded.

“Smells nice. Unusual. You said it was from...?”

“That’s right,” the Chevalier replied. “There are others, too, but Crimson leaf is the best and rarest.”

I immediately assumed that this was one of the products he had been so eager to deliver to the valley. And I even had a good idea of who he had in mind as a customer... It seemed likely that he had probably stocked up quite a pile of goods during the time when the Scarlets had been in control of my Margraviate. He would have had to turn most of his haul over to the Scarlets themselves for rock-bottom prices, of course, but I would never believe that he hadn’t managed to squirrel at least a little bit away from the prying eyes of their quartermasters.

“And how much of this do you have?” I asked.

For a moment, a shadow fell over Duval’s face. Soon enough, however, he got his emotions back under control. Although he couldn’t conceal his irritation, or the resigned look in his eyes.

I had some idea of what he was probably thinking. Originally, he had been hoping to make a quick trek into the valley with his valuable product, in the hopes of selling it off to his old clientele and thereby making at least a little improvement in his financial situation. With the war, and the accompanying ravages of the Scarlets, I knew that most locals were probably going through some very hard financial times. There might have been more than just a grain of truth in Duval’s story about his castle and the peasants who worked his lands.

In the end, though, he never made it to the valley in time. I had cut him off with my march, which totally ruined his plans for a successful sale. Considering the specifics of his work, Chevalier Duval was probably already saying a mental goodbye to his goods. He didn’t seem like the type of man who could possibly believe that his new Margrave would let him pass without taking a cut — let alone without commandeering some of the goods. “I’m about to be fleeced like a sheep... Flensed to the bone.” That, basically, was the look in my new vassal’s eyes.

After all, the Margraviate de Valier was ruled according to the laws of the Kingdom of Vestonia, where all Shadow goods were supposed to be sold by the Amber Guild. They, after all, were the ones who held the monopoly from the King. There was no point even trying to complain about the ruinous prices the Guild charged for those goods. In that respect, at least, they weren’t much better than the Scarlets.

Speaking of the Amber Guild, by the way — I hadn’t forgotten the way they treated me personally, or their general attitude, and I had dropped a pretty transparent hint to Samira Clemand that I didn’t want to see either her or any of her colleagues in my Margraviate any time in the near future.

Sure, I couldn’t do anything official to prevent the Amber Guild from opening up a branch in my lands. But they would have to actually REACH my lands first. Ever since the war, and despite all my efforts at keeping the area patrolled, there were still many bands of thugs and marauders plying their trade on the roads. Too many, alas, for me to keep track of every single group.

Basically, it seemed like Samira Clemand took the hint, because she linked up with Prince Philippe’s court and headed back to the capital with them.

And I hadn’t seen any of the Amber Guild’s “curators” since. From what I had heard, they had been going through some hard times in recent months. The King’s illness had sparked a tussle for influence. The grandmaster of the Amber Guild, Gilbert de Ambrelle, was pulling as many combat mages into his orbit in the capital as he could...

“Not much...” Duval replied. “There have only been a few ebbs this year...”

“I see,” I nodded. I fell silent and stared at him expectantly.

Jean Duval cleared his throat, then continued reluctantly. With a few periodic sighs, he proceeded to spend the next few minutes running through a list of all his goods and answering my clarifying questions in satisfactory detail.

I had already spoken to other strykers about expeditions into the Stryker, but none of them compared to Jean Duval, who seemed to have been hunting along the frontier and over the Barrier since childhood. And whereas I was mainly interested in bruts (and maybe also valuable hides and bones from Shadow monsters), Chevalier Duval took quite a thorough approach to his business.

Besides hides, fur, and bones from Shadow monsters, for example, the Chevalier was currently bringing gallstones, glands, rendered fat, and dried insects into the valley to sell.

I realized, of course, that by going into such detail he was trying his very best to steer the conversation away from the main question. But that question came up nonetheless.

In the end, I learned that Chevalier Duval was carrying about two dozen magical crystals of various sizes and colors. None of them were lilac bruts or pearls. The latter, of course, were something I wanted for my own personal use.

At a certain point, a pause settled over our conversation, and Gunnar was quick to take advantage of it. He brought in a tray with a bottle of brandy on it and set it down on a small table next to the campaign stove.

Chevalier Duval and I got up from the table and sat down in the armchairs nearer to the warm stove, where we proceeded to sample the brandy.

“So the Scarlets’ garrison has already left the Margraviate?” I asked.

If the change of subject was surprising to my companion, he certainly didn’t show it.

“Yes, Your Lordship,” he replied. “The Atalians were led out on mountain paths.”

“And I’m guessing they’d never have been able to do it without help from some of the locals...” I mused aloud, in a sort of half-question, half-statement.

“Exactly,” he confirmed my suspicions. Then, with a squeamish grimace on his face, he added: “Baron di Festa certainly did a good job there.”

Yep, I thought... There’s another name from the Sapphire Guild’s log. This Baron di Festa was the biggest supplier from my Margraviate. And it turned out he had sided with the Scarlets. I guess that wasn’t too surprising, though... Judging by his name, he was an Atalian himself. All that remained after that was to find out a little more about the third and final band of smugglers.

Chevalier Duval suddenly cast a glare, filled with hate and disgust, at the curved blades hanging on the sword rack. Then he turned his head and looked me straight in the eyes.

“You’re free to suspect me of whatever you want,” he said, quietly but with dignity. “But I never had anything to do with those bloodthirsty sons of bitches, and the gods will bear witness to it.”

He quickly glanced back at the Gray Reaper’s swords, then continued:

“Sure, I wasn’t about to wait around for the Scarlets to come calling at my castle, like the late Baron de Vilar did. To keep my people alive, I first had to flee north into the mountains, then all the way to the frontier. At the time, we considered ourselves to have been abandoned by everyone. Our main duty was simply to survive.”

Hm... He didn’t seem to be lying. But I would still have to double-check what he was saying later on.

Having heard a third name from the Guild’s log, however, I repeated it back to him:

“Baron de Vilar?”

Jean Duval snickered.

“Vincent was in his autumn years, and I think he simply outlived his good sense. He believed that the castle his Mage-Artificer ancestor had built could withstand any assault... His brain was as faded as his eyes, I guess... Two of the soldiers in his bodyguard had certain specific skills that enabled them to hide out in the sewers beneath his castle. They serve me now. And they told me that the Gray Reaper tortured the old Baron himself. He kept him alive for several days.”

I already had a pretty good idea who those two soldiers might be...

“Did Baron de Vilar have any heirs?” I asked.

“He did,” Duval shook his head. “Alas, they’re all dead.”

“How certain are you?” I had to ask.

“I was personally present at their funerals three years ago,” replied Duval with total confidence.

I noticed the demonstrative expression on his face as he said this. While the case with the Baron who had sided with the Atalians was pretty clear (I would be taking over directly as soon as I could take possession), I would have to be very careful about following the law when it came to Baron de Vilar’s fief. That said, the situation would be pretty simple if there really weren’t any heirs.

Chevalier Duval spent the next hour telling me all about my Margraviate. The more he spoke, the more I began to realize that all my assumptions about this region had been correct.

While there had been at least some sort of functional system in this unruly land prior to the war, things were in a very sorry state indeed after what the Scarlets had done.

Once my companion finished speaking, I turned to him:

“Monsieur, I thank you for this extremely illuminating conversation. Thanks to you, I think I have at least some understanding of what I’m going to encounter here. As for your trip into the valley... I have a proposition for you.”

Despite his relaxed posture, I could see (thanks to true vision) that Chevalier Duval’s interest was piqued immediately.

“You have my full attention, Your Lordship.”

“First of all, I’d like to save you some time by allowing you to unload these goods without leaving the Margraviate,” I said, watching as Duval began to frown. “In other words, I’m willing to buy everything you were hoping to sell in the valley, and give you a very good price for all of it. I’ll tell you right now: with the war just having ended, you’re going to have a hell of a time finding buyers for Shadow resources in Bergonia right now. Ricardo di Lorenzo, who the people know as the Golden Lion, went through the cities and villages with a fine-mesh net and scooped up pretty much everything of value. They need food far more than they need magical resources right now. Sure, I understand that you’ve got channels and connections to work through, but I assure you: nobody’s going to give you a better price than I will. Plus, don’t forget about the risk. Your goods have a pretty specific appeal, and that’s putting it mildly.”

With every word I uttered, Chevalier Duval’s eyebrows rose higher and higher. The look of gloomy despair on his face began to give way to a look of cautious hope.

“Second,” I said, without giving him time to think about it. “As I’m working on sorting out this Margraviate’s affairs, I’d like to have someone who’s acquainted with local realities at my side to offer me counsel. You’re better suited to that role than anyone else. And finally, third...”

I stood up and walked over to the sword rack that Gunnar had set up. Taking one of the swords in my hand, I spun it lightly around once or twice, and then sent a small clot of mana surging into it. As Jean Duval watched in awe, it began to shine with a golden glow.

“... I’m going to need an experienced guide for a campaign into the Shadow.”

* * *

Three weeks later, our force finally made it to Fort de Gris — our final destination. Jean Duval had been with me the entire time, and he was playing the role of guide (occasionally verging on “tour guide”) pretty well.

That night, when I had first put my propositions to him, he had asked for a little time to think it all over. I said that was fine, and allowed him and his people to leave our camp at their leisure.

I had no intention of putting any pressure on my new vassal. People like him had to come to a suzerain on their own — they needed to understand that it was in their interest to do so before the relationship would actually stick.

Vaira had kept constant track of the smugglers; in fact, she “led” them back to their camp, and later told me all about the council that Chevalier Duval held with his best fighters — the two medius strykers.

In the end, Duval agreed to all my propositions. Admittedly, his warriors were still skeptical of the whole thing. As it happens, they were both from the East. One of them was thin and flexible, which was typical for a nomad from the Great Steppe; the other was stocky and muscular, and hailed from one of the Free Principalities...

I was standing on the crest of a hill, looking down at the fortress that had previously been nothing but the subject of stories and legends for me. The springtime mountain wind was still cold and biting, and it brought the scent of raw earth and rot as it whipped across my face. The city that stretched out all around me might once have been the jewel of the Margraviate, but it certainly didn’t look the part anymore.

In its heyday, Fort de Gris’ population had numbered somewhere around 3,000. Now, however, I’d have been surprised if it could muster even a fifth that many. It seemed extremely unlikely...

The locals had learned of our approach in advance, and most of them had opted to abandon their homes for the time being and flee the city. They wanted to sit out their new ruler’s arrival somewhere safe and see what he was going to do before they put themselves at his mercy.

The fortress that (presumably) had once stricken fear into the hearts of its enemies now looked like a sad relic of a bygone age — it certainly wasn’t a suitable strongpoint anymore. Its massive stone walls had clearly been powerful at some point (indeed, they would have been virtually impregnable), but years of neglect had left them covered with spots of black mold and moss.

In places, the stonework had collapsed entirely, leaving gigantic, yawning gaps that stood out like unhealed wounds. The towers also looked badly neglected. Several of them had lost their crenellations, and their black-tiled roofs clearly hadn’t been repaired for many years. The gates, still holding their heavy wooden bolts, groaned sadly in the wind, almost as if bemoaning their miserable fate.

A human anthill had grown up all down the slopes that stretched down from the base of the fortress. The narrow, mud-choked alleys looked more like rivers of liquefied earth than anything resembling roads. The houses had all been built of gray stone and wood, and many of them were extremely rickety. It had clearly been many years since anyone had taken a skillful hand to them. The roofs were thatched with rotten straw or equally-rotten boards that had already collapsed in many places, and it seemed to me that any winter might well be the last for many of these structures.

The people on the streets were all walking around with their heads down, their faces every bit as gray as the world around them. Some were pulling carts, which barely seemed to have any cargo on them at all; others were just walking around, leaning on long walking sticks as they went.

Life here seemed to flow as slowly as the mud beneath their feet, and the feeling of poverty and neglect seemed to emanate from every window and door we passed. These lands had been under the Order’s thumb for a long time, and the effects of that oppression were everywhere, radiating out of everything around us. The Atalians had not only plundered the city; they had also sucked the life force out of it, leaving nothing but a hollow, gutted shell.

The locals watched our entry into the city with cautious interest. Most of them were elderly, or at least approaching old age. We didn’t even see any of the packs of children that roamed the streets in most sizable cities. The youth — especially women — had been hidden away from any possible harm.

Basically, the locals perceived us as yet another band of invaders. And that remained the case even after the loudest soldiers in our vanguard had made the rounds through the city’s streets and alleys, announcing the imminent arrival of the land’s new master.

Within the fortress, however, life was already boiling at full steam again. No matter where you stood in the town, you’d have heard the shouts of soldiers, the groaning of wooden wheels, and huge herds of neighing horses, mooing cows, and bleating sheep.

Driven on by their commanders, the soldiers and civilians from the baggage train were already busy hauling buckets, armfuls of straw, baskets, and bales of hay. Muffled shouts could be heard coming from within the castle — a mixture of outraged cursing and raucous laughter. My first impression of the city had left me in a slight stupor, but hearing the activity in the castle made me feel a bit better.

I glanced at our seneschal, standing in the midst of his minions, and smiled. Hans would have the place whipped into shape in no time.

I rode a little further into the fortress, and soon found myself in one of the inner courtyards, where I stopped and looked around. The whole place seemed dead. It had obviously been abandoned quite a long time ago. The grass growing through the cracked stone tiles was the only sign that there was still anything alive in the place at all.

I walked along the wall, checking out the narrow windows and arrow slits. The walls were so dilapidated in some places that it seemed like I could simply have pushed them over.

The main square, which should have been the center of life in the city, was utterly deserted. That said, the garbage, pools of swill, and horse droppings all over the place suggested that something had happened there not long before our arrival. Some sort of daily or weekly market, most likely.

As I looked around, trying to avoid taking in too much of the rank, fetid air, I pictured the first rulers of the city as they built the place. As they labored to lay the stones and drive the posts, they must have hoped that these buildings would one day become symbols of power and authority. So far, though, the place was practically the epitome of despair and decline.

I realized that returning these lands to their former glory was a bit much to ask, and that even getting them back into a more or less presentable state was going to take a whole hell of a lot of work. At the same time, though, I felt a flush of decisiveness surging in my mind. These lands are mine now, I thought. And I’m not here alone. I have a lot to do, but I’ve never been afraid of a challenge. And once I’m done, I’d love to see anybody try to chase me out of here...


Chapter 11

A WEEK HAD PASSED since the day of our arrival at Fort de Gris, although it felt like no more than a short day.

I wasn’t in any hurry to settle into the castle’s keep. It would have to be cleaned up a little bit first. All the old, mouse-ridden, stinky junk would have to be thrown out, the roof and walls would need to be repaired, new windows and doors would need to be installed.

A cadre of builders from Romont was already hard at work on all this; they had come to Gondreville from Romont the previous autumn, and I had signed a long-term contract with their foreman.

Unlike the refugees, these builders had no intention of bringing their families to join them (at least not yet). Exchanging the comforts of the capital for a backwater Margraviate on the border with the Shadow would have been far too bold a step for a comfortable and well-respected brigade of craftsmen. Besides that, we didn’t even have anywhere to live yet.

To help address this, my people were working in gradual stages to lay out a superb field camp atop a big, elongated hill with a broad river running along its base. As they did so, of course, they were keeping in mind that it would only be needed for about a year.

That said, the camp could well develop into a city of its own, with houses taking the place of the tents. To account for this possibility, we established an orderly layout for the camp with extra space between the rows of tents, as well as designated spots for smithies, cowpens, and stables. After all, cities used to develop from the army camps of a very famous ancient empire in my own world. I’ll admit, however, that I wasn’t planning anywhere near that far in advance quite yet. I knew that we had bigger priorities that would need to be handled first.

And I took care of one of them right away by conducting a thorough examination of the fortress and the settlement surrounding it (which must have gotten labeled a “city” due to some sort of misunderstanding). I wanted to see the quality of the walls, towers, gates, and other key points with my own eyes, and also check every single square inch of the place for any secret stashes — and any magic booby traps that the Scarlets might have left for us.

In the end, I came to the conclusion that the keep (which was basically a mini-castle all its own) had been built by Mage-Artificers. It looked like a pretty solid structure. Everything that had grown up around it, however, was clearly the work of less-gifted people.

As for booby traps and stashes... I didn’t find a single one of the former, but I found about two dozen of the latter. Most of them, by the way, were scattered throughout the town itself, rather than the fortress.

Mostly, they were simple deposits in basements and attics, apparently left by former owners who (judging by the characteristic magical emanations) had been true gifted.

There wasn’t much of value in those small stashes. Mostly, it was just silver coins, cheap jewelry, and other trinkets like that. There had clearly been some bigger stashes in the fortress itself, but they had all been opened and emptied. Either the former owners had taken their goods with them when they left, or the Scarlets had a pretty competent treasure hunter in their ranks.

The condition of the city and the fortress suggested that the Gray Reaper hadn’t paid much attention to the upkeep of either place. According to Chevalier Duval, Master di Lanzi had taken advantage of Baron di Festa’s hospitality. The Scarlets had used his castle as a base. Fort de Gris, by contrast, held just a small garrison, which ironically ended up being the only unit of Scarlets to survive the war.

I still hadn’t made it to Baron di Festa’s lands, or those of Baron de Vilar, but I knew that the “capital” of my Margraviate had to take priority. Especially since the fugitive Baron probably hadn’t left us anything valuable in his castle, and the executed Baron de Vilar’s lands were probably still engulfed in chaos...

While I was busy examining and assessing the condition of all my new property, a permanent garrison had already begun its period of service in the fortress. The city and its environs, meanwhile, were being patrolled by a unit of the March Guards, who all had my sigil emblazoned on their clothing and armor — the product of an entire winter’s hard work by Gondreville’s seamstresses and armorers.

Establishing control of the key routes in and out of the city would be a vital step in preventing any potential marauding or banditry. The core of the garrison that would ensure such control was already in place. We hadn’t wasted any time during the preceding winter. All we really had to do were make a few adjustments to the plan, to account for the specifics on the ground. And that’s exactly what my commanders were doing.

I would have liked to summon all the local leaders, headmen, or whatever other influential people were still alive. I felt certain that there still WERE such people, but unfortunately none of them seemed to be in any hurry to get in touch with me.

Sure, we had some conversations with a few of the more reasonable-minded locals (people who, for the most part, simply had nowhere to flee to outside the city), but they seemed pretty reluctant to share any information with us.

We had to loosen their tongues with some truth serum, but even then they really didn’t have anything specific to say. They merely confirmed our working assumptions. After giving them a little money and ordering that they be fed, I sent the poor people on their way with my blessing; this was a pleasant surprise to most of them, but they were also slightly puzzled by the experience. As it turns out, they were all expecting to meet a grisly end in the keep’s torture chamber, as so many had under the Scarlets.

Whatever the case, though, at least we had finally established contact. As the Margrave and the new master of these lands, I was consciously playing the role of a wise and just ruler who was prepared to listen to his people, find out what they were dealing with, and simultaneously make it clear to everyone in the Margraviate that order had come to this unruly, chaotic land.

And I had already started demonstrating my sincerity in that regard. My soldiers were already patrolling and examining all the roads and alleys in the cities; moreover, they maintained a friendly attitude while they did it, although they stuck strictly to their orders. I wanted it known that this attitude was what the population should expect from the Margrave de Valier’s people.

Given such good behavior, and the fact that my seneschal’s minions had been spreading word among the people that these same soldiers were the very men who had so recently wiped out a huge part of the Atalian army, I expected that the city elders would make an appearance any day.

One of the main stimuli, though, would undoubtedly be the news about provisions. That much was clear after one look at the faces of the locals as they watched our baggage train roll by. News that a huge quantity of food had just arrived in the city would spread like wildfire across the land, and before long it would send living rivulets of people from the surrounding towns and hamlets pouring into the city. Hans had reported as much to me the previous day, with a cunning smile on his face.

Long story short, the situation in the settlements all along the route of our march to Fort de Gris was basically the same as it had been in the first days of our campaign along the Imperial track, when the army was still officially under the command of Viscount de Leval. Every town, every tiny village, was completely empty. The locals had hurried into the forests, trying to get as far away from our forces as possible.

The quality of the road, on the other hand, came as a very pleasant surprise. More than once, I found myself thanking the late Alberto di Lanzi for the repairs he had made to my Margraviate’s main road, which was known locally as the Northern track. Apparently, the Scarlets had used it quite a lot as they hauled off everything they had stolen. They didn’t even skimp when it came to bridges, either: several of them had been completely restored.

As soon as we arrived in Fort de Gris, therefore, I sent Vaira to Baron Reese with a message about the condition of the roads and orders to set off for my Margraviate with our main army and wagon train. We would have plenty of time to prepare for their arrival while they were en route.

In a separate message, I reminded Baron Reese not to take his eyes off of Viscount d’Angland and his noble friends, whom I had saved from their miserable fate in that underground dungeon.

At first, the scions of the traitorous western nobles had kept quiet and made themselves scarce. Due to the ordeal their Atalian captors had put them through (especially its dietary aspects), some of them had only recently recovered.

As soon as all these gentlemen-aristocrats felt better, however, they started to show their true colors. The best thing the geniuses could think of was to gather all their things and head back to Herouxville in one big pack. Once there, they would ask for an audience with Carl III, whom they genuinely considered to be the most just and wise monarch in all Mainland.

“Of course His Majesty will hear us out and understand!” The Viscount d’Angland had assured me that day; it was clear that he spoke for the whole group. “We’re completely confident that if the King gets a chance to hear our side of the story, he’ll let us return to our lands immediately. And once we’re there, if it pleases the gods, our relatives might get a royal pardon too...”

True, the Viscount was a lot quieter as he uttered that last sentence, and he didn’t sound confident in the possibility at all. I knew that even HE probably didn’t believe what he was saying.

After hearing the Viscount d’Angland out, I read the message I had received from the capital aloud to him and his friends. It concerned him and his father directly, and it was obvious that its terms would apply to his friends and their families as well.

In that message, Susanna Marino told me that all the lands of the traitors had reverted to the Crown, and the traitors themselves (as well as all their children) had been declared outlaws. Any one of them who showed his face in Vestonia could expect arrest and prison, followed by a trial and (most likely) execution. The Count d’Angland and his son would be hanged as common criminals. I was completely certain of that.

Alas, I didn’t have any information about the Viscount’s wife and son. Most likely, though, the Viscountess had probably moved back in with her father, the Count de Brionne, who had taken no part in the betrayal.

At the end of our conversation, when Viscount d’Angland looked completely crushed, I said:

“Monsieur, I must recommend that you calm your friends down immediately. Every one of you needs to stay cautious, and trust me for the time being. It’s the only way I’m going to be able to keep you alive.”

“Monsieur,” the Viscount replied in a hushed voice. “My friends and I are grateful to you for saving us, and for your concern about our fates. I know the risk you’re taking by hiding us here in the Citadel... Nevertheless, despite what we’ve just heard, some of my friends are still intent on returning to the capital with the first caravan. It’s a matter of honor!”

The Viscount straightened his back and raised his head with pride. The look in his eyes told me that he was one of the people who were determined to head back north.

“I see,” I said. “Unfortunately, I’m afraid they won’t get very far.”

“What?” The Viscount was surprised. “But — “

“My people will turn them around, and they’ll have no choice but to return to the Citadel,” I interrupted him politely but firmly. “When they do, however, they won’t be returning as guests — they’ll be treated as prisoners from that point on.”

The Viscount d’Angland looked shocked.

“Please don’t look at me like that, Monsieur,” I sighed. “I understand everything. Matters of honor... The agony of uncertainty and vague information... But you must understand where I’m coming from as well. As soon as any one of you ends up in the hands of the royal chancery, it won’t be long before they know exactly who’s keeping the rest of your friends out of the hands of royal justice. As you’ve probably already guessed, I have no intention of taking that risk. Please make sure your friends understand that.”

“Why are you doing this?” The Viscount suddenly asked as he stared back at me quizzically. “Why are you taking this risk in the first place? Please, though — be honest with me.”

I leaned back on my chair, staring back at him for a moment, and then replied:

“Alright, then... First of all, it’s because I truly think you’re being treated unfairly. You fought for your King and shed your blood on the battlefield for his cause. Yes — in trying to save you, your father betrayed his King, and his actions got a lot of our men killed. But you shouldn’t have to bear responsibility for your father’s actions, and nor should your friends. And finally, second of all... The King is at death’s door. When he passes from the scene, the Princes will plunge immediately into a bloody battle for the throne. Battle lines will be drawn between east, south, and north. But there’s also the west... I don’t think anyone there will be very excited about the King’s decision to confiscate all their lands. And it just so happens that I have the scions and heirs of the west’s most influential noble families staying with me in my Citadel as we speak... In other words, I hope that what I’m actually doing right now is saving the lives of some future allies. Think carefully about what I’ve just told you, Viscount...”

Our conversation took place right before I left for my Margraviate. The Viscount left my office in a state of anxious pensiveness, and neither he nor any of his friends made any further attempts to return to Vestonia afterward. Still, though, I preferred to play it safe. I knew Baron Reese would be able to handle the task.

Besides, the Count de Poitiers was on the scene as well. Once again, the old Marshal had surprised me. It turned out that he completely shared my opinion regarding the young aristocrats and their basic innocence. And therefore, he promised to keep an eye on them for me...

Over the past month, as I finally got a chance to survey the lands that the King had conferred upon me, I eventually came to the conclusion that things weren’t really all that bad. To be perfectly honest, I had expected worse.

Sure, the entire area was one big scene of desolation and destruction. The Margraviate, which hadn’t been very populous in the first place, had become almost entirely depopulated. The local communities had fled as far as they could when they heard of our approach, but the traces they left behind made it clear that they were pretty small even at the best of times.

Long story short, there was a huge amount of arable land in my domain that was open for settlement. Further, the peasant collectives and families that were supposed to arrive at the end of spring — the people to whom I was planning to lease the land — wouldn’t be meeting resistance from the locals when they arrived.

Of course, some conflicts were bound to pop up from time to time. But those could be handled by local magistrates, whom I was planning to handpick personally (at least for the time being). In time, once the situation in the Margraviate settled down a bit, and some natural leaders with reputations for honesty had emerged, the magistracies would become elective...

My Margraviate was particularly appealing to the Mertonians, especially the Glenns. The forests, which the peasants had once worked to clear and used as a source of wood, were starting to grow back pretty rapidly. The woods were expanding, swallowing up former fields and pastures that had long since been abandoned.

With no humans around to scare them off, the wild beasts had returned to the forests. Chevalier Duval told me that over the last few years, the animal populations had exploded. Deer, wild boars, and rabbits abounded, and predators like wolves and lynx had moved in to take advantage of that abundance.

Along the route of our march, I saw that dead trees were being left to stand until they fell down on their own. Their dry branches and trunks added to the general sense of desolation, but at the same time they provided a new home for a multitude of small animals and insects.

The region’s human population may have dropped precipitously, but its rivers and forests were teeming with life. When we arrived at Fort de Gris, the Glenns and the true gifted among the mountain men split up into small units and set off into the nearby forests to hunt. At the same time, they did some scouting.

I knew that before long, the boldest of the locals would start venturing out toward the city, and when they did I planned to entice them to help rebuild the fortress and restore order in the city.

They wouldn’t have to work for free, of course. I planned not only to feed them, but also to pay them in cash for their work — cash that they could then spend in Fort de Gris’ central market, which my seneschal was planning to have up and running within a few days.

Even before we left Gondreville, we had some idea of what we would discover when we arrived, and so we came with a huge supply of provisions and fodder — enough for our own use, and an extra supply to kick-start the local market. In addition to that, we had several wagons packed full of all sorts of household necessities. Tools, clothes, fabric, simple decorations, lamp oil, candles, etc.

The place hadn’t seen a merchant for a very long time, so a real-live market (especially one where the prices weren’t jacked up by a factor of ten) was bound to stimulate interest and bring at least some of my new subjects flocking into town.

One of the most important items on my to-do list was a renovation of the local Temple of the Forefather and the Most Luminous Mother, which the Scarlets had used for their own dirty deeds during the period of their rule.

As for what had become of the local priest of the ancient gods, I had no idea. We had brought a new priest and two acolytes with us. The old man had come to me on his own initiative and asked to accompany me to my Margraviate, in order to bring the prodigal flock there back to the true faith.

Basically, he beat me to the punch, which I was only too happy for him to do. It meant I didn’t have to go around trying to convince anyone to leave their warm, comfortable parish and drag themselves off into the unknown.

The old priest turned out to be insistent and stubborn, but also very active, which impressed me a great deal. True, at first he tried to work his religious manipulations on me, but I wasn’t having any of it.

I had to put him quickly and firmly back on track, by reminding him not to waste his energy on me when there was a whole new flock out there in need of a shepherd. Also, I assured the old priest that his temple wouldn’t lack for donations from my treasury.

In the end, we were pretty happy with each other’s attitude, and the old man promised that he would do everything in his power to make sure the Margrave de Valier was painted in complimentary terms in front of the parishioners. The locals needed to understand that real power had returned to their lands. We weren’t just the same fanatical robbers in a different guise.

Eventually, our working assumptions were proven correct. One day, a small caravan of locals rolled into Fort de Gris. I’ll be honest: they weren’t exactly the people I was expecting to see first. Chevalier Duval informed me that the leader of the caravan was the headman of the largest village in the fugitive Baron’s domains.


Chapter 12

AS I WATCHED from a small hill as the new arrival filed in, I came to the conclusion that the people of Baron di Festa’s lands (or at least this particular headman and his retinue) had been living a very different lifestyle than the residents of Fort de Gris and its environs.

Their horses weren’t purebreds, but they were healthy and well-kept. Their wagons and carts were sturdy, their clothing and weapons simple but attractive. Put simply, these peasants of the fugitive Baron looked positively wealthy (or well-off, at the very least) in comparison to the population of the “capital.” That said, I also couldn’t help but notice their average age. They were mostly elderly.

Given that one of our patrols had met the caravan out at the approaches to the city, the headman of Bonvalle (for such was their village’s name) had almost certainly already asked my soldiers a few questions about the new Margrave by the time the caravan arrived.

For this exact reason, I made sure that the commanders of our patrol units were instructed beforehand about what to say during such encounters. They had certainly done a good job this time, because the old men were standing there, open-mouthed, as they looked around at the hubbub of activity in our camp. No doubt they had already noticed the quality and condition of our soldiers’ equipment, the cleanliness and order in the camp, and the herds of thoroughbred horses and livestock that the new Margrave had brought with him.

First, our guests were escorted to my healers, whom I kept on duty in shifts around the clock, and who were responsible for examining all the locals and anyone who might arrive in the city. Meanwhile, Lorin secretly got to work on their animals. Pestilence, after all, was the very last thing we needed. Either among humans or among livestock.

True, that wouldn’t be a risk while I was personally present. My golden gift enabled me to liquidate any infection, no matter how far it might have progressed. I had already proven that to my own satisfaction on a number of occasions. But I wouldn’t always be at the Fort. And diseases come in all shapes and sizes. Something could always come along that I wouldn’t be able to overpower. In light of that, and the fact that a strict quarantine was simply out of the question given the circumstances, a thorough examination by our healers was the next best thing. Thankfully, there were no epidemics (certainly nothing like that horrible blood fever) raging in Fort de Gris when we arrived.

The same was true for the animals. Lorin was very skilled, of course. He could detect maladies in the animals, and he knew what to feed them to counteract those maladies, but if the disease progressed beyond a certain point, he was powerless. They would have to be sent to the slaughter. We had the very best animals in Bergonia. Specially selected for future breeding purposes.

And some of our healers were true gifted, who had sworn an oath of loyalty to me personally before undergoing the transformation ritual. They, too, were extremely skilled, but they weren’t all-powerful. Eventually, I planned to create a second, similar unit, whose healers would use golden mana. But that wouldn’t happen for a very long time. I knew I would have to come to grips with my parasite first.

It was satisfied and malleable for the time being. I was giving it regular feedings of black energy. Little clots — nothing more. Thanks to this, I was able to keep working on transforming my energy channels and nodes in peace. At the same time, I also kept working on mastering the werefox webs. For the time being, it was just the ones that the lunari and I had managed to fish out of my dormant memories.

I was trying to be careful about expending energy. The most important task, for the time being, was transforming and strengthening my energy system. Assuming, of course, that I had correctly understood everything I had heard in that strange dream, the golden parasite that the spirits had referred to as a “gift” would eventually submit to my will. But when, exactly, could I expect that to happen?

I was certainly glad that the parasite wasn’t throwing itself on any convenient mana source like a ravenous wolf, the way it used to. Several small clots of black mana were normally enough to see me through a week, and then some. Even with that, though, the first black brut was already halfway empty.

As for what might happen when I finally ran out of black crystals... Well, I was thinking about that pretty much all the time. I had a supply of bruts on hand, as well as a supply back in the basement of the Fox Den. I could certainly have them sent to me. It would take time, of course, but it was doable.

But what about when those bruts ran out? I wasn’t planning to move north and start hunting Frost Knights any time soon. First and foremost, I needed to figure out what the Scarlets had been so intent on getting from Shadow Pass. What had the Gray Reaper discovered there, to make him move in so many soldiers?

Alas... Chevalier Duval had no idea about that. As I had already gathered, Baron di Festa was the one who had first made the discovery in Shadow Pass and passed the word to the Scarlets, and Duval’s relationship with him wasn’t exactly a friendly one.

Naturally, Duval and his people had their guesses. Each one more outlandish than the last. Despite the contradictory information, though, I had nevertheless managed to establish a few things with a fair degree of certainty. First, the destination: the place where the Scarlets’ unit of combat mages had been heading. Bone Grotto, they called it.

Unlike the Barrier I had crossed myself some time before, the Barrier in this place took the form of a big, rocky mountain range — hence the name Shadow Pass.

Nobody ever made their way into the Shadow through the mountains. And there were good reasons for that. First of all, there were no reliable paths. Frequent ebbs and flows usually altered the area beyond recognition in a very short span of time. Second, the flora and fauna were highly aggressive, having lived and bred in the Shadow-altered mountains for centuries by that point. Local hunters referred to these super-predators as chimeras. Meeting one of them was a death sentence, even for a large unit of experienced combat mages.

Long story short, nobody ever went very high up into the mountains. Local hunters ventured into the Shadow by going under the mountains, rather than over them. They used a series of Barrier-altered tunnels and shafts left behind by the great Empire. Somehow, a few of these had managed not to disappear or collapse over the centuries. That said, their interiors were completely transformed. So much so, in fact, that there was no vestige whatsoever to remind one of the fact that the tunnels had been created by human hands.

It goes without saying that these tunnels were dangerous after an ebb, but a solid unit of strykers could nevertheless stand a decent chance of making it into the Shadow by using them.

Long story short, Bone Grotto was one of the entrances into one of these tunnel networks, and it could be reached by traveling through the lands that had once belonged to the fugitive Baron. I was planning to pay the place a visit in the very near future...

Our guests barely had time to sit down and think after their examination by the healers (which they endured with admirable stoicism) before they found themselves at the mercy of Raymond, our priest. The wily old man quickly changed into his best outfit — a spacious, flowing black robe with gold-embroidered lettering and a deep-lilac hood. His servants were dressed more simply, but they were still presentable.

Seeing a real-life Priest of the Forefather (the chief god of the local pantheon) appear before them in the middle of this backwater came as a huge shock for the headman of Bonville and everybody else in the caravan. Which, of course, was the whole point.

At first, the peasants just stood there, eyes wide; a moment later, they all started falling to their knees, making a sort of circular sign across their chests as they did so. I could see that some of their shoulders were shaking as they knelt there with their heads down, and a number of them had to wipe their eyes on their sleeves. The priest had an even more powerful effect than I had anticipated. Those people were genuinely moved.

Reverend Raymond, however, didn’t seem at all surprised by the reaction he inspired among the peasants. He slowly approached the kneeling believers and began to expound something to them in a piercing, forceful bass. Like people in a trance, the peasants started shaking their heads from side to side, which caused their thick beards to tremble and whip back and forth as they moved. They were looking up at the priest as though he were the Forefather himself, come down from the heavens to bless his flock.

Judging by the way Reverend Raymond was periodically pointing to me with his big priestly finger, the second stage of our ideological campaign was already well underway.

As we had agreed, the priest had moved on to emphasize the fact that the new Margrave had brought law and order back to the land — a land that, by the way, he had first rid of the Scarlets and their despicable ringleader the Gray Reaper.

Finally, with the necessary dose of information administered, the representatives from the peasant community of Bonvalle turned and made their way toward me, led by their headman.

I met them where I was, sitting in my armchair beneath the canopy of my tent. Five strykers stood motionless behind me; Sigurd’s imposing face was prominent among them. Aelira had taken off on yet another hunt, together with a unit of hunters.

The peasants stopped a few paces away from me and fell to their knees once again, at which point the headman nervously snapped the fur cap off his head and began to speak in a dry voice:

“Your Lordship, Benevolent Master Margrave... We, the elders and headmen of the villages of the Barony of Festa, humbly present ourselves to you in order to express our deep reverence and loyalty. Each of us is responsible for the welfare of their society, and we’ve gathered here today as proof of our loyalty to you, the lawful ruler of this land. We thank you for the opportunity to present ourselves in your luminous sight, and we hope that under your wise leadership our lands will flourish and grow strong in peace and good order!”

Hm, I thought... For a peasant, this old man speaks with a lot of sophistication. Without stumbling once... Sure, Vestonian obviously isn’t his native language. But we can deal with linguistic obstacles later on.

As it turned out, this delegation wasn’t just from a single village: it contained headmen from several of them. I glanced at Chevalier Duval, who was standing a few paces away from me. He noticed my glance and merely shrugged, as if to say that this was as much a surprise for him as for me.

Which made sense, I guess... After all, how was he supposed to know the names and faces of every headman and elder in the country?

In my mind, I rubbed my hands together gleefully. Perfect, I thought. They had come on their own. I wouldn’t have to go chasing them around the forests and mountains. I couldn’t help wondering, though — how had they managed to react so quickly? Most likely, they had some winged postal service of their own.

The problem of how to spread news to the population at large, however, was just the tip of the iceberg. After all, I would have to make a binding decision here. Something was telling me that the quick reaction from the peasants was mainly the handiwork of this particular old man, who was staring intently at me from where he knelt on the ground. There wasn’t even a wisp of fear in his eyes. But there wasn’t any spark of cunning, either. More than anything, it was a mix of concern and a little bit of hope... It seemed like the old man probably carried a lot of weight in these parts. He had pushed through a decision to go kneel before the new Margrave, and now he was worried: what if that decision turned out to be a mistake?

“Please rise,” I said.

I spoke with restraint, but I still sounded confident. I wanted to make it clear to them all that I was used to giving orders. And more importantly, that I was used to seeing them obeyed immediately.

The elder from Bonville didn’t take much convincing. I could see it in his eyes — I had already made myself clear. And the expressions of his companions said the same. Apparently, they were already convinced that while the new Margrave might be young, he had certainly managed to win the respect of the people around him.

When the peasants stood up, I turned to the elder from Bonville:

“Your name?”

“Jacob the Gray, Your Lordship,” he said with a low bow.

“The Gray — that’s it?” I asked.

“They’ve been calling me that for a long time now,” the old man replied with a big smile. I certainly couldn’t deny it — his hair and beard were completely gray. “So long that I’m totally used to it, and I’ve forgotten my old name... Like I never even had one in the first place.”

He turned his head slightly to gesture at his companions, then added:

“Mind you, we’re all like that...”

The elders and headmen perked up and began nodding and murmuring their approval.

“Judging by your accent, I gather you were born somewhere else?” I moved on to my next question.

“Yes, Your Lordship,” the old man nodded. “My family came from the east. Came on a caravan. I was a little boy back then, when mom and dad decided to settle down in these lands...”

“Where specifically did you come from?” I wanted to know more, although I could tell by the old man’s face that he really wanted to keep his biography a secret.

“From Skaligrad,” he reluctantly admitted. From the unruffled looks on the faces of his companions, I could tell that this wasn’t news to them. “ It’s a small principality, right next to Snowburg.”

To be honest, this information wasn’t really all that useful. It was already clear that most of the people living in my Margraviate were settlers from other countries. Either refugees, or simply free farmers who had decided to start a new life in a new land.

I had only asked the question to give myself a short interval in which to scan the newcomers’ energy systems. While Jacob the Gray was speaking, I finished scanning the last peasant for any trace of a magical gift; not having found anything, I moved on to my next question:

“How many villages do you represent?”

“Three,” Jacob replied, before listing them off by name: “Bonvalle, Beaujolis, and Clairvaux.”

“Your Baron was certainly a pretty wealthy nobleman,” I said (keeping my tone respectful) before adding: “And I can tell by looking at you that he didn’t shake his peasants down too hard, either.”

Jacob the Gray didn’t seem at all put off by my words. Nor, for that matter, did anybody else in the group. They were obviously prepared for such a turn of events.

“You’re absolutely right, Your Lordship,” said Jacob the Gray. “Baron di Festa may have been strict, but he never took it too far. He never fleeced his peasants, although he didn’t neglect himself either. He knew we were free men, not serfs. If he had made our lives intolerable, we could have packed up and found ourselves a new master. That all changed when the Scarlets came, though.”

A shadow fell over the peasants’ faces. Jacob, however, just gritted his teeth as he continued:

“Those terrible devil-worshippers brought a lot of grief to our families. And Baron di Festa didn’t do anything to protect us. And in the end, he ran off with the last garrison of Red Cloaks when they left. He took a lot of our young men with him... So he not only abandoned us, but robbed us as he left. They took our horses and livestock... Our stores for the winter... They took almost everything. Many of our people starved to death over the winter. When we heard that the new Margrave de Valier had arrived, we hurried to meet you, in order to pay our respects and find out what we should do from here on.”

With that, Jacob the Gray bowed once more, and the rest of the peasants followed suit.

“Well,” I said loudly. “You were wise to come see me. And you’re absolutely right: by the will of His Majesty Carl III, I will henceforth be the rightful ruler of this land, and here, my word is law. As for your former master... By getting into bed with the Atalians, Baron di Festa became a traitor and lost the right to rule his Barony. His lands now belong to me, as do the villages within them. As law-abiding citizens of the Margraviate, you can rest assured of several things. Nobody will be taking your homes from you. Henceforth, you’re all under my protection. I won’t interfere with your way of life, either, unless of course there’s something in it that runs counter to the law. But we can talk more about that tomorrow. For now, you should rest and recover from your travels.”

Smiles of relief began to shine on the old men’s faces as I finished speaking. Jacob the Gray’s face was especially bright. Basically, he seemed to think I had handled everything perfectly!

All the same, though, there was no way we were going to let the elders spend the night in our army camp. So they set up a small encampment on the riverbank nearby. They didn’t want to spend the night in the city. And I could understand why.

I could have had a more detailed discussion with them that very evening, but I decided to give them a little time to rest, and also to get a closer look at the new power in the land. I wanted them to see that I was serious. And the old men took full advantage of the time I gave them.

At first, they spent some time in the city center — which, thanks to my people, had begun to liven up and transform a little bit. There, the old men paid another visit to the priest in his tent, where he was temporarily holding services while the main temple was being renovated. Then, from a distance, they examined the walls, which our teams were already hard at work repairing. They glanced warily down at the field hospital, where my healers were accepting new patients pretty much constantly. They took a walk in one of the central squares, which my seneschal had already divided up into a neat series of rows for market stalls where locals and merchants could rent a nice booth and canopy for the day.

Obviously impressed with the changes that were taking place in the city, the old men headed back to their camp, where they sat late into the night discussing what they had seen.

In Vaira’s absence, Selina played the role of spy for me. Just before I went to bed, she came and told me what the peasants had been talking about. After listening to what she had to say, I realized that I had done everything correctly. The elders were favorably impressed with what their new Margrave was doing. And that was after just one day. I planned to tell them about my future plans the following morning.

And after that, I planned to have a private conversation with Jacob the Gray. I was pretty sure that the old man would know something about his former master’s activities...


Chapter 13

MY MEETING WITH THE ELDERS took place the following morning. The guests looked well-rested and refreshed. Many of them had smiles on their faces. The lunari had done her work well. She had helped ensure that the old men got some good sleep. Plus, every one of them had a nice, pleasant dream about what the future would hold for them under their new ruler. All things considered, it wasn’t surprising to see that the elders seemed a lot more comfortable as they looked at me that morning.

Our discussion dragged on until lunch. At first, they were answering my questions about their villages, their land, their people, and the harvest. Basically, the standard questions a new ruler is practically obligated to ask in such situations. The old men were seasoned complainers, too, and their answers were pretty similar to the ones Chevalier Duval had fed me the first time we met.

In a word, things in the villages were bad. And of course, the Atalians were to blame for all of it. The Scarlets were accused of all the most heinous sins imaginable.

It was pretty convenient, actually... Hail cut down the young wheat, and the Scarlets were to blame. Drought? The Scarlets were at it again. Half the village had stomach complaints? The Red Cloaks were somehow responsible for that, too. If Jacob the Gray hadn’t intervened to keep his compatriots on track, there’s no telling how long they might have gone on for.

After their litany of complaints, the old men fell silent and turned to stare at me expectantly. I turned to look at my seneschal and nodded as if to say “go ahead and tell them.” At that, Hans unrolled a fat scroll and, with a soft smile on his face, he began to read out the main points of our plan, which he and I had spent more than one sleepless night working out.

When Hans finally finished, a ringing silence fell over the tent in which we were meeting. A moment later, a seemingly-endless torrent of questions erupted from the crowd, to which Hans (and sometimes me) had detailed answers at the ready.

Basically, when all was said and done, the old men were left satisfied. They were especially happy about the prospect of three years without taxes. What’s more, when I told them that I was planning to move a large number of settlers in from outside the valley and distribute some of the peasants’ lands to them, the elders actually reacted favorably. In fact, I’d say they seemed positively happy about the news. Some of them, apparently, were already completely comfortable in my presence, because they started talking and arguing about how many peasant families each village would get.

In this time of demographic crisis, the village communities stood in serious need of fresh blood. So the elders weren’t scared by the prospect of having to redistribute some of their lands. There was nobody to work most of them anyway.

In the end, the meeting turned out quite productive. We followed it up with lunch, which I made sure the entire delegation was invited to attend. Sure, they weren’t sitting at the same table I was — they had a separate table, set especially for them. All the same, though, it was a big honor. For most of them, having lunch with the Margrave himself (even inside a big campaign tent, rather than a castle) would be one of the most notable events of their lives.

It wasn’t long before most of our guests were blind drunk, so eventually my people loaded the old men onto their carts and brought them back down to their camp. Jacob the Gray was the only one left sitting at the table. At the beginning of the banquet, Gunnar — who was in charge of the whole affair — leaned in undetected as he was handing out plates and whispered to the old man that the Margrave hoped to speak with him privately later on. Jacob understood everything else without having to be told. He was sober, and he kept looking over at me expectantly.

When it came time for our conversation, we moved into my tent. Gunnar had repeated his trick with the sword rack, so the first thing that met the old man’s eyes as he walked into my tent were the Gray Reaper’s swords. Judging by the way Jacob’s face darkened, the curved blades were already familiar to him.

“Have a seat,” I said as I nodded toward an armchair next to my campaign stove. I took a seat opposite him, in an identical armchair. “This is going to be a long conversation.”

Jacob was about to bow yet again before sitting down, but this time I stopped him.

“Enough of that,” I said, before nodding at the chair again and repeating: “Have a seat.”

The headman did as I asked without any further delay. His eyes were attentive and guarded as he looked around. His bushy eyebrows were already angling down toward the bridge of his nose. He had deep wrinkles all across his forehead and cheeks — so deep you might have thought they had been carved with a knife. Once seated, his broad hands quickly squeezed themselves around the armrests of his chair.

“Now — let’s hear it,” I said.

“Hear what, Your Lordship?” The old man inquired.

“First, I’d like you to tell me about yourself,” I suggested, before adding with a wry smile: “But you can skip the fairy tale about coming to this strange land as a little boy. You were already a grown man by the time you came here. Otherwise there’s no way you’d have such a heavy accent. You know it yourself: children get acclimated extremely quickly. You can’t tell them apart from the locals after a year or two. See?! I can tell you understand that word — “acclimated.” Most peasants don’t throw words like that around. I had a good chance to sample their lexicon during lunch. There’s another example — “lexicon” — and I can tell by the look on your face that you know what it means. You obviously learned your Vestonian from books, but you were already an adult by that time. Judging by your hands and the way you move, though, you’re not the kind of man who spent his whole life with his nose in a book either. I can see a soldier in you as well... Who are you, Jacob the Gray?”

The headman’s face grew gloomier and gloomier as I went on. But he didn’t turn his eyes away once. He straightened his spine. He pulled his shoulders back. Despite his advanced age, the man was prepared for a fight. The peasant headman faded from his countenance. In an instant, my guest had turned back into the person he really was.

“Why do you care about my old name, Your Lordship?” He asked drily. “It’s long forgotten, and the person who it belonged to is long gone too. He died... Just like everybody who knew him. Believe me, that person won’t be a problem for us... I’m Jacob. Jacob the Gray. The gods turned my hair silver before my time. That’s how I got the nickname...”

Fine, I thought. He doesn’t want to talk about it right now. He’ll tell me later. I’ll let it slide for the time being. There’s no point trying to pressure a man like that. The lunari already told me as much. And I trust her senses without question. He’ll either open up to me on his own, once he truly trusts me, or he’ll take the secret to the grave with him. I mean, if worst came to worst, people like him could be tortured for the information. To do so, however, would mean sacrificing any hope of living together in peace and harmony ever again. Making an enemy of Jacob the Gray, or whoever he actually was, certainly didn’t factor into my plans. Quite the opposite, in fact: I would need to establish a healthy working relationship with him.

“So you’re not actually from Skaligrad, then?”

“I wasn’t lying about that, Your Lordship,” he replied, before hurriedly continuing. “And you’re right about the soldiering.”

I smiled. There would have been no point in him lying about that anyway. Any experienced swordsman could recognize a colleague immediately — even if that colleague had spent many years pretending to be a simple peasant.

“It wasn’t just me who noticed that. My companions also marked you for a soldier almost immediately. And not one of the grunts, either. It’s hard to hide that kind of thing. Did you hire people for service yourself, or were you enrolled under someone’s banner?”

“No,” he shook his head. “I’m no nobleman...”

“Why did you leave your master?”

“Alas, he’s no longer with us,” the old man replied with a dejected shrug and a heavy sigh. “And neither are his wife and child...”

“Hm...” I ran my fingers across my chin. “And you refused to serve the new master who took his place, so you left to find a better life in a foreign land.”

“Exactly so, Your Lordship,” he nodded.

“Long ago?”

“Long ago...”

“Why didn’t you join the Baron’s retinue?” I asked. “He would’ve taken you on in a second, with your skills.”

“He would have,” the old man replied, his tone suddenly icy. “But I swore an oath that my sword would only ever serve the house of my former master...”

“And so the soldier turned into one of Baron di Festa’s peasants...”

The old man just shrugged in reply. He was obviously pretty philosophical about the whole issue. Apparently, having many years to think it all over had helped him come to peace with his past.

“Although on the other hand...” I mused aloud. “Why NOT start a brand-new life? No swordplay involved. No risking your life. I mean, marrying some young peasant girl certainly sounds a lot nicer. Having some kids. Getting a farm set up. Especially since, with your credentials, it wouldn’t have been hard to become a pretty influential figure in the village. First an elder, then headman. Status and prestige...”

“Well, this kind of status brings a lot more pain than profit,” Jacob frowned as he waved his big hand dismissively through the air. “Say something goes wrong, even just a little bit — who has to answer to the Baron? The headman, that’s who. And that Baron of ours was no pushover, either. He was always trying to fleece us like sheep, day in, day out. Let your guard down for a single second, and you’d find yourself slapped with a new tax or a new duty on the harvest.”

“You’re right about that,” I chuckled. “You need both eyes open all the time with a Baron like that. Especially one who trades in contraband. Who moves Shadow resources under the Amber Guild’s nose...”

Jacob obviously wasn’t easily ruffled. His expression didn’t change a jot as I said that last sentence. He had already spotted Chevalier Duval in my camp. So he knew where I was getting my information from. Or at least he thought he did...

“Sure, the local nobles take their units out to the Frontier and cross the Barrier — every stray dog in the land knows that,” Jacob shrugged. “But the nobility’s business doesn’t really affect the simple peasants. They have their places, we have ours...”

“Right again,” I nodded. “But the peasants certainly get their hands on some of the spoils too. Isn’t that right?”

“What do you mean, Your Lordship?” The headman’s surprise didn’t sound especially convincing.

I smiled.

“Well, let’s just take those mills that stand at every river crossing, for example. Little things, usually kind of an eyesore. I saw a couple of them on my march here. I’m sure there are plenty of them around your village too. Admittedly, the ones near the border are in pretty bad shape. One of them was covered in moss and grass, but it caught my eye nonetheless. I especially admired the little compartment right below the grindstone itself. Nobody would ever have known it was there if the wall around it hadn’t collapsed. A clever design... You could tell immediately that whoever built it knew his craft pretty well.”

Jacob tried to look indifferent, but again, it wasn’t very convincing. Actually, I had never discovered any collapsed wall at all. I had discovered the compartment thanks to my Seer’s gift.

While I was checking out the old mill using true vision, I noticed a dim, familiar glow coming from beneath the foundation. Design-wise, there should have been nothing but stone. But when I looked closer, I saw that someone had carved out a small, round compartment in the big stone, and that there was a small hunk of Shadow ore lying buried in the pool of silt at its bottom.

From there, it wasn’t hard to put two and two together and figure out where it had come from. All the rivers in the Margraviate had their sources in the mountains. More specifically, in Shadow Pass. The source could have been one of the glaciers, mountain lakes, or springs that periodically fell under the effect of the flows.

Basically, the water was always bringing little surprises down from the Shadow. And the locals (or more likely, a small group of locals working together) would catch them with a variety of clever traps that were designed into their watermills.

Naturally, this little cottage industry was illegal. Acquiring Shadow “surprises” from the rivers without permission from the landowner was forbidden. And punishments for violators were harsh.

Jacob said nothing; he just kept his eyes riveted on my every movement, so I continued.

“To be fair, not every mill has compartments like that underneath it. I only found two of them on the way here. But these mills were all sited at exactly the right locations. Places where the random catch is most likely to be biggest. Apparently, whoever built all these traps knew quite a bit about what the water could do for them. And I’m guessing that secret is still probably limited to a close circle of people.”

I leaned back on my armchair and stretched my legs out toward the stove.

“Yesterday, by the way, my people had a little chat with some of your companions,” I said as I stared into the fire. “It turns out you’re the miller around here. They say you have no less than five mills. And I’d bet they’re all sited in some very nice spots. I’d just have to check to see whether they’ve got compartments in them... What do you say, Jacob the Gray? Would I find anything under your mills, or not?”

“You would, Your Lordship,” the old man replied after a short pause.

To my surprise, his voice wasn’t shaking when he spoke. He didn’t look scared in the least. The expression on his face suggested that he felt totally confident in the rightness of his actions.

“All of them?” I asked.

“Just two,” the old man admitted with surprising nonchalance.

“And are there a lot of these cleverly-built mills scattered throughout my Margraviate?” I asked, although I wasn’t really expecting an honest answer.

“I’m not sure about that,” the headman confirmed my assumption without a moment’s delay. “I can only speak for my own mills.”

“Was it your idea to install these traps? If not, whose was it?” I asked, without paying much attention to his answer.

“It was mine,” Jacob replied quickly, before leaning in a little bit and asking: “It was all me... The people who built the mill don’t even know about the understone.”

“Understone...” I repeated aloud. “So that’s what you folks call them...”

“Not “us.”“ The old man obviously never let his guard down for a second. “Me...”

“Okay,” I nodded. My eyes narrowed a little bit. “It turns out you’ve got quite a multifaceted personality, Jacob the Gray. Were you a miller back in Skaligrad too?”

“I’m just the guy who owns the mills,” he answered. “The people who actually run them are experienced millers.”

Then, hurriedly, he added:

“They’re just millers, though. They don’t know any of my secrets.”

“I see,” I nodded. “You want to take all the blame yourself.”

“Exactly, Your Lordship,” he replied glumly. “Because there’s nobody else to blame.”

“How long ago did you install these understones?” I asked. “The recess in that old mill — the one I discovered myself — was clearly a new creation.”

“I don’t know, how long has it been...” He paused as he tried to recall how much time had passed. “Mine are more than two years old by now...”

“And how’s the catch?” I asked. “Pretty rich?”

The old man frowned and let out a heavy sigh. Apparently, this was the question he had been waiting for the whole time. He had almost certainly already bid a mental farewell to his mills. He could probably sense hard times ahead.

“It varies,” came his evasive reply. “It all depends on the ebbs and flows...”

“Well, sure,” I nodded. “And what sort of stuff do you get?”

“Well...” He gestured dismissively with one of his big, broad hands. “Nothing much. Pieces of Shadow ore. Shells and snails. Silt and sand. Basically, the normal junk that flows down a river, altered by the Shadow...”

“I see,” I shook my head. “And who’s been buying this junk from you? I assume your Baron didn’t know anything about this little side job of yours?”

The old man replied with another heavy sigh.

“No, he didn’t... Before the Red Cloaks came, there was a trader who used to stop in to visit the village. I used to sell to him... He was a scoundrel, though. He would always screw me into selling for rock-bottom prices. I only put up with him because he knew how to keep his mouth shut.”

After a moment’s silence, Jacob continued in a resigned tone of voice.

“I would always leave a portion of the money with that merchant afterward. I would buy up any supplies I thought might be useful to the collective. A Baron like ours wouldn’t give you snow in the wintertime. And his collectors were even worse, as soon as tax season came around. Bad harvest, livestock plague — they didn’t care... We had to wring blood from a stone every time...”

“And how did you live under the Scarlets?” I asked.

The old man’s face immediately darkened. His hands clenched into fists. The wrinkles on his forehead deepened.

“Bad... You could hardly call it living...”

“And the Scarlets never discovered these understones either?” I asked.

“They never looked,” the old man shrugged. “They had enough on their plate without my little mills.”

“You mean Bone Grotto?” I asked.

“Exactly,” the old man nodded.

“And what did your Baron find there to make the Gray Reaper himself come galloping?”

“I don’t have an answer to either question,” the old man shrugged yet again.

“Not even a guess?” I narrowed my eyes as I asked this question. “I mean, even I’ve been hearing all sorts of wild speculation over the last few weeks. You must have some sort of guess about what he found...”

“Not at all,” he shook his head. “And I’m not one to talk for the sake of filling the air. The Scarlets didn’t let any of our people anywhere near the fort that stands at the approach to Bone Grotto. All we saw were the caravans that they sent to Atalia every month. Six or seven big covered wagons, every time. As for what was inside... Well, it could have been anything.”

“Not bad,” I said with a whistle of admiration.

Silence settled over the tent for a moment. I was mulling over everything I had just learned. Although to be honest, I didn’t really need to think very hard. I would obviously have to visit the place and investigate for myself.

“This has turned into quite an interesting conversation,” I finally said.

The old man flinched slightly as I broke the silence. Apparently, he had gotten lost in his own anxious thoughts.

“I’d like to talk to this partner of yours — the one who helped you set up your scheme for collecting Shadow resources,” I announced with a sigh.

Noting that the old man was trying anxiously to say something, I raised a hand to stop him.

“After all, there’s one other detail I forgot to mention. I found something else when I was examining that mill. A hidden rune. And it wasn’t a witching rune... The Scarlets would have detected that immediately. The rune that was keeping your understone hidden was carved by one of the first-born. Someone with water magic at their disposal. Runes like that are extremely hard to spot. I think you’re in cahoots with a waterman. And judging by the runes I saw, it’s one of the elders...”

Jacob’s eyes were bulging as he stared back at me.

“Your Lordship...” He replied with a nervous croak.

“Once our second caravan arrives,” I said as I stood up from my chair. “I’m setting off to claim your former master’s lands. When I do, I want you to introduce me to this waterman of yours...”


Chapter 14

Vintervald

Fjordgrad

The Pearl of the North, Palace of the Konung

BARON JEAN-LOUIS DE LEVY was sitting opposite a massive fireplace, wrapped in a thick wolfhide coat as he watched the flames dancing in the fire.

At first, the Baron had stubbornly tried to keep dressing like a Vestonian, which kept the locals thoroughly amused. Eventually, a few troublemakers took it too far, and after a few duels Jean-Louis found that the mockery had stopped. After all, none of the Vintervalders had imagined that the strange, redheaded alchemist, who spent the invaluable magical resources at his disposal producing a bunch of useless colored water, would end up being a pretty competent fighter, and a man who certainly knew his way around a sword.

Jean-Louis had finally switched over to local fashion at the beginning of autumn. The wardrobe he had brought from Vestonia was completely unsuited to the northern weather. Even the warmest clothes in his collection (as he had once thought of them) would have been considered appropriate for springtime in Vintervald — or even summer, if it was rainy out.

The first few cold days showed Baron de Levy, and all the other Vestonians in the capital, that a change in wardrobe wouldn’t be a betrayal of fashion sense — it was simply a question of survival.

While Jean-Louis was having his new clothes tailored, he smiled as he remembered his friend Max Renard. There, he thought... THERE was a man who never gave a tinker’s curse about life’s little niceties. You’d be hard-pressed to find a more practical, level-headed man than him. From the very beginning of his time up north, Max had made it clear that he had no intention of freezing his ass off. In fact, he took it even further than that. While everybody else froze, Max was traveling in relative comfort in his wonderful, sumptuous campaign wagon.

Thinking of his friend, Jean-Louis couldn’t resist a sad sigh. As it turned out, he hadn’t actually known Renard very well at all. He had turned out to be a very gifted man who, after already having been created Margrave de Valier, had defeated the Golden Lion and driven him back into Atalia. Every report that arrived at Prince Louis’ court poured more fuel on the fire, and there seemed to be no end to the discussions about the “bastard who grabbed luck by the tail and never let go.”

That was how people had started referring to the new Margrave de Valier. Because that’s how Prince Louis referred to Max. Jean-Louis knew that His Highness blamed Renard for his problems. If it hadn’t been for his victory during the Great Trial, the Prince wouldn’t have had to stay where he was, frozen to the bone in such a horrible, savage place.

Right from the start, by the way, a theory had started circulating among some people in the know: it held that the verdict handing the victory to Renard had been unjust, which was something Prince Louis considered to be a fact. Consequently, the Margraviate that the bastard had been handed as a reward for his victory would need to be taken from him at the earliest possible opportunity. Prince Louis was fond of talking about this, and he didn’t bother to veil his intentions in the least. By doing so, however, he put himself in a pretty awkward position...

After all, if the rumors were true, and Renard’s victory in the Trial was a sham, then Prince Louis’ betrothal to Princess Astrid would have to be called off. That said, and looking a little bit closer at the situation, the Prince had already basically achieved that with some of the other things he had said. His Highness’ heart belonged to the Marchioness de Gondy. And the more time the Prince spent up north, the more his love began to resemble a sort of obsession...

As for Jean-Louis, he had never doubted for a moment that Max was a solid, dependable man — a fact which he had already proven by his deeds. Those who wished him ill had seen what the young man was capable of. Baron de Levy was genuinely happy at all the news arriving from the south, and from the very depths of his soul, he wished he were there with his friend...

His Highness’ perfumer shook his shoulders a little bit and moved closer to the fire, which seemed reluctant to share any of its heat.

This cursed north, he thought... This cursed winter and this cursed cold... Having been born in the south, Baron de Levy hated this freezing land with every fiber of his being — as well as the rude, uncouth people who called it home. Between themselves, Vestonians still tended to refer to the locals as savages.

Princess Astrid and some of the people from her court were notable exceptions among the great mass of northerners, but that wasn’t enough to save the situation. Life in Fjordgrad had become genuinely tortuous for Jean-Louis.

The short, gloomy days, the long, cold nights, the horrible-smelling locals all around him who had no appreciation for the wonderful world of subtle scents. It all gave him the impression that nobody in this land had ever even heard of perfume before. The disgusting stench of sweat seemed to follow Jean-Louis wherever he went.

All his attempts to garner popularity for his products among the locals quickly ran up against a solid wall of confusion. The smells of their own unwashed bodies seemed to suit the locals just fine. His Highness perfumer knew that if he ended up having to stay in the north for another year, he would undoubtedly lose his mind.

The Baron was pulled from this grim train of thought by the piercing, strained, unpleasant sound of a poorly-played flute. Knowing that nobody could see his face, Jean-Louis grimaced.

Another attack on the senses. Having been driven to distraction by his months-long spell of melancholy and boredom, Prince Louis had conceived a desire to write a long solo sonata with the poetic title “The Song of Moonlight.” For some reason, he had chosen the flute as his victim.

It might have been fine, if the sonata had actually been as brilliant as he thought it was... But alas... The sounds coming from the unfortunate instrument could have been described in any number of terms, but “The Song of Moonlight” definitely wasn’t one of them.

The Prince’s entire court was forced to listen to the horrible experiment play out, time and time again. This court, by the way, had become quite a bit smaller as of late. Jean-Louis was genuinely afraid to admit it to himself... He had once looked down with disdain on the fairweather friends who had returned to Vestonia and joined up with one of the two elder Princes, but when the most recent group of nobles had set off for the motherland, he felt intensely envious of them.

Alas — no matter who ended up abandoning Prince Louis, Baron de Levy would never be one of them. Having presented himself as one of the most loyal followers in His Highness’ retinue, he was determined to be a model of steadfastness and self-sacrifice. Princess Astrid, who seemed to understand the Baron’s true feelings instinctively, made sure to remind him of his benefactors every time their paths crossed.

And every time, the trick worked like magic. Baron de Levy kept catching himself wondering who he was really aiming to serve: the Prince or the Princess. Mind you, this soul-searching on the part of the Baron had never once made itself visible on the surface. He simply knew that the amazing, precociously-wise young woman, who seemed to know exactly how to keep up the morale among her future husband’s partisans, would always be able to count on whatever help he, the Baron de Levy, could possibly offer her. Jean-Louis also knew exactly who would end up ruling Vestonia if Carl III’s youngest son actually ended up ascending the throne.

That said, the relationship between Prince Louis and Princess Astrid was evolving every day, and not in a good way. At first, he had been somewhat spellbound by her, but by winter his flight of fancy had evaporated like dew under the morning sun.

Externally, of course, His Highness was still tactful and courteous with the Princess, but whenever the Baron found himself alone with the Prince he inevitably heard a stream of curses poured down on Astrid’s head. Jean-Louis always felt uncomfortable at such moments. After all, the Prince might trust someone one day, and get rid of them the next day — just to be safe, because that person happened to know too many of His Highness’ secrets.

Especially now that Prince Louis had started experiencing occasional bouts of paranoia. He seemed completely confident that nothing could possibly threaten his life in Vestonia. And that the whole episode with the poison had been orchestrated either by Princess Astrid herself, or by some of her supporters.

For a little while, Baron de Levy took the Prince’s suspicions seriously, but it wasn’t long before he cast them out of his mind. After all, the Prince could hardly go a week without indulging in some sort of conspiracy theory that imagined enemies all around him.

From time to time, as he looked at the slightly-gaunt young man with the sickly color to his face and the unhealthy fire burning in his eyes, Jean-Louis would ask himself what had happened to the happy, creative young Prince Louis who had been so full of life.

News from the north, of course, had merely thrown fuel on the fire. Konung Bjorn Sharptooth and his army had been slaughtered. The Konung himself, along with his youngest son and most of his nobles, had fallen in the battle. As soon as the terrible news reached Fjordgrad, it set off a wave of unrest in the capital, which thankfully proved to be shortlived. Once again, this was because of Princess Astrid and her wise response.

The Konung’s daughter refused to complicate the already-labyrinthine power struggle that was unfolding in the country. In spite of the fact that with her razor-sharp mind, her cool-headed personality, and (most importantly) her magical gift, the temptation to assume the throne herself must have been overwhelming. But she didn’t succumb to it. And as later events would prove, she had made the right choice.

Princess Astrid had immediately yielded all power in Vintervald to her elder brother Olaf the Gray, and the people supported her decision. As did her middle brother, Ulf Wolfheart, who, upon receiving orders from the new Konung, immediately began assembling a new army. Thankfully, Sharptooth hadn’t summoned all the clans in his Kingdom for his northern expedition.

Between the former Konung’s shocking defeat and the various pieces of news coming in from the south, the status of the Vestonian delegation had grown somewhat ambiguous. It wasn’t something that manifested itself externally, but Jean-Louis could feel a strange sort of tension hanging in the air.

Take, for instance, the regular receptions that Her Highness Princess Astrid would organize with Prince Louis. The latter had long ago ceased to be an object of attention for the local nobility, which had once made such strenuous efforts to appear before Carl III’s youngest son as often as they possibly could. Even the Princess had gradually started losing her popularity at court, once she ceded the throne to her eldest brother.

The attention of Vintervald’s nobility was focused entirely on Olaf the Gray and his family. Especially since the raucous games and various competitions that the new Konung tended to favor were much more in keeping with local tastes than the pointless discussions of music, fashion, painting, and sculpture that Princess Astrid and her foreign fiance were so fond of. I mean, how could THAT compare with bloody duels between the most fearsome champions in the Kingdom, days-long drinking binges, and fast-paced hunts for some of the best game in the world? Indeed — as Jean-Louis sat there, huddled in the cold, practically all of Vintervald’s nobles were gathered in the main hall to celebrate the new Konung.

Jean-Louis already knew perfectly well that those people would never accept Prince Louis as one of their own. Basically, His Highness just needed their support in his bid for the throne of Vestonia. As things stood, though, Baron de Levy was starting to get the impression that he might not even get that. Especially since the Vintervalders had plenty of their own problems to deal with. They would probably have been happy simply to hold on to power in their own country. And in that fight, every single soldier would make a difference... So the idea of a campaign to distant Herouxville was virtually out of the question.

This uncertainty was starting to extend to the wedding plans, too. In the aftermath of Konung Sharptooth’s death, the negotiations concerning Prince Louis’ marriage to Princess Astrid kept getting postponed, time after time after time. The new Konung didn’t seem to be in any hurry to give the marriage his blessing. And that despite the fact that, at least as far as Jean-Louis understood it, one of the points in the agreement Olaf the Gray had concluded with Princess Astrid prior to his coronation was a stipulation that her marriage would take place in short order.

Enveloped in a maelstrom of gloomy thoughts like this, Baron de Levy sat by his fire late into the night, listening to a stomach-turning, squeaky flute and shivering in the damnable, damnable cold...

* * *

In the middle of a spacious hall, filled with the light of innumerable torches, stood a long, heavy oak table. At its head sat a thirty-year-old man with long, gray hair and a broad beard. His enormous frame filled onlookers with an instinctive feeling of respect and fear. This was the new Konung of Vintervald, Olaf the Gray.

The crown which the priests had so recently bestowed upon him was shining across his brow, and a cape of cloth-of-gold embroidered with polar bear fur hung from his mighty shoulders. Crown and cloak alike had belonged to his father, Bjorn Sharptooth, who had met his end somewhere in the lands of the Frost Priests.

Konung Olaf was holding an engraved, mead-filled horn in his hand. A mirthful light flickered in his eyes as his voice thundered through the hall and drowned out the joyful shouts of the nobles who were feasting with him. The banquet in honor of Vintervald’s new ruler had already lasted for two weeks. And still, it seemed that the party was just getting started.

A dozen clanleaders, each of whom represented a different one of the eastern clans, had gathered around the Konung. They had come a long way to attend the coronation, in order to discuss a number of important affairs, but by that time the serious conversation had given way to laughter and singing.

The table groaned under the weight of the food on top of it: freshly-baked bread, a mountain of fruits and vegetables from Princess Astrid’s famous orangeries, barrel after barrel of mead and beer. The warriors raised their silver goblets to wish the Konung a long reign, to toast each other’s health, and to salute the victories that awaited them in the future.

Those clanleaders whom the previous Konung hadn’t summoned to join him on campaign — a group of men hardened in battle, with long beards and big, gruesome scars — were only too happy to wolf down the free food and beer, smiling happily as they did so and exchanging knowing glances with one another.

One of them, a powerfully-built man with a mane of fiery red hair and a huge golden chain around his neck, was telling the story of how he had once wrestled an alpha-male wolf to the ground with his bare hands. Another, whose face was covered in tattoos, recounted how he had cunningly lured an enemy out of his fortress to his death.

As he listened to yet another hilarious tale, the Konung (who was well and truly pickled by that point) slammed his fist down onto the table and burst out laughing with such vehemence that all the food in his mouth suddenly flew all over the place. Big wet hunks of bread and meat remained stuck in his gray, mead-soaked beard.

Servingwomen and butlers were darting lightly along the rows of tables, pouring drinks and bringing out plate after plate of food. The smell of grilled meat and fresh bread mingled with the sour smell of stale beer, the pungent stench of unwashed bodies, and the omnipresent smoke from the torches.

With every new barrel, the conversations grew louder, the songs livelier, the laughter more and more infectious. Mead was flowing in streams, beer was splashing all over the place, and the feast didn’t even seem close to wrapping up.

From time to time, the Konung would rise to his feet and make a toast, which never failed to elicit a roar of approving shouts from the warriors around him.

During one such toast, Princess Astrid and her entourage strode quietly into the hall. Helga the Valiant was walking alongside her.

“Sister!” Olaf the Gray burbled loudly. “You’re finally here!”

Olaf’s close-set eyes were glistening in the torchlight, and his tongue was interfering noticeably with his speech.

“I’m told you wanted to see me, Your Majesty?” Astrid greeted her brother with a polite bow, and her entire entourage followed suit.

“Yes!” The Konung hiccuped. “But I see you weren’t in any hurry to answer my summons!”

“Please forgive the delay, Your Majesty,” Astrid replied in a steady voice.

“Of course,” the Konung said with another hiccup as he waved the half-stripped bone in his right hand through the air. “I forgive you. But you’ll have to be more punctual from here on, sister...”

“Thank you, my brother.” Astrid was a model of meekness.

“Oh, Gods above!” Exclaimed the red-haired warrior who had just been bragging about beating the wolf. “It’s Helga the Valiant! The one who killed the stryker with her bare hands!”

“Yeah!” Soldiers began to comment from all around. Mugs and goblets started to thump rhythmically on the table.

“Is it true you were totally naked when you did it?” The redhead asked with a mirthful grin.

He glanced around at his companions, and then, narrowing his right eye, he shouted: “I wish, I WISH I could have seen it, even just for a second!”

Nobody noticed Helga as her frame jerked forward in preparation to attack; nobody noticed how quickly Astrid stopped her sister in her tracks with her shoulder.

“Not now, sister,” she whispered. “Not today. Let that scumbag’s loose lips keep flapping for now. You can cut them off and feed them to him later. I promise. But not until I say so.”

With a silent nod, Helga took a gentle step back, ignoring the sleazy gazes of the soldiers in the crowd as she did so.

The Konung slapped a palm down onto the table to call attention back toward himself.

“Sister,” he said as his brows furrowed into a frown. “I’ve been thinking. Isn’t it time you got married?”

“It is,” Astrid replied with an eager nod. The Konung’s words kindled a fire of hope in her eyes. “High time. You know that.”

“I do,” the Konung agreed as he stared attentively back at his sister. Only at that point did Astrid realize that the Konung wasn’t as drunk as he had seemed at first sight. Her old brother had always been stealthy — always a shrewd operator. “But not to that useless dandy you’ve been babysitting in the palace. A real warrior, with several clans united behind him.”

Having said that, Olaf the Gray turned and pointed to a broad-shouldered, bearded man sitting next to him, who had so far kept his silence. This was Arik Thunder, head of the largest of the eastern clans.

Princess Astrid wanted to say something in response, but her brother stopped her.

“I know what you’re about to say... That your fiancee is a Prince of Vestonia, and that marrying him will bring a beneficial alliance with Carl III. And you’ll remind me about the Great Trial... So stop, already... Listen to what I’m about to say. Our father gave you too much leeway. These are new times, and there are new rules.”

To everyone’s surprise, Astrid was silent. She made no effort to object at all. Even the Konung was a little thrown off by his sister’s reaction. Still, just to be safe, he nodded to his bodyguards, who were standing vigilantly just a few steps from the table.

“Think about it,” he continued. “What’s the point of an alliance with a country that doesn’t even have an army of its own at the moment? Whose King is at death’s door? Have you forgotten that we’ve got an enemy coming at us from the north? We need support NOW, and Arik Thunder and his men can give it to us. Understand? And don’t start telling me about the Great Trial... I respect the traditions of our ancestors, but you’re forgetting that our father never invited Arik Thunder to the tournament, which was a violation of his legal rights as a vassal. We have no idea who actually killed the Shadow beast. And I certainly don’t believe it was that little bastard boy...”

Helga was about to snap into action again, but once again Astrid stopped her.

“Is that all?” She asked the Konung in a calm tone of voice.

“For now, yes,” Olaf replied with a wave of his hand. “Now go. Think about everything carefully. We’ll talk later.”

“Yes, Your Majesty.” With a bow, the Princess turned around and walked calmly toward the exit.

“Sister... What’s going on?” Helga asked anxiously as they walked down the long hallway that lead to the Princess’ wing of the palace. “You said Olaf agreed.”

“He did,” replied Astrid icily, although her behavior was as calm as could be. She knew that there were too many eyes on her to risk anything else. “Our brother has decided to play his own games. So much the worse for him...”

Olga mouthed the last sentence silently to herself, but Helga caught everything without difficulty. A bloodthirsty smirk flashed across her face.

With a quick glance at her sister the healer, the Princess lowered her eyes to the floor:

“Don’t even think about it. I’ve got other plans for you.”

Helga didn’t have a chance to ask anything else. They were already walking into the fireplace hall, from whose depths they could hear a series of horrifying squeaks. The healer frowned. Prince Louis was blowing away on his horrible little pipe again.

Seeing Princess Astrid and Helga appear, Prince Louis stopped torturing the poor flute, while the red-headed perfumer leapt up from his seat by the fireplace and met the two women with a low bow.

“Your Highness,” he greeted the Princess courteously, before turning to Helga and greeting her with equal deference: “Your Ladyship.”

“Ahh, Baron de Levy!” Princess Astrid exclaimed as she smiled at the Prince (who frowned back at her) before walking over to the fireplace. “I’ve been looking for you.”

“I’m always at Your Highness’ service,” the Baron replied with another bow.

“Get ready for a trip, Monsieur,” said Princess Astrid with a smile. “The time has come to do your master some service. I need you to deliver a very important message for me.”

“I’m ready, Your Highness,” said the Baron. As always happened whenever the Baron got excited, a slight blush rose up into his cheeks. “But where will I be going, and to whom will I be delivering Your Highness’ message?”

“You’re heading to the Margraviate de Valier to pass on a message to our mutual friend, Maximilian Renard. Or rather, the Margrave de Valier, as I should probably start calling him.”

Prince Louis and Baron de Levy stared back at the Princess. They were dumbfounded.

“And yes... My sister’s going with you,” she added with a nod at Helga, whose eyes were slowly widening as she realized what was in store for her. “I’m sure the Margrave de Valier will be happy to see you both.”


Chapter 15

I HAD TO MAKE SOME CHANGES to my initial plans. Vaira arrived during the night with a message from Baron Reese, in which he informed me that our main caravan would be arriving slightly later than we had planned.

They had hit an unexpected snag before departing Gondreville. It turned out that many, many more people were interested in moving to my Margraviate than we had initially expected.

There was also another unpleasant surprise for me — as if summoned by a magic wand, a group of mages from the Amber Guild had appeared in Gondreville just before the caravan departed and attached themselves to its baggage train. The commander of the little group informed Baron Reese that he was carrying a very important message for me from Gilbert de Ambrelle, the grandmaster of the Amber Guild. Basically, there would be no getting rid of the bothersome new arrivals.

Oh well, I thought... Just one more reason to set out for Bone Grotto even earlier than I had planned. I felt practically obligated to discover its secrets before the Amber Guild’s rubbernecking spies could insist on coming with me. I knew for a fact that they were coming specifically for that reason — they wanted to sniff out the secret that the Scarlets had discovered on the frontier. The Guild had already secured the Royal monopoly on the trade in Shadow resources, and they wanted to dig their greedy claws into my developing business.

In private, other mages usually referred to the Amber Guild simply as the Royal Guild. Nobody — including me — gave any credence to the idea that the grandmaster was acting on his own initiative. I mean, the King himself had sent me here with a single goal in mind. Namely, to knock the Scarlets out of the Margraviate in order to take over their corner of the market. Besides that, apparently, Carl was also hoping that the Margraviate would become a permanent base for his legions. And that his new Margrave would be completely under his control.

Obviously, neither the King nor the grandmaster had any idea of what was actually going to happen. Neither had any desire to see a self-sufficient, independent me right next to a valuable source of Shadow resources. The only thing I didn’t yet know was what could possibly be across the barrier, beneath the mountains. But I knew that it would be best to keep that information out of their hands.

Baron Reese sent some other news in his message as well. The Sapphire Guild had finally swung into action. Exactly as we had suspected they would. Baron de Bacri’s mountain men, who were serving as the Citadel’s garrison, managed to catch two intruders who were trying to break into the secret treasury. Unfortunately, they didn’t get a chance to talk to them. The strykers put up fierce resistance, and our werewolves had to kill them both.

Sure, it was possible that my announcement about the auction had provoked some other third-party guild into action, but I was pretty sure that the Sapphire Guild was behind this break-in. Baron de Bacri specified that the liquidated spies had been discovered right next to the entrance to the hidden treasury, where his werewolves had set up a trap well in advance.

In the end, I decided pretty soon after Vaira arrived that evening that I would set off for Bone Grotto as soon as possible. I announced as much to my own people, as well as to Jacob the Gray.

He was obviously upset about this, as were his colleagues. They had all been counting on being present when the new immigrants arrived, so they could start making moves to get the most promising peasants and their families assigned to their own villages. But remaining in Fort de Gris, while the new Margrave was off on an inspection tour of their villages, was quite simply out of the question.

Besides Sigurd, Gunnar, Leo von Grimm, the lunari, and the fayret, I took five strykers from the “Savages” with me under the command of Georg von Linz.

After giving her some time to rest, I sent Vaira back to Baron Reese with further instructions, and left Kurt von Hartha with the rest of the “Savages” to garrison Fort de Gris. The seneschal, of course, remained there with them as well. They would be on hand to meet the main caravan when it arrived.

Our force was further complemented by forty Glenns, five shapeshifter scouts, and Chevalier Duval’s entire group.

After spending a few days in careful preparation, we set off, headed for Bone Grotto...

* * *

“Come on!” Jacob snarled through gritted teeth as he once again slammed a curved, knobbly-headed stick down onto the surface of the water with a loud plunking sound. He was trying to summon his waterman business partner. Or at least he was pretending to try... Playing the amateur...

I kept a serious expression on my face as I watched his little charade, but inside, I was smiling.

It had been about ten days since we left Fort de Gris. When we arrived in the Barony of Festa, the few residents who were still living in the villages came out to greet our force with pine boughs in their hands, as was traditional in those parts.

Compared to the destruction I had already seen in the Margraviate, the three villages we passed through looked remarkably intact and well-built. We had a look at the fugitive Baron’s castle, too. It was about a day’s ride from the village under Jacob’s control, and was the sort of defensive fortification that seemed to be typical of this world.

Small, but maintained in good condition. Built on a steep-sided hill that provided an excellent view of the surrounding area. And unlike Fort de Gris, it wasn’t caked with filth. Jacob was obviously the one who had made sure of that. After the Baron left, the headman had practically adopted the castle as his own personal ward. He didn’t let anybody plunder or vandalize it.

Jacob and I inspected the mill-traps together. Unlike the ones I had seen near the border, the ones in this Barony were larger, and in excellent condition.

After checking out the harvest (which was somewhat meager), I suggested that the old man introduce me to his business partner. On that note, by the way, the old man had yet to tell me how exactly he paid the waterman for his work. I could only hope it was limited to something like sacrificing a chicken, which seemed to be so important to all the first-born. I say “hope” because considering what the waterman was doing, he could certainly have asked for quite a bit more than that in exchange for his help. After spending so much time with Jacob over the preceding two weeks, though, I had come to the conclusion that the old man probably wouldn’t have agreed to anything too outlandish. Mostly, he just kept insisting that he had no idea whether this first-born was helping any other residents of my Margraviate with their mills or not. He was lying, of course.

After my chat with the old man, on which Lorin had eavesdropped from beginning to end, we came to the conclusion that besides the waterman and the headman, there was at least one other link in the chain of production — a link that we were still missing.

Whoever it was, though, it had to be someone gifted, who could negotiate with the river-dwelling first-born. In addition, this person was also probably in charge of sorting through the Shadow resources that fell into the traps. This third party was probably true gifted. And as far as I could tell, it seemed like they were probably still alive. Jacob was obviously hiding them somewhere. And the waterman was almost certainly helping him do it.

Long story short, it didn’t seem like I’d be making their acquaintance any time soon. Standing up to his waist in the river, the old man finally spread his arms wide in a gesture of surrender. Apparently, the waterman didn’t want to answer his call.

My eyes narrowed as I stared out at the smooth surface of the water, where sunbeams were dancing in the subtle, gentle rippling. From time to time, I was switching to true vision, trying to scan the area.

The waterman obviously sensed my presence. But he (or she) didn’t want to make contact. They were nervous — and I could understand why. No problem. There would be time to talk later.

“I come in peace!” I shouted toward the river in the ancient tongue. “Let me know when you’re ready to talk!”

I heard a splash of water on the opposite bank. An answer. I noticed that the sound had come from a stand of gigantic willows, whose flexible branches were swaying in the light evening breeze.

“You can come out of the water now, old man,” I said as I held my hand out to Jacob, who was studying my every move. “Your friend wants to get a look at us first. And apparently that’s going to take a lot of time, which I don’t have.”

When the old man finally stepped out of the water with my help, I leaned in and said:

“Tomorrow’s going to be a hard day. I want to make it to the fort the Scarlets built as fast as I possibly can.”

“I...” The old man was about to say something.

“You don’t need to be there,” I hurriedly assured him. “It’ll be enough to send me with a sensible guide who can show me the way and reassure the locals that I mean no harm.”

After the Scarlets left, a number of so-called “free prospectors” had started squatting in the place. They were basically just local peasants and hunters, who had conceived a desire to trade the calm routine of their former life for something a bit riskier. They would form themselves into groups, then go out and comb the frontier in search of Shadow resources.

Besides the fact that mortality among these guys was always really high, their chosen profession was also categorically illegal. Our arrival at the fort, therefore, was bound to be perceived as a serious threat. They didn’t have much to lose; most likely, they would either flee or (if necessary) try to fight us off.

In the latter case, of course, they wouldn’t stand a ghost of a chance. But I didn’t have any interest in seeing them die. Quite the contrary, in fact — I actually had a business proposition for them. I explained all this to Jacob.

“So?” I asked. “Do you have someone who could do that?”

“I do, Your Lordship. Of course I do,” the old man nodded. “Thomas could go with you. He always looks after the village in my absence... To be honest, though, something tells me he’s not going to be able to handle this. So I think I’m going to have to go with you anyway. I’ve known most of those prospectors since they were bare-assed little boys. They should be willing to listen to me.”

“Perfect,” I said. With that, we set off for the village.

To be honest, I had been counting on Jacob from the start. I just really wanted to see how he would behave in the situation and what he would say.

As we left, I spotted a large shadow out of the corner of my eye as it flitted beneath the water about ten steps from where we had just been standing. I was right. An old waterman. Most likely, one that had been living in the area for a very long time. It would be a practically-inexhaustible fountain of useful information.

But no matter, I thought — we’ll have time to talk later. And we’ll find the true gifted middleman, too. They won’t be going anywhere.

* * *

It was four days’ journey from the village, where we had spent a full day, to the foothills where the fort was located. As we drew closer to the frontier with every passing day, the mood in my unit grew more and more tense. The gifted among us could sense the Barrier’s proximity. The deadly, alien anomaly that covered such a huge portion of the continent.

The lunari was especially agitated. It was almost like a different being had slipped in and taken Selina’s place. She had always been so calm and collected, but suddenly it seemed like she was on edge at all times. Ignia, who by contrast was always so restless, said she didn’t even recognize her “sister.”

The lunari couldn’t explain what exactly was happening to her either. She kept saying that she could feel a powerful magical pressure coming from the direction of the Shadow, and that it felt like something big was about to happen any minute.

My golden parasite was also agitated, although it felt like a sort of lazy, reluctant agitation. The beast was full. I had fed it several clots of black energy the day before.

Finally, at about noon on the fourth day of our march, we wound around a hill clustered with a thick stand of trees and began our descent into foothill country.

“Gods...” Leo gasped through a dry throat.

The eyes of my young squire, who had never been to the frontier before, were riveted on a towering mountain range in the distance. In places, the mountains were engulfed in a gargantuan black thundercloud that stretched across the entire horizon and totally obscured the sky above the mountains. It was like a big, coal-black curtain separating our world from another.

For a fleeting moment, I felt like a tiny ant, crawling toward the line where the world ends and gives way to an eternal expanse of nothingness... Possibly, however, this was actually an emotional projection from the lunari, who was traveling inside a cart just a few steps away from me.

Because just a second later, she sent me a very clear warning of imminent danger.

I tapped my heels lightly against Storm’s flanks, giving him the signal to speed up, and steered him toward the wagon with the first-born inside. I had to ask Selina what exactly she had just warned me about. But I didn’t even make it to the wagon.

A sudden jolt... The earth shuddered. Not very powerfully, for the time being, but Storm and the other horses could feel it very keenly. Frightening whinnying and angry curses from riders erupted into the air.

Storm backed up a few steps, but managed to calm down pretty quickly. Yet further proof that he wasn’t the kind of horse to fear something as minor as a light earth tremor.

“What was that?” Somebody behind me asked in a worried tone.

Nobody seemed in any hurry to answer. Another jolt hit us after about twenty steps. We were prepared for it this time, but it was also more violent than the first one.

After that, the jolts started happening more and more frequently. Soon, the ground was shaking. We heard a deep groan, so loud that it drowned out the fearful whinnying of our horses.

I glanced at the rocky hill to my left, and saw that the tall trees at its peak were shaking like ships’ masts during a bad storm. Without wasting a second, I roared out a command:

“Everybody head right! Away from the hill!”

I could hear similar commands ringing out all along the line of our column. Apparently, I wasn’t the only one who had reacted in time.

Riders and wagons began to rumble off the road and hurry away from the hill as fast as they possibly could. And not a moment too soon, either. A jagged crack suddenly burst out across the surface of the hill, and within seconds cobblestone-sized rocks were raining down from inside the yawning gorge, hammering the road where we had just been standing. A few more seconds’ delay, and that murderous stone hailstorm would have taken out half our unit.

After putting some distance between ourselves and the hill, we stopped. Although actually, several wagons kept moving even after that. Apparently, not all the horses were used to that kind of scare. Riders moved out on either side of these wagons and began herding them back toward the main group.

They quickly overtook one wagon, then another... Before I knew it, they were done. Everyone was back in place. I watched as the carters jumped off their wagons and rushed over to the horses in an attempt to calm them down.

Meanwhile, Chevalier Duval came galloping over to me. I could see anxiety etched into his reddened face, but at the same time there was a certain spark in his eyes — it was the thrill of the hunt.

“It’s a flow!” He said as he pointed toward Shadow Pass.

Everybody who heard him immediately turned their heads to see what he was pointing at. Sure enough... The black veil that sat over part of the mountain range had begun to move. The Barrier was getting closer. And that meant Bone Grotto would soon fall beneath the Shadow...

The golden parasite in my energy system began to squirm once again, like a beast who had been disturbed after a nap. At the same time, I felt a wave of fear and panic well up inside me. It was the lunari. At that point, I knew I would need to calm her down. She would be a permanent distraction if I didn’t.

“It won’t come this far,” Chevalier Duval added confidently. “Once the earthquake stops, we can keep moving. We’re almost to the fort now.”

I nodded in reply to Duval, then turned to Sigurd (who had been following right behind me the whole time) and said:

“That’s what we’ll do, then. Wait for a while, then move on to the fort.”

With a slight bow, Sigurd turned his horse around and galloped off to give the necessary orders. As he did so, I spurred Storm toward my wagon. Once I was right next to it, I hopped inside and asked into the darkness:

“What happened?”

The little curtain that separated my sleeping space from the kitchen area suddenly rippled, and the lunari’s pale little face popped out. There were tears in her eyes. A moment later, Ignia’s anxious-looking face popped out next to Selina’s.

The constant jolting from the ground had almost faded away by that point, but the wagon was still shaking. I had to grab onto the sideboards with both hands.

“This...” Selina murmured. “This...”

I could still sense the first-born’s fear, although she seemed to be gradually recovering her composure.

“Did you feel the flow?” I asked, already having guessed what had happened to my first-born.

“Yes,” she replied. “It was really scary... Not alive, not dead... Just soulless and all-consuming...”

The lunari jumped out from behind the curtain, sprang over to me, and wrapped her little arms around my leg.

I patted her reassuringly on the head and asked:

“Did you hear what Duval said?”

“Yes,” she replied. “He’s right. The Barrier won’t make it this far. I can feel it — it’s already stopping... Sorry... I don’t — “

“You didn’t do anything wrong,” I interrupted her gently. “You can’t even imagine how happy I am to have your skills at our disposal right now. The flow won’t be able to catch us unawares. If you sense anything else, let me know right away.”

* * *

“Empty!” The lean, muscular werewolf in command of our quintet of shapeshifters announced as they returned from the fort. “Scents tell me the last humans left about a week ago. Tracks lead northwest.”

I turned around, and my eyes met Jacob’s.

“Do you think they went to work, or did they get a warning from the village?”

“No idea, Your Lordship,” the old man shrugged.

“Doesn’t look like they fled,” the werewolf pointed out. “They left a lot of stuff. Firewood. Some provisions. It looks like they probably went out to work.”

“Okay,” I nodded. “Time will tell, I guess...”

It seemed that Chevalier Duval and the lunari had been right. The Shadow eventually stopped, and about half an hour after that the earthquakes subsided as well. As it turned out, earthquakes were a pretty common occurrence just before a flow. Duval wasn’t kidding when he stated (as he often did) that Shadow Pass would sometimes warn people when danger was coming.

The flow also worsened the headaches that most members of our unit were already suffering from. This was just one more burden that people had to bear whenever they were near the frontier. True, we had a pretty handy solution for this particular problem. We had found several chests full of special potions back in the Sapphire Citadel. It was a mixture analogous to the Tears of Light that the Amber Guild distributed to its people at their frontier posts. The medicine was specially designed to combat headaches, along with a variety of other unpleasant side effects.

Every soldier in our unit was carrying two vials of this medicine, except it was a version I had put together myself using golden mana.

The fort, which the Scarlets had built about a day’s journey from Bone Grotto, was actually quite a pleasant surprise. It was made entirely out of wood, but it had obviously been built by people who were intending to stay there for extended periods. I even noticed a few places where they had started to dig trenches outside the foundation. Small mountains of rock stacked here and there served as clear proof that the Gray Reaper had intended to keep building, using more long-lasting materials.

The fort was surrounded by a tall stockade. There were emplacements for archers, complete with protective awnings. Four tall towers, one at each corner. Strong gates and a moat, which was itself surrounded by sharpened stakes around the entire perimeter.

The fort was surprisingly spacious inside. There were awnings next to the walls for animals. And on the grounds of the fort itself, there was a long warehouse, a well, a smithy, a barracks, and a massive structure in the center of it all about as tall as the watchtowers, with its own arrow slits and an observation deck at the top. This keep had been built with big, thick beams, and I knew that it had probably been the Gray Reaper’s residence for most of the previous year.

We spent the next two days making ourselves at home and setting up shop. Nobody disturbed us at all during that time. Sadly, however, the calm didn’t last long. Just before sunset on the third day, a sentry on the western tower raised the alarm.

“Several riders coming this way!” The sharp-eyed Glenn shouted as he pointed to the northwest. “Three! Their horses are tired! They’re making for the fort!”

“Open the gates!” Georg von Linz’s bass voice boomed out a reply.

Slowly, one of the heavy doors began to swing inward. A little while later, three riders came barreling through the opening and into the fort. Sure enough, the horses beneath them seemed to be on their very last breath. Their bodies started shuddering as soon as they stopped. All three of them were frothy with sweat. Foaming at the mouth.

And their riders didn’t look any better, either. All of them were soaked with blood. The first two were still moving at least a little bit, but the third was clearly unconscious. The only thing keeping him in the saddle were some tight ropes around his legs and waist. My people rushed forward to help them.

The first rider kept tearing himself out of my people’s hands. His eyes were bulging crazily as he tried in vain to tell us something. A few seconds later, he finally caught his breath enough to let out a hoarse scream:

“Close the gates! The scroggs are right behind us!”


Chapter 16

THE OPEN DOOR OF THE GATE swung back into place, much more quickly this time. Besides the massive jambs, my soldiers were already busy propping some huge beams up against the gates to bolster them even further.

The fort sprang into action immediately. Shouts from the commanders started echoing out all across the grounds. Bundles of arrows, spears, and shields soon appeared from inside the wagons. We had brought a pretty good stock of such ammunition with us.

Our archers were already moving into predetermined positions atop the wall. Strykers and shapeshifters were fanning out into their own positions at the same time. Besides their personal armament, each of the “Savages” had a long spear crafted from Shadow materials. Each of them had a good supply of lilac bruts as well.

As the fort prepared for an attack, my men brought the prospectors in to see me. One of them was still unconscious, so a Glenn healer and his assistant were taking care of him in their wagon. I intended to stop in and see him later on. You never know — maybe they would end up needing my help.

Both of the prospectors were swarthy men with long, bushy beards. There was still blood caked on both their faces. Their clothing so shredded that it looked like they had just forced their way through a huge, overgrown bramble patch.

The one who had shouted out the warning seemed to have regained his composure a little bit. He kept turning his head this way and that as he looked around. It seemed like he was starting to realize that these new people in the fort weren’t simple prospectors like himself.

“You know them?” I asked Jacob, who was standing two steps away from me.

“This,” the headman said as he nodded at the man who had screamed out the warning, “is Skuba, and that’s Borka. The other one’s Vikra. They used to work as a group of four. Where’s Old Vlasta? Where’s everybody else?”

Jacob had already turned to address Skuba.

“They didn’t make it...” the black-bearded man finally forced himself to answer. My men were holding him and his comrade tightly in place by both arms. “The beasts ripped them to pieces... We barely made it out of there...”

“How many were there?” I asked. “When will they be here?”

“Hundreds, Your Worship,” the bearded prospector replied with a gulp. “A huge pack! They were right on our heels the whole time!”

“This is His Lordship the Margrave de Valier you’re talking to,” Jacob corrected him immediately. “Now out with it! And keep it short and sweet! You were scared out of your mind, you sure you didn’t see twenty of the rats and mistake them for two hundred?”

“I’d...!” Skuba obviously wanted to jump up and defend himself, but my people were holding him tight. “I saw a white scrogg with my own eyes! It was a huge, ancient beast! They came from Sleepy Gorge when the flow hit... There’s nowhere else they could have come from... They attacked our camp at night. It was like a gray tidal wave! I’m telling you! There are hundreds of them!”

Out of the corner of my eye, I noticed that Chevalier and his strykers perked up at the mention of a white scrogg. The peasants who had come with Jacob started exchanging nervous glances and whispering among themselves.

The bearded prospector’s eyes were darting around frantically. A thick, viscous stream of saliva began to drip out into his shaggy beard.

“We have to run while there’s still time! You have lots of horses! A lot of us could survive! Quick!”

The prospector’s hysterics were cut short by Jacob, who delivered a heavy slap to the side of the man’s head.

“What a bunch of scoundrels,” the old man snarled at Skuba, who had suddenly gone completely silent. “Run, he says. I’m sure you’d probably bring this pack straight to the village, wouldn’t you?”

The slap seemed to take all the fight out of Skuba; with a pitiful groan, he went limp in the hands of the two soldiers who were holding him.

The second prospector had watched it all happen with a detached look of determined silence on his face. It was obvious that the man wasn’t even there in the room with us; he was off in some other dimension inside his mind.

“Take them both to the healers,” I commanded, whereupon my soldiers dragged them off to the wagon with the white circle painted on its side.

In addition to their exhaustion and shock, both men were wounded, albeit not seriously. A couple superficial ripping lacerations and avulsions. Besides, a quick scan had revealed that none of the three prospectors were gifted. Most likely, they had simply gotten lucky — they were probably right next to the horses, which enabled them to escape from the epicenter of the massacre.

As I headed for one of the staircases that led up onto the wall, I turned to Duval, who was walking alongside me, and asked:

“Your thoughts, Monsieur?”

“If this man’s telling the truth, and it really was scroggs, they’ll definitely be heading this way in pursuit of the three escapees,” the Chevalier replied with total confidence. “Like Jacob, though, I think the poor bastard’s exaggerating the danger. You know what they say: fear has big eyes.”

“And what about the white scrogg?” I asked.

As we talked, I trudged up the staircase and stopped at the edge of the wall. Sigurd and Georg von Linz were standing to my right, and Chevalier Duval was to my left with his strykers. I quickly glanced back over my shoulder. Jacob and his companions had stayed down below. They were headed for the healers’ wagon.

“The white scrogg is a legend,” Duval snickered. “But it’s a real one. The leader of leaders. A half-sentient beast. Cunning, and very powerful. Personally, I think that this white rat is basically a full-on chimera that’s been altered by the Barrier. The beast and its pack were last seen up north, about ten years ago. They slaughtered an entire small settlement of mountain men on the frontier. Only a few of the luckier ones managed to make it out alive. That said, the idea that a white scrogg and its pack would show up in these depopulated parts is pretty unlikely. Most likely, we’re dealing with a big family of rats — maybe twenty or thirty head, led by a gray scrogg. Come to hunt with the flow.”

“What should we expect from these beasts?” I asked.

“Scroggs are very clever,” said Duval, who suddenly sounded like he had launched into a full-on lecture. “They’re very fast and maneuverable, especially when their magical reservoirs are full. Even without mana, though, they’re still pretty fast. When it comes to defense, though, they’re pretty miserable. And thank the gods for that. Their hides are thin, and they can be pierced with even the most basic arrows. True, you’d actually have to HIT the bastards for that to work...”

While the Chevalier was sharing his experience with me, I looked out across the huge sea of grass that stretched across the entire extent of the plateau country in front of us. The long, wild grass was shimmering in the setting sun, and from time to time a gust of wind would whip up small sections of it and send waves rippling out, so that it looked for all the world as if it were a huge body of water.

I didn’t see a single beast, either in true vision or normal vision. And yet the feeling of tension was growing stronger with every passing minute.

“All this applies to the simple hunting scroggs,” Duval continued. “At the next level in the hierarchy, the beasts get bigger and more dangerous. These animals form the inner circle around the leader, who uses them to coordinate the movements of the smaller scroggs. These beasts are just as fast, but they also have much better protection than the normal scroggs, as well as the ability to protect themselves with a magical shield.

“What are the chances that the pack will try an all-out assault on the fort?” I asked.

“I’d say it’s vanishingly unlikely, Your Lordship,” replied Chevalier Duval. He sounded pretty confident. “This fort is way too much for a small pack to take out. That said, it’d be a good chance to hunt. Every dead rat means at least one lilac brut about the size of a pigeon’s egg. And that’s not to mention other important components like fangs, claws, hides, and organs.”

“Agreed,” I replied immediately.

Whether or not this pack ends up attacking us, I thought, we’re going to have to make a sortie into the foothills to find out more about what happened to the rest of the prospectors. Besides, we still have to make the journey to Bone Grotto. So if there IS a pack of overgrown rats prowling the area, we’re going to need to take it out.

In the end, however, we didn’t have to go anywhere... The scroggs came to us.

Once the sun set beyond the horizon, the cold wind that had been blowing suddenly intensified. I was standing on top of the fortress wall, staring out at the foothills in the distance. Darkness was rapidly enveloping everything around us, leaving only the faint light of the moon to provide some meager illumination to the waves of grass.

The first scroggs emerged quietly, without any superfluous noise whatsoever. Which was especially impressive considering that the wind was blowing toward the fort, and it would have carried any such noise straight to our ears. There were five of them. They were moving slowly, but with such remarkable coordination that they almost seemed to be parts of one single creature.

The scroggs looked exactly as Duval had described them. They were short, wiry beasts with a thick layer of smooth fur lying tightly across their bodies. It was a dirty gray color that made their unnaturally-thin bodies look even more unhealthy. They had long snouts and sharp, prominent fangs. And there was a malicious lilac glow in their eyes.

They made their way to the fort slowly, using the grass as cover. From time to time, one of the beasts would stop, listen, and raise its snout to catch the scent in the air. The scroggs weren’t rushing into their attack. Every step was precise and purposeful. The beasts really did seem to be partially sentient. Having tracked down the fugitives, they were carefully feeling out the situation in front of them. It was obvious that there would be no suicidal frontal assault.

The same sharp-eyed Glenn who had spotted the riders was also the first to spot the rats, and he passed the word quietly down the wall.

Most of the people in our unit were gifted, so darkness wasn’t really an obstacle. In fact, torches were more of a hindrance than a help for the vast majority of us. So we didn’t light any fires, either on the wall or inside the inner grounds of the fort. As such, the fort was completely shrouded in darkness after sunset. The silence was broken only by the occasional huff from our horses or chance gust of wind.

I was silent, too, as I watched the five scroggs approach and waited for them to finally come close enough for me to get a glimpse of them in true vision.

Finally, the overgrown rats seemed to decide something for themselves, and they continued their advance until one of them came into the range of my scan. Hm, I thought... Sure enough. A brut about the size of a pigeon’s egg. And the others had similar bruts inside them too.

Once the long-tailed scouts reached the edge of the grass, they froze. Then, one of them rose up onto its hind legs and stretched its long snout out toward the fort. It waved its nose from side to side, then dove abruptly back into the grass. A few moments later, I heard a prolonged hiss, and the beasts turned around to face the foothills from whence they had come.

“Now!” I said quietly. No sooner did I speak than a flurry of Glenn arrows hissed through the air toward the spot where the scroggs were preparing to scurry away.

“Damn, they’re quick!” Georg von Linz shouted with a note of admiration in his voice.

I was pretty impressed with their speed myself. They managed to dodge several of the arrows pretty easily. And that despite the fact that the attack was sudden and utterly unexpected. Had there been normal archers manning the walls instead of our Glenns, the rats probably could have escaped. Unfortunately for them, though, they were up against some of the very best archers in the world.

The five scroggs were turned into pincushions in a matter of one or two seconds; they died before they could even start moving away from the fort. As soon as this happened, we heard a hiss of outrage and a muffled shriek. The only thing I managed to spot was a small shadow, quickly scurrying away beneath the grass. Apparently, there were six of the little scouts, not five...

Surprisingly, the rest of the night passed quietly. As did the following day. The pack didn’t make any appearance at all. Unfortunately, the wind kept blowing toward the foothills, so even our werewolves and their keen noses couldn’t tell whether the Shadow beasts were anywhere nearby.

The shapeshifters came to see me several times, itching to go out and scout the area. But I decided I didn’t want to risk them. These rats were obviously much more agile than the shapeshifters. If my mountain men found themselves in a tight spot, they wouldn’t be able to escape. And if the beasts came at them in large numbers, they wouldn’t be able to fight them off either.

We brought the rats’ carcasses into the fort, where we finally had a chance to examine them at our leisure.

The scroggs’ fangs and claws were impressively long. Any one of the beasts, who were all about the size of a large wolf, would be able to wreak absolute havoc in a close-quarters fight, even if they ended up dying. Furthermore, according to the locals, these rats weren’t even relatively big ones.

Once all our soldiers had satisfied their curiosity, Chevalier Duval and his people started cutting up the carcasses. After watching them work for a little while, I realized that there probably wouldn’t be anything left of the rats but bloodstains on the ground when it was all over. Bones, meat, hide, organs — the local strykers were expertly smearing them with various liquids and powders before distributing them carefully into a number of specially-prepared containers. As they worked, Duval’s eyes shone with excitement.

Despite the fact that according to local law, any Shadow goods were supposed to go straight into my personal stocks, the Chevalier had probably already realized that I made a habit of sharing my spoils generously with my people.

That evening, I convened a small council, where we decided that if the beasts didn’t show up soon, we would make a sortie in the direction from which the prospectors had originally come riding into our fort.

Those three, by the way, were still lying in the healers’ wagon. Vikra, by the way, was still lying unconscious inside it. Borka was staring blankly up at the ceiling of the wagon, while Skuba kept whimpering to himself about the gigantic white beast that would undoubtedly come and devour us all.

“Pack’s here!” A sentry shouted down from the observation deck about two hours after sunset. “Forty head, maybe more!”

“Just as I said,” Chevalier Duval concluded with a smile as I encountered him at the entrance to the keep. “These peasants mistook a big pack for a huge horde. Luckily, the leader decided that they can take us. Now we won’t have to go running all over the foothills looking for them.”

It took us just a few seconds to get up to the top of the wall. I walked over to the edge and stared out into the darkness.

Little shadows were flitting around in the grass before my eyes, and sure enough, most of them were quite a bit bigger than the scouts we had killed. The Glenn sentry had underestimated their numbers a little bit — there were definitely more than fifty of them. An especially-large gray shadow stood out conspicuously against the rest of the rats. It was moving confidently, but without hurrying.

When the scroggs got close enough, I finally had a chance to get a good look at the big gray bastard. It was clearly the leader of the pack, and compared to the others it was simply massive. Its gray fur glistened in the moonlight, and its eyes shone with a lilac-colored fire that was almost literally soul-chilling.

Two other large rats were moving along on either side of their leader. These were smaller, and their fur was a little bit darker. As the trio came within range of my scanner, I saw that they had two-colored energy systems of a type I had already seen before: lilac and scarlet. The Shadow of Strix had given its children the twinned gifts of increased regeneration and attack power.

Finally, a loud, hissing sound somewhere between a shriek and a sob burst out into the darkness, and the whole pack charged forward at once. The leader and its entourage were running in the center, allowing the smaller beasts to rush toward the walls first. Protecting itself from arrows, I thought... Smart beast.

The scroggs moved with mind-boggling speed, and practically merged into a single unified whole as they did so. Their backs were arched, their sharp fangs and claws bared. Spurred on by the force of their leader’s will, they prepared to give their lives in pursuit of their common goal.

As soon as the scroggs attacked, our archers swung into action. Almost all of them were stationed on the north wall. To the tune of quiet, but confident orders from their commanders, they filled the sky with score after score of murderous arrows. In the space of a few heartbeats, the deadly hail started hurtling toward the ground. An instant later, the first messengers of death slammed down into the first wave of beasts.

Several of the scroggs fell immediately; their thin hides were no match for the Glenns’ arrows. The arrows buried themselves in the ground right through the beasts’ bodies, leaving them shrieking in convulsions. Some wounded beasts seemed to forget about the attack entirely as they started hobbling around from side to side, in a vain attempt to rip the arrows out of their sides.

Overall, though, the pack continued to surge forward as a unified mass, as most of the bigger rats managed to dodge the deadly rain of arrows — they were moving so quickly that even the experienced Glenns were having trouble hitting them. In true vision, I could see that this was the result of the lilac mana in the beasts’ energy systems.

The leader and its entourage were still totally unharmed. These were the cleverest and fastest rats: flattening themselves against the ground, they used their smaller minions as living shields, and thereby avoided being stuck full of arrows. This had the added benefit of expending only a very minimal amount of mana.

Despite another murderous volley that cut down almost the entire front line of attackers, the scroggs’ assault wasn’t losing any steam at all. None of them seemed like they were about to retreat. The black wave of long-fanged killers reached the moat, and then the wall, in a frighteningly short span of time.

Without wasting a second, the scroggs hopped up onto the palisade and started clambering up its wooden beams. Their sharp claws sank into the wood and kept them firmly dug in to even the smallest foothold. Agile as insects, they flew up the side of the palisade almost as quickly as they had moved across the ground. The smaller beasts ran up first, acting as scouts and sniffing out safe routes for the rats behind them. Every movement was abrupt, but also deliberate — the scroggs seemed to know exactly where to place their paws so as not to lose any momentum.

The two larger rats around the leader started climbing up the wall a little behind the others, using their bodies as a shield for the leader, who was the last to start the ascent. Our strykers and werewolves, who had already assumed their combat forms, were already positioned at the sections of the wall where the first few scroggs were set to reach the top.

The ascent was coming at a very heavy price for the rats. The Glenns kept firing arrow after arrow, knocking the smaller scroggs off the wall like cockroaches. Still, though, several of the rats managed to make it to the top of the wall so quickly that the archers didn’t even have time to stop them. And right behind them, shuffling its clawed paws with almost unnatural speed, came the leader and its bodyguards.

The arrows weren’t doing anything to them. Any time an arrow would have stricken one of them, the beast’s magical shield would emit a deep purple flash that briefly illuminated the darkness all around their bodies. Just as Duval had said.

As the first surviving beasts clambered across the edge of the wall, they landed with a thud on the wooden platform where, without wasting a single second, they threw themselves into a furious attack on the nearest defenders.

One of the smaller scroggs jumped onto a werewolf who was fighting at the edge of the palisade. The shapeshifter tried to slap the beast away with a lightning-quick swipe of his clawed paw, but the rat was too quick for him. The scrogg dodged the blow, then jumped onto the shapeshifter. The rodent’s teeth and claws sank into the fur-covered skin on the back of the werewolf’s neck, and the combatants collapsed to the ground in a snarling, hissing heap.

A little to the right, two strykers were teaming up against one of the larger scroggs, which had just leapt up onto the platform next to them. The beast let out a menacing hiss as its purple eyes flashed in the moonlight. One of the combat mages hit the monster with a thrust of his sword, which ended up grazing the beast and cutting a long, shallow hole in its abdomen, but even that didn’t stop it.

The scrogg jumped to the side, then slid deftly between the two strykers. With one long jump, it tore into an archer who was firing arrow after arrow into the enormous rat leader. One swift blow of its clawed paw tore the Glenn’s apart, and he tumbled backward into the darkness behind the wall.

As soon as they were within easy striking distance of the top of the wall, the leader and its entourage suddenly sped up. Their massive bodies were practically flying upward along the surface of the wall. The leader was concentrated and silent as it continued its ascent, paying no attention to the arrows that kept slamming into its magical shield. Just a little farther, and the three massive rats would be ready to enter the fray.

“Take the leader,” I commanded Sigurd. With a wry, bloodthirsty grin, he rushed forward.

Everyone’s attention was riveted on the battle for this section of the wall. And this ended up being a real shame...

Almost as if fate itself were mocking us, we heard a shout of warning from the sentry on the section of wall off to our right:

“I see another pack! About fifty head!”

No sooner did he finish his warning than we heard similar shouts from the left and from the opposite wall across the fort behind us. A moment later, a hideous hissing shriek erupted out of the darkness from a huge number of throats. The sound turned my blood to ice in my veins.

Duval was standing next to me, and as I glanced at him I saw his eyes widen until they were practically up onto his forehead. His mouth had dropped slightly open in an expression of horror.

Whoever was in charge of these scroggs hadn’t wasted any time. The fort was surrounded on all sides. I had been outwitted by a half-sentient beast...


Chapter 17

I TOOK A QUICK LOOK around the fort. We had two archers stationed on every wall except the northern one. Plus two archers in each tower. Down below, the men from Chevalier Duval’s unit were using their spears to help finish off any rats that jumped down from the top of the wall. The healer and his assistant, along with Gunnar, Jacob, and the peasants from his village, were frantically pulling bundles of provisions, packs of arrows, and all sorts of other stuff off the wagons and bringing it into the keep. Apparently, everybody knew exactly where this battle might be headed.

We also had three Glenns stationed on the observation platform atop the keep, who were firing arrow after arrow into the darkness beyond the walls. And judging by the desperate shrieks coming from that darkness, almost every shot they fired was claiming a victim.

On the northern wall, where almost all our forces were concentrated, the battle was already almost over. All the smaller scroggs had been slaughtered. Two of the “Savages” had impaled one of the larger ones on their spears, leaving its corpse hanging from the edge of the wall. The huge number of arrows stuck in its body made it look like a big, bristling hedgehog. Once their magical shields were down, the big bastards turned out to be just as vulnerable as their smaller brethren.

The magical shield protecting the leader (who wasn’t actually a leader at all; it was merely a beta in the pack, at most) was still active, but already on its last legs. Sigurd had pressed the big gray monster back against the wall with a series of lightning-quick blows, and had simultaneously managed to deny it any room for maneuver as he did so. Georg von Linz was backing Sigurd up from the left, while Elsa Backer and Leo did so from the left.

Having apparently realized that it wouldn’t be able to do anything against such a powerful onslaught, the gray scrogg let out a threatening hiss as it tried to turn around and flee. Alas, its magical shield chose that precise moment to flicker one last time and disappear. A second later, Sigurd’s sword plunged deep into its body, followed by the spears of the strykers fighting at his side.

Several dozen shouts of victory rang out along the walls. Despite beating the first wave, though, there was no way we could hold the entire length of the walls with such a small number of archers at our disposal. It was only a matter of time before the beasts made it into the fort, and once they were inside, the Glenns wouldn’t have anything to protect themselves from their claws and teeth.

“Everybody into the keep!” I shouted loudly. People behind me began repeating the command. “Hurry up!”

The Glenns started retreating as soon as they heard the order. Pausing only long enough to fire one last arrow, they quickly left their positions on the walls and towers, although not before taking their dead and wounded with them. Any defenders who had fallen so far during the fight were brought straight into the keep. I knew that at least a few of the “dead” could probably still be saved.

The strykers and shapeshifters were the last to retreat, and they only did so after covering the archers’ withdrawal into the keep. Duval and his mages were heading down the stairs as well.

“Ignia!” I shouted. “Get up to the observation deck! Attack at my command!”

The fire fairy didn’t respond, but I had no doubt at all that she would be in position within a few seconds. She wouldn’t have missed a fight like this for the world.

There was no point in trying to keep the presence of my first-born concealed from Duval and his people any longer. They would see the fayret’s attack with their own eyes soon enough, and it wouldn’t be the sort of thing I could simply write off as a lucky accident.

“Leo,” I said as I noticed that the young man clearly intended to stay by my side. “Your mission is to prevent these beasts from getting into the keep. Move it!”

If Leo was unhappy about this order, he was trying very hard not to show it. I had helped him shed that bad habit quite a while before. And look, I thought — he hops right to it, trying to carry out my orders as fast as he possibly can. Looking at him, you’d never guess he was annoyed about the order at all.

Meanwhile, the hisses and shrieks already sounded like they were coming from right outside the wall, along with a rapid clattering sound and the muffled thump of frequent blows. The first scroggs had started climbing up the palisade. Very soon, the beasts would be inside the fort.

I turned around, switched to true vision, and looked across the fortress grounds. They were empty... Or at least the northern side was. Nevertheless, the first pack had served its purpose: it had pulled all our strength to the northern wall, and thereby weakened our defenses everywhere else.

The only thing the as-yet-unseen commander of the scroggs seemed not to have expected was the fact that we had wiped out the first wave remarkably quickly.

Looking up, my eyes met those of Sigurd and Georg, who were standing next to me. Behind them were several shapeshifters, who had resumed their human forms.

“Make sure everybody’s inside,” I said as I turned to the strykers. “I’m going to find out where the bastard who’s running this whole operation is hiding.”

Both men nodded silently, then took off quickly toward the stairs. The werewolves followed.

Meanwhile, I ran over to one of the corner watchtowers, jumped down from the wall, and leapt across to the other side of the fort in a few big, magic-fueled jumps. Two archers came running to meet me as soon as they stepped down from the stairs.

“They’ve already started climbing,” one of the Glenns informed me (which confirmed my suspicions).

“Take position inside the keep,” I quickly commanded, before turning and lunging into another long jump.

In the blink of an eye, I hopped up the staircase in two big jumps and froze at the top of the southern wall.

The moon was shining its pale light down on the wall’s big wooden beams, where a number of scroggs were already midway through their ascent. Their gray, wiry bodies flitted through the darkness like strange shadows. The hissing was growing louder all the time, and the scratching of claws against wood was extremely unpleasant to hear. The beasts were terrifyingly close.

A little to the left, a few heads popped up above the edge of the wall, their lilac eyes shining hungrily in the moonlight. I heard a few muffled twangs from bowstrings behind me, and in an instant the scroggs’ heads disappeared behind the wall again, this time with arrow shafts sunk deep into their eye sockets. The Glenns on the observation deck obviously weren’t asleep on the job.

Rodent heads started popping up on all sides, and the clicking and twanging of bowstrings grew more and more frequent. A horrible, indignant hissing sound was coming from outside the wall, accompanied by the shrieking of wounded beasts as they slammed to the ground after falling from the wall.

Several monsters emerged from the darkness right across from where I was standing. A few lilac mana-fueled strokes of my sword, however, sent their decapitated bodies plummeting back onto the ground.

I still hadn’t used any golden mana. I was spending borrowed energy from my bruts. Nor had I used any webs. I didn’t want to pull the ace out of my sleeve (and thus display it to our enemy) any earlier than I had to. I could positively feel the rat commander’s penetrating stare on me as I fought. Where are you, I wondered? Where are you hiding?

I lunged from side to side, trying to conserve mana, as the cuts and thrusts of my sword continued to knock the smaller scroggs off the beams in the wall. The rats were moving much more slowly than me, so I actually had a chance to scan the darkness out in front of the wall.

With covering fire from the archers on the keep, I was actually managing to keep the attackers at bay for the time being. I knew, of course, that I wouldn’t be able to keep it up for long — sooner or later, the wave of beasts would inevitably surge across the wall. When they did, though, they would find another unpleasant surprise waiting for them.

There were very few scroggs left in the grass out in front of the wall. Most of the pack was already in plain sight. Even the betas, who were conspicuous by their gray fur and their larger size, were all visible by that point.

Overall, it looked like there were roughly about 200 beasts attacking the walls of our fort. Twenty of these were the gray “courtiers” that seemed to be commanded directly by the overall leader. All that remained was to find out where that leader was.

The monsters were moving quickly and remorselessly forward, like a big, dense, hissing wave. The wind was blowing toward me, carrying a foul stench. It was thick and heavy, like rotting flesh mixed with stagnant water and mildew. There was something wild and animalistic about it — I could smell wet fur, blood, and a dampness that never dried. It was the kind of smell that makes people hold their nose and turn away instinctively. What the hell kind of sewer did all these rats crawl out of, I wondered?

Finally, however, my search bore fruit. The leader jumped out of the shadows, its white fur glowing softly in the moonlight. The enormous rat was standing on its hind legs, which made it look like some kind of strange, wiry bear whose fur was standing on end. Its long, clawed forepaws were strung with thick knots of muscle, and they were so long that they almost touched the ground. Apparently, the legendary white scrogg had decided to pay us a visit.

It was a little bigger than its comrades, and its movements were smooth and confident — very much those of an animal that knows its own strength. Its glowing purple eyes had the spark of reason in them, but they were also filled with icy, rage-filled hatred as they stared back at me. For a moment, the beast just froze as it sized up the situation, but then it let out a prolonged hiss. At that, its gray-furred entourage stepped out to surround it. The leader itself was preparing to attack the fort.

Just as I had hoped...

A second later, the entire massive group took off running toward the wall and came into the range of my scanner. What I saw came as a big surprise. Not only did the white scrogg have a three-colored reservoir — its system was also remarkable both in terms of size and saturation. In addition to lilac and scarlet, it had an amber brut pulsing brightly inside its chest. That meant we had a poisonous beast on our hands.

The Glenns spotted the leader too. A swarm of angry arrows hissed out toward the huge white rat. Unsurprisingly, though, they didn’t do any damage at all. Besides its own magical shield, the leader also had a whole entourage of gray rats around it. Several of the latter actually jumped into the air and blocked the death-dealing projectiles with their own bodies.

Meanwhile, the wall was crowded with the bodies of the smaller scroggs, and the wood had grown slick with their blood. The walkway was literally piled with bloody carcasses and slippery innards. I had killed some of them myself, and the archers had taken out the rest.

Once I was sure that the white-furred leader wasn’t planning to retreat, I chopped down one more scrogg as it leapt toward me and then raced for the staircase.

Two jumps, and I was already inside the main courtyard. Standing at the base of the keep, I watched as a thick, gray wall of overgrown rats began to pour over the wall.

“Ignia!” I shouted. “Get ready! But wait for my order! And don’t even think about spending all your mana!”

One nice thing about the fayret’s magical fire was that it was much deadlier and more destructive than normal fire, and yet it always remained completely under its creator’s control. That meant there was no risk of setting fire to the fort. The fiery monster would devour only those things (and creatures) that Ignia told it to.

Even from where I stood, I could sense her impatience and excitement. She was ready to launch the full weight of her fire into her enemies. I could feel the heat even from where I stood down below. Another instant, and she might lose control completely. But I knew we needed to wait for the right moment.

Most importantly, she would need to avoid emptying her entire reservoir. The lunari was responsible for making sure that didn’t happen.

Unfortunately, Vaira wasn’t there with us. When she and the fayret worked together, they could do things that were truly mind-bending — one of their fire tornadoes, for example, would have been really handy.

The gray mass of scroggs poured over the wall like a dense river, rushing rapidly toward the inner courtyard where I was standing.

Their sharp claws scratched up the ground as their lilac eyes burned with a single, basic desire: to reach us and rip us to pieces. The hissing, shrieking, and wailing was now coming from all sides. Every step forward strengthened the power of the pack and turned its movement into an avalanche of chaos and death.

The little beasts were shooting toward me across the ground, each hoping to be the first to sink its fangs into my flesh. The leader’s gray entourage was following close behind — their bodies were already vibrating from the magical power surging through their energy systems.

The leader picked up speed. I caught its burning gaze, focused squarely on me. It had no intention of yielding its rightful prey to any of its smaller comrades.

The beast was moving with surprising speed, given its massive frame. Every muscle in its long, wiry body was as tense as a guitar string. Apparently, the leader had already singled me out as the main trophy, and it was planning to finish its hunt with a single, lethal attack.

Its entourage tried to stay in front of it, but so strong was the big beast’s desire to punish the insolent biped that it kept racing forward without paying them any attention.

The Glenns were showering the beasts with arrows, but there was no way their fire could stop the deadly wave. Just as the pack reached the middle of the courtyard, with their white leader out in front, I roared out a loud command:

“Ignia! Now!”

The fayret didn’t make me wait long. A deafening roar exploded out from the top of the keep, followed a second later by a bright red wave of fire that thundered down onto the ground.

The fire wasn’t moving chaotically at all; it was obviously following the movements of its enemies and seeking out victims from among the scroggs with lightning-quick ferocity. The blinding wave of heat rolled across the courtyard, winding its way carefully around the wooden walls and structures in its path. I could sense its power; it somehow seemed distant. The fayret’s magic was obeying her every command.

The scroggs kept trying to dodge it, but their speed was no help against the murderous squall of flame. The fire devoured the smaller beasts in the blink of an eye, leaving nothing but piles of ash with little lilac crystals pulsing inside them. Screams of fear and pain soon drowned out all the other noises in the air.

The larger beasts managed to fight on for somewhat longer by using their magic, but their mana reservoirs soon began to run dry. As soon as their shields fell, the fire tore into their bodies with such power that even their bones were carbonized in a matter of seconds. The entire courtyard soon filled with heat and smoke, but Ignia maintained her control, and the elemental fire submitted to her like a tamed animal.

After a few seconds, the wave of fire disappeared, leaving big swathes of ash and a thick curtain of smoke. Here and there, individual shadows, crazed with fear and pain, were still flitting about in this smoke like silhouettes in the fog. These pathetic, wounded survivors were all that was left of the once-mighty horde of the white scrogg. Try as I might, the dense cluster of magic emanations from the fire spell prevented my scanner from picking up any trace of the huge beast’s energy system. I knew, however, that the beast had most likely met the same fate as most of its underlings. I had certainly seen the wave of magical fire engulf the leader and its entourage.

“Son of bitch...” I hissed through gritted teeth.

I had lost contact with Ignia. Which probably meant that she had lost consciousness. Once again, she had failed to heed my instructions and poured all the mana from her reservoir into the attack.

The shrieking and hissing of wounded scroggs was soon joined by victorious shouts from my people in the keep. A moment later, I heard muffled footsteps running up to me from behind. I figured that Sigurd and Georg had already led the strykers out to mop up. Bowstrings began to twang again from above; that, of course, was the Glenns, taking out the wounded rats.

I turned around. Sure enough, it was just as I had suspected. All the mages in our unit were standing about ten steps behind me.

Sigurd, Georg and I exchanged a quick glance, and I nodded in the direction of the smoke-shrouded walls.

“I’ll take south, you take west! Monsieur...”

I turned to Duval, who was also standing there, looking around in amazement at the scene.

“I remember you mentioning a hunt. The east wall’s yours.”

A slightly-nervous, but genuinely satisfied smile spread on the stryker’s face.

“With pleasure, Your Lordship!”

The strykers didn’t even have time to disperse before a shout of warning echoed down from above:

“Watch out!”

An instant later, an enraged hiss rent the air from behind my back.

I whirled around. The leader was badly burned and disfigured by the flames, but there could still be no doubt that this was him. With a roar of pain and fury, the beast rushed toward us. Its hide was blackened, even carbonized in places, and thick, partially-reduced blood was oozing out of its wounds.

The scrogg’s one remaining eye was filled with an insane bloodlust. Its body was shaking from the tension, and every movement it made was obviously causing it extreme pain, but it kept barreling toward me nonetheless. Even the arrows sinking into its back from above couldn’t stop the monster.

“Back!” I shouted at the strykers who rushed to help me. “Its bite is poisonous!”

The leader jumped, and its claws crunched into the scorched earth with a loud crack, right in the spot where I had been standing a moment before. It let out a prolonged moan of disappointment. That jump had obviously cost it the very last ounce of its strength.

The scrogg’s huge paws were shaking, and its breathing had grown hoarse and ragged. And yet still, it tried to carry on the attack. But I wasn’t going to let that happen.

A quick lunge, and my gleaming purple blade plunged into the beast’s side; a moment later, it sank through its heart. The scrogg’s paws went limp, and the beast collapsed to the ground with a thud. After a few convulsions, the beast was dead on the ground.

* * *

A swaying sea of grass stretched out around me on all sides as I rode Storm through the foothills. The wind whipped and rustled the tall grass as it danced across the plain. Together with my unit (which now consisted of the strykers, ten Glenns, and five shapeshifters), I had left the fort behind and set off for Bone Grotto. Along the way, we would still have to check out the prospectors’ camp that the scroggs had destroyed. It seemed vanishingly unlikely that anyone had survived, but I still felt like I had to see the place with my own eyes.

Once we completed our scan of the camp, the Glenns and werewolves would head back to the fort, where they would wait for the rest of us to return. Meanwhile, the mages and I would continue to Shadow Pass on foot. After all, nobody but a stryker would be able to get inside anyway. For the same reason, Ignia and Selina had also remained back at the fort.

Several days had passed since we fought off the scroggs, and we had spent those days conducting funerals, healing our wounded, collecting trophies, repairing the fort, and preparing for the next stage of our campaign.

That night had taken the lives of three Glenns, whom we buried according to their traditions. Each of them had a family back on the Islands, whose welfare would be my personal responsibility from then on. I announced this for all to hear at the appropriate time during the services. True, I don’t think there was really a need for that. My people already knew what I was going to do.

The rest of the soldiers got away with wounds of varying severity. Several of them were back on their feet the very next day, but some of the others would be on cots in the healers’ tent for quite a long time.

Besides the hides, bones, and organs from the scroggs, the battle also yielded almost 200 bruts of different colors and sizes. Most of them were lilac. I divided them evenly among the strykers, who after all would still have to pass through the Barrier and spend an indeterminate amount of time in the Shadow. Vestonian law didn’t require me to divide the spoils evenly, but nevertheless I promised all our men a cash payout equivalent to an equal share of the bruts (something I had already promised, and delivered, on several earlier occasions).

Alas, most of the lilac and scarlet crystals in the bodies of the scroggs were nearly depleted. The beasts had been using their mana at full steam when they died. That said, the apple-sized amber brut we pulled from the leader’s torso was stuffed to the brim with energy. The same, unfortunately, couldn’t be said for the lilac and scarlet crystals in its chest. Both of them had essentially been running on fumes. Then again, of course, it would have been this energy that allowed the white scrogg to survive Ignia’s fire attack.

It took the fayret a full 24 hours to recover after that night. She had overexerted herself, and I gave her a dressing-down for doing so, but I also made sure to express my gratitude. The fight would have been much, much harder without her. We would certainly have survived, of course, but the cost would have been immense... We would have had to conduct a lot more funerals.

Emerging for a moment from my recollections, I glanced up at the darkening anomaly in the distance, whose proximity was already generating familiar feelings of pressure and anxiety within my chest. Most likely, we would be crossing the Barrier by the evening of the following day... And after that, we would finally reach Bone Grotto and discover its secret...


Chapter 18

Vestonia

Outskirts of Herouxville

Suburban Palace of the Duke de Clairmont

ÉDOUARD DE CLAIRMONT stood on the banks of a small, decorative pond in his private park, watching in silence as a pair of swans glided effortlessly across the tranquil surface of the water.

The two majestic birds were moving with perfect synchrony, as if following some invisible rhythm. Now and then, they would sink their long necks into the water in search of prey, and then raise them gracefully into the air, shaking off a shower of drops as they did so.

The swans were swimming along unhurriedly, side by side, and occasionally leaning in and tapping their beaks together, which only added to the sense of calm and harmony. At times, one of them would spread its wings as if preparing to take off into the air, but then it would always return to its smooth, unhurried movement across the surface of the pond.

Édouard sighed heavily as he watched them, and was once again reminded of his wife, Louise de Clairmont. They still hadn’t seen one another since his arrival at the capital. As one of the Ladies of the Queen’s Bedchamber, Louisa had set off with Her Majesty to the Abode of the Most Luminous Mother in Amiens all the way back in the autumn.

There, the Queen and all her ladies-in-waiting spent their days offering prayers to the Most Luminous Mother for His Majesty Carl III’s recovery.

Édouard smiled. He knew exactly whom his spouse was REALLY praying for. The Duke had never been one to turn to the gods with his requests, but then a lot had changed over the past few months.

Without even thinking about it, he laid a hand against his side and mouthed a quick prayer of thanks to the merciful Goddess for healing him and for giving him such a wonderful wife. And also for sending him young Renard. Because the appearance of that young man in the Duke’s life was nothing if not a manifestation of the will and intent of the gods.

“Louisa...” said Édouard softly. “What are you hiding from me? What secrets are you keeping?”

Recently, spoken conversations with himself had become something of a habit for the Duke. And it wasn’t because of senility or anything like that. First of all, it helped him think more clearly, and second of all, once Guilleme de Leval had departed for his own castle, Édouard didn’t have anyone to talk to other than his aged butler.

Ever since the day Édouard had returned to the capital, people seemed to have forgotten about him entirely — with the sole exception of a very difficult conversation with his sister that had ended in hysterical tears when she learned of the death of her son.

All those people who had once sought his attention, his intercession, and his patronage suddenly seemed to have disappeared into thin air. In what felt like the blink of an eye, Édouard de Clairmont’s usefulness came to an end.

The Duke understood the reason for this, of course. Édouard had expected something like this to happen. Therefore, so as not to annoy the King with his presence in the capital, the Duke de Clairmont had removed himself to his suburban palace. And to be honest, he was only too happy to do so. For the new Herouxville was not at all to his liking.

The capital was busy celebrating Prince Philippe and the Marquis de Gondy. According to everything the capital-city nobility had heard, it was entirely thanks to these two men that the enemy had been defeated and driven from Vestonian soil.

Herouxville, in other words, was now entirely “red.” For Édouard, however, those red banners conjured up feelings not of dignity and pride, but of shame and humiliation.

Strangely, however, the Duke wasn’t surprised by any of it in the least. He had lived for too long, and seen too much. Rises and falls, victories and defeats, war and peace, love and hate.

So he wasn’t surprised at all when, during a visit to the Royal Palace (where the Duke had gone yet again to request an audience with the King), he ran into the elder Marquis de Hangest — a man whom Renard had very nearly sent back to the capital in chains as a criminal. The self-satisfied looks on the faces of the Marquis and his hangers-on left the Duke entirely indifferent.

In fact, only one thought occurred to the Duke de Clairmont when he saw them: had Renard known all along how the incident with the Marquis de Hangest would end up playing out?

Later on, Édouard asked around among the nobles who were gathered at the Palace that day, and discovered to his surprise that the Marquis was actually a war hero, who had selflessly defended the Sapphire Citadel at the head of his legion.

The world turned upside down...

Presently, the sound of footsteps approaching from behind distracted the Duke from his contemplations. Édouard turned his head and saw his panting, red-faced butler with a young footman standing behind him.

Old Charles knew that his master was in a melancholy frame of mind, and as such he was trying to communicate all news to him personally. Which, of course, explained his hurry in this case. Apparently the old fellow had come running...

“What’s going on?” The Duke chuckled. “By the look on your face, it must be nomads from the east attacking, best-case scenario.”

“Save us, Oh Luminous Mother, from this misfortune!” The butler panted.

“What did you come running to tell me, if not news of a barbarian invasion?”

“The Baron Armand de Lusignan and His Majesty’s Chief Healer, Ruben Garrelle, wish Your Grace to receive them.”

“I see...” The Duke chuckled. “Well... I was expecting this at some point...”

He started off to greet his guests, but then slowed down a moment and added to the butler:

“Invite my guests into the fireplace hall. I’ll be in to see them shortly.”

“Yes, Your Grace,” old Charles replied with a bow before quickly turning around.

A snap of his fingers, and the young footman hurried off to carry out the Duke’s orders. The butler, meanwhile, hobbled off after the Duke on his old, crooked legs, in order to help the Duke get dressed. His Grace’s valet, after all, had fallen protecting their master in battle.

* * *

“Monsieurs,” the Duke de Clairmont exclaimed as he walked into his fireplace hall.

The bored, pensive man who had so recently been standing on the bank of his pond seemed to have vanished without a trace. The man standing before his guests was a calm, collected, and focused Marshal of Vestonia, ready at any moment to lead a legion into battle.

As he entered, his guests stopped their hushed conversation, stood up from their seats, and bowed.

“Your Grace,” the hunchbacked little man greeted the Duke with a smile. “I’m glad to see you in good health.”

Without his makeup, jester’s cap, and silly-looking pointed shoes, the King’s jester looked very different — in fact, one might almost describe him as unremarkable. Édouard suddenly sensed that Kiko felt a little bit awkward without his mask; after all, it was quite literally something to hide behind. Admittedly, the little hunchback hadn’t discarded every last vestige of his usual image. What looked like pearls from a distance actually turned out to be small silver buttons, sewn in large numbers all over his clothing.

Garrel looked exhausted, but satisfied. Édouard wouldn’t have been surprised to hear that this was the first time the healer had left the King’s hunting lodge since the onset of the illness. And that the change of scenery alone was enough to make him smile.

“Thank you,” the Duke nodded in reply as he gestured for his guests to sit down.

After everybody took their seats, Édouard got straight down to business:

“Now what could possibly have prompted you to come out and visit a forgotten old man at such an ungodly hour?”

“Oh, Your Grace... People might call you many things, but somehow “old man” doesn’t seem appropriate anymore,” replied the jester with a big smile.

“You truly appear to be in excellent health, Your Grace,” the Royal Healer agreed. “And that despite the recent rumors that you were at death’s door.”

“Those were no mere rumors,” the Duke replied sternly. “I was no more than a step away from the Abyss, but I managed to postpone my date with death thanks to the efforts of my friends.”

“Actually, that’s why Maître Garrel is here,” said the jester. “His Majesty was concerned about your health, and he ordered his best healer to come out and examine you.”

Inside, the Duke couldn’t resist a chuckle. Carl just couldn’t live without his little games. And neither, for that matter, could the hunchback. Many people mistakenly believed that the jester was actually the one pulling the strings — that he was manipulating the King. In reality, however, the two were on exactly the same level, a fact of which Édouard was already well aware.

“His Majesty is too kind, as always,” the Duke answered. “Besides, it’s our duty to carry out the will of our King. I wouldn’t dream of objecting, Maître — please proceed.”

With a strained smile, the healer stood up and walked over to the Duke. Then he laid a hand on Édouard’s shoulder and closed his eyes.

A few moments later, with a furrowed brow, he asked:

“Do you mind?”

“No, of course not,” the Duke nodded in response. He moved his arm to the side, allowing the healer to lay his hand on the spot where his wound had been.

This time, the healer was occupied for quite a while. Beads of sweat soon broke out all across his broad forehead, as his eyes flitted frantically back and forth beneath his closed eyelids.

The Duke glanced quickly at the jester. Kiko was watching the healer’s every move, and when the latter finally opened his eyes, he asked:

“Well?”

“This is amazing!” Ruben Garrelle looked shocked, and utterly confused. “His Grace is perfectly healthy! And by that, I mean there’s no trace of any diseases or ailments in his body. More than that, I sensed the presence of some... Ahem... How should I put this... Improvements.”

That last piece of information came as a surprise even for Édouard. But he recovered almost immediately.

He had noticed, of course, that his recovery had gone surprisingly quickly. But there were other strange nuances in the process as well. For example, the headaches and joint pain that the Duke had been suffering from for several years by that point... Those were gone. His old wounds no longer ached when the weather changed. Édouard had also noticed that he was sleeping better, and that his morning exercises weren’t as difficult for him anymore. The previous day, for example, he managed to complete a complicated exercise routine with his sword, which he hadn’t done for ages due to the pain in his joints. The young man had obviously done a lot more than simply heal his wound...

“Permit me a few questions, Your Grace,” the healer began.

The Duke glanced at the jester. Kiko smiled politely, but he looked more than anything like a snake that was preparing to attack. Even a fool would have known that Garrelle’s question was motivated first and foremost by Carl’s interests. And the Duke wasn’t a fool. So he replied as honestly as he possibly could:

“I was treated by the Margrave de Valier.”

“How?” The healer leaned in a little closer. “Laying on of hands, or elixirs?”

“He used both of those methods,” said the Duke.

There was one other method, of course... In a moment of clarity amidst the fevers and fitful sleep, Édouard had seen Renard create some sort of glowing magical pattern in the air and lay it down onto his wound. Back in Bergonia, however, Édouard had given his word to keep silent about this particular method of healing. And he had ordered Guilleme to do the same.

Once upon a time, there had been no secrets between Édouard and Carl, but much had changed since the moment the Duke had seen the fox medallion hanging from Maximillian’s neck...

None of this meant that Édouard didn’t wish the King a speedy recovery, of course. Not at all... Carl would simply have to summon Renard and have the boy heal him. But the Duke de Clairmont had no intention of revealing the young man’s secret gift.

“I see...” the healer mused aloud. “You wouldn’t happen to have any of that elixir left, would you?”

The Duke silently slipped a hand into his pocket and took out one of the small bottles of potion that Maximillian had given him. And Édouard also knew that Renard had sent Lord Gray back to the capital with several other bottles just like it, along with a request to give them to the King. The look that Maître Garrelle exchanged with Kiko made it obvious that Carl had already received these potions.

“Everything makes sense now,” the healer announced. “Forgive me, but I must be going now. Duty requires me to return to His Majesty’s side.”

When the door closed behind the healer, Édouard turned to look at Kiko.

“Armand — the quicker he recalls that boy to the capital, the quicker he’ll be back on his feet. You know that, right?”

The two men often switched to a much less formal tone when they were alone. The result of many years’ acquaintance, you might say. They had both been with Carl since he was a child. Sure, they had never really been friends, but they had occasionally been allies. They were bound together by genuine devotion to their King.

Kiko shook his head and sighed:

“You’ve always been too trusting, Ed. That’s why you’re out here alone right now, forgotten by everyone.”

Édouard had been prepared to hear something like this, so he tried to let this jibe about the Count d’Angland’s betrayal pass by unremarked. Although he had expected to hear these words from Carl, rather than his jester...

On the other hand, though, he fully deserved this punishment and the accompanying humiliation... Too many people had died (or might die yet) because of his mistake. And after all, his mistake had left the very fate of Vestonia was hanging by a thread.

“You see some reason to mistrust a man who saved not only my own life, but the entire country as well?” Édouard replied. “If it weren’t for the Margrave de Valier, the Golden Lion and his legions would already be standing outside the walls of Herouxville. And believe me... I know exactly who’s to blame for everything...”

“The bastard’s physical presence in the capital isn’t necessary,” came the jester’s evasive reply. “He’s right where he needs to be...”

“Wait...” The Duke leaned forward. “Are you saying that Carl’s health is improving?”

“That’s exactly what I’m saying,” Kiko chuckled.

“The elixirs are helping...” Édouard sighed with relief.

“They certainly are,” nodded the jester. “And as you already know, the secret of the bastard’s gift is packaged inside them. But here’s another secret for you... We’re fairly certain that the bastard borrowed them from the Sapphire Guild’s secret treasury. The pieces are falling into place, aren’t they?”

At that, Édouard very nearly let slip the secret of the magical patterns. Remembering the promise he had made to himself, however, he bit his tongue just in time... If he hadn’t seen the boy’s magic with his own eyes, he would certainly have believed what the jester was saying.

Having regained his composure, Édouard pretended to be surprised by this news. He rubbed his chin and began to muse aloud:

“So the bastard is playing a game of his own...”

“No matter,” said the jester dismissively. “He’s quite predictable. And he’s very useful to Carl out there on the frontier. Let him take care of business in his Margraviate. It’s not like we’re bored here in the capital without him.”

“You’re referring to the Astlanders?” Édouard asked, feeling secretly relieved at the change of subject.

“So you already know?” The jester snickered.

“I saw a pretty sizable Astlandic delegation before I left the city.”

“Officially, Otto II has simply decided to appoint a new ambassador to the Vestonian Court,” the jester explained. “In reality, though, Wilhelm von Lander has decided to double the number of his spies in Herouxville. Rumor has it they’ve already started throwing gold around and gathering a healthy following of hangers-on at court.”

Édouard grimaced at the mention of Wilhelm. That spider had ears in every corner of the world. Even the Queen of Vestonia herself carried on an active correspondence with him. The Duke had no doubt that some of the large chests the Astlandic ambassadors had brought with them were intended for Her Majesty.

Whatever the case, Louisa would certainly tell him about everything later...

“Otto II’s Chief Minister will do everything in his power to sabotage Prince Philippe’s betrothal to the Marchioness de Gondy,” the jester continued. “After all, the Astlanders have their own bride picked out for our dear little Philippe.”

“It’ll be hard without Bauffremont,” noted Édouard.

“That’s why part of the Astlandic delegation and several Vestonian nobles are heading to Atalia,” said Kiko with a sour smile. “They’re bringing ransoms for the Duke de Bauffremont and several other nobles. Our bastard’s uncle is going with them, by the way. And good riddance. At least the secretariat will get a little break from his complaints and petitions. He keeps trying to get that castle back from his nephew. You know, the one that used to belong to your family... The Fox Den, if I’m not mistaken... Not the greatest name in the world, if I’m being honest...”

The jester had a huge smile on his face, but there wasn’t so much as a hint of mirth in his eyes.

“It was quite a castle...” Édouard replied calmly. “We got rid of it quite a few years ago, though.”

“Yes, I understand,” said Kiko, pursing his lips in an expression of sympathy. “The death of a loved one is a hard burden to bear. But when a child dies... Well, I truly sympathize with you.”

“And yet I imagine, Monsieur, that that’s not the only reason you came to visit?” Édouard replied coldly.

“Right you are, Your Grace.” The jester laid his hands down on the armrests of his chair and folded his hands together. His tone became more formal. “His Majesty wishes you to travel to Caen.”

“To Caen?” Édouard frowned. “What am I going to do so far out west?”

“You’re going to serve as Marshal of Vestonia,” replied Kiko as he deftly slipped a scroll bearing the royal seal out from behind his belt. “You’re going to gather legions for His Majesty. Here’s the King’s order and all the necessary instructions. His Majesty is aware that the western nobles respect you, and — what’s more — virtually all of them owe you a favor or two. You may bring the Count de Leval with you. And there’s someone else going with you too, someone you already know quite well: André de Châtillon. His Majesty has pardoned the Viscount, along with everyone else in the cohorts that used to comprise the “Last Chances.”“

“When am I supposed to head out?” The Duke inquired. “I’d like to see my wife before I leave.”

“Alas, there’s no time,” the jester shook his head. “Especially since, as far as I know, Her Majesty plans to remain in the Abode of the Most Luminous Mother for at least a few more months. You simply don’t have time. The clouds are gathering over Vestonia, and His Majesty needs people he can trust.”

The jester jumped down from his chair and glanced at Édouard:

“Carl needs time before he can forgive you. Consider this his way of doing you a favor. Pacify the west. Complete the task he’s set for you here, and he’ll bring you closer once again.”


Chapter 19

THE SUN WAS ALREADY DIPPING toward the horizon, flooding the whole area with a deep red light, when we finally reached the prospectors’ camp, which was located on the banks of a small river. The werewolves had already returned from their scouting mission and told me all about what we would find, but I still wanted to see the place with my own eyes.

I drew a big breath in through my nostrils. The heavy, suffocating smell of burnt wood was mixed in with the characteristic metallic tang of blood. The sickly-sweet smell of decomposing flesh was already beginning to rise into the air, which made the horses nervous and caused them to snort more often than normal. Some of them actually refused to go any farther until we forced them to.

The first sight that caught my eye was the burned-out body of a wagon. It looked like the darkened skeleton of some long-dead monster. It was hard to determine what could have caused the fire. Maybe the rats overturned an oil lamp during the fight; maybe the humans tried to fight the rats off with torches... To be honest, it probably didn’t matter anymore...

The mutilated wagon was surrounded by shredded packaging, broken arrows, and shattered wheels. The ground was riven with deep gouges and covered with dark patches of dried blood.

I also noticed that the scene was almost entirely silent. Far-off cries from the occasional bird, the babbling of the river, and the rustling of wind through the grass were the only things disrupting the silence. The deceptive calm exerted a strange pressure on my ears and increased the tension exponentially.

We slowly moved forward, examining every nook and cranny with focused attention. The scouts hadn’t discovered anything dangerous, but everybody was still on edge. Their faces were somber and focused. Leo, who was usually pretty talkative, was walking along next to me in silence, with his hand squeezed around the hilt of his sword so tightly that his knuckles were white.

The tents were all shredded and overturned, leaving strips of canvas fluttering in the wind like baleful, ghostly banners.

One of the Glenns stopped next to a wagon that had been turned over onto its side, where he bent down and picked up a fragment of a simple hunting bow. He just shook his head and tossed it aside. These poor ex-peasants had never stood a ghost of a chance against a sudden attack by Shadow beasts. But they knew what they were getting themselves into. They had made a conscious choice.

Shards of simple clay pottery and wooden implements kept cracking under our feet as we walked. I noticed a broken spear, whose head was still caked in blood. There were long, ragged claw marks running down the shaft. Apparently, at least a few of the prospectors didn’t go down without a fight...

Next to the spear was a small bone amulet — a low-value trinket on a leather cord, which was covered with baked-on blood. Alas, it had failed to protect its owner.

When we reached the middle of the camp, we found signs of a fierce battle. The ground seemed to have practically exploded into the air, as if a whirlwind filled with sharp hunks of rock had touched down and remained in place for quite a while. But there were no bodies anywhere — no humans, no animals, no scroggs.

“The beasts dragged all the bodies over there,” said one of the werewolves as he pointed to the north, where a short stand of trees stood out darkly against the setting sun. “We found a long, deep gully where the scroggs were hiding from the sunlight. That’s where they ate everybody they killed.”

Noticing the look on my face, the werewolf added:

“We checked everything. Nothing but bones, swarms of carrion flies, and scrogg shit. The stench made our eyes water. Even scavengers aren’t venturing in there.”

Having said that, the werewolf grimaced and spat.

After walking around the devastated camp for a little bit, I headed down to the riverbank. There, I found what we had actually come to find. I had heard about the spot from Vikra, the third survivor from the camp, who had arrived at our camp unconscious and strapped into his saddle.

His two companions were still incoherent. One was still totally silent, staring straight ahead into space, and the other was just rocking constantly from side to side, muttering a little tongue-twister to himself about the white scrogg who was about to come kill us all.

Just to be safe, I had the lunari check both of them, but she quickly came to the conclusion that the prospectors weren’t faking their madness at all. More than that, it would actually be quite a while before they regained their sanity.

Lying on the riverbank, I beheld a row of long, wide sheets of fabric, with flow-altered seaweed stacked neatly on top of it. It was the same material that the masters of the Sapphire Guild would have used to make the paper we found in the Citadel’s treasury.

The seaweed was a rich, deep-brown color, as if it had absorbed the very spirit and power of the river water in which it grew. Its long, ribbon-like stems were rippling ever so slightly in the breeze, which gave the impression that the plants were slithering in place. The surface of the seaweed shone like amber in the sun, reflecting its rays with a soft, subtle elegance.

Upon closer inspection in true vision, I noticed a thin network of vessels running through the plants, in which barely-perceptible quantities of brown mana were clearly visible. The magical plants were emitting a weak, but distinctly palpable aroma of wet earth and riverine freshness.

I stepped closer to the water and scanned the river bottom. Whoa, I thought! As Vikra had said, there was practically a whole underwater meadow below the surface. The seaweed was growing very thick down in the depths.

Apparently, this river had a source somewhere in the Shadow, or at least somewhere that had fallen under a flow. Most likely, there would be underwater fields of brown seaweed all along the run of the river.

The prospectors’ scouting unit had chanced upon this place about a month before. With tears in his eyes and grief in his voice, Vikra told me about the celebration they had thrown together when they heard the news. After all, finding such a rich field so close to their fort was a stroke of amazing good fortune. Not only that, but the Shadow was relatively far away from it. Alas, events had shown that even luck like that wasn’t enough...

“We’ll have to convene a small council when we get back,” I said to Sigurd and Georg von Linz, who were standing next to me. “We’ll decide how to organize the harvest.”

“A dangerous business,” said Georg. “The beasts roam in packs, and they feel at home here. Very few settlers will want to come out here.”

“Then we’ll have to think about how to guarantee their safety,” I replied.

“We’ll need to send at least half a cohort,” said Georg.

“And not only that,” I nodded. “I’ve got a few ideas about this, actually. First, though, we’ll have to wait for our artificer to arrive. I’m sure she’ll have some suggestions for us.”

“I wouldn’t doubt it for a second,” the stryker snickered. “Ursula’s always loved experimenting and creating new things. That’s why our late King valued her so much.”

Noticing that Leo and Elsa were approaching, Georg suddenly fell silent. The two young soldiers had grown quite close in recent weeks, to the point where they were practically always together.

As far as I had been told, Leo had long ago shown some timid signs of interest in Georg von Linz’s ward, but she had usually just ignored the young man’s advances. She simply hadn’t seen him as a potential suitor at all. More than anything, she used to treat him like a junior member of the unit, and accordingly tried to keep her distance.

Ever since Leo became my personal squire and started training under my direction, however, he had changed quite a bit, both in terms of his physical appearance and his personality. And Elsa had certainly noticed the changes. The young man had matured and grown stronger. Numerous battles had tempered his character and made him a little more serious. Most importantly, though, he was nearing a breakthrough to a new level.

“There’s nothing more we can do here,” I said to Leo as he and Elsa approached. “We need to collect all this seaweed, as well as anything else that might be useful, and then part of the unit can head back to the fort.”

Leo nodded and hurried to pass my order on to the others.

* * *

The unit split up, and our group continued on toward Bone Grotto. Chevalier Duval and two of his strykers, who had been to these parts a number of times before, were serving as our guides.

Strykers tended to have a lot of stamina, but nevertheless we were trying to travel at a moderate pace, in order to avoid as many unwanted encounters as possible. Despite the fact that we had guides, however, the landscape in Shadow Pass changed following every flow, and it also acquired new denizens. Therefore, as the only member of our group with an animal’s sensory capacities, I had to “keep my ear to the ground” the entire time.

Because a walk along the Barrier always meant a roll of the dice. Every so often, I would order the unit to make a sudden stop or change in direction, in order to throw off potential pursuers and avoid areas that seemed suspicious. As I did so, I would always make a point of sniffing the air to catch any lingering scents, and spending a long time studying any tracks we spotted on the ground.

Whenever I did these things, I could feel Duval’s interested, curious gaze focused on me. It had become obvious right after the battle that he had a lot of new questions for me, but I didn’t feel like answering them just yet.

Despite all my efforts, we didn’t manage to avoid unwanted encounters entirely. The first of them took place just a few hours after we split off from the main unit. We ran into a small pack of Shadow hyenas — eight individuals, who didn’t stand a chance in hell against our combined power. In the end, we actually ended up acquiring nine brand-new bruts. The leader of the pack had a double reservoir, fed by two lilac and scarlet bruts.

The second such meeting occurred right before sunset — this time, it was just an attack by a single caverner (a winged, bat-like beast about the size of a large dog). Everything happened very quickly. The winged monstrosity simply flew straight onto the tips of our spears and yielded two bruts: one lilac and one amber.

The quick, easy victory gave everybody reason to celebrate, of course, but of course we all knew that we had gotten very lucky indeed. According to Chevalier Duval, caverners very rarely attacked alone. They normally came in packs of at least twenty. In addition, they also had poisonous glands hidden in their heads behind their eyes. And when a caverner bit a victim, those glands would pump poison into its hollow fangs and send a small burst straight into its victim’s body. Basically, they were really dangerous opponents, and very difficult to fight.

That said, caverners’ body parts were in high demand among alchemists. Their poison glands were especially prized, and every single one of them had two bruts inside it.

To Chevalier Duval’s obvious displeasure, we had no choice but to limit our haul of trophies from the beasts we were killing. We only took the most valuable and lightweight items. Jean kept frowning and whining about this perceived wastefulness, but he knew full well that we hadn’t just come to hunt.

Once Duval’s people had quickly and expertly butchered the caverner, we moved on. It was time to find a suitable place to make camp for the night.

After sunset, the wind that had been blowing at our backs all day started to play a cruel trick on my nose. As a result, we ended up walking into a big den, which smelled like animal dung and dead flesh. The ground was torn up by an endless number of footprints, which had clearly been left by massive, claw-tipped paws. Judging by the size and dimensions of these claws, as well as the number of large bones that littered the floor of the cave, we had chanced upon the den of some very large beast with a very large appetite. Probably a bear.

In a way, we had gotten lucky. The den was empty. Its owner had probably already gone out hunting. Once we realized that, we hurriedly kept moving, trying to get as far from the den as possible.

We practically ran the last leg of our journey. The wind was blowing at our backs the entire time, so at least there was a chance that I’d smell it coming if the gigantic monster decided to take off after us.

We ended up spending the night at the foot of a small hill, where the spare trees and bushes provided at least a little bit of cover from the wind. We set up camp quickly, and with a minimum of noise. No fires — we didn’t want to draw any attention to ourselves.

We ate in peace, divided the night up into shifts, and then those whose turn was coming next laid down to get some sleep. I didn’t lay down at all. My reservoir was almost full, and when that was the case I could go without sleep for quite a long time.

The night was dark; the moon was mostly hidden behind the clouds, and the stars were barely visible at all. The silence was broken only by the occasional rustle in the grass and the far-off calls of nocturnal beasts.

Once in a while, little lilac-colored eyes would flit through the shadows, or we would hear the sound of small claws scratching against stone. These little Shadow predators might, perhaps, have posed a threat to us, but they didn’t seem in any hurry to attack. Still, though, we were on our guard.

All things considered, the night passed in relative calm. A few times, the sentries had to scare off some especially curious beasts with a light rustle or movement when they ventured uncomfortably close to our camp. By morning, all the sounds had died down, giving way to a blissful pre-dawn silence.

As soon as the first rays of the sun fell onto the ground, we got ourselves packed up and continued on our way. Even though nothing larger than a housecat had disturbed us during the night, the feeling of approaching danger hadn’t left me for a moment.

By the end of the day, we had completed the main portion of our journey, and as evening approached we came back out onto the main road that the Scarlets had used to haul their Shadow loot back to their fort. We would have taken the road the whole way to Bone Grotto, if it hadn’t been for the detour to the prospectors’ camp.

After about two more hours, I stopped the unit and gestured for everybody to gather around me. At first, I thought this might have been a mistake. After all, sometimes flocks of birds just take off from their perches for no reason. It doesn’t necessarily mean that something scared them off. But I had already seen several flocks rise into the air behind us, back in the direction we had come from. More than that, the wind was once again blowing at our backs, bringing an already-familiar smell with it.

“I suspect you’ve all noticed by now?” I asked quietly as I glanced around at the stern, focused faces of my soldiers.

“We’re being followed,” Chevalier Duval replied for the group; then, with a nod down the path we had just taken, he asked: “The beast from the den?”

“The very same,” I confirmed as I pointed to a small hill just to the right of the road. “I don’t want to fight the big bastard in an open field or lead it all the way to the grotto with us. I propose we take position on that hill and meet the beast there.”

There were no objections, and we hurried to do as I had suggested.

But we still didn’t get enough time to prepare. Our pursuer was a lot closer than I had imagined. He appeared right after sunset. Huffing and grunting in an unhurried sort of way, the huge beast lumbered its way out of the underbrush; at first, it was just a big, dark blotch, which transformed over the course of a few seconds into the silhouette of a massive bear.

Sure, in terms of size it was still a far cry from the Black Terror of Svartvald that I had killed in the arena in Fjordgrad, but that didn’t make it any less dangerous.

Once it found itself on the road, the beast stopped and started noisily sniffing the ground. Then it continued on its way, occasionally moving its head from side to side as it did so in an effort to catch every single scent it could find.

When it reached the spot where we had left the road and headed up onto the hill, the bear abruptly stopped and started walking in circles, still sniffing the ground.

I switched to true vision and saw the beast’s bright, two-colored magical reservoir. Lilac and scarlet. Just like the black bear up north, albeit a little bit smaller. Most likely, this meant we were about to fight a beast that possessed both magical defenses and supercharged regeneration.

Meanwhile, the bear finally determined which direction its prey had taken. It turned toward the hill and broke into a run. We were already standing in the bushes, bows drawn.

Just at that moment, the traitorous wind shifted and began to blow from behind our backs. A second later, the bear caught the much-sharper scent and froze. The fur on its mane bristled. With a menacing snarl, the beast rose up onto its hind legs. Its enormous head stretched up toward the sky as it began sucking air in loudly through its nose.

“Now!” I shouted, and a small (but extremely angry) swarm of arrows shot toward the beast.

In the blink of an eye, the magical shield that surrounded the bear’s body erupted in a series of bright purple flashes. Arrows were basically useless.

The bear let out a furious roar and lunged forward.

“Close ranks!” I shouted. “Spears!”

The beast was at the base of the hill in a matter of seconds. With a roar of insane fury, the bear started hurtling up the hill toward us. A few big leaps — and suddenly it was right next to our formation.

“Now!”

A coordinated thrust sent a wave of bright-purple Shadow-steel spearheads plunging forward into the darkness in front of us.

The flash from the beast’s magical shield was much brighter this time. The strykers weren’t holding back: they had loaded this blow with a hefty dose of mana. It was followed by another thrust just like it, and then another. The beast was simultaneously trying to hold its ground on the steep slope and slap away the sharp spear points with its big, hefty paws. But it wasn’t having much luck.

Having finally realized that there was no point trying to swat the annoying spikes out of its path, the monster shifted its focus entirely toward completing its ascent of the hill. And in doing so, it made a serious mistake. In trying to clamber up the slippery section of rock, digging furiously at the smooth stone with its long claws, it left its chest, paws, neck, head, and shoulders exposed to a hailstorm of attacks.

As a result, the beast’s magical shield didn’t last very long at all. After one last purple flash, two spearheads sank into the bear’s thick hide at the same time (although admittedly, they didn’t hit any vital organs).

The animal let out a deafening roar. A shudder swept across its whole body. With a sudden jerk to the side, the wounded bear tore the spears that were stuck in its flesh out of the hands of their wielders and jumped back down the hill. No sooner did it do so than a lightning-quick shadow burst out of our ranks in pursuit.

“Strix, give me strength!” I heard a familiar, ringing voice cry out.

Leo...

Instinctively, I was about to rush out after him, but I stopped myself. Sigurd, Georg, and I all looked at each other. The somber, ceremonious look in their eyes said it all. When a stryker made an appeal to Strix right before a battle, they were not to be interfered with...

For better or for worse, this was Leo’s fight now. Not one of our strykers moved from where they stood. Everyone was watching silently as events unfolded at the base of the hill.

Without thinking, Leo tore downhill after the retreating bear. A sword flashed in his hand as purple sparks began to glimmer all across his armor.

As soon as the furious beast noticed its pursuer, it turned around and rose up onto its hind legs. Against that backdrop, Leo literally looked like a tiny little child.

My squire assumed a low-set fighting stance. Thankfully, my lessons didn’t seem to have vanished from his mind during the heat of battle. His energy system was pulsing rhythmically, and his movements looked deceptively relaxed. But Leo was ready for lightning-quick action at any moment.

And the wounded beast didn’t keep him waiting for long. It turned and came crashing down on him with all its immense weight.

The young man dodged the first massive bear paw with ease by slipping to the side at the last possible moment. His blade flashed, leaving a deep laceration in the beast’s thick hide.

The monster let out a roar of pain and turned around for a new attack. The spears still lodged in its side were causing it terrible pain with every move it made.

Meanwhile, Leo kept flitting from side to side, sinking rapid-fire sword thrusts into the beast’s flesh. I’m sure Mamoru Yamada would have approved of my pupil’s technique. For my part, I was feeling something I hadn’t yet felt up to that point. I was proud of my student.

Every swing of the bear’s paw froze my heart in my chest. It seemed that sooner or later, an enormous, claw-tipped blow would inevitably shred the tiny human in the blink of an eye. But Leo managed to duck or dodge just before impact, every single time.

I could see that Leo was trying to spend his mana wisely, and was therefore trying (successfully) to avoid direct confrontation without sacrificing the opportunity to counterattack.

The young man was working at the limits of his abilities. His blows were precise, but — alas — they weren’t fatal. The beast was too tough, and had too much natural protection. Not to mention stamina... With every passing second, Leo’s movements were getting slower and less graceful.

I watched anxiously as he moved, ready at any second to rush to his aid — although at the same time, I knew that I couldn’t allow myself to intervene. This was his fight. Intervene, and I would disgrace him forever.

The wounded bear was getting more and more furious at its inability to catch Leo, but before long it started backing him toward a precipitous cliff. This meant that Leo had less and less room for maneuver with every backward step he took.

The bear was snarling and snorting with rage. Its eyes seemed to be burning with impatience. The agile little piece of prey would fall into its paws soon enough, and then, finally, the beast would be able to sink its fangs into warm flesh as its victim quivered with fear and horror. To enjoy its first gulp of hot human blood. It would wreak agonizing revenge for all the pain it had just endured.

With a loud roar, the monster lurched forward. This time, it stood up on both its hind legs and attacked with both its forepaws at the same time.

Leo tried to dodge this lethal bear-hug, but the beast was too quick for him this time. Even though the bear’s claws only grazed his armor, and his magical shield dampened all the damage they would have inflicted, the kid was still thrown back a few yards as if he were nothing more than a limp little rag doll.

Several of our strykers let out simultaneous gasps. I could hear my own teeth grinding together in my mouth.

After rolling across the ground, Leo tried to leap to his feet, but the beast was already right there next to him. Another blow from its paw — another dodge — another flash from Leo’s magic shield as it dampened the damage and sent the kid flying to the side once again. I saw one of the bruts in Leo’s armor crumble to dust.

He had two crystals left. One of the many conditions required for a breakthrough to a new level, of course, was that the situation had to be maximally critical. Otherwise there wouldn’t have been any point to this fight.

This time, though, the young man managed to hop to his feet, and even jump back a little bit before the bear’s fangs snapped together right in front of his face. As I watched that happen, I could feel a shiver pass through my heart.

I watched as Leo drew a big clot of mana from his last brut, sent it coursing through his energy system, and then rushed into a long jump that landed him right behind the beast’s back. Another big clot wrapped his blade in a dark purple haze. With that, his second-to-last brut crumbled to dust.

I leaned forward. I was ready to rush in. Screw the stryker’s code of honor, I thought. I know the kid will never forgive me. But at least he’ll be alive.

Just then, however, the world around me seemed to slow to a crawl.

Leo was already behind the bear’s back. His lips were pressed tightly together; his eyes were focused intently on a single point. His energy system was working at the absolute limit of its capacity.

The monster turned its huge head and raised its right arm in preparation for a decisive blow. And it would definitely be decisive — there was no doubt about that. After all, Leo only had one brut left, and its mana was almost depleted.

An instant later, the world sped up again. With one rapid motion, Leo’s blade sank right into the base of the bear’s skull.

A synchronous sigh of relief resounded from the row of strykers beside me.

The beast froze, then sank slowly to the ground. It never managed to turn all the way around. A deathly silence hung in the air, broken only by Leo’s heavy breathing as he sank exhausted to his knees. A smile of disbelief was frozen on his face.

I looked closer and noticed that his energy system had changed. Its color was thicker and more saturated.

He had done it...


Chapter 20

SO, I THOUGHT... Here we are. We’re standing on the edge of the world, with an alien anomaly stretching from one horizon to the other about a hundred yards in front of us. The Great Bound, as the Lao people referred to it, seemed to consist of pure, unadulterated darkness. And our toad was taking us into that darkness.

The sky above us looked grim. The massive, low-hanging clouds, which were occasionally illuminated from within by sudden flashes of lightning, looked like gigantic appendages stretching from within the depths of the vast anomaly.

A light breeze was blowing constantly into our faces as we advanced; it almost felt like a timid attempt to dissuade us from taking such a bold step into the unknown.

The air was cold and humid. It felt like a downpour was about to start. All sounds had died away. And the resulting deathly silence was oppressive and all-enveloping.

Despite the fact that the flow had happened several days before, and the Barrier had been stationary ever since, I nevertheless had the distinct impression that it was about to surge forward at any moment and keep advancing until the border between worlds was erased for good.

Ever since waking up in this new world, I had always wondered: how often did people think about that possibility? After all, if the Shadow ever started to move and didn’t stop, many once-safe areas would quickly become so dangerous that only a handful of people could possibly survive in them. If that happened, it would no longer matter who was at war with whom, who had how much money, or who was sizing up the crown of Vestonia or Atalia or wherever for themselves... The Shadow would swallow all the money, all the armies, all the countries... And there would be nothing anyone could do to hide from it. Eventually, it would reach anyone who tried to run. There simply wouldn’t be any safe zones anymore — just like there weren’t any safe places within the countries that had existed prior to the anomaly’s arrival.

I looked around at the strykers standing next to me. Their faces were tense and focused. They had checked and re-checked their equipment several times already. Each of them had a good supply of lilac bruts and magical potions. Everything we were wearing, and everything we were bringing with us, had been crafted from Shadow materials. Without this precaution, the Great Bound would inevitably exact a price far greater than the cost of the Shadow materials themselves.

Chevalier Duval had informed me that the Barrier had moved away from Bone Grotto by quite some distance. That meant that we wouldn’t have to spend as much time inside the Barrier itself, where we would have to spend bruts to keep our magical shields active.

After all, strykers only needed their shields for the actual process of crossing the Great Bound. Once they were inside the Shadow, they could move around without shields. The Children of Strix, as they sometimes referred to themselves, were the only people whose energy systems could adapt to the anomaly without trying to kill them or modify their bodies in the process. They could breathe the air, drink the water, and subsist on whatever gifts the land was willing to share with them.

True, there were also people like me, who worked differently from both strykers and the ungifted. Numbers-wise, however, we were mere exceptions to the rules.

We spent the night before the crossing in a small grove, not far from the hill where Leo had killed the gigantic Shadow bear. We also created a small stash there in a secret place, where we left everything that we couldn’t (or didn’t want to) take into the Shadow with us.

My squire had borne his breakthrough with relative ease. First of all, breakthroughs at lower levels weren’t as painful as ones at higher levels, and second, Leo already had a stock of my finest potions in his possession when it happened. Plus, I shelled out the mana to give him a nice golden healing web. In the end, he was happy and full of energy by the very next morning. Only his decisive gaze and the faint black circles under his eyes served as signs that the man was a newly-minted medius, who had been so exhausted from battle the evening before that he couldn’t even walk on his own two feet.

I was already having mixed feelings whenever I thought about the previous day’s fight. On the one hand, I realized that as a stryker, Leo was going to have to undergo a trial like that at some point anyway. The decision to do it when and how he did had been his, and his alone. And I was genuinely happy for him.

On the other hand, though, the choice had been rash in the extreme, and he hadn’t given me any warning of his intention at all. Sure, every member of the unit seemed to regard Leo’s action as a heroic exploit, and every mage considered it their duty to come congratulate the kid. For my part, however, I promised to put him through a special course aimed at strengthening his self-discipline when we got back home.

The frightened look on the young man’s face when I said this made it pretty clear that he understood what I was getting at. He knew very well that I didn’t care about any of the strykers’ codes of honor, or the fact that they were essentially a separate caste in society. Basically, Leo knew he was in for some fun. Provided, of course, that he survived our trip into the Shadow first. I informed him of all this in a calm, matter-of-fact tone while I was patching up the microtears in his energy system.

As I stood there, frightening my young squire, a part of me knew that I was actually angry because, for just a second, Leo had made me feel a sense of total helplessness — a feeling that I hated with every fiber of my being. This feeling was actually part of the reason that I had been such a loner in my previous life. Once upon a time, Thais had been my only weakness, and sure enough, my enemies eventually managed to use her to manipulate me.

Just then, a palpable jolt from underground made me shift my feet instinctively and brought me back to my immediate reality. The jolt was pretty mild this time. In the middle of the night, however, the earth had practically been convulsing underneath us. At first, we thought it might be an ebb starting. Once day dawned, however, we were able to confirm that the Shadow — which had already swallowed the entire mountain range, including Bone Grotto — was still sitting in exactly the same place as before.

“Ready?” I asked as I glanced around at all my strykers.

Duval and his people looked tense and concentrated. As did Sigurd, Georg von Linz, and the other three “Savages” from his original group of five. Sure, this wasn’t the first time they were entering the Shadow, but every mage understood that crossing the Barrier was always a potentially fatal roll of the dice.

For Elsa Backer and me, this crossing would be our second, but for Leo, who was practically shaking with excitement, this meeting with the Barrier would be his first. Precisely for that reason, I ordered him to stay right next to me and not to venture away by even so much as a step.

A chorus of affirmative replies rang out in response to my question.

“Then let’s go!” I said as I took the first step, activating the lilac shield on my magical armor as I did so. The other strykers followed suit almost immediately.

With quick, decisive steps, we crossed the short patch of ground that separated us from the anomaly and plunged into the darkness.

When I stepped into the Barrier, the world around me seemed to disappear for just a moment. All the usual noises — wind, footsteps, breathing — seemed to dissolve into a thick, cold, and oppressive silence.

The air became thicker, too, until it was so dense I felt like I could actually feel it running through my fingers. The sudden transition seemed to freeze every muscle in my body in place. It reminded me of the feeling one gets while underwater — it was like a feeling weightlessness, palpable on all sides at once.

Space changed as well, becoming more elastic and flexible. My first few movements within the viscous fog felt like they were happening in slow motion. My pulse was louder, to the point where it boomed inside my head in a low echo. It was an oppressive feeling of isolation, as if I had fallen into a crack between two worlds, where time had no meaning (which, I suppose, I actually had). Just a moment after it had started, however, the feeling disappeared.

I switched to true vision and glanced around. Leo was walking next to me; true to my orders, he hadn’t strayed away from me at all. His body was shrouded in a purple forcefield.

The young man’s energy system was pulsing intensely due to the anxiety and excitement that were coursing through him. A little further on, the other members of the unit were advancing in a dense formation. The Barrier had accepted all of them, and it wasn’t trying to destroy them.

At that point, I turned my attention to my own energy system, and what I saw startled me. Prior to crossing the Barrier, my golden parasite had been behaving pretty calmly, but as soon as I stepped across the Great Bound, I found that my purple forcefield had changed considerably since my last trip to the Shadow. There were new golden elements in it that served to strengthen it and make it denser.

Given that, it was perhaps unsurprising that neither the Barrier nor the golden parasite tried to attack one another, as had happened whenever the parasite encountered black magic. Rather, they behaved like two predators that had long ago agreed on the boundaries between them and the rules for peaceful coexistence — each of them knew their place, and neither made any move that might upset the fragile balance.

On the one hand, this put me at ease, but on the other hand I couldn’t help feeling a little bit annoyed at the way the parasite didn’t reach out to me or take me into account at all. After all, I had thought that I was starting to get the upper hand on the beast.

To distract myself from these feelings of irritation, I decided to scan my equipment and the things I was carrying. My snake armor, my weapons, and my backpack and its contents were totally fine. The bruts were also right where I had left them.

I was especially relieved to see that the black crystals were still in good condition. After examining them, I realized that I had been worried for nothing. The Barrier’s magic hadn’t reacted to the presence of death magic at all. Previously, I had been worried about one particular question: could Hrimthurs walk through the Shadow with impunity, just like I could? It seemed I had just received my answer.

Finally, we emerged from the murky film and found ourselves at the foot of the huge mountain range we had earlier seen from a distance.

I was finally back... And once again, the world beyond the Barrier had greeted me with a discolored spectrum of faded color. I glanced up into the sky. It was completely covered by a single, enormous, slate-gray cloud, through which I could just barely make out the rays of the sun.

The landscape around us had changed slightly during the flow. Where there had once been a large field of overgrown grass, bushes, and short trees, the side of the mountain was now nothing but a vast expanse of naked, stony desert. The road had also disappeared entirely, just like the plants. This was normal in the aftermath of a flow. The Barrier’s magic destroyed all life in its path.

“Everybody okay?” I asked as I turned to face the row of mages who were following me. The question was basically rhetorical. A quick scan revealed that everybody had made it through the crossing intact.

Leo was looking around from side to side in a sort of awed trance, and responded only with a silent nod.

“Keep your shields up,” I said. “And keep your eyes peeled.”

I exchanged a glance with Sigurd and Georg. Those two were always on guard, ready for action at a moment’s notice. The other strykers raised their weapons and assumed a circular defensive formation.

I nodded at Leo, and Sigurd understood what I wanted without having to ask. I needed to focus all my attention on my senses; Sigurd would have to keep an eye on the kid for a minute.

With that, I turned to Chevalier Duval, who was looking around and scanning the area intently.

“Have you determined which way we need to go here, Monsieur?”

Never had Jean looked less like the smiley, deferential Chevalier who had once come to meet us at the border of the Margraviate. This version of Duval was concentrated and composed. He reminded me of a predatory bird.

The stryker with steppe ancestry turned and said something quietly to Duval, then pointed to the northeast. Duval nodded in reply, turned to me, and then pointed in the same direction as he said:

“That way.”

After a few hours, which our unit spent moving quickly along the base of the mountain range, we finally realized that our guides had chosen the right direction. The entrance to Bone Grotto appeared before us in all its glory. To be honest, though, we had gotten pretty lucky. Nothing interfered with us the entire time we were moving.

The entrance to the enormous cave known as Bone Grotto looked like the maw of some ancient, enormous monster that had been frozen in time. It was a huge chasm in the middle of a cliff face, framed with massive stalagmites and stalactites that looked like big bones jutting out from inside the mountain.

The off-white, porous limestone accumulations on the stones made them look like chewed-up bones, as if the earth itself had vomited out the skeletons of various prehistoric beasts. If nothing else, the imposing sight at least made it clear how the place had acquired its name.

After looking around at the amazement on our faces, Duval snickered and said:

“They say that if you search underground around here, you can find the actual remains of some of the giant beasts whose bones were swallowed by the magic of Strix.”

“Maybe that’s what the fanatics found?” Georg grunted as he craned his neck to study the natural phenomenon with intense interest. “Those bones would have filled to the brim with Shadow magic over the centuries. That would also explain all the wagons the Scarlets were sending back to Atalia.”

“How much gold would the guilds shell out for bones like that, I wonder?” Uwe, one of the “Savages,” couldn’t help interjecting.

“More than a hill of beans, I’ll bet...” Another “Savage” by the name of Aksel replied as he stroked his bushy red beard. “I bet it would definitely be enough to get me through at least three lifetimes...”

The closer we came to discovering the secrets of Bone Grotto and the underground caverns beneath it, the more frequently such conversations tended to crop up between the strykers. And their ideas about what kind of treasures might be waiting for us grew exponentially more fanciful every time.

“Heads up,” I said, hoping to nip yet another such conversation in the bud.

Once everyone quieted down, I continued:

“Since our guides have never been inside these caves, we’re basically going to have to feel our way through them. From here on, we’ll travel in the following order. Me and Chevalier Duval first, followed by Togrul and Molchun.”

I nodded to two of the strykers from Duval’s unit as I said this. Sure, they hadn’t been inside the place themselves, but they were still locals, and they definitely had more experience with Shadow Pass than the rest of us did.

“Then you,” I said with a glance at the three “Savages.” “Then you, Georg, Elsa, and Leo. Sigurd, you bring up the rear. Everybody ready? Then let’s go!”

* * *

We had been walking through a maze of long, twisting tunnels for several hours already. The rough stone surface of the tunnel walls was riven with deep cracks and covered with condensed droplets of water, and the pale, gray-brown light reflecting off it from our torches made it look like some sort of massive lichen that kept growing and growing, right in front of our eyes.

A muffled echo rang out with every step we took. If the Scarlets had left any traces behind, the Barrier had apparently destroyed them all. From time to time, the tunnels narrowed to such an extent that we had to squeeze between sharp rows of stone teeth, which had most likely been forced through the surface of the ground by the frequent earthquakes.

So far, everything was quiet, but the farther we went, the more clearly I started to sense the approach of something inexorable and destructive. And judging by the faces of my companions, I wasn’t the only one who was feeling this way.

More and more frequently, I would order the unit to halt, and then keep going on my own to check the area out before signalling the others to continue. During one of these little scouting missions, I discovered a large cavern with a small natural spring bubbling against its opposite wall. After examining it in true vision, then tasting the water, I determined that there was nothing dangerous in it, and that I could safely head back and bring the others to join me.

“Rest stop!” I commanded once the unit was assembled in the cave.

As everybody took sips of water and sat down to rest, I walked back over to the opposite wall of the cave. There were two tunnels leading out of the cave, so we would have to decide which one to take.

Alas, I didn’t even make it to the opening in time. A sudden underground jolt forced me to stop and turn around. Everyone else had already lept up onto their feet.

“Shields!” I shouted loudly.

And not a moment too soon. A curtain of sand sprinkled down onto us from the ceiling of the cavern, followed quickly by a rain of small stones. The strykers’ magical shields began to emit bright purple flashes. The cavern began to fill with thick clouds of dust.

And the next powerful jolt wasn’t long in coming either. It was much more powerful and prolonged than the first one.

With a deafening crack, the stalactite-studded stone vault above us began to shudder as dozens of big, black gouges rippled out across its surface. A heartbeat later, the first enormous stone icicle was already plummeting toward us.

“Everybody back!” I roared, but my scream was drowned out by the horrible thundering and cracking all around us.

I took off running and sped up as fast as I could. The terrestrial jolts just kept coming. The ground seemed to be dancing beneath our feet. Everything around us was enveloped in a thick cloud of rock dust. It seemed to be trying to seep into our eyes and settle in our lungs. Thankfully, our magical shields functioned as pretty effective filters.

At several points, I felt some enormously-powerful blows strike my shield and nearly knock me off my feet. The stalagmites crashed into the ground with enormous force and exploded, sending huge hunks of sharp limestone flying all over the place like shrapnel.

In true vision, I could see the lilac auras of my companions glowing dimly through the clouds of dust. One group of four energy systems was already close to the exit. Sigurd was already there; after all, it had been his job to make sure nobody attacked us from behind while we were inside the cavern. Leo and Elsa were nearby, as was Georg. A fifth energy system was running to join them. Judging by its shape and layout, it was probably Aksel.

In the blink of an eye, however, a huge gray shadow slammed down from above and swallowed the fifth runner. What had been an intact, bright-lilac energy system a mere second before suddenly turned into a shredded, pulsing, mutilated mess of lines and blotches.

I was moving in lunges and zigzags, dodging the shadows that kept falling from above. A few steps away from me, I noticed that another lilac aura was still smoldering, buried beneath a massive pile of stone shards.

Up ahead, I caught sight of Uwe, who was limping along as he carried his massive frame with his one intact leg. His energy structure was particularly distinctive, and I wouldn’t have confused it with anybody else’s.

“Watch out!” I shouted as I whipped a magical web into the air.

A shimmering, golden net suddenly appeared in the air above the big guy’s head. With a loud crack, another stone icicle exploded into a flurry of chunks and shrapnel.

I generated a Lesser Healing Web as I ran over to Uwe and literally shoved it into his energy system, then ducked to bring my shoulder up into the big man’s armpit and started dragging him toward the exit.

Just as I did so, a particularly powerful jolt shook the stone floor of the cavern. Another deafening cracking and rumbling sound filled the air. I glanced up at the ceiling. The vibration had rippled across the whole stone vault above us, sending a dense wave of huge stone slabs and razor-sharp shards hurtling down toward the ground.

I stopped abruptly and yanked Uwe toward me. He was already draped limply across my shoulders, and it seemed like he was about to pass out from the pain.

“Don’t you dare!” I growled. “You’ll die if you do!”

A lunge... Another lunge... I could hear thunderous crashes all around me.

Judging by the purple flashes that kept coming from Uwe’s armor, he was using the last ounces of his strength to maintain his concentration. Thankfully, he still had plenty of mana left in his bruts.

The supply of golden mana in my own reservoir, by contrast, was slowly starting to recede. I kept walking, creating another defensive web (this time, I didn’t even have to stop to do it). The golden parasite started squirming and fussing. But I didn’t care. I didn’t have time for any nonsense.

Another lunge... One more... We were almost there...

Suddenly, the stone beneath our feet seemed to stand on end. Spikes started erupting from the living rock, like huge, broken teeth in the mouth of some enormous underground monster. I jumped to the right. As I did so, I heard Uwe let out a stream of curses in Astlandic. One of the big stone teeth had slammed into his thigh. If it hadn’t been for his magical shield, the stryker would have been impaled like a bug on a display board.

I got hit too. A crushing blow to the back hit me like a battering ram, knocking me clean off my feet. Like two helpless little ragdolls, Uwe and I rolled across the floor a couple times and ended up plastered flat on our backs.

I didn’t get a chance to stand back up. The stone wave reached us before I could. The last thing I managed to do before the wall of stone chips rained down onto us was summon the largest clot of mana I had ever pulled from my reservoir, then use it to create a web. With so much energy flowing through it, the resulting net of light quickly expanded to many times its original size.

My heart was pounding inside my chest. Then, before my eyes, something unbelievable happened. Something that obviously hadn’t come from anywhere in the little werefox’s memories.

I managed to form something, and it wasn’t a magical shield. It was a full-on defensive dome that spread out to cover both me and Uwe.

The dome’s thick walls were composed of glowing golden ropes of magic, some of which stretched back into my reservoir. It was these ropes that absorbed the immense amount of physical damage that I found myself facing.

They flashed and flickered, but they didn’t disappear. The dome was being maintained by an uninterrupted flow of golden mana from my reservoir. Soon, it formed a hollow cavity beneath the pile of rock that had accumulated above us.

I could see Uwe’s pale face in the soft golden glow; he was lying right next to my shoulder. He was staring in awe at the thick cord of magic that extended out to the dome from within my chest. This pulsing golden conduit was the main artery that kept mana flowing into the dome. I could see a mix of anxiety and disbelief in Uwe’s wide-open eyes.

For the next few minutes, the earth kept shaking beneath us as more and more dull thuds boomed down onto the pile of stone above. But the dome held. True, I was burning mana like water in order to make it happen. The parasite made an attempt to assert its rights, so to speak, but I instinctively summoned all the rage and frustration in my soul and willed it to stop. And — miracle to end all miracles — it actually complied!

Finally, the ground beneath us stopped shaking, and a little while later I concluded that the rocks had stopped falling from the ceiling as well.

“Well,” I said in a hoarse voice as I turned to Uwe. “Let’s dig our way out of here. I’ll hold the dome up, you start taking apart that bank of rock over there. I can see light shining through.”

“Okay,” the stryker nodded as he inched his way over toward the spot I had indicated.

Uwe started digging with his bare hands, pushing rocks aside in both directions like a mole. I could tell that the Lesser Healing Web I had applied to his body had already started to work.

I don’t know how much time passed, but eventually I started to run dangerously low on mana. Just in time, however, we finally heard shouts from above.

“Your Lordship! Are you alive?!”

“Yes, we’re alive!” Uwe shouted with joy.

“You’re just in time, Duval!” I shouted with a smile.

“Sit tight! We’ll pull you out of there!” I heard someone shout from up above.

A flurry of activity erupted on the surface. I could hear other people’s voices mixed in with the hubbub. Apparently, Duval wasn’t the only survivor. I could only hope that Sigurd and the others had managed to escape the collapse as well.

Finally, the rocks blocking my view started to move aside until there was an opening big enough for me to squeeze through. I edged my way closer to it, gave Uwe a signal, and then cut off the flow of mana to the dome.

The stryker hurriedly ducked out through the opening, and I followed right behind him. Out of the corner of my eye, I saw stone collapse into part of the small pocket where my dome had sheltered us.

Once Uwe’s legs disappeared through the opening in the rock, I used my arms and legs to push myself up through the hole after him. As soon as I could see out of the hole, I caught sight of three figures standing there waiting for us.

Duval, who had run over to help me with a big smile on his face, along with his stryker from the steppe and Molchun, who had helped Uwe get up onto his feet.

“Thank the gods you’re alive!” Duval exclaimed as he reached out to grasp my hand in his.

Instinctively, I extended my own hand. As Duval’s right hand clasped itself around mine, his left hand stretched forward toward a strap I had fastened around my shoulder. At the last second, however, it suddenly shifted and pressed itself against my neck. A single heartbeat later, I felt two nearly-simultaneous pangs of discomfort in my hand and my neck.

Something sharp sank into the skin in both places, and as soon as it did so I felt a sudden, icy cold begin to spread out across my neck and arm. The icy magical poison quickly began penetrating into my veins and energy channels, freezing them solid wherever it touched.

My muscles tensed up instinctively as a painful spasm seized my entire body. And meanwhile, the icy wave just seemed to be sinking deeper and deeper into me. Magical ice was burning me from the inside: my neck and palm felt like they were covered in a thin film of ice, through which I could feel no more than a faint tingling.

The cold was spreading quickly and unstoppably. Every inhalation felt heavy and painful, as if the insides of my lungs were starting to crust over with an icy coating.

The golden parasite leapt into action and started trying to liquidate the intruder, but with so little mana in my system the process was catastrophically slow. My enemy had stuck me with an incredibly powerful toxin. Not a fatal one, though — one that was meant to paralyze. That meant they needed me alive.

I stared back at Duval. He wasn’t smiling anymore. In fact, his face seemed to have transformed completely. His eyes looked like two soulless shards of gray ice.

I quickly turned to look at Uwe. I tried to warn him, but I couldn’t get a single sound out of my throat. As I lay there helpless on the ground like an ice sculpture, the steppe stryker stepped silently behind the unsuspecting Uwe’s back, quietly drew his knife, and slit his throat, while Molchun rammed his own knife into the “Savage” stryker’s heart.

I tore my eyes off of Uwe’s body as it collapsed to the floor in its death convulsions and turned to look at Duval, who was standing there calmly, just watching to see how I would react. Not a single muscle on his face moved the entire time. There wasn’t so much as a drop of emotion in his eyes — just indifference and ice-cold emptiness. I recognized that detached look. Duval (or whoever the hell he really was) was a Seer, just like me.

Our eyes met.

And a single thought ran through my head... You should have killed me as soon as you got the chance.


Chapter 21

FINALLY, DUVAL FINISHED scanning me with his eyes and turned back to his co-conspirators, who were busily stripping Uwe’s corpse of anything valuable.

I took advantage of the ensuing pause and forced my parasite to redirect its reserve of energy into a single point. All I needed was to break the magical ice in a single spot, and force a tiny ray of my own aura through it, and then I’d be able to use my webs. As I watched the golden parasite get aggressively to work, I was already savoring the anticipation, imagining the looks on their faces when I suddenly burst out of my icy bonds.

“Move,” Duval barked at his soldiers in an icy voice; then, with a nod to me, he added: “We don’t have much time. We have to get him to Lord Khaldrekar alive and unharmed as soon as we possibly can, and it’s at least a few hours from here to the temple. We’ll have to move fast. So if we don’t need it, leave it here. We’ll get everything on our way back.”

Duval’s words made me reconsider, and I ordered my parasite to stop. It surprised me once again, because despite its obvious reluctance, it did exactly as I ordered...

Some sort of Lord... A temple... Apparently that was the REAL reason he had led us to this godforsaken cave. I noticed one more important detail, too, which is that Jean had abruptly switched to witching tongue.

As I stared unblinkingly up at the back of Duval’s head, I realized that no matter how badly I might want to finish off the three traitorous bastards right where they stood, I was going to have to wait a little while.

Molchun, who still hadn’t said a single word, set Uwe’s ripped-up bag full of bruts down on the ground, then stood up and started walking toward me. Meanwhile, Togrul quickly started shuffling items from a number of backpacks and piling them together in his own bag.

Molchun and Duval spent the next few minutes carefully removing my snake armor, as well as my belt and its bag of bruts. They didn’t utter a single word the entire time, nor did they look me in the eyes at all. As far as they were concerned, it was like I didn’t even exist anymore.

I was pleased to see just how self-confident Duval seemed to be. Apparently, he was totally certain that his elixir would keep functioning without any hiccups for as long as he needed it to. If only you knew, I thought... I could have taken your head off several times by now if I had wanted to...

Once he was finished, Molchun lifted me up off the ground (seemingly without much difficulty at all), threw me up onto his shoulder, then grabbed my belt for support and started stepping quickly and carefully from rock to rock as he hurried off after Duval. The latter was headed for the same tunnel entrance that the collapse had just prevented me from examining.

Before we ducked into the tunnel’s yawning black mouth, I took one last glance back at Uwe’s pale, dead face. His glassy eyes were looking straight up at the ceiling...

After about an hour of travel (which I spent bouncing around on Molchun’s shoulder), I had another very unpleasant surprise. At a certain point, I realized that these three people didn’t seem to be behaving normally at all (and I’m not talking about the fact that they had just betrayed me). Their movements, their expressions, their gestures — everything pointed to these people being completely different from the ones who had been with us earlier in the day.

Before I switched to true vision, I had thought that maybe the ice poison was affecting my brain and causing hallucinations. But my sudden, wild guess turned out to be exactly right. These weren’t people in front of me at all: they were Ghosts.

In true vision, I could see that their energy systems weren’t lilac-colored like those of strykers. The mana circulating through their energy channels was getting darker and darker, slowly changing to a deep steely-gray color.

I had seen such an energy system once before, in the Ghost woman I had set free during my first time on the frontier... By the way — Duval, or whoever the hell he was, spoke the witching tongue with the exact same accent as that Ghost, with heavy emphasis on the final syllable of every word.

Duval and his pseudo-strykers, however, had more developed energy systems and reservoirs than that Ghost, and the mana in their systems was much more saturated. Also, these creatures seemed to have excellent mental defense. Even the lunari hadn’t managed to spot anything suspicious. The three Ghosts had obviously sensed the presence of my three fairies right from the start, and conducted themselves accordingly. I still didn’t know whether everyone in Duval’s unit knew about his true nature or not... As I thought about all these mysteries, and the fact that I might still have a chance to solve them, I gave myself another little mental pat on the back for not simply killing the treasonous bastards immediately.

Their internal transformation had begun almost as soon as they betrayed me, but as we descended deeper and deeper into the ground, the three began to change externally as well. After just a few moments, I saw Jean Duval’s body start to get longer. His limbs stretched ever so slightly. The tops of his ears became a little bit sharper. His eyes grew narrower, and a small bump appeared on his flattened fistfighter’s nose. In the dim grayish light that was reflecting off the walls, it was hard to determine what color their skin was, but I was pretty sure it would turn out to be gray, just like that Ghost woman on the frontier.

After passing a few natural tunnels and caves, we found ourselves at the edge of a huge, spindle-shaped pit in the ground, along whose edges a series of enormous steps spiralled down into the depths of the earth.

Every step was supported by several stone columns, whose surfaces were pockmarked with strange runes. It was a truly majestic sight, and it certainly hadn’t been carved anytime in recent memory.

I switched to true vision and saw a familiar, gray-brown magical glow emanating from inside these ancient stairs and columns. A huge energy system extended all throughout the columns and steps, its many tendrils winding themselves together to form big, thick conduits like the roots of a tree just at the point where they disappeared inside the wall of the cliff. Considering the quantity of brown mana inside the staircase, there was no earthquake in the world that could possibly have taken it down. I could only imagine the size of the brut that was powering the whole thing.

Thinking of this suddenly provoked a flash of realization in my mind. Okay, I thought... I’ve definitely seen something like this before... And it was also in the Shadow... Except that brut was an emerald-green one.

The Scarlets had discovered one of the Great Sources of Power!

The sight took my breath away for just a moment. Suddenly, though, the golden parasite tore my attention away from the miracle in front of me. Having sensed the incredibly-powerful flow of brown energy, the beast was trying to rebel against my attempts to hold it in check. I had to exert a little more control to suppress it. The time still hadn’t come...

Just then, as if reading my mind, Duval stepped in closer. He stopped Molchun, then jabbed another needle into my neck, followed by one more in each of my wrists, which sent another wave of burning cold racing across my body.

Go ahead, I thought — it still won’t be enough to save you...

Suddenly, Duval cocked his head to the side and looked me in the eyes. His face transformed in an instant. The old Jean Duval was staring back at me. A mirthful little flame was shining in his gray eyes. He winked at me, then began to speak in Vestonian (and with just a little hint of mockery in his voice):

“Hang on just a little longer, Your Lordship. We’ll be there soon. But I want to warn you in advance — you’re not in your Margraviate anymore. So please, be polite and show the proper respect to the master of this place, whom you’ll be meeting very shortly.”

I blinked, and saw that the creature with the dead, emotionless eyes was staring back at me once again. After slapping Molchun (who was standing there as still as a statue) on the shoulder, Duval headed toward the steps that lead down into the bowels of the earth.

Our arrival hadn’t gone unnoticed. Two armed guards with sharp, pointed ears were already rushing toward us from the direction of the steps.

Damn, I thought... Duval obviously isn’t on the lowest rung of the hierarchy around here. After a quick identity check, we were allowed to pass without any further delays.

As we descended the staircase, the trio of Ghosts was engaged in an animated discussion about a piece of news that one of the patrolmen had passed on. A unit had just returned from the north. As far as I could tell from the snippets of conversation I managed to overhear, all three of them had been eagerly awaiting the unit’s arrival. The Ghosts seemed to be preparing for something.

Several times, Duval — who was keeping a close eye on my energy system — had to stop Molchun and jab more of his icy poison into my body. I was successfully keeping the parasite from displaying any sign of activity, but Duval seemed to suspect something nonetheless. The further we went, the more frequently he kept taking out his little bottle of poison.

For my part, I was operating on the assumption that his little bottle of medicine would last at least until we made it into the presence of his so-called “master of this place.” Even in true vision, I couldn’t tell exactly what specific concoction was inside the little bottle of ice poison lying in Duval’s pocket. The container was sealed tight with magic runes; more surprisingly, they were almost undetectable by magical means.

Long story short, however, it was pretty clear that I would just have to put up with it for the time being and avoid giving myself away.

Molchun and Togrul picked me up beneath the arms and set off down a series of wide hallways in what was clearly a sort of underground building. The carefully-hewn stone walls were decorated with ancient symbols and bas-reliefs. They looked vaguely familiar to me, but I didn’t have any opportunity (much less any time) to go check them out. It was hard to pick up much detail in my peripheral vision. Especially when my head was just hanging there powerlessly, pressing my chin against my chest.

The former strykers were still holding me tightly from both sides as they ducked into a passageway that led off to the right. Then came a quick descent down a short spiral staircase.

Another passageway. And then we finally found ourselves opposite a big, wide door with two Ghosts standing guard outside it. As soon as they saw us, they started showering my captors with questions; they were clearly very interested in what was going on, but Duval quickly put a stop to the conversation.

The big door swung open, and they dragged me inside.

The first thing I noticed was the sharp, musky smell of an animal, mixed in with the revolting stench of excrement, urine, and rotting flesh. They were dragging me past a long row of cages, with Shadow monsters of every size and description crammed inside them.

Out of the corner of my eye, I spotted something that looked like a big wolf in the cage nearest me. I say “like a wolf” because instead of fur, it had thick, deep-gray scales that almost looked like they had been carbonized. Its massive paws tensed up as I approached. I could hear huge claws scratching against the stone floor.

The creature’s glowing lilac-colored eyes were fixated on every step the jailers took. As we drew closer, a menacing growl started to rumble out from within its throat.

At that point, the jailers abruptly turned me around, and I had a chance to look into another cage. This one contained something quite a bit scarier. It was a strange-looking, hunchbacked humanoid with long arms that stretched all the way down to the floor. Its skin looked like it had been carved from some sort of dimly-shimmering rock that was covered with cracks. The creature didn’t seem to have noticed me, but its sudden, frantic movements nevertheless suggested that something was making it nervous. Every muscle tensed up and started twitching as though the monster was preparing for an attack.

My scanner showed that both monsters possessed four-colored magical reservoirs. Presumably, they were some of the chimeras Duval had told me about.

Molchun and Togrul lowered me into one of the cages. All around me, I could hear the sounds of heavy breathing, claws scratching, and a low, deep growling that never seemed to stop. At that point, Duval, who had been walking behind us the entire way, suddenly said something to his companions, and they quickly left the hallway, leaving me alone in an open cage (again, they seemed totally confident in the poison’s ability to keep me from going anywhere).

Time passed slowly by, and I still couldn’t move a muscle; I could only watch the monsters in my peripheral vision as they cast me an occasional glance. I could also hear Duval’s muffled conversation with one of the guards. According to what I could make out, the unit of northerners had just been escorted in for an audience with the same Lord Khaldrekar to whom that bastard Duval had so kindly promised to introduce me.

Finally, Molchun and Togrul came back. They were carrying a collar and a set of four shackles, all linked together by lengths of chain. The bright magical glow radiating from the artifact suggested that it was similar to the one I had taken off the Ghost woman during my last trip to the frontier.

It wasn’t hard to guess who this one was meant for. Of course, my previous experience with the other artifact made me feel pretty confident that I would be able to get it off without too much difficulty when the time came. Especially considering how much more powerful I had become since my first trip to the frontier.

Without a word, Molchun and Togrul slipped the rune-covered artifact onto me. With a click, the steel hoops squeezed themselves around my wrists, my shins (just above the ankle), and my neck. Another click, and a number of thin needles shot into my skin beneath the metal hoops, delivering a fresh new dose of ice poison into my body. Thankfully, they didn’t seem to realize that the more of this ice mana they pumped into me, the quicker I would be able to develop an immunity to it. It was just like what had happened with those acid-spitting ants, back when I was sitting in that cage in the jungles of the Shadow.

Noticing my glance, Duval interpreted it in his own way. With a cold, unnatural-looking smile on his face, he winked at me, then turned around to leave. The door slammed shut with a loud clang. I heard the jingling of keys, then the sound of footsteps fading into the distance.

I closed my eyes and tried to separate myself from the disgusting menagerie’s chorus of snarls, growls, and shrieks.

Then I glanced down at my own energy system. The golden parasite was just waiting, obediently and motionlessly. As things stood at the time, smashing through the poison’s block and removing the artifact would only have taken a few seconds. But I decided to get acquainted with the local boss before I did so. I knew it would be best to keep my freedom of movement a surprise.

In the end, they didn’t give me much time to be alone with my thoughts. I heard a noise near the entrance doors, followed by the sound of hurried footsteps approaching my cage. Apparently, whoever owned the place had learned about my arrival and decided that they wanted to meet me as soon as possible.

The doors to the cage swung open, and I saw a number of unfamiliar faces. Gray skin and energy systems, pointy ears, narrow eyes — they had sent a group of five Ghosts to fetch me this time. I didn’t see Duval among them. Presumably, they all thought I was safely immobilized.

A short while later, the small convoy led me to a pair of big, elongated doors, which were affixed to the wall by massive hinges made of Shadow steel.

Everything around me — the walls, the doors, the floor — was all interconnected by a tangled web of brown energy channels. I could literally feel the primordial power flowing from behind the door. The Great Source was probably somewhere very nearby.

The golden parasite started writhing around in anticipation. Like a fierce predator that had picked up the scent of blood, it was ready at any moment to smash through the icy barrier inside my energy system and launch itself at its prey. But it clearly wasn’t going to do so until I gave the order. And the right moment for that order had not yet arrived...

In my mind, I couldn’t help chuckling to myself. History was repeating itself. I was back in the pit. Bound by shackles and chains. Preparing to meet the master of the place.

Slowly, the gigantic doors began to crawl inward. The surge of magical power that washed over us as they did so was so powerful that, for just a moment, everything started to go dark. A strong smell of damp earth wafted over me.

Hold on, I thought... Not quite yet...

They led me in a little farther. The first thing that caught my attention was a massive brut that stood in the center of the hall. It was shaped sort of like a huge, broken tooth that had grown straight out of the cliff. The mesmerizing crystal’s thick walls were covered by a web of thin cracks, through which faint, gray-brown energy was slowly seeping out into the air. The mana inside the crystal was vibrating ever so slightly, emitting a faint, subtle hum that pierced deep into my mind and made me slightly dizzy. Something was obviously wrong with the crystal. I seemed to remember that the green Source in the lands of the Lao people had “behaved” pretty differently.

There were huge, thick energy channels stretching out from the base of the rock, like roots from an ancient tree. They extended throughout the entire hall, deep into the walls and floor. The channels were feeding the subterranean temple, supplying it with power that kept the place from collapsing. The light coming from these channels was brighter than the surface of the crystal itself, and once in a while it seemed to be pulsing, as if it were keeping time with some mysterious rhythm. No, I thought... Brown mana shouldn’t be behaving this way... Something’s clearly wrong with this place... And I think I know who’s to blame for that.

At the very top of the crystal, seated as if upon a throne, was a tall humanoid — and when I say “tall,” I mean about twice the size of a normal human. It had a slightly elongated head with a huge jawbone, a flat nose, and eyes as dark as the Abyss itself (which seemed to be pointed slightly out to the sides). Its steely gaze seemed to be looking straight through me.

In terms of clothing, all it had on was a long, black, toga-like garment that was covered in dimly-glowing, embroidered writing. Somehow, it seemed like something not of this world.

The giant was holding a brown brut the size of a human head in each of its clawed hands. And it was burning through the mana in these bruts at a pretty striking pace. Both bruts crumbled to dust in the space of just a few heartbeats.

My captors set me down on my knees in front of this strange ruler of the underground. The eyes of Lord Khaldrekar, whom everything suggested this must be, radiated an icy calmness and a sense of complete confidence in his own power. After a quick glance at his energy system (which he didn’t even bother to conceal), I realized that I was dealing with a compatriot of Sister Fria. This demon, though, was quite a bit more powerful.

I lowered my gaze for just a moment. Dozens of Ghosts were standing around on either side of the brut. Judging by the fur lining on their clothing, these were the northerners that the others had already mentioned a few times.

My eyes focused on one of the figures, who was standing a little farther away than most of the others. This Ghost’s face somehow looked familiar to me. Our eyes met...

For just a moment, a flash of recognition lit up her otherwise soulless eyes...

Meanwhile, the creature sitting atop the Source of Power leaned forward just a little bit. Its voice sounded like a piece of metal scratching across a stone surface, and every word dripped with derision. The overall effect was harsh, cold, and almost unbearably heavy.

“Nice try, little fox.”

A second later, a shimmering web filled with black mana shot toward me out of its claw-tipped hand.

Okay, I thought — NOW it’s time!


Chapter 22

SEVERAL THINGS HAPPENED at once in the course of the second that followed. I ordered the parasite to make its move, while simultaneously scooping a small clot of golden mana out of my reservoir and sending it flowing into the Coronal Node on the top of my head.

As the little energy boost sank in, the node suddenly flashed and increased my perceptive abilities exponentially. Time seemed to slow down. I could see the black web expanding into a large, spiderweb-like net as it moved through space toward me. Its threads were pulsating, shining with a deep, anthracite-black light.

With a quick golden flash, the icy crust that had been holding my energy system in check suddenly burst apart into a million spark-spitting fragments.

As soon as the block was removed, the brown mana saturating the air started to pour into my system, like water gushing in through a hole in a ship’s hull. If the golden parasite had been able to speak, I’m sure I would have heard a pretty vicious beast-like growl.

In the space of a single heartbeat, I formed a golden web in front of myself, which quickly transformed into a magical shield. And not a moment too soon, as it turned out, because the black web smacked into that shield just a fraction of a second later.

The collision of the two webs produced a sudden, violent flash. My magical shield flickered and disappeared; the black web was vibrating from the force of the impact, but it was still flying inexorably forward.

I realized my error immediately, of course: knowing that speed was of the essence, I had acted on instinct and put too small a clot of mana into my web, and consequently it wasn’t powerful enough to stop the black web. Luckily, though, the trick still ended up having the desired effect. My web slowed the demon’s spell down long enough for me to jerk my body backward, grab the two Ghosts’ arms and wrench them off my wrists, then shove both Ghosts in front of me.

As I rolled backward, I redirected part of my mana flow into my aura. The golden mist that surrounded my body grew thicker (it was also sucking energy from the runes around us). As I hopped back up onto my feet, my shackles — now deprived of their energy source — clattered to the stone floor with a muffled clang.

The parasite wasn’t interfering with me in any of this. We were working in harmony, like two parts of a single whole. He was filling up my reservoir, while I focused on handling external threats.

Before ducking to the side, I threw a quick glance at the black web. It had wrapped itself around the two Ghosts I had shoved out into its path. They were lying on the floor, wrapped tightly in its coal-black threads. Their bodies were frozen, as completely immobile as two statues. But they were alive.

Finding myself next to one of the Ghosts who had been standing behind me, I quickly ducked under his arm (which he had only just barely begun to raise). His gray eyes widened; his mouth opened just a little bit. He didn’t even have a chance to activate his magical shield. With a quick shift, I whirled around behind his back and landed a vicious uppercut right on the backside of his head.

I heard a dull crunch, and my pointy-eared opponent crumpled to the ground, as limp as though somebody had pulled a support rod out of his spine. I bent down over my stricken enemy’s body, then pulled his sword from its scabbard, along with a slightly-curved dagger.

My Coronal node began to vibrate; after powering it up with golden mana, I could literally feel the approach of danger. I rolled to the side, then turned and saw another black web slap down onto the spot where I had just been standing.

Another roll... Then a jump... I bent down to let the next black web pass harmlessly over my head.

Two lunges to the right... And then I changed direction and headed for the exit.

“Don’t let him escape!” I heard the infuriated demon roar from behind me.

Hold on, I thought with a wry smile... Who said I was going anywhere? I mean, I just got here, right?

Almost in unison, the Ghosts rushed toward me from all sides. I quickly glanced around. All their magical shields were activated.

I took a deep breath... Then I sent some mana coursing down my energy channels. Everything was ready.

I spread my arms to the side and bent my head forward. A golden glow flashed out across the blades of my sword and dagger. Like a huge celestial dragon spreading its wings, I was ready to embark on a journey that would destroy everything in my path.

I took a slow, creeping step forward. My first opponent dove into a long thrust with his sword. I gave the parasite a signal, and it sent a big dose of golden mana surging down the energy channels in my right arm.

The Ghost’s sword, which was shrouded in a pale gray haze, slipped past my shoulder, missing it by no more than the width of two fingers. My pointy-eared opponent tumbled forward and landed belly-first on the outstretched tip of my dagger.

His magical shield emitted a sudden, blinding flash in the spot where the mana-charged blade slammed into his abdomen. A ragged ripple surged out across his body, and after a few more quick blows the Ghost was left without his magical shield. As soon as his shield was gone, I sank my short, slightly-curved blade into his abdomen, punching through his breastplate as if it were no more than a sheet of paper.

The Ghost shuddered and let out a loud gasp. Inertia was still moving his body forward, but the devastating damage my golden mana had done to his energy system made it pretty clear that he wouldn’t be alive for much longer. As I dashed forward, I jerked my hand to the side, ripping the dagger out of my opponent’s stomach with a stomach-turning crunch as his armor and rib bones cracked apart.

Another step forward, and I was face-to-face with my next two opponents. They threw themselves at me almost simultaneously from both sides. The one on the right slammed straight into a magical shield I created from one of my webs; the impact was as violent as if he had run full-force into a stone wall.

I heard the clang of steel and a loud stream of curses as the Ghost was thrown back and sent rolling along the stone floor. The magical haze surrounding his body flashed a few times, then resumed its original color.

The second Ghost wasn’t so lucky. A quick swing of my right-hand “dragon wing,” and my sword (which was practically dripping with golden mana) slammed down onto his neck. Smashing through the gray bastards’ shields required me to pump a good deal of energy into my sword and dagger, but thankfully there was so much brown mana in the hall that you could practically reach out and touch it. And of course, the golden parasite was sucking it in and wolfing it down like a hunger-crazed monster, which turned it into “gold” almost instantly.

With a flash, the shield around the Ghost popped like a soap bubble, and my burning golden blade cut its body almost completely in half. A spray of hot blood stung my face. I could taste the characteristic metallic tang in my mouth.

The gray swordsman’s body didn’t even have time to splatter to the floor before my next opponent came jumping toward me, with two others hot on his heels. I slid deftly between them. I dodged quickly and parried their sword thrusts. As I did so, I launched into a counterattack; I was just waiting for the moment when the parasite would work up enough energy for my next powerful blow.

Meanwhile, a few more Ghosts rushed over to join their compatriots. They would grunt, hiss, and puff loudly every time they swung an especially powerful blow. I kept switching from one opponent to the other, using quick dashes to move around and keep them guessing. I would shelter behind one Ghost’s body and launch an attack from the relative safety that that provided. Several times, I threw up webs as shields. Each step, each movement, each thrust and swing brought the tempo of the “Dance of the Celestial Dragon” to a faster tempo. I entered the state that Mamoru Yamada had trained me to achieve…

“Under the entire vault of the heavens, there’s nothing that can withstand the Great Serpent,” he used to say.

The more my movements sped up, the more those of my opponents started to become hesitant and weak.

I checked my reservoir. The parasite had done its work well. It was time...

One of the gray bastards, whose shield was practically gone, tried to stab me in the side. After easily dodging his thrust, I whipped around into a counterattack and plunged my dagger into his heart. His eyes bulged; his face twisted into a grimace; a death scream caught in his throat.

A long, lunging swing — and the next opponent fell screaming to the floor with her legs cut off. Fountains of blood sprayed blood all over the ground in all directions.

A broad-shouldered, sharp-eared Ghost in full armor (which was lined with fur) let out a loud roar and swung a fighting scythe up above his head. I met this with a magical shield, then sank my dagger into his abdomen just below the ribs. With a golden flash, the northerner’s side turned into a huge, nasty-looking avulsive tear.

And yet he was still alive. Grunting and grimacing, he tried to wave me back with his scythe. I quickly dove beneath the razor-sharp curve of his blade. By that point, the handle of my dagger was slippery with blood, and it finally slipped out of my hands. A swing of my sword sent the northerner’s head rolling across the ground. His magical shield was already gone, so I didn’t even need to use mana for the killing blow.

Another northerner, who had already crouched down and leaned forward, suddenly shot forward at me with a vicious swing of his sword. Apparently, he was hoping to chop my right leg clean off, but alas — he missed, and in the process he made it all the easier for me to run my sword through his body.

My blow was quick. I took aim at the base of his neck, after sending a pretty sizable clot of mana all the way to the very tip of the weapon. The Ghost’s gray magical shield flickered, and my blade sank into his throat like a warm knife into butter.

At that point, however, something unexpected happened. With a dull crunch, my sword suddenly snapped in half. Even Shadow steel couldn’t withstand the force of so much golden mana flowing through it.

Naturally, nobody was going to give me a chance to rearm if they could help it. With renewed vigor, the surviving Ghosts threw themselves at me from all sides.

The parasite had been greedily devouring the energy in the air around us, and at my command it pumped a huge golden surge into the aura around my body. This immediately made the aura thicker and denser.

I dodged the first blow by ducking to the right; I could feel the blade whistle past the side of my head. The second blow hit my aura, but didn’t break it.

I responded with a web called a Chaos Fang. Up to the very last minute, I had been trying to keep my attack webs a secret; after all, I didn’t want the demon to find out any more about my skills than absolutely necessary. But it seemed that the time had finally come. A golden spindle shot forward from my hand, punched through the magical shield on the Ghost closest to me, and sank itself into his heart.

Inhale... Exhale... The parasite poured more mana into my aura. My hands were soon wrapped in a thick, shimmering golden haze, which shaped itself into a pair of translucent paws with huge claws at their tips.

A quick lunge, and the glowing claws on my left hand tore open another northerner’s throat. Another lunge, and my right hand’s claws sank deep between the shoulderblades of a Ghost who had let his guard down for just a split second.

For the next few seconds, I flitted from one opponent to the next, snarling and scowling like a wild beast as I shredded and smashed my way through armor and living flesh. Magical shields emitted violent flashes as they cracked, flickered, and sometimes held for a blow or two; inevitably, though, they all eventually disappeared, one after another. The smell and taste of my slain enemies’ blood was intoxicating, and it gave me a strange, inexplicable feeling of oneness with my true nature.

Blow after blow — one, two, three. The pointy-eared Ghosts were falling before they could even raise their weapons. They were no longer able even to attempt a coordinated attack. Their reservoirs were practically empty. I could sense their fear and horror. Their faces, their eyes, and their hearts said it all loud and clear.

The entire battle lasted a matter of minutes, but that was enough to litter the marble floor with corpses and drown it in a pond’s worth of their thick, viscous blood.

To my right, I suddenly heard an abrupt growl from the master of the underground.

“Useless vermin! Once again, I have to do everything myself!”

With that, the surviving ghosts jumped back from me. I could see relief on some of their faces.

A sense of danger surged over me again. Obeying the commands of my dialed-up perceptive abilities, I rolled to the side, then turned and saw that the floor where I had just been standing had burst open in a shower of rock and earth. A long, disgusting black vine, covered in nasty-looking curved thorns, had crawled up out of it.

It started to widen, increasing in volume and length at the same time. Like a huge snake, the vine began to slither toward me, then turned to the side and raced around the room until it started to surround me and close me in a ring.

I raced for the opening, which was closing fast, but I didn’t make it in time. The last escape route from the ring quickly slipped shut. And just a moment later, the ring began to tighten, as a wall of magical black bramble bushes quickly grew up all along its surface.

I stretched my arm out, formed a web, and threw a Chaos Fang at the disgusting vine. The section I had aimed my attack at suddenly grew denser as it absorbed the force of the blow. A light vibration, pocked with little sparks of gold, rippled out across the black, thorny surface of the vine. But that was all.

So I turned to look at the demon seated on his massive crystal, then switched tactics and directed my attacks straight at him, firing several webs in quick succession. To my disappointment, the demon Lord didn’t even flinch. My golden fangs flew straight into some invisible barrier and, like moths flying into a bonfire, they burst into flames and dissipated impotently into the air.

Lord Khaldrekar’s wide, almost lipless face spread into a disdainful smile that exposed a pair of long fangs.

“The little fox dares to think that he’s acquired some power? I suppose I’ll have to educate him!”

The giant’s claw-studded hand stretched out to grab a big outcrop that jutted out from the wall of the massive brown crystal. With one quick movement, he jerked the outcrop and tore off a hunk of crystal the size of a bull’s head. The demon did this so easily that you might have thought the entire gigantic brut was composed of raw clay.

A moment later, the brut in the giant’s hand crumbled to dust, and a long, coal-black spear appeared in its place. The lord of the underground stood up, sprang up off the surface of the crystal, and soared up into the vaulted ceiling of the hall.

In one huge jump, he crossed the distance between us in the space of just a few heartbeats. Watching as the huge body soared toward me with its spear leveled straight at my heart, I started to form a huge mass of mana. It was even bigger than the one I had summoned during the cavern collapse. I managed to scoop out nearly half the supply of mana in my reservoir. It was as much as I could hope to control, given my limited powers of concentration. One false move, and the giant, sun-like ball of mana I had collected would explode, destroying my physical body and my energy body alike.

After forming a web, I sent the mana I had collected surging into it just a fraction of a second before the monster landed. And sure enough, a defensive dome flashed into being above my head, similar to the one that had saved me and Uwe during the collapse. This time, however, the energy cords were much thicker and longer.

I was about to scoop another portion of mana from my reservoir, but at just that moment a blow of indescribable power suddenly slammed down onto the dome. As I watched in awe, the golden cords flickered and started to fall to the ground like rotten, barren vines. Gods, I thought... How powerful IS this beast?

Actually, that was the only thing that crossed my mind before the monster’s huge, black spearhead crunched into my right shoulder and nailed my body to the ground like a specimen moth.

Then came the pain...

It was so intense and overpowering that it actually seemed to slow the flow of time and reduce reality to a single, unbearable moment.

So all-consuming was it, in fact, that for a moment I couldn’t even conceive of anything else in the world besides the horrible sensation itself. Every breath in, every breath out, had suddenly become a trial.

It felt like my nervous system was screaming out a nonstop signal of agony. Neither thought nor movement was possible in such a state — every thought was immediately hijacked by the unbearable, burning wave of pain.

The agony overpowered my will and made me shiver and grind my teeth as my mind searched frantically for any opportunity to escape. Reality seemed to lose its meaning altogether as my consciousness shrank to a single, simple imperative: survive.

The last thing I saw before the welcome embrace of darkness was the burning look of triumph and pleasure in the demon’s eyes...

A moment later, the darkness was gone, and I found myself looking out across a familiar alien landscape. An endless desert, beneath a yellow sun and fiery-red clouds.

The first thing I noticed was that the burning, all-consuming pain was gone. All that remained was a faint echo.

I quickly examined my energy body (which was floating in the air, just like the previous time) and saw a big black blotch in the area around my shoulder. It was flashing and pulsing, and I could see that it was trying to spread; it was being held in place, however, by golden energy channels that were fighting fiercely to keep it confined.

My arrival in the alien sky got noticed much more quickly this time. Dark shadows started flying in from all around me, like a pack of hungry hyenas around a bloody carcass. I hadn’t uttered a single word, but apparently they spotted me anyway. I assume that it had something to do with my wound. The black mana was luring the wandering shadows like a lighthouse in the darkness.

This time, however, none of them tried to say anything or persuade me at all.

The pale, discolored shadows simply started screaming at one another.

“He’s mine!”

“Mine!”

“No, he’s mine!”

I tensed up and prepared to defend myself. Not that I had the faintest idea how to do that, of course. When the nearest shadows were only a couple yards from the spot where I was hanging helplessly in midair, a film of golden energy suddenly swooped out and surrounded the area. The sight of it caused the shadows to erupt in a chorus of awestruck howls.

Hundreds of bright flashes started appearing within the depths of the film.

“That’ll hold them off for a while,” I heard a female voice say from somewhere nearby.

It was the same loud, ringing, curious voice I had heard before. If only, I thought... If only its owner knew just how happy I was to hear her by my side...

“What are you doing here, looking like that?” She asked sternly. “You may as well have rung a big dinner bell for everything in this part of the Reverse, coming here with that filth on your shoulder. You’re lucky there’s nothing more dangerous in the area right now. You can speak, by the way. These vermin already know you’re here. Although actually, no... Best if you stay silent. I sense the presence of a large devourer. We’ll tak somewhere else...”

The world flickered, and I found myself inside a big cavern, whose walls were glowing with a pale, fiery-orange light. A moment later, I heard a stern old man’s voice speak up from behind my back.

“Unthinking savage. You acted very foolishly, returning to the Reverse with the mark of death upon you like this.”


Chapter 23

IT WAS A WEIRD FEELING, to say the least... Just a few moments before, I had been in the middle of a battle, covered from head to toe in the blood of my slain enemies and switching from one fighting stance to another. And suddenly, without even having time to blink, I was in some completely different universe, surrounded by completely unfamiliar beings.

The temple, the battle, the demon’s incredible strength, the horrible pain, the teleportation to this new world... Simply put, the whirlwind of contrasting emotions and thoughts had given rise to a very strange feeling. More than anything, it felt like I had just slammed into a wall at full speed. I was eager to get up and keep moving, rather than hanging in the energy fog like a big useless lump.

The strong connection that had emerged between me and my golden parasite had nearly been sundered. I could still sense it, but it felt very far away. Like it was at the edge of another universe, getting farther and farther away all the time.

Without making any attempt to respond to the spirit’s words, I tried to get myself back under control, and as a first step I checked in with my body. As with my first visit to this strange place, my energy body was just hanging there, suspended in midair. At least this time, though, I was free to move around. There wasn’t anything to push off from in the middle of the air, of course, but a simple mental command was enough to set my body moving in a given direction.

Finally, I turned around to face the voice that had spoken to me. Just like my previous vision, the strange golden spirits were floating in a semicircle before me; this time, though, there were only three of them.

And there was one other change, too. This time, when I stared back at the thick, humanoid masses of energy, I could make out the features of their faces. They were vague, and normally pretty blurry. And they would shift in and out of focus from time to time. Trying to discern the details was like looking into a babbling river and trying to make out something at the bottom.

Just like the last time, the largest of the spirits, whose glow was deeper and richer than that of the others, was floating in the center. Through the rippling fog, I could see the outline of his elongated face, his gray beard, and the thin line of his lips. His eyes were like two shards of light, shimmering with an icy cold as they stared into the very depths of my soul. Whenever I tried to look into them, though, they would immediately disappear, leaving behind only a faint glow like that of a long-extinguished fire.

“He’s coming here too often,” I heard another familiar voice grumble.

It came from a short, chubby silhouette with a round face and saggy cheeks like those of a bulldog. Whoever it was, they clearly weren’t very happy to see me.

“Indeed,” my loud-voiced savior replied. “Two immersions in such a short span of time. New ones who’ve completed their training usually can’t get back into the Reverse for about a year. And then only if they’ve done everything correctly and obeyed all their mentor’s instructions.”

I glanced at her short, graceful silhouette and smiled to myself. She looked exactly the way I had imagined her, although I don’t know why I imagined her like that at all. I could see her curious eyes, filled with the thrill of investigation and discovery as they stared back at me through the fog, as well as her delicate facial features, locks of golden hair, and a short, stubby nose.

“Allow me, Venerable Ines, to share my conclusion with you,” the saggy-cheeked spirit replied condescendingly. “You’re about to say that this stupid savage is Unique. Am I right?”

“Why not?” The spirit (whose name seemed to be Ines) replied with a question of her own. She didn’t sound offended by the condescending tone at all. “Why are you so skeptical, Venerable Oliver? I seem to remember that you were one of the Unique yourself at one point.”

“I hope you’re not comparing me with this primitive creature?” The jowly spirit sounded offended.

Despite the fact that I had just been torn from the middle of a battle, and was still in an agitated frame of mind, I managed to overcome my annoyance enough to ask a question with relative calm:

“Am I still alive?”

My voice sounded strange. It felt like my words were coming from somewhere above me.

The head spirit drifted a little closer to me. His eyes flashed.

“I ask the questions here.”

I would have liked to respond, but I realized that I couldn’t utter a sound. And I also realized that I had lost control of my body again.

“But very well — I’ll answer this question for you,” he continued, his tone still icy. “If you’re referring to your physical shell, then yes — you can be sure it’s still alive. Judging by the way the mana channel between you is slowly thinning, however, it may not be alive for much longer. Although I’m sure you could have guessed that with a quick glance at that disgusting mark on your shoulder. Haven’t you noticed that it’s growing? And how did you manage to get it in the first place?”

The spirit leaned in closer. His eyes flashed. It seemed like if he leaned in any closer, I would start to feel the otherworldly heat emanating from his body.

“I’m going to let you speak now,” he said slowly and deliberately. “But if you start asking your own foolish questions instead of answering mine, our conversation will be over. Blink if you understand me.”

I remembered how, when I was still a kid, Vadoma used to say the same thing whenever I peppered her with questions: “Your ear often knows more than your mouth will ask.” And I had learned the truth of this saying many, many times as I grew older and more experienced.

Without hesitation, I blinked, and immediately sensed that I had control of my own body once again.

“It’s a wound,” I replied.

“Who wounded you?” The spirit was ready with his next question.

“I wish I knew the answer to that question myself,” I replied; noticing that the spirit’s eyes seemed about to flash, however, I quickly went on. “A moment before appearing here, I was fighting against a bearer of death magic. It was he who wounded me, with a magical spear...”

“Most Luminous Remigius,” the spirit called Oliver said, ignoring the fact that I was still speaking. “The savage is either mistaken or lying. The dark ones were all overthrown, and their leader was cast into the Abyss.”

“His wound suggests the opposite,” Ines objected immediately.

“Many artifacts were left behind in their world after the great battle. One of them probably made this wound, but whoever did it was probably just another savage like him.” Oliver seemed pretty adamant.

“Is that so?” The leader asked as his burning eyes turned to stare at me from the fog.

“No,” I stated flatly, before quickly describing what had happened in the minute before my appearance in their strange world.

When I finished speaking, a dark silence hung in the cavern. The way the golden glow in the cave (which the spirits’ bodies were composed of) began to fade, I could tell that my words had upset them quite a bit.

“What did he look like, this one who wounded you?” Ines asked.

Her voice now sounded dull and lifeless. There was no trace of her former spontaneity and lightness at all.

I quickly described the master of the underground and mentioned the name that my captors had used to refer to him.

“It can’t be!” Oliver’s voice was shaking. “So our sacrifice was in vain?!”

“But I saw the Accursed One and his cohort fall into the Abyss with my own eyes...” Ines said aloud in a distracted murmur.

“He found a way out, then,” concluded the head spirit, whom Oliver had referred to as “Most Luminous Remigius.” “Someone managed to conduct the summoning ritual and offer the appropriate sacrifice...”

As I listened to their conversation, I started to understand who fate had actually brought me into contact with. Although actually, it seemed fair to assume that I wouldn’t have ended up where I was without the intercession of my mysterious benefactor...

For a moment, I thought that the time had come to ask the questions that were really worrying me, but I held my tongue just in time. After all, I thought — what if the spirits end up reacting totally differently to what I’m expecting? Take Ines, for instance. For some reason (and I can’t imagine why), she’s obviously favorably disposed toward me, but right now she looks more like a big thunderhead than the cute little golden cloud she used to resemble.

I concluded that I would just have to wait and listen patiently. Judging by the speed at which the black mass on my shoulder was growing, however, it seemed like I was rapidly running out of time... I could already feel a light burning sensation in my wound. I didn’t even want to imagine what my physical body was going through...

From there, the spirits proceeded to throw dozens of questions at me. And it didn’t escape my notice that Oliver, who had basically been ignoring me up until then, was now the most active contributor to the whole conversation.

They asked me about my world, about the Shadow, about magic and those who wielded it, and about bruts — in particular, the huge brown brut that the master of the underground had been sitting on when I was brought into his presence. As I answered these questions, I could feel the dark stain on my shoulder getting bigger, and I started to lose my patience. Still, though, I tried my hardest to catch every word that the spirits uttered.

“Khaldrekar...” Oliver mused out loud. “One of the greatest masters of the Accursed One’s rituals. If he’s there, that means the process is already underway...”

“But he obviously hasn’t acquired enough power yet,” countered Ines.

Under different circumstances, of course, I might have disputed that particular assertion.

“Indeed,” Remigius agreed. “Otherwise he’d already be making his moves, rather than wasting time sitting next to a Source of Power. As soon as he devours enough mana and stabilizes his reservoir, though, he’ll be bound to swing into action.”

Oliver let out a defeated sigh.

“From the description this savage has given us, the crystal won’t be able to resist him for much longer, and then the beast will have full access to its mana...”

“Venerables ones.” The head spirit raised his voice to cut off the budding discussion. “I want to remind you that there’s no longer any point to these conversations. The fate of that world is no longer in our hands. We’ve done everything in our power, but we have no power over the Foreordained. That means that their world is fated to undergo these transformations. In this lies the balance and harmony of all things.”

Ines and Oliver didn’t respond to this, but judging by the fact that their silhouettes started to emit a brighter golden glow as he spoke, it seemed that they were in total agreement with the lead spirit’s words.

“Is that all, then?” I asked. I had finally lost my patience, and I no longer cared that they had told me not to speak. “I’ve just been floating around here with you, wasting valuable time?”

Against all my expectations, the spirits answered my question.

“Time?” Oliver’s voice was full of sarcasm. “The stupid savage still doesn’t get it.”

“What does that mean?” I snapped back as my body tensed up.

“What Venerable Oliver is trying to say is that your energy system has failed to defeat the mark of death,” Ines explained calmly. “You’re doomed. Your physical body will die very soon, and your energy body won’t be far behind.”

Her eyes appeared through the film. They were filled with sadness and sympathy. Apparently, she already considered me a dead man.

Even the head spirit condescended to answer me.

“I told you that already. Your mana flow will soon run out, and you’ll lose your connection with that world... But you don’t have enough energy to make use of that channel anyway. It doesn’t look like there’s anybody on that side who can help you this time. And you’ll never be able to replenish your mana supply on your own. Learning how to gather energy in the Reverse takes decades of training...”

As I listened to the spirit, I felt the pounding in my chest growing heavier with every passing moment. Like blows from an invisible hammer, it was soon sending vibrations all across my body.

The rage was building in heavy, burning waves, but I maintained my calm by focusing on a single point in front of me. I could feel heat rising through my neck into my head, but I didn’t let it explode out of me. Thousands of emotions were swirling through my mind. My inner animal nature tried to break through once again.

I felt the urge to snarl and growl, but instead I forced myself to close my eyes and concentrate. I knew I didn’t have a second to waste on thoughtless bursts of emotion.

The head spirit said there was nobody on the other side who could help me... But was that true? I listened to my innermost sensations and reached out for the mana flow, through which I could sense the presence of my parasite.

Nothing happened at first. I felt like a tiny fly, smacking its head repeatedly against the glass. Then, however, I finally got what I had been hoping for. I managed to get through to the parasite, who seemed to be in a state somewhere between sleeping and dreaming. My call made it start moving and wriggling...

Yes, I thought! Perfect! I could sense the beast’s joy, although in retrospect that was probably just a reflection of my own emotions. But I didn’t care...

It worked! My reservoir, which was practically empty of mana, suddenly started pulsating, and a moment later I felt a familiar movement from within it. The hungry parasite wanted some food... But its attack on the black blotch in my shoulder had already failed. Attacking such a powerful enemy, after all, would require more mana...

I opened my eyes and glanced around at the spirits who were staring back at me. I stopped on the one whose eyes were widest with amazement.

“Venerable Ines,” I said. “Please be so kind as to return me to the place where you found me.”

“That would be stupid and pointless,” the head spirit answered for her. “Why die in agony? Here, you could at least pass away in relative comfort.”

“Who said I’m planning to die?” I replied, then turned back to address Ines: “What do you say?”

“Are you sure?” She asked.

The features of her face emerged through the foggy film as she asked this, and I could see her eyes. Ines was looking at me the way one might look at a soldier who was about to march into his last battle.

“Absolutely,” I replied.

“Get ready, then,” she agreed.

The world flickered, and I found myself in exactly the same place where Ines had picked me up. The film that she had initially surrounded me with was no longer there. The gluttonous little shadows were still flitting all around me, trying to collect my last little crumbs of energy.

My sudden appearance provoked a torrent of excited shrieks.

“Mine!”

“No, mine!”

“Goodbye, brave savage,” Ines’ voice whispered out of the emptiness. “I wish you a fortunate rebirth...”

“I hope you’ll have reason to stop calling me a savage by the next time we meet,” I chuckled. I heard a soft, sad laugh.

And with that, the time for conversation was over... The spirits were already nearby.

The greedy little immaterial shadows were all around me, like vultures closing in on a dying animal. The dim glow of my aura only seemed to whet their appetites even more.

Their attack came like an avalanche, collapsing onto my energy body from all sides. I still hadn’t quite managed to get my bearings after the teleportation, and each time a spirit slammed into my aura it sent a pulsing pain into my mind.

The shadows sucked themselves onto my body from all sides like a swarm of hungry leeches. Their restless, curled-up bodies were vibrating so intensely that they emitted a high-frequency sound that soon began to resonate through my energy channels.

I could feel them soaking through what remained of my protective aura, slithering like foggy tentacles as they worked their way deeper and deeper into my system until they were right next to my reservoir. Every moment I had to spend in this condition was agony. Several of the beasts had already reached my energy system and started sucking out the remnants of my life force.

In their unsuspecting greed, however, they fell right into my trap. The beast who formed such an integral part of me was merely waiting for as many spirits to become ensnared in my aura as possible before it lept into action.

The starving parasite was thirsting for mana, and suddenly it was everywhere, stuck onto every open surface on my body.

The first spirit who had latched itself onto my energy system suddenly let out a loud squeal of pain, then started thrashing around like a fish with a spear through its side as a golden tentacle sank into its body.

A stomach-turning scream of pain and horror echoed through the yellow sky as the parasite began to devour the otherworldly creature. One of the other spirits tried to tear itself loose from another tentacle, but it was too late. The spirit disappeared, almost as if it had dissolved into thin air, and when it did I felt a surge of power return to my reservoir.

The parasite knew no exhaustion. I could feel it switch its attention to the next spirit, who was stuck in my aura like a fly in a honeypot. The little shadow was trying as hard as it could to break free; its movements soon grew chaotic, almost feverish. But resistance was futile. The gaps in my aura slowly started to heal.

The other small spirits, who had attacked me so viciously just moments before, had already started to notice the changes. Their chaotic movements quickly acquired an air of fear. Some of them tried to retreat, but by then it was too late. I felt the parasite grab them, one after the other, and devour them with unstoppable, insatiable greed. The little creatures were no longer a threat to me. On the contrary, in fact — I was starting to worry that we would have to start chasing them all across the Reverse.

As my reservoir filled, I could feel a pleasant warmth spreading through my energy body. Slowly but surely, the pain subsided, edged out by this new influx of strength.

The last spirits weren’t even attacking me anymore. They were twitching, squirming as they tried to escape my aura, while the parasite continued sucking them methodically and mercilessly into its own body. As it turned out, there were some larger fish caught in our “net” as well. Presumably, these were the same “devourerers” that Ines had been so worried about. My golden parasite had already hit its stride, however, and even these larger shadows were no match for it at all.

Another moment, and then the last of them was gone...

Silence filled the air around me. My body was so overflowing with energy that it was actually vibrating, while my aura was saturated and shimmering, fully prepared for the next attack. But there weren’t any enemies left...

I looked around, and once I was sure that there was nothing around me anymore, I turned my attention to my own energy system. And it was something to behold... I hadn’t noticed immediately in the heat of battle, but by the time I looked down at it the big black mark on my shoulder had shrunk until it was roughly the size of a pinky fingernail. The parasite hadn’t wasted a second. Once the spirits were gone, it had switched its attention instantly to the black mana in my wound. A few moments later, and the pitiful remnants of the death magic dissolved into my energy system.

Now it was my turn to use my time wisely: I focused on the mana channel that connected my energy body with my physical one, and (without any real difficulty) I sent a big burst of mana flowing through it.

It turned out to be more than enough. Easily and lightly, without any effort, my body started to rise into the air, and the lands of the Reverse began to fade into the distance. As I ascended, I spotted two golden auras frozen in the air below me.

Just before the barrier between realities flashed, I heard the tired, elderly voice of the head spirit:

“You were right, Ines. This savage is a lot more determined than we thought...”


Chapter 24

BACK IN MY PHYSICAL BODY, I opened my eyes and took a deep, greedy breath of fresh air as if I had just emerged from a long dive into deep water.

It took me a few seconds to get my bearings and determine what exactly was happening. The first thing I noticed was that the horrible pain in my shoulder had subsided, as had any trace of the black mark inside the flesh surrounding the spearhead.

I was lying on a small, mesa-shaped piece of rock with my arms and legs tied down. Instead of ropes, though, my body was being held in place by that same familiar coal-black vine. Unlike the black web from earlier in the battle with the Ghosts, however, the vine wasn’t actually holding my body down at all; instead, it was holding firmly onto the aura surrounding my limbs.

I tried to move. As soon as I did so, the vine reacted like a huge constrictor, squeezing its rings and driving its magical thorns deeper into my aura. The parasite reacted immediately. It sent a blast of golden mana into my aura, but that didn’t damage the black thorns in the slightest.

Essentially, they were in totally different weight categories. My reserve of mana was just a drop in the bucket compared to the amount of energy inside the massive brown brut that was providing the demon with the power for his webs and snares. On the other hand, that was no reason to stop trying.

I closed my eyes and took several slow, deep breaths to calm myself down. After regaining my composure, I opened my eyes and looked around.

The elevated piece of rock on which I was lying was tilted slightly downward toward my legs, which allowed me to see everything around me without too much difficulty.

I was still in the same hall as before, but in another section. Right behind the enormous brut, on which the demon was still sitting.

Khaldrekar’s eyes were closed. His face looked like it had turned to stone. After spreading his clawed hands to the sides, the demon froze, looking like a statue of some sort of ancient, bloodthirsty creature.

I looked down. A short, pointy-eared creature was crawling around the base of the brown crystal. I looked closer. It was a small, hunchbacked old man in priestly robes.

He was crawling around on all fours, running his fingers intently across a series of stone plates and occasionally turning to wet his hand in a deep dish of solid gold. The color of the liquid, as well as the smell that was palpable even from where I was lying, made it pretty clear that the dish was full of blood. Every dash of liquid quickly spread out into rows of symbols, which were clearly letters in some language I wasn’t familiar with.

I glanced to the side. A little farther away, I could see the cages from the menagerie, along with the dismembered bodies of the animals who had been living inside them. These bodies had been laid out in rows not far from the strange “bed” where I was lying. The heavy stench of blood, shredded entrails, and animal feces hung in the air. Apparently, much more time had passed out here than in the Reverse.

I also spotted several other Ghosts, and this time I noticed the lanky figures of Duval, Molchun, and Togrul standing among them. All three of them were busy cutting up the bodies of the Shadow beasts, extracting their bruts, and handing them to other pointy-eared Ghosts in priestly clothing.

The crystals in the priests’ hands were huge, and filled to the brim with mana. After taking their bruts in their hands, the priests were bringing them to other parts of the blood-soaked ritual circle with my “bed” standing right in the middle of it.

Examining the chief priest’s bloody work of art in true vision, I noticed brown energy lines running beneath the huge outline. These mana channels were covered with ugly, sloppy-looking black cords, which were devouring brown mana like insatiable lampreys.

I checked to see where the black cords were running to. The spirits from the Reverse were right... Khaldrekar still hadn’t recovered his full strength. More than that, a closer examination revealed that the demon hadn’t even acquired a full physical body yet. The gigantic brown brut was feeding Khaldrekar with its mana, but it also served as a sort of anchor that kept him locked in this underground temple.

My scan also revealed that the black cords were only wrapped around the largest of the brown roots that stretched out from the base of the huge brut, and that many of the narrower channels were still totally free. Several of them ran right across the small elevation where I was lying.

I could use that to my advantage. At my command, the golden parasite formed a tentacle (so thin I could barely see it, even in true vision) and stretched it out toward the brown root beneath me.

The most difficult part would be threading a path between the branches of the magical vine that was holding me in place. Right up until the last moment, I expected the scheme to fail. With every passing second, I expected the black cables to react with another vicious, aggressive squeeze. But it never came. Apparently, the vine didn’t perceive the tiny golden thread as a threat.

Several heartbeats later, the parasite tapped into the brown channel. A very thin — but constant — flow of mana started to pour into my aura.

With a mental smile, I started forming the next golden thread...

Suddenly, I sensed some movement to my left, and a familiar female face bent down over me. It was as gray and motionless as a wax mask. I glanced down at her priestly robes and blood-smeared hands, in which she was holding a big lilac brut.

“Venona of Clan Frostwind has not forgotten your name, Max Renard,” I heard her whisper quietly. Not a single muscle on her face moved as she spoke.

“So you survived,” came my dry response. “And the Shadow didn’t devour you.”

Cocking her head to the side, she continued.

“The descendant of the ancient enemy freed Venona and helped her survive. She followed his tracks and discovered his boat.”

I frowned. My heart felt tight in my chest.

“The river carried Venona to the lands of the Lao. When they learned who had saved her, they took her in and fed her. Before leaving, Venona heard of the temple of Meemeeteh and the Heart of the Forest.”

I felt a spasm seize the muscles in my throat. My insides felt like they had just collapsed in on themselves. Rage was building inside me and squeezing my rib cage like an unseen vise.

The faces of the people who had once sheltered me started to pass before my eyes. Mongwo, Sal, Togh...

I felt anger boiling up inside me. Every heartbeat felt like a peal of thunder in my ears.

No, I thought... I can’t afford to lose concentration... Not now... Five more golden threads snaked their way past the sharp, curved thorns...

Leaning in closer, Venona continued in a conspiratorial whisper.

“Max Renard is the first person Venona has told about her discovery.” Suddenly, the features of the girl’s face twisted.

Her lips slowly spread into a smile, but one that was utterly devoid of warmth. It was thin and stretched, as if someone had carved it into her waxen mask of a face with a knife.

“She has been waiting for the right moment for a very long time.” Her pupils narrowed like those of a predator spotting its prey. Her facial muscles tensed, and the barely-noticeable change in her expression created a sense of profound internal triumph that was about to break through to the surface. “Today, my lord will learn of the Heart of the Forest, which will give him even more Power! And then Venona will become his High Priestess!”

Her chin became sharper as her jaw muscles clenched. The face that had so recently looked smooth and detached was suddenly full of sadistic cruelty. She seemed to be savoring every moment of the transformation, as if she were finally able to relish a new identity that no longer required her to remain indifferent or conceal anything about who she was.

The sight sent an involuntary twitch through my shoulder, and I felt the black vine sink deeper into my aura. With a frozen heart, I checked my golden threads. There were already several dozen of them, and they were all still in place...

Venona’s smirking face receded into the distance again. Before turning around and resuming her work, she spat:

“Max Renard should have listened to his companions that day and killed Venona...”

With that, the priestess disappeared from my sight. A moment later, I heard the voice of the demon. He was clearly addressing the elder priest.

“If you miss so much as a single symbol, meaningless worm, you will regret ever having come into this world.”

The old priest shuddered with surprise as he pressed his bald head tightly against his shoulders. Then, however, he overcame his fear and replied in a shaky, squeaky voice:

“Everything will be rendered perfectly, my lord. You can count on me.”

“As I counted on those vermin that the warlock killed so easily?” Khaldrekar’s voice was heavy with disdain.

“You’re right, my lord,” the old man replied eagerly. “Had it not been for your timely intervention, the auring would have killed us all.”

“Auring?” The demon scoffed. “It’s far too early to refer to this amateur by that name. He’s nothing but a pale shadow of our ancient enemy. Nevertheless, he has enough power to serve as an adequate vessel. When that happens, I won’t have to waste time sitting in this place of power. Furthermore, it will greatly ease the task of finding the Eye of the Abyss, which this motley rabble on the side of light has hidden away from us.”

“Your wisdom knows no bounds, my lord,” the old man nodded joyfully as he continued smearing blood across the stone. “This warlock will become the key, and then our Lord will finally return and punish all those who have ever dared to stand against him! And avenge us on all those who have betrayed us!”

“Right you are, worm!” The demon laughed. “Very soon, everyone will receive their just desserts! By engineering the break, the warlocks have outsmarted themselves. They released a power into this world that will one day devour everything they have sacrificed so much to defend.”

“Yes, my lord, yes!” The old priest sounded genuinely enthralled.

“Silence, miserable worm!” The demon cut him off, before adding: “And hurry up. It’s time for the ritual.”

“Yes, yes, my lord, of course,” the old priest stammered as he rose to his feet. “I’ve just finished. Everything is ready.”

The demon folded his clawed hands together, and his lipless mouth broadened into an impatient smile. His gaze swept across the bloody writing all around him, as his elongated head started to nod in time with his thoughts.

“You did it, worm!” He finally spat; then, with a wave of his hand, he snarled: “Now get out of the circle.”

With a speed that was surprising given his age, the old man hopped to his feet and hurried to do as the demon had commanded. A moment later, Khaldrekar rose from his seat, spread his arms wide, and began to speak in a language I couldn’t understand. It was a series of dull, snarling sounds that sent a chilly wave down my spine.

Everything around began to ring as the vibrations of his voice echoed through the hall. Even the crystals and the blood in the bowls began shimmering and rippling in time with his voice. The huge brown brut started to shine from within as lines of black mana spread out across its surface like capillaries.

Slowly, Khaldrekar lifted his hands above his head, and the light from the brut grew brighter. The black cords on the floor began to slither; they seemed to come to life as they stretched toward the center of the brut like a mass of tentacles. All the Ghosts in the room began to step away, watching as these energy tendrils merged with the bloody symbols on the stone plates. As each word rang out, the brown light grew brighter and brighter, and the air in the hall became denser and heavier.

I could feel the black vine around me squeezing me tighter, pushing its thorns ever deeper into my aura. The thin golden threads I had sent out began to vibrate like tightly-wound guitar strings.

Golden mana started to penetrate back into my aura, encountering fierce resistance from the dark tendrils that were holding me down. A ringing sound erupted into my head, and my muscles were tensed to the breaking point, but I kept up the flow of energy. Slowly but surely, I could feel the grip begin to weaken.

“The tribe of the foxes.” I had gotten so distracted by my struggle with the vine that I had missed the moment when the demon stopped uttering his spell and turned to face me. His tone, as ever, was one of mockery and disdain. “I forgot just how devious you can be. Don’t even think about trying to flee, little fox... Nothing will come of it.”

As he finished speaking, death mana began to surge down the black energy channels like motor oil. The tendrils of the vine grew thicker as the mana began to pulse inside them. Their thorns lengthened and punched through my defense, then into my skin and finally all the way into my energy system.

Every new thorn brought a flash of burning pain, as if a poisoned needle were sinking into my flesh and tearing up all the tissue it passed through. My body started to shudder, and it felt like molten steel was coursing through my blood vessels.

The black mana started to spread through my system like a snake’s poison, trying to devour my energy system as it came closer and closer to my magic reservoir.

I tried not to let the terrible pain deprive me of my ability to reason, but this became increasingly difficult as the poison began to spread into every cell in my body. My mind felt like a wounded, raging beast, but I kept fighting. As I did so, however, I realized that the demon was getting the upper hand.

Getting rid of the tendrils that bound me no longer seemed possible: the black vine was too deeply embedded in my aura, and my defenses were totally gone.

The thought of attempting a counterattack briefly crossed my mind. But how? How could I possibly attack a demon who was protected by an energy shield, and whose energy reserve was practically bottomless?

For just a moment, I got distracted and shot a hateful glance up at the dark silhouette seated atop the brown crystal...

Hold on! What if...?

I concentrated, and gave my parasite a command. The beast complied immediately, and stretched its tendrils into the brown energy channels below the floor; meeting no resistance, it sent them racing hurriedly toward the center of the massive crystal.

My heart stood still as I watched the golden threads sink deeper and deeper into the huge brut, making their way slowly through the channels like plant roots in search of water.

Every time a thread snaked its way into a fresh brown channel, I felt something akin to an electric shock as the streams of brown mana unexpectedly synchronized into rhythm with my own pulsating mana.

Finally, I felt one of the threads reach the protective shell that surrounded the heart of the brut — and the ancient source of power opened up to me! It allowed me to make use of its mana!

The golden parasite started mixing its own mana with the brown influx and modifying the resulting mana structure. Even in the circumstances, lying there on a big sacrificial altar, I could sense the parasite’s impatient excitement.

The demon, who had been totally engrossed in his ritual up to that point, suddenly jerked his head to the side, as though he could sense that something was wrong.

The black mana around me expanded and squeezed the vine even tighter until the pressure was almost literally unbearable. My aura actually began to crack under its weight. But I didn’t let it stop me. The golden parasite was no longer operating independently. We had fused into a single, unified organism. The beast had finally become an integral part of me. I was devouring brown mana, modifying it, and lopping the black tentacles off the sides of the enormous brut, weakening the demon’s power as I did so.

Khaldrekar, who had finally realized what was happening, turned his head to face me. Rage flashed across his eyes, and he growled something in his unfamiliar language.

The black cords around the brut began to tremble as they tried to resist my invasion. But I kept pressing, sending mana into the weakest spots.

At a certain point, I felt something crack inside the jet-black covering that surrounded the brown brut. From there, the death magic began to behave erratically. The cords of black mana began to writhe and vibrate like insane snakes. The demon had lost his concentration...

Khaldrekar let out a roar, and this time it wasn’t just filled with rage. It was also full of fear. Several thick golden tentacles wrapped themselves around his defensive dome. In an instant, the first thin cracks began to ripple out across its surface.

I saw Khaldrekar’s clawed hands clench into fists. No matter how he tried, he simply couldn’t regain control of the situation. The brown brut was covered in golden tendrils by that point, and it was no longer his to command.

Suddenly bereft of its power source, the black vine holding my body in place quickly began to crumble until it was nothing but a huge ribbon of ash on the floor. Finally, I was able to sit up. My entire body was one big, grisly-looking wound.

I looked up and noticed the impotent despair in Khaldrekar’s eyes. We had essentially just switched places. He couldn’t attack me; it was taking all his energy and concentration just to maintain his shield.

“Kill him!” The demon roared, and every Ghost in the massive hall jumped up and started running toward me.

But none of them even got close. Golden tentacles began to burst up out of the ground, shattering the stone floor as they whirled into a vicious attack on every gray-skinned opponent in the room. The screams and wails of the dying echoed through the hall.

But I wasn’t even paying attention to the Ghosts anymore. I scooped a massive portion of mana straight out of the heart of the brown brut and sent it hurtling toward the demon’s shield. A bright flash illuminated the entire vast space of the hall, and I felt the wave of energy smash through the demon’s final barrier.

His shield began to crack again, and soon there was a web of deep cracks all across its entire surface. The light of my golden mana was getting brighter all the time as it became more saturated and powerful.

Khaldrekar let out a furious roar, but it was already too late. The cracking of his magical shield was getting louder and louder, and soon it collapsed entirely in a shower of black energy shards that rained down onto his body.

I didn’t waste a single second; golden tentacles were already flying toward him when the shield fell. Glowing gold in the darkness, the huge tendrils plunged into his translucent torso and limbs like a flurry of crossbow bolts. Golden mana began to spread like a prairie fire through his energy system, destroying it from the inside. I had already seen something like this in the Reverse.

Khaldrekar began to scream in pain as his elongated face twisted into a horrifying grimace of agony. He tried to raise his arms, but his movements were ragged and awkward. His internal organs were breaking and collapsing inside him with every passing second. The golden tentacles kept moving, smashing their way through his energy system and driving ever deeper toward his reservoir.

“You...” He began to speak in a hoarse growl, but then his speech abruptly stopped.

His big, claw-studded paws fell limply to the floor as the energy that had maintained his translucent body began to dissipate. The black cords snaking their way through the hall suddenly trembled, then began to crumble to dust.

Under the golden mana’s onslaught, the demon’s translucent body started dissolving into the air, and what remained of his black mana swirled together inside the brown brut, whose surface was already pockmarked with golden tendrils. Finally, Khaldrekar’s dark silhouette disappeared without a trace in a faint whirl of golden light.

And with that, the vast underground hall was plunged into a deathly, ringing silence...


Chapter 25

ONCE IT WAS FINALLY OVER, I laid back down on the sacrificial table — no longer as a prisoner, but as a man who finally, finally had a chance to rest.

My eyelids were heavy, and I allowed myself to relax as I felt the tension begin to subside. My entire body was a big, disfigured wound, and my energy system was on the verge of total collapse.

I watched lazily as the golden mana flowed out across my body and slowly began to fill me with warmth and calm. There was nothing new about this process — no pain, no feeling that I was actually sewing up my grisly-looking wounds with my own effort.

Quite the opposite, in fact — every tear in my energy system began to close smoothly and almost unnoticeably, as though it was all just part of the process. The stream of mana flowing in from the Source was unbelievably powerful, and I could feel it penetrating every cell in my body and filling in the empty spots.

Long story short, the process of regeneration was proceeding very quickly. The brown brut seemed almost eager to share its power with me. I could feel everything inside me reordering itself as my energy nodes and energy channels grew tougher. The reservoir in my chest, which had been practically empty just a minute before, was rapidly filling with power. Most importantly, its overall capacity had practically doubled.

After watching my energy system evolve for a moment, I turned my attention back to the world around me. It was strange... Somehow, I could sense with absolute certainty that there was nothing dangerous around me anymore. My solid connection to the Source of Power made me completely confident that there wasn’t a single living thing in the hall with me. And not only that... Via the crystal, I could sense every nook and cranny in the now-empty temple. Apparently, all the Ghosts had been present in the temple for the ritual. I also realized that the demon and his acolytes had been intruders, alien to this place from the very start.

Out of pure curiosity, I tried to look farther, outside the bounds of the underground temple. I found that I could do it, but within a second or so I started to feel dizzy and weak. I simply didn’t have the concentration. Even the little bit I saw, though, was enough to pique my interest...

My golden mana kept penetrating deeper and deeper, regenerating not only me, but also the brown brut itself. I could sense the Source of Power healing the wounds that the death magic had inflicted on it; I could see the tears in its energy structure slowly closing.

But I also realized that this remarkable harmony was only temporary. As soon as the healing process was over, everything would fall back into place, and the brown brut would become independent once again. For as long as our connection lasted, though, I had access to the secrets it had been guarding for centuries.

I decided to focus on the space around me. And when I did, I could sense the corridors and tunnels, as well as other halls (which were all smaller than the one I was currently lying in). The entire complex was still permeated with the fading emanations of black mana.

There was one exception, though — one place where I couldn’t sense a single trace of death magic. Apparently, the demon and his minions hadn’t been able to get inside it. This was probably because Khaldrekar never managed to break through the defense around the Source’s heart, and therefore never had access to all of its secrets.

There was one small wing in the ancient temple whose entrance was masked by the wall of the cliff itself, and which was further sealed off by a complicated magical mechanism. I smiled... The energy structure of that mechanism was directly connected to the Source of Power. And that meant I would be able to open the passage...

This discovery inspired me, and I kept studying the rest of the underground complex. After a little while, though, I came to the conclusion that all the hidden compartments and camouflaged niches had already been opened.

That said, I also found out how to get back out to the surface. The exit was through a long tunnel, which led to a massive underground space. A mine, to be specific. It had clearly been used up until very recently, as a source of ore that was saturated with brown mana. I don’t think I was wrong in assuming that it was this ore that the Scarlets had been sending south through my Margraviate on their carts.

A moment later, I started to feel extremely dizzy. Blood began to drip from my nose. Apparently, I had overexerted myself with my new skill. I wiped the blood away, took a few deep breaths, and then allowed myself to relax fully and completely while the golden mana did its thing...

* * *

When I woke up, I felt completely refreshed. I had no idea how much time had passed — an hour? A day? At some point, I had simply passed out into a deep sleep. Once I opened my eyes, I slowly pushed myself up off the stone platform where I had been lying. My muscles were no longer wracked with pain, and I didn’t feel even a trace of my former exhaustion. My reservoir was full to the brim, my energy nodes were slightly larger than before, and my energy channels were wider and stronger. A quick examination of my physical body revealed that I didn’t even have so much as a scar in the places where the black thorns had dug themselves into my flesh. I hopped down from the sacrificial table and looked around the hall with a satisfied smile.

The bodies of the Ghosts were still lying all over the place; they reminded me of dried-up mummies. Their energy systems and reservoirs were depleted of every drop of mana.

I walked over to the spot where I had last seen Duval, Molchun, and Togrul. I couldn’t even recognize them. The golden tentacles had squeezed every drop of life out of their bodies, leaving nothing but withered, dessicated husks. Their distorted, dried-up faces, whose empty eyes gave them a sort of otherworldly appearance, were frozen in the middle of their final screams.

Then I walked over to Venona. Her dried-up body was lying near the sacrificial table. It turned out that she was the only Ghost who had managed to get that close to me during the entire battle. Not that it helped her in any way, of course... Her face had been mutilated by my magic, and it had the same horrified death grimace frozen on it as all the others did... The secret of the Lao people had gone to the grave with her.

From there, I walked around the edges of the ritual circle. All the crystals that the priests had so carefully laid out along the perimeter had crumbled into little piles of dust.

Hold on, I thought... What’s that?

As I walked past one of the mummies, who was lying face-down on the ground, I suddenly sensed a quiet heartbeat. I switched to true vision and examined the corpse. It couldn’t be... I quickly bent down and turned the body over. The priest was dead, but his fingers were wrapped tightly around a golden brut the size of an apple. Why, I wondered, had I failed to sense this before?

It was radiating a deep golden light from within. Its energy pulsed as if it were actually a living heart. I couldn’t understand how this had happened, but apparently the collision between two extremely-powerful magical sources had transformed one of the bruts from the chimeras into something new.

As I stared down at the brut, I suddenly recalled my exploit with the Wild Duke. Once upon a time, he had brought me as a sacrifice to a flow, hoping to turn my magical reservoir into a golden brut. I realized that all his horrible experiments on the true gifted must have been aimed at producing that result...

I carefully picked up the golden crystal and looked around the hall, more attentively this time. A few minutes later, my search was crowned with more success. I ended up finding four more golden bruts. They were all practically identical in terms of size. And just like the first one I had found, each of them was like a living heart, rhythmically pulsing in time with the mana flowing inside it.

* * *

“Now THIS was a lucky find,” I said quietly as I looked around the secret wing of the temple with a satisfied smile on my face.

As I had assumed, the magical mechanism that controlled the door opened for me without a hitch. And when it did, I found myself inside something that was either an ancient arsenal or an ancient treasury.

To be honest, I hadn’t really expected to find anything inside at all. After all, the frequent ebbs and flows over the years should have turned all the room’s contents to dust. Apparently, though, this storehouse had been created after the Shadow made its initial appearance.

Armor and weapons made of Shadow materials were hanging on the walls. One of them in particular attracted my attention: it was a full suit of armor, made from a strange metal that shone with a deep, cold, blue gleam. Judging by its complex energy structure, the armor must have belonged to a very high-ranking mage. Using it would require a truly impressive reserve of mana and a pretty high level of concentration.

Hanging next to the suit of armor were two swords made of the same metal, whose energy structures contained the same patterns as the armor did. The swords and the armor were obviously all part of the same set of equipment. Presumably, in addition to their own spells and/or magic webs, the mage who had worn this suit of armor and wielded these swords must have been able to make use of the secret magical links that the master weaponsmith had built into their creation.

My snake armor, which I had discovered in the Ghosts’ armory (together with a whole lot of other valuable goods, including bruts), almost seemed like an amateur production compared to this elegant suit of blue armor.

There were a number of other suits of armor in the room besides this one. And while they were all excellent in terms of quality, none of them could really compare to the blue one.

When I eventually managed to tear my eyes off the suit of armor and its associated weapons, I walked into the next room, whose contents suggested that it had been some type of warehouse.

Huge rows of shelves were stacked with bar upon bar of mysterious metals; I had never seen any of them before, but they were all saturated with energy from the Barrier. I could feel their power even at a distance.

As I strolled between the rows of shelves, I discovered a section with Shadow stones, hides, bones, and a number of carved wooden items. I could only shake my head as I thought about how much time and effort it would take to get everything moved out of there.

As I thought, I wandered into the next room, where I suddenly froze with my mouth open in amazement...

It was a library. The shelves were laden with scrolls, and although many of them had already crumbled to dust, some of them were still in pretty good condition.

I unfurled them slowly and carefully; in retrospect, I think I was even trying to breathe as little as possible while I did it. Most of them were written in a language I couldn’t understand, but some of them had diagrams and formulae on them that I could at least begin to make sense of. There was also a particularly fat scroll with drawings of magical webs in it, along with diagrams that clearly showed bruts at their centers. One of these diagrams was an exact copy of the pattern that covered the floor in the main hall with the brown brut. I was so excited that my hands actually started to shake.

The letters seemed vaguely familiar to me. I had seen them somewhere before... Wait, I thought... Of course! The basement of the Fox Den! One of the Duke de Clairmont’s ancestors had hidden away several books and scrolls written in the same language. One of them even had some sort of map on it...

Keeping the precious scroll gently but firmly in my hands, I walked over to a small table in the middle of the library, where I saw a small case lying amidst the remains of several half-rotten books and scrolls. It had obviously been carved from the bone of some sort of Shadow beast.

I opened the lid and glanced inside.

“Today’s just full of surprises, isn’t it?” I whispered aloud with a little chuckle.

There were three figurines lying on the bottom of the case. One of them, carved from Shadow wood, depicted a badger; another, carved from stone this time, was an owl. The third one was a lynx made of Shadow metal. I could feel emanations of golden mana inside each of the figurines. Just like the one I already had. I tried to extend a tendril of golden mana into them, but nothing happened. It seemed like something was missing... Either the collection wasn’t complete, or I had simply done something wrong... Or maybe both...

I turned the figurines over in my hands a few times and laid them back in their case. Then I looked around the library again and sighed. Well, I thought... I think I’ve seen enough...

* * *

Vintervald

Fjordgrad

The Pearl of the North

The throne room of the Pearl was relatively deserted. Only those closest to the new Konung had been admitted to the Royal presence. Naturally, Konung Olaf the Gray was seated on his throne. A self-satisfied smile danced on his bearded face, and the fire of victory was flickering in his eyes.

Olaf had never been as proud of himself as he was that day. He had finally succeeded in bringing his freedom-loving sister to heel — the sister whose whims and flights of fancy their father had always been so happy to indulge. This permissive upbringing had caused Astrid to grow into a spoiled, headstrong girl who paid absolutely no mind to the opinions of her elder brothers. What Olaf wouldn’t have given to take his sister’s gift away from her! It was only thanks to her abilities that the new Konung had been forced to tolerate his pampered little sister in the first place.

Pampered though she might be, however, his sister had proven that she was no fool. It had taken a while, but she had finally realized that none of them stood to gain anything by allying themselves with that soft-bodied Vestonian Prince. Arik Thunder, whose military assistance they needed so badly, was a different story altogether. Olaf was practically beside himself with joy when Astrid had agreed to his proposal. He even promised his sister that he wouldn’t send the Vestonian Prince home right away, so that he and his court could stay for the wedding.

Olaf cast a sidelong glance at his sister, who was standing across from his throne. She was practically the embodiment of meekness and submission. Olaf snickered to himself in his mind. Their father would barely have recognized her. And all it had taken was a little bit of strictness and firmness.

Towering next to his sister, with his legs spread wide and his chest thrust proudly forward, stood Arik Thunder. The bearded warrior’s eyes betrayed his inner emotions: he still couldn’t believe that the gods had smiled upon him at last, and that the daughter of the legendary Konung Sharptooth would soon become his wife.

That said, he wasn’t at all shy as he cast his greasy gaze up and down Astrid’s graceful, athletic figure, and imagined how he would take her on their wedding bed. Sharptooth had never liked Arik. He had considered him to be a coward. Arik Thunder was aware of this, and he, in turn, had always hated the previous Konung. The gods would bear witness to it: he was the happiest man in the world when he heard about the death of Sharptooth and practically all his allies on the field of battle.

On that day, Arik finally realized that his day had come. He and his younger brother Ivar gathered their army and set off for the capital.

Who, at the time, could ever have imagined that their planned campaign would bring them so much more than they could possibly have hoped? Very soon, Astrid would become his wife, and then it would be time to think about how to get the Crown of Vintervald onto Arik Thunder’s own head. After all, this loudmouth weakling Olaf the Gray wasn’t even a pale shadow of his father.

Meanwhile, the Konung slowly cast his eyes around the throne room, where all his closest allies were gathered. Among them was his brother Ulf Wolfheart, who had finished assembling the armies and then come to the capital to witness Princess Astrid’s betrothal to Arik Thunder. Representatives from all the major eastern clans were also present. The Konung raised his right hand into the air, and a momentous silence settled over the hall.

“Friends and faithful allies!” Olaf the Gray exclaimed in a dry voice. “Today, it is my pleasure to share with you a piece of news that will open a new chapter in the history of our lands! My sister, Astrid the Swift, whose wisdom and power have become famous far beyond the borders of our Kingdom, will soon bind her fate to someone who is truly worthy of her. Arik Thunder, mighty leader of the Winterband Clan, known the world over for his courage and invincibility, will henceforth become her husband.”

Olaf paused and looked at Astrid for a moment. Their eyes met. His were triumphant; hers were submissive.

“This union,” he continued, without tearing his eyes off his sister’s face. “Does not merely unite two hearts. It will also bind our peoples together, giving us heretofore undreamt-of power in the face of impending challenges! Let every one of you be certain of this: this is no mere betrothal. This is a symbol of our unity and power, a sign that we are ready to face any challenge together! May this union be firm! And may it bring prosperity to Vintervald!”

The hall erupted into cheers.

“Glory to Astrid the Swift! Glory to Arik Thunder!”

“Glory to the Great Konung Olaf the Gray!”

As he smiled, accepting the honors being shouted into the hall, Olaf the Gray saw Astrid nod to one of her servants. A few moments later, the girl scurried into the hall, holding a tray with jugs and glasses stacked on top of it. From the other side of the throne, other servants brought in a huge, curved drinking horn that was studded with gold and precious stones. It was full of rich, blood-red wine.

For a moment, Olaf inexplicably felt tense, but then he remembered the conversation with his sister the day before — which, after all, had proceeded calmly and without any hysterics. Astrid had proven herself intelligent and submissive to her Konung’s will. More than that, she had actually come to see him herself. Olaf had already been told on several occasions that his sister had grown tired of her soft little Prince, and that she had been spotted in Arik Thunder’s company many times already.

Just to be safe, however, Olaf the Gray suddenly stopped the servant who was carrying the horn and announced with a smile:

“Today, I want to yield the honor of the first drink from the Royal Horn to my sister, and then to her soon-to-be husband!”

“Thank you for the honor, my brother!” Astrid smiled meekly and bowed.

The servant stopped in front of her and held out the horn full of wine.

Without any apparent difficulty, Astrid picked up the huge horn, raised it into the air, and exclaimed:

“To a new beginning!”

Then, taking a small sip, she looked around the hall and handed the horn to Arik Thunder. With a huge, noisy gulp, he handed it back to the servant to the tune of cheers from the crowd of onlookers.

After the horn passed to the Konung, and then all the other guests in the hall, Olaf the Gray raised his hand again and made another announcement:

“May this be the start — “

Nobody ever found out what the Konung wanted to say. Olaf the Gray spat out a huge, thick clot of blood together with his final word. Tears of blood began to trickle from his eyes as they widened with horror. Then his nose and ears started to bleed too.

The same was happening to most of the other guests in the hall. Soon, the throne room was filled with muffled, choking screams and coughing as the guests began to die.

Only a few dozen of the people in the hall seemed unaffected as they watched everything unfolding in careful silence. Among them were Ulf Wolfheart and his companions and several of the eastern clanleaders, including Ivar Lackfinger, younger brother of Arik Thunder, who was watching his elder brother’s agonizing death with a look of joyful satisfaction on his face.

Princess Astrid didn’t even glance at her would-be husband as he finally fell silent at her feet in a pool of his own blood. She headed straight for the throne. Along the way, she stepped indifferently across the body of the red-haired young man who had so recently insulted Helga. His black tongue was jutting out of his wide mouth; before dying, he had scratched at his neck until it bled. Astrid snickered to herself. The loudmouth had tried to scrape the poison of a yellow horseshoe crab out of his own throat.

Those who had accepted the Princess’ proposal and supported her plan now stepped forward to follow her. Each of them had taken a dose of antidote just before the ceremony.

Astrid approached the corpse of her brother Olaf, who smelled as though he had lost control of his bowels before he died. She was happy to see that her brother had died such a disgraceful death; it seemed fitting reprisal for having broken his promise to her. Taking the crown that had once belonged to her illustrious ancestors from her dead brother’s head, she turned and strode over to Ulf.

He had always been a loner, and had spent most of his life hunting or fighting. After the death of their father, Ulf was clearly much less suited for the role of Vintervald’s ruler; besides that, he was also younger than Olaf. That was why he had meekly submitted to Astrid’s insistence at the time, and why he was submitting to her will now. Mind you, this was the way it had always been.

Astrid’s eyes met Ulf’s.

“We should have done this from the start,” said Astrid quietly. Then, rising up onto her tiptoes, she laid the crown onto the head of her silent, submissive brother. Who was now the only brother she had left.

With that, she turned to the soldiers surrounding them and exclaimed:

“The Konung is dead! Long live the Konung!”

In almost perfect unison, every surviving warrior in the hall raised their right hands into the air, and a unified shout echoed through the hall.


Chapter 26

Underground in Shadow Pass

AT GEORG VON LINZ’S COMMAND, Leo froze where he stood behind a huge boulder. Leaning against the uneven stone surface sat Elsa Backer. She was so still she wasn’t even breathing.

They glanced at one another. Leo could see it in the young woman’s eyes: she was determined to fight to the end, and she understood very well that this could end up being her last battle. The emotions flitting through her eyes also hinted that she could see the same thing in his own.

They had managed to cheat fate several times over the last few days: escaping packs of underground Shadow beasts in the nick of time, stumbling upon sources of potable water, and (most importantly) somehow surviving the cavern collapse that had separated them from their comrades and the Margrave de Valier, whose fates were still a total mystery to them. Although they were inclined to agree with Sigurd, who noted that it would probably take a lot more than some falling rock to kill His Lordship.

But they knew they couldn’t keep tricking the gods forever. At some point while they were walking circles through the underground labyrinths, their scent was picked up by one of the monsters Duval had told them about.

It turned out to be a huge chimera, something like a cross between a spider and a snake. The first time it attacked them, while they were resting, they managed to fight it off. Thanks to their huge supply of bruts, and to Sigurd’s mastery, the chimera retreated in the face of their fierce resistance. But it still kept following their little group, periodically attacking them as it tried to find any weak spots in the strykers’ defense. The monster didn’t have the ability to generate a magical shield, but it compensated for this drawback in spades with its unbelievable speed and its ability to become invisible.

Twice, they tried to ambush it and finish it off for good, but the chimera managed to avoid death both times. The beast was very tough, and very intelligent. It had decided to force the strykers to burn through their supplies, and if things continued the way they were going, it seemed like the beast might end up doing just that.

Slowly but surely, their supply of bruts was running dry, and with them went any feeling of confidence that they would eventually make it back to the surface. The longer they wandered through the seemingly-endless underground labyrinth, the farther they seemed to be drifting from the exit.

At first, the group tried to find its way back to the cave that had collapsed; by now, however, they were simply trying to find any section of tunnel that didn’t simply bring them back into the same endless loop of passages and caves.

At one of their rest stops, Sigurd told them that it was time to make one more attempt to kill the beast. If they didn’t, he warned, they risked being left to face it without any mana crystals at all. Everyone agreed. After all, without any bruts they would either turn into lunch for the chimera, or simply get killed when another ebb inevitably washed over the underground maze.

“Careful — above you!” The loud scream startled Leo and Elsa, and they both raised their heads.

With a muffled hiss, a six-legged, long-tailed shadow was rapidly zigzagging its way down the wall toward them. The beast had already determined who was the weak link in the group, so naturally enough it focused its attack on Leo. And in doing so, it attacked Elsa as well.

The nauseating clattering and clicking sound of the beast’s approach made the young people snap to attention and prepare for battle. As they did so, the chimera’s slippery tail twitched, and it jumped down off the wall onto their position.

“Now!” Elsa shouted, as she and Leo took off in opposite directions.

Just a second later, the beast’s huge body slammed to the ground right on the spot where the strykers had just been standing, and as it did so a hideous shriek of pain filled the cave. The beast had turned out to be a little less intelligent and cunning than they thought — jumping at full speed, it had impaled itself on two camouflaged spearheads affixed between two large rocks, which Leo and Elsa had deliberately been blocking with their bodies.

Not giving the monster a chance to recover, the strykers rushed in to attack it from four sides at once. Alas — the spearheads didn’t seem to have hit any of the monster’s vital organs. It quickly regained its bearing and started fighting back. And the spears jutting out of its body didn’t prevent it from executing agile dodges and counterattacks against its enemies.

A blow from its tail sent Elsa flying to the side. Her magical shield let off a bright flash as she slammed into a boulder. The next blow, from a long, bony arm, caught Leo right on the legs. He fell face-first onto a pile of sharp stones, watching with horror as one of his bruts crumbled to dust. That meant he only had six left.

By the time Leo was back on his feet, he saw that the beast had grabbed Georg in its claws, where it was holding him fast as it sunk its stinger into his back time and time again. Every stabbing blow sent a bright-purple flash into the air. Sigurd was hacking the creature’s left side to pieces with his sword, but it seemed he was too late to help. A few more blows with the stinger, and Georg’s magical shield would disappear...

“Noo-oo!” Elsa screamed in despair as she rushed forward. Her face was stretched into a grimace of terror.

Georg von Linz had essentially raised her as his own, and she loved him like a father. The young woman plunged her sword into the monster’s slippery tail.

But the beast didn’t even seem to notice the wounds Sigurd and Elsa were inflicting. Instead, it just squeezed Georg’s body even tighter as he screamed in pain. As Leo rushed into an attack, he heard a horrible crunch. A moment later, von Linz went limp and stopped screaming. His shield had flashed and vanished, and the curved stinger had plunged straight through his body.

As soon as this happened, the monster sprang up onto the wall and started skittering up toward the ceiling, dragging the stryker’s body behind it.

At that exact moment, however, something bright flashed right next to the beast’s head, and the creature’s disgusting face exploded like a piece of overripe fruit. One more lightning-quick flash of fire, and the thick shell that covered the monster’s back cracked and sent a spray of sticky, dark liquid gushing all over the rock walls of the cave.

Still convulsing, the chimera collapsed to the ground with a wet crunch. Leo didn’t even have time to realize what had happened before a figure in familiar armor stepped out of a dark crevice in the rock and strode over to Georg’s body.

Within a second, a golden web wrapped itself around the stryker’s inert body. After a few more seconds, Georg’s chest slowly rose, then fell...

Leo felt his mouth spread into an involuntary, joyful smile. Sigurd was right: the Margrave de Valier wasn’t an easy guy to kill.

Elsa ran over to her mentor’s body and pressed her tear-soaked face against his chest as it rose and fell, slowly and evenly.

“A few fractures, a puncture wound, and some poisoning, but he’ll live,” said the Margrave de Valier.

As a smiling Sigurd and Leo stepped over to stand beside him, he turned to them all and looked them straight in the eyes:

“I’m glad you’re alive. Questions later. We need to hurry. An ebb’s coming soon.”

“We don’t have many crystals left,” Sigurd noted, as laconically as always.

Everything had happened so quickly and unexpectedly. Leo had so many questions, but he knew he would just have to wait until His Lordship decided to tell them what had happened. He also knew that the Margrave had undergone some sort of mysterious change. It wasn’t visible to the naked eye. Rather, it was something that had changed in his energy system. He seemed to radiate power the way a smith’s forge radiated heat.

“You don’t need to worry about that,” the Margrave replied as he shook a big, strange-looking bag hanging over his shoulder. “I’ve got enough bruts for all of us. Now let’s get ourselves to some safer place. Somewhere we can wait out the Barrier magic’s movement in relative safety.”

As Leo and Elsa helped Georg up onto Sigurd’s back, the Margrave quickly and expertly cut four big bruts out of the chimera’s dead body.

They were already walking out of the cave when Leo next heard His Lordship’s quiet voice:

“I want to warn you all that we’re going to remain in the Shadow for a little while. You’ll understand why soon enough...”

* * *

Somewhere near the border between Bergonia and Atalia...

A long cavalcade of several hundred riders was thundering its way down the Bergonian Royal track toward the Vestonian border. So bright was the plethora of colorful feathers, armor glinting in the sunlight, and multicolored sigils on banners and shields that it was actually hard to look at the procession for long. The most important color in the whole shining outfit, however, was red. Which wasn’t surprising. After all, the man at the head of the column, riding his snow-white mistral and surrounded by his closest companions, was none other than the Duke de Bauffremont himself.

Like all the other nobles whose freedom had just been purchased from the Golden Lion (for an extremely hefty sum), he was itching to get back home. For Claude de Bauffremont in particular, the desire to get to Herouxville as quickly as possible was also a matter of urgent necessity — quite literally a question of life and death. Prince Philippe, whom the Duke de Bauffremont had raised with so much patience for so many years, was completely under the control of the despicable, cowardly de Gondy family and its hangers-on.

Besides the nobles who had just been ransomed, the column also contained most of the people who had actually brought the enormous sum south in the first place. Some were the Duke’s vassals and loyal allies, others were representatives of the Astlandic King. Heinrich de Gramont was one of the former.

His face had sunken noticeably, and the eyes that sat inside the black circles on his face almost never seemed to blink. His pensive gaze was fixed on some point far in the distance. Heinrich spent most of his time constantly immersed in his own thoughts, which were cold as steel and full of decisive fire.

His facial muscles were always tense, his lips pressed into a tight, barely-perceptible line — overall, his face looked like it had been carved from a big block of gray ice. In his gloomy, despondent state, he looked much older than he had a year before, when both his sons had been at his side.

Ever since receiving the news about Gabriel, his shoulders were stuck in a permanent droop. It wasn’t exhaustion, however, but the weight of responsibility and pain that he carried with him everywhere he went.

His movements were measured, tense, and rigid — those of a man who keeps everything inside and never lets his emotions emerge onto the surface. In his soul, however, the Count was engaged in a never-ending struggle between grief at the loss of his son, and the still-flickering hope that he might eventually find him alive.

Now, having returned Francois from captivity (who seemed totally unaffected either by the loss of his brother or his time as a prisoner), the Count de Gramont was more silent and morose than ever. There was no joy or relief on his face — just a firm expression with a cold flash in his eyes. That flash was the only thing that betrayed his thirst for revenge. He wasn’t simply returning home: he was advancing, like a sharpened blade that was about to drive itself into its enemy’s heart. His confidence that vengeance would soon be his became much more palpable and solid after a conversation with the Duke de Bauffremont back in Atalia, after the Count had arrived as part of the delegation that brought the ransom.

Yet again, Heinrich’s thoughts returned to that fateful evening...

“Monsieur,” the Duke turned to face him as Heinrich walked into his master’s temporary office in the palace of Ricardo di Lorenzo (who, after all, was the Duke’s captor). “I’ve been informed of the significant role you played in the struggle for my freedom. I want you to know that henceforth, you will find in me not only a dependable patron and ally, but also a devoted friend.”

“You honor me, Your Grace,” replied the Count de Gramont with a bow.

“My captivity is ending at exactly the right time,” Bauffremont continued. “Those pathetic cowards the de Gondys fled the field in disgrace, and now they’ve ensconced themselves next to my poor nephew. I’ve heard that Blanca de Gondy isn’t giving poor Philippe so much as a day to himself. She’s dragging him around to every ball, reception, and theater in the city. I’m the only one who knows just how deeply His Highness’ soul has been wounded by all this.”

“Most certainly, Your Grace,” the Count de Gramont replied with a bow of his head. “Those who favor His Highness and Your Grace’s cause have indeed noticed an unhealthy pallor and sickliness in Prince Philippe. Without question, His Highness is sorely in need of his loving, caring uncle.”

“Those accursed de Gondys!” The Duke snarled. “I’m certain of it — if that cowardly horse-trader had attacked the Atalian legions with me instead of delaying until I was engaged, the day would have been ours. And these are no empty words, Monsieur! Ricardo di Lorenzo himself said as much during one of our conversations. In fact, he was thoroughly puzzled as to why de Gondy delayed. After all, I timed my own attack perfectly!”

“And if the Margrave de Valier hadn’t kept delaying his own advance, the Atalian defeat would have been even more total,” added the Count. “Had our two armies been united under your expert command, all Atalia would now be under your control.”

“You suspect your nephew is in league with de Gondy?” The Duke’s eyes narrowed. “The Marquis de Gondy has been with him more or less constantly, after all.”

“I certainly wouldn’t rule it out,” the Count de Gramont replied eagerly. “If so, however, I wouldn’t quite understand his motivations.”

“What do you mean?”

Externally, Heinrich looked as dispassionate and unruffled as ever, but inside he was positively jumping for joy. Finally — FINALLY — the time for revenge had come!

“I mean that where my brother’s bastard is concerned, the apple doesn’t fall far from the tree,” replied the Count. “He seems to have inherited a passion for intrigue and palace coups. A passion, mind you, that has never manifested itself in any of our mutual ancestors. I guess there’s a reason people say that there’s a bad apple in every bunch.”

“Your nephew aims to overthrow the King?” Bauffremont’s eyes widened a little bit.

“I have every reason to believe it,” the Count de Gramont replied firmly and eagerly.

“If you’ll forgive me, though...” The Count’s words seemed to have put the Duke in something of a quandary. “I always thought that your nephew was one of His Majesty’s most devoted servants. And now you’re alleging that he intends to remove Carl from the throne...”

“I must have misspoken,” the Count hurriedly replied. “When I said that my brother’s bastard intends to overthrow the King, I didn’t mean the King of Vestonia. I meant the King of Astland, Otto II. In fact, the Margrave de Valier’s evil intent is plain to see. How else can one explain the fact that he’s hiding Princess Sofia-Verena, the sole surviving daughter of Conrad V, in his castle the Fox Den, pretending she’s some distant relative on his mother’s side?”

As he finished speaking, Heinrich watched as the Duke de Bauffremont’s face underwent a metamorphosis.

At first, his expression was motionless, as if he hadn’t immediately understood what he had heard. The Duke’s eyes were initially focused straight ahead; slowly, however, they began to widen, as though his mind was just beginning to catch the full import of what the Count had just said.

A shadow of anxiety slowly passed across his face; his gaze shifted, his eyebrows rose, and his facial muscles tensed. His expression became sharper, and initially it was that of a man who had suddenly detected the presence of a dangerous threat. Soon, though, a flash of realization lit up the Duke’s face. His mouth widened into a satisfied smile, and his whole countenance seemed to be shining from within. The Duke de Bauffremont was so full of emotions that he actually clapped his hands together, which caused the Count de Gramont to jump a little bit from the sheer unexpectedness of the sound.

“Monsieur, are you certain that this woman is the daughter of Conrad V?” The Duke asked in a tone tinged with hope as he leaned forward in his chair.

“Absolutely,” nodded the Count de Gramont, who still didn’t fully understand why the Duke looked so overjoyed. To be honest, he had been expecting a slightly different reaction. “As it happens, I unwittingly became a witness to a conversation between the Princess Sophia and the Count de Rondi, who had recognized her the moment he saw her. According to him, the Princess is practically an identical copy of her grandmother, Queen Sophia. The girl dropped all pretense once he said that.”

“Just a moment, my dear Count...” The Duke interjected. “You said you were a witness...”

“Nobody saw me,” the Count de Gramont replied, indicating by his tone that he understood exactly what the Duke was getting at.

“I’m very glad to hear it,” the Duke said as he smiled with satisfaction once again.

“Knowing that our King is an ally of the King of Astland, I feel that the Margrave de Valier’s actions in this situation will expose that alliance to some serious risks.”

“I trust you had the good sense not to inform anyone in the chancery about any of this?” The Duke de Bauffremont asked with a little edge of steel in his voice. “Or seek a meeting with anyone else about this matter?”

“Given that my other entreaties and petitions to His Majesty have so far gone unanswered, I decided that a message of such vital importance could only be entrusted to a man who is among those closest to His Majesty,” explained the Count de Gramont. “That man is you, Your Grace.”

“You’ve acted with the highest degree of foresight, my dear Count!” The Duke replied in a satisfied tone of voice.

“Might I count on Your Grace permitting me to be present when you inform the King of the Margrave de Valier’s treachery?” Heinrich asked.

“I can’t promise you that, my dear Count,” the Duke de Bauffremont shook his head after a short pause. “For the simple reason that I don’t intend to inform Carl of anything.”

For a moment, the Duke’s answer deprived Heinrich of the ability to speak. Had all his plans to destroy the bastard just crashed and burned right in front of him? For a moment, the Count de Gramont felt the icy shackles of fear wrapping themselves around his heart. After all, he had long ago realized what his elder brother’s bastard was planning. The scoundrel aimed at becoming head of the family. And it wasn’t hard to guess what would happen to Heinrich and his family if the bastard’s plans should succeed. He wouldn’t touch Heinrich’s daughters, of course, but his sons...

The thought of Gabriel hit the Count like a ton of bricks... He no longer had “sons,” in the plural. He only had Francois. And the Count blamed Max for Gabriel’s death — in Heinrich’s mind, the bastard had deliberately avoided uniting his forces with the Ducal army.

“I’ve decided to use this valuable information, which you have so kindly provided me, in a rather different way, my dear friend.” The Duke de Bauffremont’s smile had transformed into something much more akin to a scowl. “I won’t be informing Carl about your nephew’s covert dealings. Because the ambassadors of the King of Astland will be doing it for me. They’ll be positively beside themselves with rage when they learn that the ruler of Vestonia is playing some sort of underhanded game involving Conrad V’s sole remaining heiress. What do you think, my dear Count? Who will be first to be swallowed by the political firestorm that’s about to break out?”

* * *

The Foothills of Shadow Pass

I was standing at the edge of a cliff, staring down at the barren, stony ground below me, which had been covered by a thick blanket of snow during the night. A dark line of forest stretched across the horizon — the border of my Margraviate.

I have to admit, I was surprised to see that the foothills hadn’t changed at all, despite falling under the Shadow’s flow during our absence. Nor did the landscape in front of us differ in any major way from the one we had seen on the far side of Shadow Pass.

That slope of the mountain was essentially the same barren, rocky stretch of wasteland that stretched out in front of me for mile after mile into the distance. Actually, that part of the Shadow differed most notably from the other part of the Shadow I had visited on my first trip across the Barrier. The animal and plant life in the area we had just visited was much sparser, and there were no traces of villages or settlements in the area at all. And that despite the fact that we had journeyed straight into the depths of the Shadow for almost two weeks before we turned around.

We were following the tracks of the Ghosts, which led us to a wide river that stretched off toward the north. There were no boats or rafts anywhere along its banks. Apparently, the Ghosts had been dropped off by ships or boats, but then those vessels had departed to somewhere very far away.

After spending the night near the river, we headed back toward Shadow Pass, where we spent several months studying the temple and the underground complex around it, as well as hunting Shadow beasts and chimeras during our spare time. I was waiting patiently the entire time for more Ghosts to make an appearance, but alas — nobody entered the area at all. In the end (and to the group’s general delight), I had to announce that we were returning home.

My assumptions regarding the brown brut turned out to be mistaken. It never tried to eject my energy from within itself. On the contrary, my golden mana slowly but surely began to transform the place of power to suit its own needs. And the more this process continued, the better I was able to sense the brown brut itself, as well as the whole area in general. I still didn’t know what the eventual result of this process would be, but over the course of several months I became very comfortable with the underground complex.

Eventually, my train of thought was interrupted by Sigurd, who had walked over to stand next to me. I looked around at my companions, whose bulging bags made them look more like market traders than strykers. Their faces were slightly red in the freezing cold of the morning, but they were smiling happily nonetheless.

Leo and Elsa glanced at each other. It wasn’t just the cold that had them blushing. Apparently, a wedding was coming at some point in the near future.

Georg von Linz noticed me looking at them, chuckled, and nodded furtively at the pair of lovebirds. I replied with an understanding chuckle of my own.

We were carrying all the bruts we had found, as well as a number of finds from the temple treasury: armor, weapons, and specimens of Shadow materials. Separately, in my own shoulder bag, I was carrying the golden bruts (which I still hadn’t made any attempt to use) as well as the little animal figurines.

In addition, we had carefully packed several dozen scrolls from the temple treasury into our bags, along with a few more we had found in the armory. I planned to bring these to the capital with me in the spring. Once there, I planned to find somebody who could translate these ancient writings for me.

I cast another glance around the foothills. The stony, snow-covered waste seemed to stretch to the horizon itself. I sighed. A cloud of steam billowed out of my mouth as I did so.

Sometimes, when I thought about everything that had happened over the last few years, a question would involuntarily pop up into my mind. Was my appearance in this world turning out the way it was originally intended to?

After all, my actions had seriously interfered with the plans of the Hrimthurs, who had obviously been poised to destroy the world beyond the Barrier. That was something I simply couldn’t allow. That world was home to everyone who had become close to me. Whether I had been brought into this world to do what I was doing, whether everything was simply a coincidence — I really didn’t know. There was only one thing I was certain of. In order to defend my loved ones, I would have to act.

I adjusted the strap on my shoulder as I took my first step forward. Time to go home...

End of Book Eight


Thank you for reading Last Life!

If you like our books and want to keep reading, download our FREE Publisher's Catalog, a must-read for any LitRPG fan which lists some of the best works in the genre:

Tales of Wonder and Adventure: The Best of LitRPG, Fantasy and Sci-Fi (Publisher's Catalog)

MORE BOOKS BY ALEXEY OSADCHUK:

Underdog LitRPG Series

Mirror World LitRPG Series

NEW RELEASES!

The Order of Architects

A Portal Progression Fantasy Series

by Oleg Sapphire & Yuri Vinokuroff

The Hunter’s Code

A Portal Progression Fantasy Series

by Oleg Sapphire & Yuri Vinokuroff

Kill to Live

A LitRPG Progression Fantasy Adventure Series

by George Bor & Yuri Vinokuroff

How I Built a Magic Empire

A Portal Progression Fantasy Series

by Konstantin Zubov

The Selected

A LitRPG Action Adventure Series

by Vasily Mahanenko & Yuri Vinokuroff

The Afflicted

A LitRPG Apocalypse Adventure Series

by Konstantin Zubov

The One Who Changes the Future

A Dystopian Portal Progression Fantasy Series

by Boris Romanovsky

An Ideal World for a Sociopath

A LitRPG Apocalypse Adventure Series

by Oleg Sapphire

The Healer’s Way

A Portal Progression Fantasy Series

by Oleg Sapphire & Alexey Kovtunov

Kill or Die

A LitRPG Series

by Alex Toxic

The Last Portal Jumper

A LitRPG Progression Fantasy Series

by Konstantin Zubov

The Dark Healer

A Historical Progression Fantasy Series

by Alex Toxic & Nadya Lee

Lord of The System

A LitRPG Progression Fantasy Series

by Alex Toxic & Furious Miki

The Strongest Student

A Portal Progression Action Fantasy Series

by Andrei Tkachev

A Shelter in Spacetime

A LitRPG Apocalypse Series

by Dmitry Dornichev

The Coming of God of Death

A Portal Progression Fantasy Series

by Dmitry Dornichev

The Village

A LitRPG Progression Fantasy Series

by Dmitry Dornichev & Alexey Kovtunov

Law of the Jungle

A Wuxia Progression Fantasy Adventure Series

by Vasily Mahanenko

Condemned (Lord Valevsky: Last of the Line)

A Progression Fantasy LitRPG Series

by Vasily Mahanenko

Living Ice

A Portal Progression Fantasy Series

by Dmitry Sheleg

Ghost in the System

An Apocalypse LitRPG Series

by Alexey Kovtunov

Crossroads of Oblivion

A Portal Progression Fantasy Adventure Series

by Dem Mikhailov

The Goldenblood Heir

A Portal Progression Fantasy Series

by Boris Romanovsky


In order to have new books of the series translated faster, we need your help and support! Please consider leaving a review or spread the word by recommending Last Life to your friends and posting the link on social media. The more people buy the book, the sooner we’ll be able to make new translations available.

Thank you!

Want to be the first to know about our latest LitRPG, sci fi and fantasy titles from your favorite authors?

Subscribe to our New Releases newsletter!

Be the first to know about new LitRPG releases!

Visit our

Facebook LitRPG page

to meet new and established LitRPG authors!

Tell us more about yourself and your favorite books, view new book covers and make friends with other LitRPG fans!

More LitRPG news and discussions at fellow LitRPG group

GameLit Society!

Follow the latest LitRPG news on Twitter!

Till next time!


About the Author

Alexey Osadchuk was born in 1979 in Ukraine. In the late 1990s his family moved to the south of Spain where they still live today.

Alexey was an avid reader from an early age, devouring adventure novels by Edgar Rice Burroughs, Jack London and Arthur Conan Doyle. In 2010 he wrote his first fantasy novel which was immediately accepted for publication.

He also used to be a passionate online gamer which prompted him to write the story of a man who joins an MMORPG game hoping to raise money for his daughter’s heart surgery. The first book of Mirror World was published in 2013. The English translation of the series is now available on Amazon in its entirety, prompting a reviewer to call Alexey “one of the best LitRPG authors to date”.

OEBPS/nav.xhtml

Table of contents

		Chapter 1

		Chapter 2

		Chapter 3

		Chapter 4

		Chapter 5

		Chapter 6

		Chapter 7

		Chapter 8

		Chapter 9

		Chapter 10

		Chapter 11

		Chapter 12

		Chapter 13

		Chapter 14

		Chapter 15

		Chapter 16

		Chapter 17

		Chapter 18

		Chapter 19

		Chapter 20

		Chapter 21

		Chapter 22

		Chapter 23

		Chapter 24

		Chapter 25

		Chapter 26

		About the Author




Guide

		Cover

		Beginning

		Table of Contents




		1

		2

		3

		4

		5

		6

		7

		8

		9

		10

		11

		12

		13

		14

		15

		16

		17

		18

		19

		20

		21

		22

		23

		24

		25

		26

		27

		28

		29

		30

		31

		32

		33

		34

		35

		36

		37

		38

		39

		40

		41

		42

		43

		44

		45

		46

		47

		48

		49

		50

		51

		52

		53

		54

		55

		56

		57

		58

		59

		60

		61

		62

		63

		64

		65

		66

		67

		68

		69

		70

		71

		72

		73

		74

		75

		76

		77

		78

		79

		80

		81

		82

		83

		84

		85

		86

		87

		88

		89

		90

		91

		92

		93

		94

		95

		96

		97

		98

		99

		100

		101

		102

		103

		104

		105

		106

		107

		108

		109

		110

		111

		112

		113

		114

		115

		116

		117

		118

		119

		120

		121

		122

		123

		124

		125

		126

		127

		128

		129

		130

		131

		132

		133

		134

		135

		136

		137

		138

		139

		140

		141

		142

		143

		144

		145

		146

		147

		148

		149

		150

		151

		152

		153

		154

		155

		156

		157

		158

		159

		160

		161

		162

		163

		164

		165

		166

		167

		168

		169

		170

		171

		172

		173

		174

		175

		176

		177

		178

		179

		180

		181

		182

		183

		184

		185

		186

		187

		188

		189

		190

		191

		192

		193

		194

		195

		196

		197

		198

		199

		200

		201

		202

		203

		204

		205

		206

		207

		208

		209

		210

		211

		212

		213

		214

		215

		216

		217

		218

		219

		220

		221

		222

		223

		224

		225

		226

		227

		228

		229

		230

		231

		232

		233

		234

		235

		236

		237

		238

		239

		240

		241

		242

		243

		244

		245

		246

		247

		248

		249

		250

		251

		252

		253

		254

		255

		256

		257

		258

		259

		260

		261

		262

		263

		264

		265

		266

		267

		268

		269

		270

		271

		272

		273

		274

		275

		276

		277

		278

		279

		280

		281

		282

		283

		284

		285

		286

		287

		288

		289

		290

		291

		292

		293

		294

		295

		296

		297

		298

		299

		300

		301

		302

		303

		304

		305

		306

		307

		308

		309

		310

		311

		312

		313

		314

		315

		316

		317

		318

		319

		320

		321

		322

		323

		324

		325

		326

		327

		328

		329

		330

		331

		332

		333

		334

		335

		336

		337

		338

		339

		340

		341

		342

		343

		344

		345

		346

		347

		348

		349

		350

		351

		352

		353

		354

		355

		356

		357

		358

		359

		360

		361

		362

		363

		364

		365

		366

		367

		368

		369

		370

		371

		372

		373

		374

		375

		376






OEBPS/image_rsrc2R5.jpg
LAST LIFE #8

A JCIEVCIENT






